

Durham E-Theses

Remembrance of Things Past? Albert Schweitzer, the Anxiety of Influence, and the Untidy Jesus of Markan Memory.

THATE, MICHAEL, JAMES

How to cite:

THATE, MICHAEL, JAMES (2012) Remembrance of Things Past? Albert Schweitzer, the Anxiety of Influence, and the Untidy Jesus of Markan Memory., Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/3907/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- ullet a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

REMEMBRANCE OF THINGS PAST? ALBERT SCHWEITZER, THE ANXIETY OF INFLUENCE, AND THE UNTIDY JESUS OF MARKAN MEMORY

by

Michael J. Thate

THESIS

Submitted to the faculty and committee members
First Supervisor: Prof. Francis Watson
Second Supervisor(s): Dr William R. Telford and Dr Lutz Doering
Internal Examiner: Prof. Gerard Loughlin
External Examiner: Dr A. K. M. Adam
in fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
in Theology and Religion
at Durham University

Durham, United Kingdom March 2012

ABSTRACT

The aim of this thesis is to consider the formation and reception of the historical Jesus genre through a detailed analysis of its "strong poet," Albert Schweitzer. Though the classification of this thesis is most likely to be designated as *Leben Jesu* Forschung and the rise of early Christianity, it encompasses several adjacent fields of research: viz., social and literary theories, philosophies of history, biblical studies, critical memory theory, and classical history. Leben Jesu Forschung is therefore a kind of case study for the construction and reception of ideas. Part One suggests, after a sustained engagement with Schweitzer and his constructive project, that his pervading influence is most strongly felt in the underlying assumptions of his method of konsequente Eschatologie. Schweitzer's concept of konsequente Eschatologie is the singular criterion by which all the material is judged and filtered so as to construct a singular profile of the historical Jesus. It is this desire for a "tidy" lesus which this thesis attempts to problematize. Part Two attempts a constructive counter proposal by appropriating theories of memory to historical Jesus research and concludes by demonstrating the appropriation of this theory within the Gospel of Mark. I understand the Markan author as evoking Jesus memories and setting them within a narrative framework for the purposes of identity construction and communal direction. As such, we are presented with an "untidy" Jesus of Markan memory.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART ONE:	Questioning the Influence(s) of Albert Schweitzer: Cultiva	_
_	Critical, Appreciative Distance	
0.	Introduction to Part One	
0.1.	A Man of Influence	
0.2.	Schweitzer's Tools	
0.3.	Schweitzer's House	16
1.	A Spirit of Health or Goblin Damn'd? The Narrative Funct Reimarus within the <i>Geschichte</i>	
1.0.	Arbitrary Beginnings: Schweitzer's Construction of Reimarus	18
1.1.	Schweitzer's Reimarus	
1.1.1.	Reimarus the Historian	27
1.1.2.	Jesus the Preacher of Repentance	29
1.1.3.		
1.1.4.		
1.2.	Schweitzer's Critique and Rhetorical Strategy	
1.2.1.		
1.2.2.	Rhetorical Strategy	
1.2.3.	Dogmatic Agenda	
1.3.	Conclusion	
2.	A Wolf in Wolff's Clothing? The Quest for the Historical Reimaru	s51
2.0.	The Complexities of Historical Identity	
2.1.	The Public Reimarus	
2.1.1.	Reimarus and the Burden of Prestige	54
2.1.2.		
2.1.3.	Reading Reimarus within the Wars of Reason	
2.2.	The Private Reimarus	64
2.2.1.	From Halle to Wolfenbüttel: The Story of the Fragmente	68
2.2.2.	·	
2.2.3.	On the Aims of Reimarus: Reading the Final <i>Fragment</i>	
2.3.	Conclusions	84
3.	Schweitzer's Key to All Mythologies: konsequente Eschatologie	87
3.0.	The Key to All Mythologies	
3.0.1.	Dogmatic and Actual History: Schweitzer's Hermeneutical Key	91
	Schweitzer's Sources	93
	Schweitzer's Method	
3.1.	The Preaching of Jesus	
3.1.1.	The Gift of the Imminent Kingdom	
3.1.2.	•	
3.1.3.	Making Ready for the Kingdom: <i>Interimsethik</i>	
3.2.	The Performance of Jesus	
	The Commissioning of the Twelve	

3.2.2	. Healings and Exorcisms	117
3.2.3	. The Victorious Funeral Procession	118
3.3.		
3.3.1	. Jesus' Relationship to the Baptist	
3.3.2	· ·	
3.3.3		
3.4.	Jetzt und Dann: Putting Eschatology Back Together Again	
PART TWO:	Moving House	144
0.	Introduction to Part Two	144
0.1.	A Path Well Travelled, A Quest Grown Weary	144
0.2.	The Anxiety of Influence	145
0.3.	The Contours of this "Imaginative Space"	
4.	Forgetting Schweitzer and Remembering Jesus: The Role of	f Memory
	in Communal Identity and Formation	150
4.0.	Mapping a New Way	150
4.1.	A Walk Down Memory Lane	153
4.1.1	Locating and Defining Memory Studies	154
4.1.2	. Suspicions and Cautions of the Use of Memory Theory	160
4.1.3	. Appropriations and Alterations for this Research	163
4.2.	Examples of Use in Similar Studies	174
4.2.1	. The Jesus of Recurrent Attestation: Dale Allison Jr	176
4.2.2		
4.2.3		
4.3.	* *	
4.3.1		
4.3.2		
4.3.3		
5.	The Untidy Jesus of Markan Memory	210
5.0.	Putting Memory to Work	210
5.0.1	. Communal Formation and Refraction	211
5.0.2	. The Political Shape of Memory	219
5.0.3	. Singular Subject in Pluralistic Perspective	221
5.1.	Christic Community and Ritual Christ	
5.1.1	. Ritual and lieu(x) de mémoire	225
5.1.2	. The Sociolinguistic Location of Christ and Community	226
5.1.3		
5.2.	Jesus in Pluralistic Perspective	
5.2.1	•	
5.2.2		
5.2.3		
5.3.	Conclusion	
BIBL	IOGRAPHY	251

DECLARATION

The material of submitted for this Thesis has not been submitted elsewhere or for any other degree. The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published in any format, including electronic and the Internet, without the author's prior written consent. All information derived from this thesis must be acknowledged appropriately.

PART ONE

QUESTIONING THE INFLUENCE(S) OF ALBERT SCHWEITZER CULTIVATING A CRITICAL, APPRECIATIVE DISTANCE

"The Greatest Man in the World that is what some people call Albert Schweitzer, jungle philosopher." *Life* magazine, 6 October 1947

"You are one of the few who combine extraordinary energy and many-sidedness with the desire to serve man and to lighten his lot. If there were more persons such as you are, we would never have slid into so dangerous an international situation as now prevails."

Albert Einstein letter to Schweitzer 25 September 1938¹

0.1. A Man of Influence

On the cover of *Life* magazine's 6 October 1947 issue stood a picture of a young Franklin D. Roosevelt aged thirteen. Two years after the death of the four-term President the fifteen-cent issue ran a cover story on his boyhood letters. Yet tucked away in the Religion Section, page ninety-five ran with the heading, "The Greatest Man in the World." The titular, however, was not in reference to the man who, though crippled by polio,² guided America through economic and wartime crises and from his wheelchair lifted the country from her knees.³ It was in reference to Albert Schweitzer (1875–1965), the "many-sided" doctor who left fame and fortune for the jungles of French Equatorial Africa (modern day Gaban) to build his hospital in Lambaréré. Two years later, *TIME* magazine would feature the jungle doctor on its cover of the 11 July 1949 issue, calling him "one of the most extraordinary men of modern times." A man who left "a life of achievement behind him which few

¹ Cited in James Brabazon, *Albert Schweitzer: A Biography* (London: Victor Gollancz, 1976) 377-78.

² Though cf. Armond S. Goldman, et. al., "What Was the Cause of Franklin Delano Roosevelt's Paralytic Illness?," *Journal of Medical Biography* 11 (2003) 232-40.

³ Jean Edward Smith, FDR (New York: Random House, 2007) vii.

contemporary men can equal." In 1953 *der gute Doktor* was awarded the Nobel Peace Prize, and in a fitting gesture, he gave the prize money to support the work in Lambaréné and the construction of the new leper colony.⁴

Schweitzer's œuvre and influence are as vast as they are profound. *Le Grand Docteur* was one of the true Renaissance men of the twentieth century: musician, physician, philosopher, historian, *homme de lettres*, and philanthropist. And in many of these fields his towering influence persists, perhaps none stronger felt than his work as a *Neutestamentler* in general and on the historical Jesus in particular. The 1906 publication of *Von Reimarus zu Wrede: Eine Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung* along with its subsequent English translation in 1910 is perhaps the most influential work of biblical scholarship in the English language produced in the twentieth century. A second German edition was to appear in 1913, covering developments since Wrede and contained significant changes and omissions. Wrede no longer marked the end of Schweitzer's narrative, so the volume was re-titled, *Geschichte*

⁴ Not everyone is as favorable to Schweitzer as the above reports. Some accused him of "white-hat imperialism" and suggested Africa would be better without him. See Manuel M. Davenport, "The Moral Paternalism of Albert Schweitzer," *Ethics* 84 (1973-74) 116-27.

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Cf. George and Poling Marshall, David, $\it Schweitzer: A \it Biography$ (New York: Doubleday, 1971) x.

⁶ Cf. Jacques Barzun, *From Dawn to Decadence: 500 Years of Western Cultural Life 1500 to the Present* (New York: Harper Perennial, 2001) 388.

⁷ For a full bibliography covering the writing on Schweitzer from the years 1898-1979— some 5003 items—see Nancy Shell Griffith and Laura Person, *Albert Schweitzer: An International Bibliography* (Boston: G. K. Hall, 1981). See, too, Predrag Cicovacki, ed., *Albert Schweitzer's Ethical Vision: A Sourcebook* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009) 3-29; along with his forthcoming work *Albert Schweitzer: A Moral Philosopher*; and the many works of James Carleton Paget.

⁸ Albert Schweitzer, Von Reimarus zu Wrede: Eine Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung (Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1906); Albert Schweitzer, Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung: Zweite, neu bearbeitete und vermehrte Auflage (Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1913); Albert Schweitzer, Das Messianitäts- und Leidensgeheimnis: Eine Skizze des Lebens Jesu (Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1901).

⁹ So, John H. Hayes, *Son of God to Superstar: Twentieth-Century Interpretations of Jesus* (Nashville: Abingdon, 1976) 61; See, too, Francis Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century: On the Reception of Schweitzer in English," in *Eschatologie – Eschatology: The Sixth Durham–Tübingen Research Symposium: Eschatology in Old Testament, Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity* (ed. Christof Landmesser and Hermann Lichtenberger Hans-Joseph Eckstein; WUNT 272; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011) 331.

¹⁰ On the changes and omissions, see Carl Holladay, "Schweitzer", and James Carleton Paget, "Albert Schweitzer's Second Edition of *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*," *BJRL* 9 (2010) 3–38.

der Leben-Jesu-Forschung. Yet it was the English translation of the first edition,¹¹ appearing in 1910 and itself a literary event,¹² which "rapidly acquired a momentum of its own,"¹³ and captured the imaginations of the English-speaking world with the romantic evocation of Arthurian legends and the Quest of the Holy Grail: *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*.¹⁴ Though some German influence was felt,¹⁵ the enduring footprint of Schweitzer's enigmatic Jesus, that herald of *konsequente Eschatologie*,

¹¹ The publication which first brought Schweitzer to the attention of the English-speaking world was William Sanday, *The Life of Christ in Recent Research* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1907). So, "Zu meiner Überraschung fand mein Werk in England alsbald Anerkennung. Als erster machte der Oxforder William Sanday in Vorlesungen, die er über die Probleme des Lebens Jesu hielt, meine Anschauungen dort bekannt." Albert Schweitzer, *Aus meinem Leben und Denken* (Leipzig: Felix Meiner, 1931) 40. On the relationship of Sanday and Schweitzer, see Mark D. Chapman, *The Coming Crisis: The Impact of Eschatology on Theology in Edwardian England* (JSNTSupp; Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2001) 58-80. Moreover, the Oxford Summer School lectures by Ernst von Dobschuetz on the eschatology of the Gospels were largely aimed at refuting Schweitzer's account, and, though only mentioning him by name once, furthered the frenzy. These were later published as Ernst von Dobschuetz, "The eschatology of the Gospels," *The Expositor* 9 (1910) 97-113, 93-209, 333-47, 98-417. The singular mention is on p. 105. On the reception of Schweitzer in English and issues surrounding the two editions of Schweitzer's *Geschichte*, see Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," Holladay, and Carleton Paget.

 $^{^{12}}$ Albert Schweitzer, *The Quest of the Historical Jesus* (trans. W. Montgomery; London: A. & C. Black, 1910).

¹³ Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," p. 331.

¹⁴ The English translator William Montgomery's inspiration for the title may have sprung from Schweitzer's phrasing of the aim of his *Geschichte* in his concluding chapter, "Der Ertrag der Leben-Jesu-Forschung," *Geschichte*¹ pp. 396-401; "Schlußbetrachtung," *Geschichte*² pp. 631-42. The phrase in question is: "Sie zog aus, um den historischen Jesu zu finden..." *Geschichte*¹ p. 397 / *Geschichte*² p. 631. "Finden," of course, is an irregular transitive verb that means "to find." The English translation, however, is most certainly influenced by various traditions of *Queste del Saint Graal* stemming from the thirteenth century. On this point, see Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," p 332.

¹⁵ The response from the German theatre was hardly positive. Even his *Doktorvater*, who received the dedication in Schweitzer, Das Messianitäts- und Leidensgeheimnis, responded with some unease regarding the eschatological fanaticism of Schweitzer's Jesus. See Heinrich Julius Holtzmann, Das messianische Bewusstsein Jesu: Ein Beitrag zur Leben-Jesu-Forschung (Tübingen J.C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1907); and Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," pp. 335-36. Some of the notable reviews of Von Reimarus zu Wrede include H. Stephan, Literarisches Zentralblatt für Deutschland 57 (1906) 1545-47; Paul Wernle, "Review," TLZ 18 (1906) 501-06; Adolf Jülicher, "Die Epoche 1901," in Neue Linien in der Kritik der evangelischen Überlieferng (Vorträge des hessischen und nassauischen theologischen Ferienkurses 3; Giessen: Alfred Töpelmann, 1906) 1-13; Heinrich Julius Holtzmann, "Die gegenwärtige Stand der Leben-Jesu-Forschung," Deutsche Literaturzeitung 27 (1906) 2419; M. Rade, "Ist das liberale Jesusbild modern?," Die chrliche Welt 21 (1907) 336-41; Hans Windisch, "Leben und Lehre Jesu," TRu 12 (1909) 145-62. For detailed analysis of initial critical responses, see Werner G. Kümmel, "Die 'Konsequent Eschatologie' Albert Schweitzers im Urteil der Zeitgenossen," in Heilsgeschehen und Geschichte: Gesammelte Aufsätze 1933-1964 (ed. Erich Gräßer, et. al.; Marburg: N.G. Elwert, 1965) 328-29; and Walter P. Weaver, The Historical Jesus in the Twentieth Century, 1900-1950 (Harrisburg: Trinity Press International 1999) 31-38. On the reception of Schweitzer in general, see Holladay, "Schweitzer." I am grateful to Prof. Holladay for making his pre-publication article available to me and allowing me to cite his references.

has been most profoundly imprinted through the first edition,¹⁶ and amongst the Anglophone.¹⁷ This is largely owing to the eighty-seven year span it took for the second edition to be translated into English,¹⁸ a delay Schweitzer himself lamented¹⁹ no doubt owing in part to the considerable obstacles he overcame in its production.²⁰

Two of Schweitzer's biographers contend that it "remains clear that today significant scholarship must reckon with Schweitzer's position before presenting its

In the second course, substantial debate about which edition from which to cite in terms of Schweitzer's constructive agenda. On which, see Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," and Holladay, "Schweitzer." Some maintain that the second edition was a completely different book; so, Henning Pleitner, Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik am Beispiel Albert Schweitzers (TANZ vol. 5; Tübingen: Francke, 1992), particularly, on the importance of the non-existence debate (218 and 217 n. 84). Dennis Nineham, Explorations in Theology 1 (London: SCM Press, 1977) 112. Holladay advances a bit more nuance in suggesting that the second edition is not a new entity entirely; rather, it "is a significantly altered book that reflects a genuine advance in certain aspects of Schweitzer's construal of Jesus and how Jesus relates to modern culture" (p. 5). Holladay further argues that the edits "strengthen the overall argument" and supersedes the first edition (p. 6). See, too, Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 7. Though entirely sympathetic and impressed with Holladay's and Padget's arguments, because the German edition was not translated into English until the turn of the millennium, and because this section is interested in the *influence* of Schweitzer, the first edition will be used as the *editio typica*, with only secondary recourse to the 1913 edition. Any discrepancies between the two editions when relevant will be highlighted.

¹⁷ There is something of an irony here as "Schweitzer's text is very much a German narrative: it can only be described as comprehensive insofar as it covers the history of German research on the topic." Simon J. Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Albert Schweitzer's *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*," *Tyndale Bulletin* 51.2 (2000) 261-83; 264. Similar criticisms have been pointed out by John W. Bowman, "The Quest of the Historical Jesus," *Interpretation* 3 (1949) 188-89; and D. L. Pauls, *The Victorian Lives of Jesus* (*Trinity University Monograph Series in Religion* vol. VII; San Antonio: Trinity University, 1982) 9-10.

 $^{^{\}rm 18}$ On issues surrounding the delay, see Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," pp. 3–8.

¹⁹ See Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 7 n. 20. This of course is some proof in the favor of the superiority of the second edition. It appears from his correspondence with his wife that as early as 1910 he was considering updating the first edition. Moreover, his so-called "Schlussvorlesung" (29 July 1908) began to demonstrate different emphases than the ending of the first edition. It was not until early 1912, however, that the decision was made to go ahead with a new edition. For the "Schlussvorlesung," see Erich Grässer and Johann Zürcher, ed., *Albert Schweitzer: Strassburger Vorlesungen* (Munich: C. H. Beck, 1998) 543-691; cf. Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 9.

²⁰ Besides the completion of his psychiatric study of Jesus, considerable medical challenges, angina attacks amongst them, pressed upon the already taxed Schweitzer. For the psychiatric study, see Albert Schweitzer, *Die psychiatrische Beurteilung Jesu. Darstellung und Kritik* (Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr, 1913); on the challenges surrounding the publication of the second edition, see Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 11.

own."²¹ Professor Amos Wilder, writing in 1962 as Departmental Head of New Testament Literature at Harvard Divinity School, said as much, suggesting that Schweitzer's thought created "a new epoch in our understanding of Christian origins." And though time and texts have accumulated since Schweitzer's penning of his ideas, "no informed scholarship since has been able to undercut the major contribution here, namely, that Jesus, an alien to our modern ideas and rooted in his own time and place, saw history and the world in terms of the late Jewish apocalyptic eschatology of his background, though he gave this outlook his own creative interpretation."²²

More than this, however, Schweitzer gave shape and set the "inventory" of research to the so-called Quest for the historical Jesus;²³ that is, the attempt to discover a singular profile for the historical figure referred to but hidden within the theologically-conceived Gospels. And though he is often raised in literature reviews only to be done away with, Schweitzer continues to dominate the grammar of inquiry.²⁴ "Not only has Schweitzer determined the way in which the scholarship of

²¹ Marshall, *Schweitzer: A Biography* p. 40.

²² Amos N. Wilder, "Albert Schweitzer and the New Testament," in *Albert Schweitzer's Realms* (ed. A. A. Roback; Cambridge: Sci-Art, 1962) 351; cited in Marshall, *Schweitzer: A Biography* pp. 40-41.

²³ Ernst Baasland, "Fourth Quest? What did Jesus Really Want?," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.31.

²⁴ On the influence of Schweitzer, see Chapman, *The Coming Crisis*, pp. 67–80, 102-25; D. W. Bähr, ed., Albert Schweitzer: Sein Denken und sein Weg (Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1962); Gösta Lundström, The Kingdom of God in the Teaching of Jesus: A History of Interpretation from the last Decades of the Nineteenth Century to the Present Day (trans. Joan Bulman; Edinburgh / London: Oliver & Boyd, 1963) 69-95; Werner Picht, The Life and Thought of Albert Schweitzer (trans. Edward Fitzgerald; New York: Harper & Row, 1964); Jackson Lee Ice, Schweitzer: Prophet of Radical Theology (Philadelphia: Westminster Press, 1971); Jackson Lee Ice, Albert Schweitzer: Sketches for a Portrait (Lanham: University Press of America, 1994); H. Groos, Albert Schweitzer: Große und Grenzen (München / Basel: E. Reinhardt, 1974); David Dungan, "Reconsidering Albert Schweitzer," The Christian Century 92 (1975) 874-80; Traugott Koch, "Albert Schweitzers Kritik des christologischen Denkens--und die sachgemäße Form einer gegenwärtigen Beziehung auf den geschichtlichen Jesus," ZTK 73 (1976) 208-40; Nineham, Explorations in Theology 1 112-33; Erich Gräßer, Albert Schweitzer als Theologe (BHT vol. 60; Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1979); Wendell Willis, "The Discovery of the Eschatological Kingdom: Johannes Weiss and Albert Schweitzer," in The Kingdom of God in 20th-Century Interpretation (ed. Wendell Willis; Peabody: Hendrickson, 1987) 1-14; J. C. O'Neill, The Bible's Authority: A Portrait Gallery of Thinkers from Lessing to Bultmann (Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1991) 248-65; Pleitner, Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik am Beispiel Albert Schweitzers Robert Morgan, "From Reimarus to Sanders," in *The Kingdom of God and Human Society: Essays by* Members of the Scripture, Theology, and Society Group (ed. R. S. Barbour; Edinburgh: T & T Clark,

the nineteenth century [has been] interpreted; he also presides over the twentieth century, as choices he poses takes shape" in contemporary outworkings of his setting of the problem of the life of Jesus.²⁵

As Max Weber wrote, "ideas become effective forces in history."²⁶ And the Jesus of Schweitzer's construction has become a significant idea which has proved a productive force in many contemporary reconstructions.²⁷ N. T. Wright has argued that Schweitzer saw "more clearly than anyone" in the twentieth century, "the fundamental shape of the New Testament jigsaw, and the nature of the problems trying to put it together."²⁸ This "fundamental shape" was that of an eschatological prophet who expected an imminent end and has been rehearsed by the likes of E. P. Sanders,²⁹ Craig S. Keener,³⁰ John P. Meier,³¹ Bruce Chilton,³² James Charlesworth,³³

^{1993) 80-139;} Erich Gräßer, *Studien zu Albert Schweitzer: Gesammelte Aufsätze* (Beiträge zur Albert-Schweitzer-Forschung vol. 6; ed. Andreas Mühling; Bodenheim: Philo Verlagsgesellschaft, 1997). Here again I wish to thank Prof. Holladay for a pre-publication copy of his article and granting me permission to cite the references discovered in his work (p. 1 n. 2).

²⁵ Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," p. 347.

²⁶ Max Weber, *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism* (trans. Talcott Parsons; New York: Routledge Classics, 2001) 48.

²⁷ See generally, T. Francis Glasson, "Schweitzer's Influence: Blessing or Bane?," *Journal of Theological Studies* 28.2 (1977) 289–302.

²⁸ See N. T. Wright, *Jesus and the Victory of God* (Christian Origins and the Question of God; vol. 2; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1996) 5. For his constructive proposal of Jesus which is heavily informed by Schweitzer, see pp. 145–654.

²⁹ E. P. Sanders, *Jesus and Judaism* (Philadelphia: Fortress Press 1985) 334; E. P. Sanders, *The Historical Figure of Jesus* (New York: The Penguin Press, 1993).

³⁰ Craig S. Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009) 65, 164, 166, 197.

³¹ See John P. Meier, *The Roots of the Problem and the Person* (A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus; vol. 1; New York: Doubleday, 1991); John P. Meier, *Mentor, Message, and Miracles* (A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus; vol. 2; New York: Doubleday, 1994); John P. Meier, *Companions and Competitors* (A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus; vol. 3; New York: Doubleday, 2001) John P. Meier, *Law and Love* (A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus; vol. 4; New Haven: Yale University Press, 2009).

³² Bruce Chilton, *Pure Kingdom: Jesus' Vision of God* (London: SPCK Publishing, 1997).

³³ James H. Charlesworth, *Jesus within Judaism: New Light from Exciting Archaeological Discoveries* (New York: Doubleday, 1988); James H. Charlesworth, ed., *Jesus' Jewishness: Exploring the Place of Jesus within Early Judaism* (New York: Crossroad / The American Interfaith Institute, 1991); James H. Charlesworth, ed., *Jesus and the Dead Sea Scrolls* (The Anchor Bible Reference Library; New York: Doubleday, 1992); James H. Charlesworth, *The Historical Jesus* (An Essential Guide; Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2008).

James D. G. Dunn,³⁴ David Flusser,³⁵ Paula Fredriksen,³⁶ Dale Allison,³⁷ and many others.³⁸ Part of my aim therefore considers the effective force of Schweitzer's over all project and his central and complex idea of *konsequente Eschatologie* with respect to the problem of historical Jesus studies.³⁹ Latent within subsequent scholarship's approval, reworking, or dismissal of Schweitzer's proposal is the nearly ubiquitous continuation of the assumption undergirding Schweitzer's method; that is, the determining of a singular hermeneutical key through which to read all the material in order to reconstruct a singular profile. I therefore seek to cultivate an appreciative distance from Schweitzer's "spell-binding" work in this regard,⁴⁰ by problematizing the concept of pure origins and the singular originary, of singular keys and tidy profiles

0.2. Schweitzer's Tools

This thesis, though in the guise of the historical-Jesus genre, is more of an experimental critique in reception criticism and a test case of varying critical theories.⁴¹ The thesis contains both a deconstructive element and an exploratory constructive element which function to structure the thesis into its two parts: Part One: Questioning the Influence(s) of Albert Schweitzer: Cultivating a Critical,

³⁴ James D. G. Dunn, *Jesus Remembered* (Christianity in the Making; vol. 1; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2003).

³⁵ David Flusser, Jesus (Jerusalem: Magnes Press, 2001).

³⁶ Paula Fredriksen, *Jesus of Nazareth, King of the Jews: A Jewish Life and the Emergence of Christianity* (New York: Vintage Books, 2000) 266–67.

³⁷ See the works cited in §4.2.1. below.

³⁸ See Marcus J. Borg, *Jesus in Contemporary Scholarship* (Harrisburg: Trinity Press International, 1994) 69–96.

³⁹ It should be noted that this "effective force" has had and continues to have significant inroads into some fields of continental philosophy through the likes of Jacob Taubes, *Occidental Eschatology* (trans. David Ratmoko; Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2009 [1947]); Jacob Taubes, *From Cult to Culture: Fragments toward a Critique of Historical Reason* (trans. Charlotte Elisheva Fonrobert and Amir Engel; Stanford Stanford University Press, 2010 [1996]).

⁴⁰ Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," p. 347.

⁴¹ Reception history gained momentum in the late 1960s in the field of literary theory through the development of Hans Robert Jauss. See, e.g., Hans Robert Jauss, *Toward an Aesthetic of Reception* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1982); James L. Machor and Philip Goldstein, ed., *Reception Study: From Literary Theory to Cultural Studies* (London: Routledge, 2000) 1–74; Robert C. Holub, *New Accents: Reception Theory* (London: Routledge, 2002); Robert C. Holub, *Crossing Borders: Reception Theory, Poststructuralism, Deconstruction* (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1992); and, David Paul Parris, *Reception Theory and Biblical Hermeneutics* (Princeton Theological Monograph Series 107; Eugene: Pickwick Publications, 2008).

Appreciative Distance; and, Part Two: Moving House. The thought behind this structuring is informed by Audre Lorde's influential 1979 address, "The Master's Tools will Never Dismantle the Master's House." Feminist hermeneutics have significantly developed since the late 70's, of course, but for structural reasons I summon Lorde's analysis.

Lorde's criticisms were largely centered on feminist hermeneutics and their collusion with patriarchal criteria and agendas. In this sense, the master's tools (criteria) can whittle away at this or that under the name of feminist hermeneutics but can never dismantle the master's house (patriarchal and dominant readings). 43 Though entirely sympathetic and indeed supportive of Lorde's claim here, Part One attempts to work with "the master's tools" in the sense which Schüssler-Fiorenza and Žižek suggest that constructive projects must be situated within—or, better, with respect to—the interpretive record so as to problematize it, hold it accountable, and examine it for strains of domination or marginalizing effects. 44 In other words, though "real change" may not come at the hands of the master's tools (Lorde), the master's tools themselves must be examined and held accountable though this accountability does not come by simply ignoring or abandoning the "rubbish heap" of interpretation (Žižek).

⁴² See Audre Lorde, "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House," in *Sister Outsider: Essays and Speeches* (Berkeley: The Crossing Press, 1984) 110–13.

⁴³ See, too, Jaquelyn Grant, *White Women's Christ and Black Women's Jesus: Feminist Christology and Womanist Response* (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989).

⁴⁴ Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, "The Ethics of Interpretation: Decentering Biblical Scholarship," Journal of Biblical Literature 107 (1988) 3-17; Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, "Text and Reality - Reality as Text: The Problem of a Feminist Social and Historical Reconstruction on the Basis of Texts," Studia Theological 43 (1989) 19-34; Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, But She Said: Feminist Practices of Biblical Interpretation (Boston: Beacon Press, 1992); Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, In Memory of Her: A Feminist Theological Reconstruction of Christian Origins (London: SCM Press 1994); Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, Rhetoric and Ethic: The Politics of Biblical Studies (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1999); and, especially, Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, Jesus and the Politics of Interpretation (New York: Continuum, 2000). Žižek's statements, though present in much of his written work and debates, are most forcefully made in his segment in Astra Taylor's film, Examined Life (2008). In his written work, for example, though along with his fellow Marxists comrades, Gilles Deleuze and Peter Sloterdijk, Žižek sees "the capitalist framework as an obstacle to fully released productivity," unlike Deleuze and Sloterdijk who ignore the "obstacle," Žižek thinks "one should operate within the system of global capitalism" for the obstacle is itself "a positive condition of what it enframes, so that, by abolishing it, we paradoxically lose the very productivity it was obstructing." Slavoj Žižek, Living in the End Times (New York: Verso, 2010) 264-65.

Problematizing "Schweitzer's Tools," then, is the aim of Part One. It looks at Schweitzer's criteria and construction which have dominated readings of the historical-Jesus genre with the aim of problematizing the grand architect's receptive hegemony of the genre. No one else has wielded more influence in terms of the historical framing of the discussion, coloring of vocabulary and phraseology, and impact on the imagination. Despite recent isolated "advances" within the study of the historical Jesus, Schweitzer's straitjacket of either a thoroughly eschatological Jesus or an entirely skeptical approach to the historical Jesus continues to prohibit these "advances" to move beyond the current impasse in historical-Jesus research. Even more fundamentally, however, his manner and method of singular portraits constructed from singular hermeneutical keys are deemed problematic. Before abandoning Schweitzer's forced tertium non datur along with its underlying hermeneutical presuppositions, however, they must first be held accountable and critiqued from within if there is any hope to move beyond Schweitzer's profound influence.

One of the great gains of recent readings of the Jesus material is its return to the political realities surrounding Jesus and their impact on the formation of his mission. Even here Schweitzer's influence can be felt at least indirectly with his construction of Reimarus. ⁴⁵ Chapter One, "A Spirit of Health or a Goblin Damn'd? The Narrative Function of Reimarus within the *Geschichte*," traces a special instance of Schweitzer's general rhetorical strategy; viz., he is marshaling the history of interpretation into a narrative which sets his own project as the answer to the problem which has long puzzled the genre. Through the insights of narratology, we see that Reimarus functions as Schweitzer's great hero, and in many respects is constructed by Schweitzer for the purposes of anchoring his own reading as the flowering of Reimarus' seed of eschatology. Throughout the *Geschichte*, Reimarus

⁴⁵ See, generally, Ernst Bammel, "The Revolution Theory from Reimars to Brandon," in *Jesus and the Politics of His Day* (ed. Ernst Bammel and C. F. D. Moule; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984); 11–68; Ernst Bammel and C. F. D. Moule, ed., *Jesus and the Politics of His Day* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984).

haunts the movements of subsequent interpretation until his spirit can find rest in Schweitzer's detailing of *konsequente Eschatologie*. This chapter is significant in that it demonstrates Schweitzer's rhetorical strategy within the *Geschichte* while unearthing his influences.

Chapter Two, "A Wolf in Wolff's Clothing? The Quest for the Historical Reimarus," is a close reading of Reimarus within his own cultural location. Particular emphasis is put on Reimarus as a character within the contested discourse of revealed religion around these times and the role of reason within those debates. Most significant is the distinction between the "Public Reimarus" and the "Private Reimarus." The "Public Reimarus" was a respected Wolffian scholar in Hamburg; the "Private Reimarus" was hidden in Lessing's Publication of the so-called *Wolfenbüttler Fragmente* (1774–78). Though a significant detour in many respects, this chapter is necessary to my argument in that it attempts to situate Reimarus within his day so as to compare him to the construction of Schweitzer in the *Geschichte*. The main point here is that though Schweitzer gets the particulars of Reimarus' *Von dem Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger* correct, his framing of him and this single tract within the wider *Apologie* is quite misleading.

The first two chapters thus reveal Schweitzer's rhetorical strategy: he has ordered his *Geschichte* in such a way that his construction of *konsequente Eschatologie* receives the starring role in his narrative history. In many respects, the *Geschichte* functions as the literature review that should have been present within his earlier *Skizze* (1901). All previous scholarship is judged by their relation to the early discovery of Reimarus and the fuller detailing of it by Schweitzer; that is, that the thought-world of Jesus was fundamentally eschatological. Chapter Three, "Schweitzer's Key to All Mythologies: *konsequente Eschatologie*," sets out to demonstrate Schweitzer's complex idea of *konsequente Eschatologie* as his singular hermeneutical key which unlocks all the riddles of the historical Jesus. In many respects, Schweitzer's move here marks the birth of criteria within historical Jesus studies for it is this singular key against which all else is judged as authentic or

spurious and in its place a singular profile is constructed. Schweitzer's key, however, proves to be an artificial construct and cannot turn the lock of some significant points in Schweitzer's own reading of the tradition; e.g., the returning of the twelve and the cry of dereliction. Despite its grand claims, *konsequente Eschatologie* is not the "key to all mythologies" which Schweitzer claimed. The chapter ends with a respectful, but forceful plea for a "critical, appreciative distance" from Schweitzer's magical dialectic of either a purely eschatological or purely skeptical approach to the historical Jesus and reconstructions of singular profiles.

0.3. Schweitzer's House

Part Two marks a decisive break in the thesis both structurally and methodologically. We will more properly introduce Part Two below, but a few words here may help guide the reader through Part One. After problematizing "Schweitzer's tools," Part Two attempts a whole-scale relocation from "Schweitzer's house"; that is, Schweitzer's influence. Part Two, "Moving House," is an attempt to leave behind this dialectic and the assumption that a singular key will unlock unmediated access to a singular figure's aims and intentions while taking Dale Allison's call for more experimental approaches to the material. In Craig Keener's estimation, talk about the "historical Jesus" invariably centers on the "nature of our sources."46 Part of Schweitzer's affect upon subsequent investigation of the historical Jesus appears to be the conviction that a singular figure unmediated by latter church formation can be arrived at if certain criteria are followed. These criteria, of course, have varied over the years, but their initial formulation was set in Schweitzer's konsequente Eschatologie as a way to highlight and correct the "fateful shifting of perspective" between the historical Jesus and the early Christian postresurrection memories of him. This approach is problematic, however, in that it reduces the complexities of personal identity to an unhelpful minimum while also neglecting the primary purpose of the Gospel material: viz., early Christian selfdefinition. The approach adopted in Part Two, therefore, will combine critical

⁴⁶ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. xxxii.

memory theory and postcolonial reading of the material in an attempt to refocus the study of the historical Jesus as early Christian memory politics in the service of identity explication.

Chapter Four, "Forgetting Schweitzer and Remembering Jesus: The Role of Identity in Communal Formation," drafts the mounting findings of critical memory theory and the role of communal identity formation as a promising way forward in terms of approaching the Jesus material. Here we think about the move from history as lived to history as remembered to history as written through the rubric of communal memory as a promising way forward.

The thesis concludes with a test case of sorts in Mark's Gospel: "The Untidy Jesus of Markan Memory." This chapter attempts to further the promising political readings of the historical Jesus—indeed some of which were gestured by Schweitzer himself with respect to his apocalyptic approach—but through the rubric of memory. In this chapter we work backward from the approach in the previous chapter; viz., texts, memories, and events. Though quite disparate at points, together these two parts suggest that there is no singular "key" which can unlock the mysteries of a singular profile for the historical Jesus. Instead we are presented with ways in which early communities constructed their identities by making recourse to the diverse ways in which Jesus was remembered.

CHAPTER ONE A SPIRIT OF HEALTH OR GOBLIN DAMN'D? THE NARRATIVE FUNCTION OF REIMARUS WITHIN THE GESCHICHTE

"It is so difficult to find the beginning. Or better, it is difficult to begin at the *beginning*. And not try to go further back."

Ludwig Wittgenstein¹

"We can, at the present day, scarcely imagine the long agony in which the historical view of the life of Jesus came to birth."

Albert Schweitzer²

1.0. Arbitrary Beginnings: Schweitzer's Construction of Reimarus

Beginnings are naturally arbitrary.³ Utterances (which include texts) spring from diverse provenances.⁴ Questions of causality and origins can tend toward infinite regress and the complex, while the so-called bolt-from-the-blue discoveries are more like coagulations of past inquiry and results bleeding into varying fields of research. The former "certainties" of the past which we now know to be inadequate pictures of reality, still shape and inform "new" discoveries and advances. Though there appear to be clear advances within a knowledge set, sometimes these advances are contested and later in time fit back into the theories they were once thought to have displaced.⁵ What is more, offering a *summa historica* of a certain problem or stream of interpretation-as-discourse is complicated by the

¹ Ludwig Wittgenstein, On Certainty (Oxford: Blackwell, 1969) §471.

² *Quest* ¹ p. 3.

³ George Eliot confided in correspondence that "Beginnings are always troublesome; conclusions are the weak point of most authors," and that "some of the fault lies in the very nature of a conclusion, which is at best a negation." If endings are negation then the fitting corollary of the beginning is arbitrary. The narrative "beginning" is not the reference of the Beginning (the "real"), but its representation. See Frank Kermode, *The Sense of an Ending: Studies in the Theory of Fiction with a New Epilogue* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2000 [1966]) 174.

⁴ Here, of course, allusion is made to Bakhtin and Derrrida.

⁵ Within the philosophy of science, this is called "encompassing theory." See Nancy Ellen Abrams and Joel R. Primack, "Scientific Revolutions in Cosmology: Overthrowing vs. Encompassing." http://physics.ucsc.edu/cosmo/primack abrams/htmlformat/SciRevolutionsinCosm.html, accessed 14 March 2011. E.g., "once a scientific field achieves a well-tested foundational theory, further revolutions may be of a different, encompassing kind, in which the newer theory reduces to the old one in appropriate limits."

combinations and cross-pollination of collective reflection at any given era. Michel Foucault gave considerable attention to these problematics in his "histories" and in his analysis of the possibilities of an historical moment. He was suspicious of narratives of the teleological sort, and, in *The Order of Things*, Foucault draws upon Nietzsche in asking of a text who is speaking, with what particular interests, and by what authority. Edward Said speaks of beginnings not as fresh starts but "disruptions." "Too many old habits, loyalties, and pressures inhibit the substitution of a novel enterprise for an established one." Beginnings tend toward Conclusions and are therefore disruptions of the current with the ideological constructions of the rhetoricity of the author's present.

Committing the history of a problem or interpretation-as-discourse to writing, then, is itself an act of interpretation and arbitrary framing. It is in the asking of the question which both funnels the sources cited and consulted, and shapes the articulation of given solutions and interpretations of the "history" in question. In this sense, the past is always already a product of the present. Albert Schweitzer was aware of these issues when he wrote in the Preface (paratext) to the 1913 Second Edition of his *Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*:

This work has been criticized in some quarters for being more than a history of research into Jesus and offering a particular view. Against this it may be observed that no one can write the history of a problem and the attempts made so far to resolve it who does not himself adopt a particular attitude to the questions.¹¹

⁶ It should be noted that nearly all his books are a kind of history. At the Collège de France his choice for the title of his chair was "Professor of the History of Systems of Thought." He did not, however, consider himself to be a "professional historian"; for, as he stated, "nobody is perfect." See Allan Megill, "The Reception of Foucault by Historians," *Journal of the History of Ideas* 58 (1987) 117-41. 117.

⁷ Michel Foucault, *The Order of Things* (trans. Alan Sheridan; New York: Vintage, 1970).

⁸ Edward Said, *Beginnings: Intention and Method* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1985) 34.

⁹ Cf. Schweitzer, *Aus meinem Leben und Denken* 88. "Wie oft besteht das, was als Fortschritt gilt, darin, daß eine mit Virtuosität argumentierende Ansicht die wirkliche Einsicht für lange außer Cofocht setzt!"

¹⁰ Cf. Gareth Stedman Jones, "From Historical Sociology to Theoretical History," *British Journal of Sociology* 27.3 (1976) 295–305, 296. See, too, the recent discussions of "Presentism."

¹¹ Albert Schweitzer, *The Quest of the Historical Jesus* (Fortress Classics in Biblical Studies; ed. K. C. Hanson; trans. J. R. Coates W. Montgomery, Susan Cupitt, and John Bowden; Minneapolis:

Literature creates "imagined communities" to this or that cause in part because "there is no one-to-one correspondence between language and external reality." Writing necessarily "involves a certain degree of bad faith." 12 Beginnings are a decisive move in this rhetoricity and reveal the strategic utterances of texts. No historical construction is "politically innocent." It is "driven by the problems and questions set by the historian in the present." 13 To label an historian's Ausgangspunkt as arbitrary is therefore no real criticism. But a critical investigation into the *Ausgangspunkt* and how it converses with the *Endpunkt* not only reveals the rhetorical practices and strategies of the historian, but also the underlying movement of the overall project.¹⁴ Kermode suggested that the *tick-tock* of the clock is a sort of "model of what we call a plot, an organization that humanizes time by giving it form."15 This *tick* and *tock* can be extended to the relationship between Ausgangspunkt and Endpunkt in narrative. The negation of the end (tock) is set up by the arbitrary construction of the beginning (tick). The dialogical exchange with the beginning's sense of an ending and the ending's sense of a beginning can therefore yield not only rhetorical strategies and movement but also the syntactical structuring of the author.

In this chapter we will treat Schweitzer's *Geschichte*¹ as narrative, from *das Problem* to *der Ertrag der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*. The move from history to history-as-literature-like has, of course, come under a great degree of suspicion from both

_

Fortress Press, 2001) xxxiv. It should be stressed that this is the preface to the *second* edition. In many respects the comments are rhetorically contingent upon the deep criticisms of Jülicher and others of *Quest*¹. Nevertheless, Schweitzer had already hinted as much in his correspondence with his publishers at J. C. B. Mohr in 1905. For a copy of the letter, see Bähr, ed., *Albert Schweitzer: Sein Denken und sein Weg* 14; cf. the excellent analysis of Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition,", p. 12. On "paratext" see Gérard Genette, *Paratexts: Thresholds of Interpretation* (trans. Jane E. Lewin; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997).

¹² Thomas H. Habinek, *The Politics of Latin Literature: Writing, Identity, and Empire in Ancient Rome* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1998) 8.

¹³ Elizabeth A. Clark, *History, Theory, Text: Historians and the Linguistic Turn* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2004) 7.

¹⁴ I leave aside for the moment the opposition between the beginning of the story (*fabula*) and the beginning of its telling (*sjuzet*). Along these lines, see the useful studies in Brian Richardson, ed., *Narrative Beginnings: Theories and Practices* (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 2008).

¹⁵ Kermode, Sense of an Ending, p. 45.

theorists and historians alike.¹⁶ Moreover, the approach employed here is not itself a judgment of Schweitzer's historiography—far from it. Schweitzer wanted to situate his constructive proposal (solution) of the historical-Jesus problem both within the forms of past inquiry and in its previous results.

But no one can really understand the problem who has not a clear notion of the way in which it has shaped itself in the course of the investigation; no one can justly criticize, or appraise the value of, new contributions to the study of this subject unless he knows in what forms they have been presented before.¹⁷

The trouble for Schweitzer with these previous "Formen" of Lives-of-Jesus was their lack of any evident order. It was a veritable chaos. Schweitzer sees part of his project, then, as "ein Versuch Ordnung in das Chaos der Leben-Jesu zu bringen." Schweitzer's move is to settle on "certain landmarks amid this apparent welter of confusion" in order to deduce a "vague outline" of the "course followed, and the progress made, by the critical study of the life of Jesus." This "order" is therefore naturally arbitrary for didactic and pedagogical reasons—to say nothing of the aesthetic and rhetorical. Schweitzer himself explicitly divides the history of inquiry into two stages: vor Strauss und nach Strauss. Inquiry begins with the tick of Reimarus and is answered by the tock of konsequente Eschatologie. This is a narratival move: with the Geschichte's raw materials of previous research as they relate to Schweitzer's chronological division—what he calls the "vague outline" of

¹⁶ E.g., Roland Barthes, Hayden White and various Althusserian-inspired *Ideologiekritik*. Cf. the discussion in Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, pp. 86–105.

¹⁷ Quest ¹ p. 11.

¹⁸ *Geschichte*¹ p. 11.

 $^{^{19}}$ Geschichte¹p. 11. Because most of Schweitzer's work is translated into English, I will make recourse to these translations with only small changes here and there. These alternations will not be noted unless they are significant departures. Moreover, because my primary interest is with the influence of Schweitzer's Geschichte, the 1910 English translation (hereafter Quest¹) will be the main source.

²⁰ *Quest* ¹ pp. 9-10.

²¹ For a comedic anecdote on the actual physical process of how Schweitzer arranged the many volumes for his *Geschichte*, see Albert Schweitzer, *Out of My Life and Thought: An Autobiography* (trans. Antje Bultmann Lemke; Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2009) 46. On the felt loss of the rhetorical force in *Geschichte*² see Carleton Paget, "Albert Schweitzer's Second Edition." p. 6.

²² Geschichte¹ p. 9.

past inquiry²³—acting as *fabula*; and the narrative shaping and ordering of this "vague outline" acting as *sjuzet*. Analyzing the *Geschichte* as narrative, therefore, appears justifiable in terms of bringing Schweitzer's narrative logic to light.

In making recourse to *fabula* and *sjuzet*, I employ the general insights of basic narratology and various streams of narrative theory.²⁴ "The field of narratology has produced a great arsenal of distinctions and terms,"²⁵ so a word or two on what is being imported from this contested approach is in order. Narratology grew out of the Russian formalists,²⁶ most notably Vladimir Propp,²⁷ and has been strongly affiliated with structuralism.²⁸ But as Mieke Bal has stated, one need not "subscribe to a structuralist philosophy in order to assume an instrumental usage of the theory."²⁹ The split lemmas of *sjuzet* and *fabula* communicate the narrative ordering or telling of the raw materials of that telling. Many have voiced umbrage at this

²³ *Quest*¹ pp. 9–10.

²⁴ Cf., e.g., Mieke Bal, Narratology: Introduction to the Theory of Narrative (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2009); Monika Fludernik, An Introduction to Narratology (London: Routledge, 2009); Tom Kindt and Hans-Harald Müller, ed., What is Narratology (Narratologia; Berlin Walter de Gruyter, 2003); John Pier, ed., The Dynamics of Narrative Form (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2005); Daniela Langer Andreas Blödorn, Michael Scheffel, ed., Stimme(n) im Text (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006); Landa García John Pier, José Ángel, ed., Theorizing Narrativity (Narratologie; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008); Michael Richter, Das narrative Urteil (Narratologia; vol. 13; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008); Robert Hodel and Volkmar Lehmann, ed., Textkohärenz und Narration (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008); Wolf Schmid Peter Hühn, Jörg Schönert, ed., Point of View, Perspective, and Focalization (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2009); John Pier Peter Hühn, Wolf Schmid, Jörg Schönert, ed., Handbook of Narratology (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2009); Thiemo Breyer and Daniel Creutz, ed., Erfahrung und Geschichte (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2010); Greta Olson, ed., Current Trends in Narratology (Narratologia; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2011).

²⁵ H. Porter Abbott, *The Cambridge Introduction to Narrative* (Cambridge Introductions to Literature; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008) xiii.

²⁶ Abbott, *The Cambridge Introduction to Narrative* p. 201; David Gorman, "Bibliography of Russian Formalism in English," *Style* 26.4 (1992) 554–76; David Gorman, "Supplement to a Bibliography of Russian Formalism in English," *Style* 29.4 (1995) 562–64; Peter Steiner, *Russian Formalism: A Metapoetics* (Ithica: Cornell University Press, 1984).

²⁷ Vladimir Propp, *Mythology of the Folktale* (trans. Laurence Scott; Austin: University of Texas Press, 1968); Vladimir Propp, *Theory and History of Folklore* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984).

²⁸ Structuralism originated in the linguistics of Saussure but has been widely appropriated and formalized in the work of Lévi-Strauss, Althusser, Lacan, and Poulantaz. See Deleuze's chapter "How Do we Recognize Structuralism?" in Gilles Deleuze, *Desert Islands and Other Texts* 1953–1974 (trans. Mike Taormina; New York: Semiotext(e), 2002) 170–92; and, John Sturrock, *Structuralism and Since: From Lévi-Strauss to Derrida* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1981).

²⁹ Bal, *Narratology*, p. xiii.

distinction,³⁰ but the terms are a useful convention in analyzing, in the case of Schweitzer's *Geschichte*, the differentiation of the raw material of Lives-of-Jesus as they appear in history (*fabula*) and the order and emphases of Schweitzer's arrangement (*sjuzet*).³¹ Recourse to narratology, therefore, is as a "heuristic tool," without drawing tight distinctions between *fabula* and *sjuzet*, or subscribing to structuralist agendas.³²

Franz Karl Stanzel and Gérard Genette have furthered narratology with varying emphases on narrative mode and narrative discourse.³³ These insights examine not only *who* is telling the story but also *how* the story is being told. Events, actors, time, and location all constitute the material or elements of the *fabula*. The ordering of these elements produces an effect.³⁴ The result of these series of decisions regarding the ordering of the elements of the *fabula* is a specific story distinct from other stories, and results in the story's aspect.³⁵

The *Geschichte* is an intriguing text-case owing to Schweitzer's complicated involvement as author, narrator, and character.³⁶ The latter two functions are further complicated in that the duration of discourse time and narrative time in the

³⁰ E.g., Jacques Derrida, "Living On: Borderlines," in *Deconstruction and Criticism* (ed. Harold Bloom; London: Continuum, 2004); Mikhail Bakhtin, *The Problems of Dostoevsky's Poetics* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984); Mikhail Bakhtin, *The Dialogic Imagination: Four Essays* (Austin: University of Texas Press, 1982); Raphaēl Baroni, *La Tension narrative. Suspense, curiosité et surprise* (Paris: Seuil, 2007); Meir Sternberg, *Expositional Modes and Temporal Ordering in Fiction* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1993).

³¹ Bal expands the binomial to a trinomial of *text*, *story*, and *fabula*. The fabula is "a series of logically and chronologically related events that are caused or experienced by actors"; the story is a fabula "presented in a certain manner"; and the text is a "structured whole composed of language signs" (*Narratology*, p. 5). This trinomial distinction "does not mean that these layers 'exist' independently of one another" (*Narratology*, p. 6). Our interests in Schweitzer is in his *narrative text*; that is, the text "in which a narrative agent tells a story" (*Narratology*, p. 16).

³² Bal, *Narratology*, p. 5.

³³ Franz Karl Stanzel, *Theorie des Erzählens* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1995); and, Gérard Genette, *Narrative Discourse: An Essay in Method* (trans. Jonathan Culler; Ithica: Cornell University Press, 1979).

³⁴ For the principles of ordering, see Bal, *Narratology*, pp. 7–8.

³⁵ Bal, *Narratology*, p. 8.

³⁶ Again, it must be noted that this is an instrumental usage of the theory. Bal, for example, would be uncomfortable with the inclusion of "author" here. The agent for Bal is not the writer as the writer "withdraws and calls upon a fictitious spokesperson or narrator" (*Narratology*, p. 8).

narration of previous research (-/+) is inverted when it comes to the narration of *konsequente Eschatologie* (+/-). I use *konsequente Eschatologie* here instead of the character "Schweitzer" because Schweitzer the narrator uses the expression as metonymy for the human character.³⁷ In this sense the narrator can deploy a strategy of precedent as is done with the character of Reimarus, with Schweitzer as the personification and realization of *konsequente Eschatologie*. In this case, the narrative's frequency is ironically multiple where the event of the discovery (whether known or unknown) of *konsequente Eschatologie* occurs *n* times and is narrated *n* times. It is ironic in that the event of *konsequente Eschatologie* is functionally singular for the narrator in that its event and narration are idealized in its personification; viz., in the character of Schweitzer. Moreover, the narrator role itself is complicated in its bivocal narration.³⁸ That is, the voice within the *Geschichte* is intra-diegetic and extra-diegetic; hetero-diegetic and homo-diegetic. And the mood shifts along varying degrees of focalization.

This chapter examines Schweitzer's *Geschichte* as narration and his deployment of the element of character. In particular, how the *Geschichte* relates to Schweitzer's formulation of the beginnings of the critical inquiry into the life of Jesus originating with Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768). Schweitzer's decision to begin with Reimarus is revealing in that it highlights the rhetorical strategies and aspect of his framing of the history of *Leben Jesu Forschung*. Reimarus is right in seeing eschatology as the key to the problem of the historical Jesus but wrong in how he sees eschatology. But Reimarus' discovery is covered by the dusts of subsequent neglect until *konsequente Eschatologie* not only rediscovers the key of the historical Jesus but also corrects the errors of Reimarus' explication of that key. Reimarus therefore plays a significant rhetorical and structural role in the *Geschichte*. And it is

³⁷ There is a sense in which the character of "Schweitzer" is split into Schweitzer¹ (representing *Eine Skizze*) and Schweitzer² (representing special material within the *Geschichte*. Nevertheless, we will treat "Schweitzer" as a singular character and even fill out "Schweitzer" with Schweitzer³ at points; that is, *Geschichte*².

³⁸ The narrator here is the linguistic subject, or function; not the person. See Bal, *Narratology*, p. 16.

as such that we will analyze the narrator's deployment and focalization surrounding one of the lead characters in the *Geschichte*: Hermann Samuel Reimarus.

1.1. Schweitzer's Reimarus

In the beginning was Reimarus. Or so it was for Schweitzer.³⁹ The scope of his investigation is *von Reimarus zu Wrede*.⁴⁰ As we will see, Reimarus for Schweitzer is no mere matter of prologue but an integral pivot to a carefully constructed rhetoric.⁴¹ Reimarus comes to the reader as Hamlet's Ghost, haunting key moments of the narrative.⁴² The reader is forced to ask whether he be "a spirit of health or goblin damn'd"?⁴³ After stating *das Problem*,⁴⁴ Schweitzer begins his "attempt to trace genetically" (*genetisch*) "the shaping of the problem" of the historical Jesus by giving "a systematic historical account of the critical study of the life of Jesus" (*eine systematisch-historische Darstellung der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*) as it currently stands. And he begins with Reimarus.⁴⁵

Reimarus as *Ausgangspunkt* for Schweitzer's *Geschichte* is significant in its rhetorical and structural role. Reimarus is important to Schweitzer's project for four main reasons which set the stage for the rest of the volume. First, Reimarus was an historian (*ein Historiker*) and represents the first historical-critical investigation into the life of Jesus. By "history," Schweitzer means less about the consulting of sources from antiquity than he does about value-free inquiry or the *was eigentlich gewesen ist* of the Leopold von Ranke mold.⁴⁶ In other words, Schweitzer's Reimarus was

³⁹ Unless otherwise noted, "Schweitzer" will refer to Schweitzer as narrator.

⁴⁰ Though here, see Wernle, "Review,", p. 502, and his comments that the book would have been better titled *Von Reimarus zu Schweitzer*. See, too, Morgan, "From Reimarus to Sanders," 81.

⁴¹ Though there is some debate over which edition is the more tightly woven narrative, it should be noted that the second chapter of $Quest^1$ (pp. 13-26) remains unchanged in $Quest^2$ (pp. 14-26; $Geschichte^{1/2}$ pp. 13-26 / pp. 13-26).

⁴² Though many examples could be cited with respect to the early Strauss, Bauer, von Hartmann, Wrede, or even modern theology, consider Bousset feeling "the stern eye of old Reimarus" (*Quest*¹ p. 265).

⁴³ William Shakespeare, "Hamlet," 1.4.40.

 $^{^{44}}$ Geschicthe $^{1/2}$ pp. 1-12; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 1-12 / 1-13.

⁴⁵ *Geschicthe*¹ p. 12; *Quest* ¹ p. 12.

⁴⁶ See Henning Graf Reventlow, "Conditions and Presuppositions of Biblical Criticism in Germany in the Period of the Second Empire and Before: The Case of Heinrich Julius Holtzmann," in

loosed from the fetters of dogma and free to look at the historical Jesus and rise of nascent Christianity as it happened. This kind of history championed by the philosophes in the varying theatres of the Enlightenment has been found wanting.⁴⁷ And, as we will see in the next chapter, Reimarus might have been freed from orthodoxy, but he was certainly not freed from dogma. Second, Reimarus' Jesus was, fundamentally, a preacher of repentance and in no way the founder of a new religion. Schweitzer follows this line in attempting to keep Jesus wholly within the late flowering of apocalyptic Judaism. This serves as the baseline for Schweitzer's methodology in determining what Judaism looked like during Jesus' day. Third, Reimarus understood the messiah in purely political terms and argued that the thought-world of Jesus was fundamentally eschatological. Schweitzer sees this move as Reimarus' blessing and bane. On the one hand, he was fundamentally correct in seeing eschatology as the key to unlocking the problematics of the historical Jesus. But, on the other hand, this was Reimarus' fateful mistake in that he reduces eschatology to a this-worldly regime of the political. Fourth, Reimarus sees the rise of early Christianity as stemming from the fabrication of Jesus' early followers after the messianic failure of Jesus to bring about the kingdom of God. This was a significant move for Reimarus in that he places the historical Jesus and his followers on either side of an unbridgeable gulf after his death. The disciples were hucksters who invented the resurrection and Christianity in order to further their own cause by continuing to live off the charity of former supporters of the Jesus movement. Though Schweitzer does not follow this line, he does employ the logic in what he calls the fateful shift of perspective (eine unbewusste, notwendige perspektivische

-

Biblical Studies and the Shifting of Paradims (ed. Henning Graf Reventlow and William R. Farmer; Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press) 277; Hayden White, Metahistory: The Historical Imagination in Nineteenth-Century Europe (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973) 163–90; Felix Gilbert, Hisotry: Politics or Culture? Reflections on Ranke and Burckhardt (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990). See, too, Hans-Georg Gadamer, Truth and Method (trans. Joel Weinsheimer and Donald G. Marshall; London: Continuum, 1989) 202–10.

⁴⁷ See, e.g., the essays in Aviezer Tucker, ed., *A Companion to the Philosophy of History and historiography* (Oxford: Blackwell, 2009); and, Stephen Bann, *The Inventions of History: Essays on the Representation of the Past* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1990); William H. Sewell, *Logics of History: Social Theory and Social Transformation* (Chicago Studies in Practices of Meaning; Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2005); Geoff Eley, *A Crooked Line: From Cultural History to the History of Society* (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2005); and, of course, the analyses of Adorno, Foucault, and Horkheimer.

Verschiebung).⁴⁸ We will need to examine how Schweitzer's narration of Reimarus develops along these points and then see how his critique of this construction fits within his wider rhetorical agenda.

1.1.1. Reimarus the Historian

Though Schweitzer concedes that Reimarus wrote a polemical piece (*Kampfschrift*),⁴⁹ and was fuelled by a hate so eloquent and a scorn so lofty, Reimarus was no mere pamphleteer (*[d]es Reimarus Werk ist kein Pamphlet*).⁵⁰ He was first and foremost an historian, ahead of his time and subsequently the proper development of historical science to be sure,⁵¹ but an historian nonetheless.⁵² More importantly for Schweitzer, Reimarus, "with his thorough-going honesty,"⁵³ represents the first attempt to form an "historical [*historisch*] conception of the life of Jesus."⁵⁴ Though Schweitzer names several outliers,⁵⁵ he maintains that Reimarus "had no predecessors; neither had he any disciples,"⁵⁶ indeed there was "nothing to prepare the world for a work of such power as that of Reimarus."⁵⁷ The *Fragmente* selected and published by Lessing marked "the first time that a really historical

⁴⁸ Schweitzer, *Das Messianitäts- und Leidensgeheimnis* ix; Albert Schweitzer, *The Mystery of the Kingdom of God: The Secret of Jesus' Messiahship and Passion* (trans. Walter Lowrie; New York: Dodd, Mead and Company, 1914) 10. See, further, §3.

 $^{^{49}}$ See, "da es eine Kampfschrift, nicht eine objective historische Studie ist." Geschicte p. 22; Quest 1 p. 22.

⁵⁰ Geschichte¹ p.15; Quest ¹ p. 15.

⁵¹ "Historical science was not at that time sufficiently advanced to lead even the man who had divined the fundamentally eschatological character of the preaching of Jesus onward to the historical solution of the problem; it needed more than a hundred and twenty years to fill the chasm which Reimarus had been forced to bridge with that makeshift hypothesis of his" (*Quest* ¹ p. 23).

⁵² In a passage relating Lessing and Reimarus, Schweitzer names the former *ein Denker*, the latter *nur ein historiker* (*Geschichte*¹ p. 15).

 $^{^{53}}$ $Quest^{\,1}$ p. 153. Something of the personality of Schweitzer seeps through here, as elsewhere in his skewering of Renan, where he places a premium on honesty and intellectual consistency. See the Introduction of Delbert R. Hillers in $Quest^{\,1}$ p. xii. See, too, his comments in $Quest^{\,1}$ p. 399 regarding the value of what German research has accomplished for the study of the life of Jesus.

⁵⁴ *Quest* ¹ p. 13.

⁵⁵ Luther (*Quest* ¹ p. 13), Osiander (*Quest* ¹ p. 13), Hieronymus Xavier (Q¹ p. 14), and Johann Jakob Hess (Q¹ p. 14).

⁵⁶ *Quest* ¹ p. 26.

⁵⁷ *Quest* ¹ p. 14.

mind [ein historischer Kopf], thoroughly conversant with the sources, had undertaken the criticism of the tradition."58

Schweitzer is only minimally interested in biography and transmission. ⁵⁹ His main concern is the appearance of excerpts of *Fragmente eines Ungenannten*, published by G. E. Lessing from 1774–78. Reimarus wrote but did not publish the longer *Apologie oder Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes*. "Lessing anonymously published excerpts of it, setting off the famous 'Fragment Dispute' between Lessing and Hamburg's senior pastor Johann Melchior Goeze (1717–1786)." ⁶⁰ Lessing's greatness, according to Schweitzer, is that he grasped the effects of the criticisms which would call for either the doing away with or the recasting of the idea of revelation. What is more, he "recognized that the introduction of the historical element would transform and deepen rationalism." ⁶¹ Lessing's flinging the torch of criticism into the house of faith, ⁶² therefore, served his own project. ⁶³ Of these excerpts, Schweitzer's demonstrable interest is in the seventh: *Vom Zwecke Jesu und*

⁵⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 15.

⁵⁹ "Not much is known about Reimarus. For his contemporaries he had no existence, and it was Strauss who first made his name known in literature." *Quest* ¹ p. 14; *Geschichte* ¹ p. 14. This is actually a rather misleading portrait of Reimarus. See the excellent essays collected in Martin Mulsow, ed., *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus* (1694–1768) (Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Leiden: Brill, 2011). For Schweitzer's telling the tale of the *Fragmente*, see *Quest* ¹ pp. 14–16; and, §2.2.1. below.

⁶⁰ Almut Spalding, *Elise Reimarus (1735-1805), The Muse of Hamburg: A Woman of the German Enlightenment* (Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2005) 15.

⁶¹ Quest ¹ p. 15.

⁶² This was more or less the charge of Semler's parable given in his apologue. See Johann Salomo Semler, *Beantwortung der Fragmente eines Ungenannten ins besondere vom Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger* (Halle: 1779). Cf. *Quest* ¹ pp. 15-16.

⁶³ Lessing, of course, separated the question of the historicity of Christian origins from the religious truths to which it bears witness. Cf. Gotthold E. Lessing, *Lessing's Theological Writings: Selections in Translation with an Introductory Essay* (trans. Henry Chadwick; Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1957) 18. Lessing's rejection of traditional conceptualizations of revelation fueled his separation of history and religious truth. Lessing "saw revelation as a historical process wherein different degrees of insight are produced in various historical communities, each sufficient for the needs of that community at its time and place and each expressed in terms of the level of development of its followers." It is in this context that his maxim, "accidental truths of history can never become the proof of necessary truths of reason" should be understood. On the relation of Lessing to Reimarus, see §2.2.1.

seiner Jünger.⁶⁴ This seventh fragment, "The Aims of Jesus and His Disciples," is lauded as "not only one of the greatest events in the history of criticism," but also "a masterpiece of general literature."⁶⁵

1.1.2. Jesus the Preacher of Repentance

"To all unprejudiced persons it is manifest," Schweitzer states leading into the following quote from Reimarus, "that Jesus had not the slightest intention of doing away with the Jewish religion and putting another in its place." Reimarus "formulated the conception that Jesus was not a religious founder and teacher, but purely a preacher." The preaching of Jesus is therefore Reimarus' concern. The contents of that preaching contain two phrases but are one in meaning: "Repent," and "believe the Gospel"—or "repent," and "the kingdom of heaven is at hand" as it is elsewhere. Though Schweitzer does not elaborate on Reimarus' exegesis of these phrases, he has plenty to say on the continuity of Jesus' message with the Judaism of his day. Schweitzer, in relation to Timothée Colani's study, asks, "Bis zu welchem Grade war Jesus Jude?" For Reimarus, the answer to this question is: all the way down.

Jesus shared the Jewish racial exclusiveness wholly and unreservedly. According to Matt 10:5, he forbade his disciples to declare to the Gentiles the coming of the kingdom of God. Evidently, therefore, his purpose did not embrace them. Had it been otherwise, the hesitation of Peter in Acts 10 and 11, and the necessity of justifying the conversion of Cornelius, would be incomprehensible.⁷¹

29

⁶⁴ Though he does have high praise for the fourth: "The monograph on the passing of the Israelites through the Red Sea is one of the ablest, wittiest, and most acute which has ever been written." *Quest* ¹ p. 15.

⁶⁵ *Quest* ¹ p. 15.

⁶⁶ *Quest* ¹ p. 17; *Geschichte* ¹ p. 17.

⁶⁷ Quest ¹ p. 24; Geschichte ¹ p. 24.

⁶⁸ *Geschichte*¹ p. 16; *Quest* ¹ p. 16.

⁶⁹ Timothée Colani, *Jésus-Christ et les croyances messianiques de son temps* (Strassburg: 1864).

 $^{^{70}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 222/223; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 224/191.

⁷¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 18.

Moreover, from Matt 5:18 it is clear that Jesus takes his stand upon Torah unreservedly.⁷² Jesus' preaching went "beyond" (*jenseits*) the Judaism of his day only in that "a new and deeper morality must come into being" (*es muß eine neue, tiefere Sittlichkeit erstehen*). The former righteousness of the Law is no longer sufficient in the time of the kingdom.⁷³

1.1.3. The Fundamentally Eschatological Weltanschauung of Jesus Schweitzer's presentation of Reimarus thus far is a picture of a critical historian interested in matters of Christian origins. If one wishes to gain an "historical understanding of Jesus' teaching," one must leave behind the catechism and dogmatics, "and go out into a wholly Jewish world of thought (nur auf jüdische *Anschauungen ausgehen*).⁷⁴ Within this Jewish world of thought Jesus appears wholly at home, "not as the founder of a new religion, but as the final product of the eschatological and apocalyptic thought of Late Judaism."75 Because Jesus made no explicit statements about his understanding of the kingdom of God in counterdistinction to the Judaism of his day, so Schweitzer's Reimarus argues, ⁷⁶ he must share the same understanding of the kingdom.⁷⁷ Because there was no explanation given by either the Baptist or Jesus, so the argument e silentio goes, "Jesus took his stand within the Jewish religion, and accepted its messianic expectations without in any way correcting them."⁷⁸ When Jesus sent out the disciples to proclaim the coming of the kingdom (Matt 10:23), and in all of Jesus' teaching prior to it, the crowds "would naturally think of the customary meaning of the term and the hopes which attached themselves to it."79 What was the customary meaning? That "under the leadership of Jesus, the kingdom of messiah was about to be brought in." As

messiah, Jesus was the son of God. But so were the kings of the covenant-people

⁷² *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁷³ *Geschichte*¹ p. 17; *Quest* ¹ p. 18.

⁷⁴ Quest ¹ p. 17; Geschichte ¹ p. 17.

⁷⁵ Spätjudentums is Schweitzer's lamentable term, Geschichte¹ p. 23; Q¹ p. 23.

⁷⁶ Cf. *Quest* ¹ p. 16.

⁷⁷ Cf. *Geschichte*¹ p. 17; *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁷⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 16.

⁷⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 17; *Geschichte* ¹ p. 17.

(Bundesvolkes) as well as the nation (Volk) itself. He was thus the son of God in a preeminent sense (in besonderem Sinne), remaining fully "within the limits of humanity" (in den Schranken der Menschlichkeit).80

Reimarus marks, for Schweitzer, "the first, and indeed…the only writer who recognized and pointed out that the preaching of Jesus was purely eschatological" (*nur eschatologisch*).⁸¹ The exact nature of the "contemporary Jewish world of thought," by Schweitzer's own admission, was not so straightforward,⁸² but Reimarus' significance is that he drew attention to the eschatological views of Jesus' contemporaries.⁸³ It is worth pressing Schweitzer here on how he understands what Reimarus means by the "eschatological view of Jesus' contemporaries" because, as we shall see, he is clearer on where he disagrees with Reimarus' use of eschatology as a "destructive principle of criticism" (*destruktiv-kritisches Prinzip*) than the exact particulars of his own construction.⁸⁴

Eschatology, as far as Schweitzer understands Reimarus, was both earthly and political. The scion of David's line was expected to appear as the "political deliverer of the nation" (messianischer Befreier des Volkes). 85 The only change Jesus' preaching made in the religion of Judaism, 86 reports Schweitzer quoting Reimarus, is that the former belief "in a deliverer of Israel who was to come in the future" (einen Erlöser Israels, der da kommen sollte) was now believed to be the "deliverer who was already present" (nun aber glaubten an einen, der schon gekommen sei). 87 The

_

⁸⁰ Geschichte¹ p. 17; Quest ¹ p. 17.

⁸¹ *Geschichte*^{1/2} pp. 238/234; *Quest* ^{1/2} pp. 241/200.

⁸² *Quest* ¹ p. 8.

⁸³ *Quest* 1 p. 10.

⁸⁴ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 238/235; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 241/200.

 $^{^{85}}$ Geschichte^{1/2} pp. 20/20; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 20/20. Though the sense of Montgomery's translation is correct, it is slightly misleading in that it translates *messianischer* here in such a way that one would think *politisch* was the translated adjective.

⁸⁶ Presumably, the only change *in addition to* the earlier statements were on the need for a "new and deeper morality." Cf. *Geschichte*¹ p. 17; *Quest* ¹ p. 18.

 $^{^{87}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 18/18; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 18/18.

gospel, therefore, "meant nothing more or less to all who heard it than that, under the leadership of Jesus, the kingdom of messiah was about to be brought in."88

Many were waiting for the realization of the kingdom of God, so the initial enthusiasm of the crowds is historically sensible.⁸⁹ And, again, since there was no explication on the part of the Baptist or Jesus to dissuade the crowds of "the customary meaning" of the terms and hopes associated with them, they readily "attached themselves" to their customary understanding of the term. 90 The sending out of the twelve disciples throughout the Judean countryside was understood as an effort of consolidating resistance, and sparking a popular uprising, against the yoke of Rome under the banner of Jesus-as-messiah. 91 The "popular uprising," of course, never arrived—though twice he believed it was at hand. The first time was at the sending out of the twelve (Matt 10:23). Convinced that "the people would flock to him from every quarter and immediately proclaim him messiah," there was a significant readjustment called for when the disciples returned. The second time, Jesus went on the offensive with his messianic overture in Jerusalem. 92 "This change was due to the non-fulfillment of the promises made in the discourse at the sending forth of the twelve. He had thought then to let loose the final tribulation and so compel the coming of the kingdom."93 Harkening back to Zechariah and the political entry upon the colt of an ass, he "arrogates to himself supreme power" and calls for "open revolt" against the Sanhedrin and Pharisees. 94 The episode reaches its climax when Jesus closes his "incendiary harangue" in Matt 23. The leaders shall not see him again until they bow their knee to him as messiah. 95 Again Jesus was disappointed. The people refused to rise in resistance. The cry of dereliction is

⁸⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁸⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁹⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁹¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 17.

⁹² *Quest* ¹ p. 19.

⁹³ Quest 1 p. 389.

⁹⁴ Ouest 1 p. 19.

⁹⁵ Quest 1 p. 19. Here there is a connection for Reimarus with Matt 16:28 as well. Jesus promised "the fulfillment of all messianic hopes before the end of the existing generation" ($Quest^1$ p. 20).

therefore a cry of shock and anguish, abandonment and surprise. "God had not aided him in his aim and purpose as he had hoped."⁹⁶ The cry from the cross reveals the suffering and crucifixion of Jesus was unintended. His intention was "to establish an earthly kingdom and deliver the Jews from political oppression." In this mission, Jesus had followed the God that failed.⁹⁷

1.1.4. Christianity as the Fabrication of Jesus' Followers

The point of Jesus' failure for the disciples represents a crucial moment in dogmatic history. Nothing prepared them for Jesus' death. They seemed to evidence a "sensuous hope" of being the rulers of the reconstituted twelve tribes of Israel in their own lifetime (cf. Matt 16:28); a hope of which Jesus never seemed to disabuse them. Hints of resurrection language in the mouth of Jesus were therefore retrojections on the part of the disciples lest their messiah appeared as he was: caught off guard. 99

There is therefore justification in drawing "an absolute distinction" between the preaching of Jesus and the teaching of the apostles. ¹⁰⁰ The former expected the imminent political kingdom; the latter made use of an apparent extant two-pronged messianic hope: one political, the other the transformation of the former into the spiritual. "Appearing first in Daniel, this expectation can still be traced in the Apocalypses, in Justin's 'Dialogue with Trypho,' and in certain Rabbinic sayings." ¹⁰¹ Reimarus is especially dependent upon *Trypho*, according to which, "the messiah is to appear twice; once in human lowliness, the second time upon the clouds of heaven." ¹⁰² The first *systema* collapsed upon itself in the mangled body of the failed Jesus-as-messiah. The second became the poetic through which the apostles interpreted and (re)fashioned the expectations and activities of the earthly Jesus.

⁹⁶ Quest ¹ p. 20.

⁹⁷ Quest ¹ p. 20.

⁹⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 20.

⁹⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 20.

¹⁰⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 16.

¹⁰¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 20.

¹⁰² *Quest* ¹ pp. 20-21.

Resurrection was thus invented as a dogmatic coping mechanism, allowing the apostles to live off the charity of former supporters of the messianic movement (cf. Luke 8:2-3) while transmuting the former expectations of imminent political realization into the hope of the parousia. After dispensing with the empty body, and aided by "the complete disorganization of the Jewish state," 103 the apostles quickly reconfigured the preaching of Jesus into the rise of early Christianity. Their break with the *Torah* was not in continuity with Jesus but owing to "the pressure of circumstances."104 They abandoned the formerly nationalistic message (cf. Matt 10:5) for a more universal invitation. 105 The so-called institutions of the church are either retrojections (e.g. baptism for its dubious Trinitarian overtones) or reconfigurations of former eschatological acts. The Lord's Supper, for example, is seen as the pivot upon which the final Paschal Meal of the old order anticipated the Passover of the new kingdom. 106 Moreover, miracles of healing are proofs in the messiah's pudding, while others "have no basis in fact," as they are later constructions based upon OT patterns. Jesus "did no really miraculous works; otherwise, the demands for a sign would be incomprehensible."107

The hope of the parousia, then, "was the fundamental thing in primitive Christianity," while the parousia itself being a dogmatic product *of that hope*. "Accordingly, the main problem of primitive dogmatics was the delay of the parousia." ¹⁰⁸ As early as 2 Thessalonians, Paul had to deal with the crises of delay and the author of 2 Peter side-stepped the problem entirely with a sophism on temporal relativity from a divine perspective. "Those simple early Christians" were bemused to the point of accepting the variations of dogmatic refitting. ¹⁰⁹ "The sole argument which could save the credit of Christianity would be a proof that the

⁻

¹⁰³ *Quest* ¹ p. 21.

¹⁰⁴ *Quest* ¹ p. 18.

 $^{^{105}}$ According to Schweitzer's reading of Reimarus, there is simply no other way to make sense of Acts 10–11 (*Quest* 1 p. 18).

¹⁰⁶ *Quest* ¹ p. 18.

¹⁰⁷ *Quest* ¹ p. 19.

¹⁰⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 21.

 $^{^{109}}$ Schweitzer reports, quoting Reimarus, Geschichte 1 p. 21 / Quest 1 p. 22.

parousia had really taken place at the time for which it was announced; and obviously no such proof can be produced."¹¹⁰ But in the absence of proof successive generations continued "ever after to feed themselves with empty hopes."¹¹¹ Early Christianity was therefore not an organic development of the teaching of Jesus, but a new creation altogether by the apostles who "were forced out of Judaism and obliged to found a new religion."¹¹²

"Such," concludes Schweitzer, "is Reimarus' reconstruction of the history." 113 As we shall see in the following chapter, the particulars of Schweitzer's construction of Reimarus are more or less accurate. But it is this apparent accuracy which disguises the use and construction of Reimarus within the *Geschichte* and allows Schweitzer an alibi for the mis-framing of Reimarus. "Mit die theologischen Vermächtnis des Reimarus umzugehen," then, is clouded by the storm cloud of Schweitzer. For Reimarus is thrust into *die Anfänge der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*, 114 and given a starring role. 115 What is more, despite the criticisms of some reviewers of the 1906 edition of *Von Reimarus zu Wrede* regarding the omission of significant contributions from English deists, 116 Schweitzer more or less ignored these criticisms in the second edition of 1913. It seems likely that Schweitzer may have himself been aware of his arbitrary beginnings. Why, then, begin with Reimarus? What rhetorical / structural role did his emplotment achieve?

1.2. Schweitzer's Critique and Rhetorical Strategy

As we shall see, though Schweitzer more or less gets the particulars of Reimarus correct, his framing of him is misleading, and is something of an historical "false

¹¹⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 22.

¹¹¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 22.

¹¹² *Quest* ¹ p. 24 with p. 19.

¹¹³ *Quest* ¹ p. 22.

¹¹⁴ August Christian Lundsteen, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und die Anfänge der Leben-Jesu-Forschung* (Copenhagen: O. C. Olsen, 1939).

¹¹⁵ Cf. Dietrich Klein, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694-1768): Das theologische Werk* (Beiträge zur historischen Theologie; vol. 145; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2009) 7.

¹¹⁶ See Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 13 and nn. 47-49.

start."¹¹⁷ Reimarus is not the historian of Christian origins that Schweitzer portrays him to be. His was a polemical attempt to destroy, through the aid of Wolffian criteria, Christian revelation. Its apparent form of historical criticism, and subsequent treatment as such within some contexts of reception history, is misleading. The *Apologie* is "governed by the categories of natural religion despite its appearance as historical investigation of the origins of the Christian religion." Indeed, there is sufficient proof to suspect that Schweitzer himself did not intend for his "ordering" to be a statement of chronological fact, but of rhetoric. Schweitzer's beginning with Reimarus neglects his awareness of the English deists. This leads us to asking why frame Reimarus in the way that he did? Why begin with the professor of oriental languages from Hamburg? In answering this question we will proceed in two stages: first by looking at Schweitzer's analysis and valuation of Reimarus; and, second, by looking at how his framing of Reimarus fits within and indeed shapes Schweitzer's wider agenda.

1.2.1. Analysis and Valuation

¹¹⁷ Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," 2, p. 69.

¹¹⁸ See, for example, the rather puzzling comments of N. T. Wright: "The icon was in place, and nobody asked whether the Christ it portrayed—and in whose name so much good and ill was done—was at all like the Jesus whom it claimed to represent. Nobody, that is, until Reimarus. Reimarus (1694-1768) was the great iconoclast." And, "Reimarus, or somebody like him, must be seen, not just as a protestor against Christianity, but, despite his intentions, as a true reformer of it." And again: "History has shown itself to contain more than the idealists believed it could. It is in this sense that Reimarus was, despite himself, a genuine reformer of the faith." Wright, *Jesus and the Victory of God* 15, 17, and 18 respectively. Though see his comments on p. 13 which seem to temper the previous quotations.

¹¹⁹ Talbert, "Introduction," pp. 26–27. See, too, the essays in Martin Mulsow, *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment*.

 $^{^{120}}$ See, for example, $Geschichte^{1/2}$ pp. 171/173; $Quest^{1/2}$ pp. 171/152. Suspicions are raised in the formulaic introduction of Buch with Aber wie sollte man auch erwarten[...] and concluding with $k\"{o}nne$. In other words, there appears to be introduced into this statement an element of uncertainty if in fact the Fragments were motivated by concerns of natural religion or, perhaps, genuine historical-critical concerns surrounding Christian origins.

¹²¹ See Werner G. Kümmel, *The New Testament: The History of the Investigation of its Problems* (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1972) 90; Colin Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought 1778 - 1860* (Grand Rapids: Baker Book House, 1985) 36-52; Klaus Scholder, *The Birth of Modern Critical Theology: Origins and Problems of Biblical Criticism in the Seventeenth Century* (trans. John Bowden; London: SCM, 1990 [1966]). Cf. Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 269 and n. 23.

The study of character requires an analysis of the character in question as s/he relates to other characters in the narrative both in terms of opposition and in alliance. Above to the Geschichte, the narrator uses the literary techniques of repetition, precedent, and compliment as points of emphasis and alignment with respect to the character of konsequente Eschatologie / Schweitzer. Throughout the Geschichte, a fair share of admiration shines forth from Schweitzer's pages toward the enigmatic Reimarus. At points, Schweitzer waxes poetically about his "historical instinct" (geschichtliche Intuition) and "unfailing instinct" (ein unfehlbares Empfinden) for pregnant texts. 123 But nowhere does he speak with greater praise than here: "The fact is there are some who are historians by the grace of God, who from their mother's womb have an instinctive feeling for the real [an den Sinn für die Erfassung des Wirklichen]." 124 Schweitzer's allusion here to such scriptural texts as 1 Sam 3:20 and 7:15–17 (cf. Ps 139:13) seem to place Reimarus within a prophetic role—no doubt preparing the way for the fiery baptism of konsequente Eschatologie.

His work is judged to be "perhaps the most splendid achievement in the whole course of the historical investigation of the life of Jesus."¹²⁵ And as such, it cannot be dismissed with simple labeling of deistic polemics (*deistischen Streitschrift*),¹²⁶ or ignored as irrelevant.¹²⁷ Moreover, Schweitzer points to the inability of former attempts to dismiss Lessing's selected *Fragmente*, Semler's being chief.¹²⁸ Johann Salomo Semler (1725–91), "the great Halle theologian,"¹²⁹ was among the more

¹²² Elaine Aston and George Savona, *Theatre as Sign-System: A Semiotics of Text and Performance* (London: Routledge, 1991) 41.

 $^{^{123}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 24/25; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 25/24. The texts referred to are Matt 10:23; 16:28.

 $^{^{124}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 24/25; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 25/24.

¹²⁵ *Quest* ¹ pp. 22-23.

 $^{^{126}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 22/23; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 22/22. Here we see a rhetorical move on the part of Schweitzer in his insistence of framing Reimarus as an honest and critical historian as opposed to the left-wing Deist he was being presented as in other forms of literature.

 $^{^{127}}$ Schweitzer here cites as an example of simple labeling the work of Otto Schmiedel, *Die Hauptprobleme der Leben-Jesu-Forschung* (Tübingen: 1902). Schmiedel dismissed the Fragments as a "Deistic production" (*Quest* 1 p. 22).

¹²⁸ Schweitzer also cites Johann Christian Döderlein, *Fragmente und Antifragmente* (Nuremberg: 1778). See *Quest* ¹ p. 25.

¹²⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 25.

important of the neologians. Himself a towering historical critic, ¹³⁰ and considered by some to be the father of the historical critical study of the bible, ¹³¹ he responded to the appearance of Lessing's selected *Fragmente* in a manner of "guerrilla" warfare,"132 addressing each sentence of the *Fragmente*, akin to Origen's *Contra* Celsum, ¹³³ but in the end incapable of debunking its central claims. Semler's basic argument was that they cannot be correct owing to its flattening the dual-natured pedagogy of Jesus and his disciples: one sensuous the other spiritual. The narrator rushes to the scene here to defend his complex role as character as well. Semler's critique is equally felt by Schweitzer the character for it is precisely the latter's view that is being assailed by Semler. Semler's narrowly Jewish strand and wide-ranging universal strand are at odds with Schweitzer's understanding of Jesus as wholly within and contained by the thought-world of first-century Palestine. The greatness of Jesus is in what he does with these thought forms though he is forever chained to them. Semler's criticism of Reimarus is that Jesus is reduced to a mere Jewish messiah when in fact the scope of his messianism is universal as evidenced in, for example, the Sermon on the Mount. But in a turn of cruel fate, and with somewhat violent imagery, Reimarus "avenged himself on Semler by shaking his faith in historical theology and even in the freedom of science in general," going so far as giving his approval to the Wöllner edict of 1788 on the regulation of religion. 134

¹³⁰ See, esp., Johann S. Semler, *Abhandlung von freier Untersuchung des Canon (Texte zur Kirchen- und Theologiegeschichte* ed. Heinz Scheible; Gütersloh: Gütersloher Verlagshaus Gerd Mohn, 1967 [1771-75]).

¹³¹ James C Livingston, *The Enlightenment and the Nineteenth Century* (Modern Christian Thought; vol. 1; Minneapolis: Fortress, 2006) 29.

¹³² *Quest* ¹ p. 26.

¹³³ Origen, *Contra Celsum* (trans. Henry Chadwick; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1980).

¹³⁴ Quest ¹ p. 26. On the Edict of Religion in 1788, see Hans W. Blom, ed., Monarchisms in the Age of Enlightenment: Liberty, Patriotism and the Common Good (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2007); Michael J. Sauter, Visions of the Enlightenment: The Edict of Religion of 1788 and the Politics of the Public Sphere in Eighteenth-Century Prussia (Brill's Studies in Intellectual History; Leiden: Brill Academic Publishers, 2009).

It is evident that the narrator is sympathetic to the animosity felt in the voice of Reimarus, seeing it as a form of courageous deconstruction. The "historical truth" (die historische Wahrheit) discovered by Reimarus was to become the scourge of dogmatic confessionalism, and for Schweitzer, no matter how bitter the historical truth, religion has nothing to fear. Genuine historical knowledge" (wahre geschichtliche Erkenntnis), far from destroying religion or dogmatics, restores it to the "full freedom of movement." And whatever stands in the way of that movement is rightly met with animosity and impatience. Schweitzer thus sees in Reimarus an historical analog to his project of hurling the Jesus of German liberalism upon the pyres of historical criticism.

Schweitzer sees in Reimarus someone with a "clear perception of the elements of the problem," and after him the "whole movement of theology down to Johannes Weiss appears retrograde."¹⁴¹ Jesus was purely a preacher, not the founder of a new religion, and there is therefore a disjunction between the Jesus of history and primitive Christianity. This disjunction in Reimarus is transmuted to what Schweitzer calls "the fateful shift in perspective."¹⁴² That is, after the death of Jesus, the Gospel writers made Jesus the messiah *before* the messianic age whereas in point of fact he is the messiah-to-be *at* the messianic age.¹⁴³ This is a significant move of narration in that Reimarus explodes any sense of continuity between Jesus and his so-called followers after his death. Schweitzer surely does not follow the radical discontinuity of Reimarus, but a soft discontinuity is fundamental to his

 $^{^{135}}$ The key phrase is "Er hat ein Recht, den has in seiner Schrift lodern zu lassen" (*Geschichte*^{1/2} pp. 22/23; *Quest* $^{1/2}$ pp. 23/22).

 $^{^{136}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 22/23; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 23/22.

¹³⁷ "Die Religion hat also keinen Grund der Auseinandersetzung mit der historischen Wahrheit aus dem Wege gehen zu wollen" Schweitzer, *Aus meinem Leben und Denken* p. 42; Schweitzer, *Life and Thought* p. 54.

¹³⁸ *Skizze*, p. 97; *Mystery*, p. 251.

 $^{^{139}}$ There is good reason to suspect that similar sentiments stood behind Schweitzer's own impatience with respect both to his critics and to the wider spiritualizing posture of German theology.

 $^{^{140}}$ On Schweitzer and his stance against German theology, see Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," $\,$ 339–44.

¹⁴¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 23.

¹⁴² *Mystery*, pp. 211–12.

¹⁴³ See §3 below.

methodological concerns. For Schweitzer, it was this "change in perspective" which hid the key of *konsequente Eschatologie*. Moreover, Reimarus brought the narratives of the Synoptics and John together by neglecting the latter. He grasped more clearly and explained more accurately the attitude of Jesus toward the Torah and the subsequent liberty of the disciples to the point that "modern historical science does not need to add a word." His suspicion surrounding the problematics of the first preaching of the resurrection at Pentecost, and his assumption that a mere emphasis on the eschatological role in Christian origins would not suffice were later validated. A "creative element in the tradition," consisting of the disciples' creative retrojection of miracles, the messianic fulfillment of prophecy, and predictions of Passion and resurrection within the Gospel material, as well as the realization that the solution of the problem of the life of Jesus calls for a combination of the methods of both historical and literary criticism, all seem to be met with Schweitzer's satisfactory approval, 144 and, in various forms of appropriation, are reworked in Schweitzer's own constructive project.

Schweitzer's main criticism, however, is the most telling element regarding his literary pragmatics: Reimarus saw the solution to the problem of the life of Jesus—viz., eschatology—in the wrong perspective. He held that the messianic ideal which dominated the preaching of Jesus was that of the political ruler, the son of David. All his other mistakes are the consequence of this fundamental error. Though the solution offered is mistaken, his starting point is, beyond question, correct (sind unfehlbar richtig).

He recognized that two systems of messianic expectation were present side by side in late Judaism. He endeavoured to bring them into mutual relations in order to represent the actual movement of the history. In so doing he made the political son-of-David conception, and the apostles, after his death, the apocalyptic system based on Daniel, instead of superimposing one with the son of man, and the ancient prophetic conception might be inscribed within the circumference of the Daniel-descended apocalyptic, and raised

¹⁴⁴ *Quest* ¹ p. 24.

¹⁴⁵ *Quest* ¹ p. 23.

¹⁴⁶ *Quest* ¹ p. 23.

 $^{^{147}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 23/24; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 24/23.

along with it to the supersensuous plane. But what matters the mistake in comparison with the fact that the problem was really grasped?¹⁴⁸

Schweitzer thus judges what he read of Lessing's *Fragmente* of Reimarus' *Apologie* as the "magnificent overture" which "announced all the *motifs* of the future historical treatment of the life of Jesus" but was sadly neglected, breaking "off with a sudden discord," remaining "isolated and incomplete," and leading "to nothing further." That is, until it was re-awoken by the early Strauss and fully realized by *konsequente Eschatologie*.

1.2.2. Rhetorical Strategy

Schweitzer's high valuation of Reimarus, of course, is in that "he was the first to grasp the fact that the world of thought in which Jesus moved was essentially eschatological." Though his understanding of eschatology was "primitive" (primitiv), and was a "destructive principle of criticism" (destruktiv-kritisches Prinzip), his basic stating of the problem was the most articulate until Weiss, those every word vindicated (eine Rechtfertigung) and rehabilitated (eine Rehabilitierung) Reimarus as an historian (des Historikers Reimarus). For Schweitzer, the canons of great men "are not those who solved the problems, but those who discovered them." 153

It was in this clear stating of the problem against which the rest of the history of research was skewered. Strauss, for example, who is heralded earlier as "no mere destroyer of untenable solutions but also the prophet of a coming advance in

¹⁵⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 23.

 $^{^{148}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 23-24/24; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 24/23-24.

¹⁴⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 26.

 $^{^{151}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 238/234-35; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 241/200.

 $^{^{152}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 23/23; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 23/23. Montgomery's translation, "Reimarus as an historical thinker," misses the rhetorical place of Reimarus within Schweitzer's historical narrative. It is not that Weiss provided the justification and rehabilitation of Reimarus' historical ideas or thinking, but that his work vindicated Reimarus the historian qua historian and thus his place as the Ausgangspunkt in Schweitzer's tale.

 $^{^{153}}$ $Quest^1$ p. 159. See his similar statements in regards to Dalman, $Quest^1$ p. 289. This becomes a mode by which the narrator lauds the characters in the Geschichte.

knowledge,"154 becomes the object of scorn for his "feeble compromises" and toning down of eschatology in the third edition of *Das Leben-Jesu*. ¹⁵⁵ Keim is cited favorably for his critiquing of Strauss' "rejecting his own earlier and more correct formula" of eschatology. 156 Keim himself is viewed favorably in so far as he "does justice to the texts" regarding the question of eschatology, 157 though in the end is discarded for allowing "the spiritual elements practically to cancel the eschatological." 158 He reads Hase and his understanding of Jesus' dual development as an early airing of eschatological views and a latter more advanced spiritual conception. ¹⁵⁹ As the Ghost sets Hamlet in motion, so Reimarus looses konsequente Eschatologie as the singular angle of criticism through which the history of interpretation is narrated judging Colani, 160 Baldensperger, 161 Bousset, 162 and Ehrhard along the way. 163 Friedrich Wilhelm Ghillany (1807–76), for example, author of the *Theologischen* Briefe an die Gebildeten der deutschen Nation (1863), is lauded for introducing the life of Jesus into the Jewish eschatological world of thought. 164 Schweitzer goes so far as to call this work's placing of the life of Jesus "in the last time," discussed in his chapter "Neue romanhafte Leben-Jesu," nothing short of "an historical achievement without parallel" (ist eine historische Tat ohnegleichen). 165

_

¹⁵⁴ *Quest* ¹ p. 95; see, too. *Quest* ¹ p. 197.

¹⁵⁵ Quest 1 p. 119. It may well be possible that Schweitzer is here echoing Nietzsche's ridicule of Strauss in his David Strauss: der Bekenner und der Schriftsteller published in his Unzeitgemässe Betrachtungen (1876). For an English translation, see Friedrich Nietzsche, "David Strauss, the Confessor and the Writer," in Untimely Meditations (ed. Daniel Breazeale; Cambridge Texts in the History of Philosophy; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997 [1876]). On Nietzsche's "Jesus," see, Robert Hull, "Nietzsche's Jesus," Nebula 4.1 (2007) 107–15.

¹⁵⁶ Quoted in *Quest* ¹ p. 213.

¹⁵⁷ *Quest* ¹ pp. 212-13.

¹⁵⁸ *Quest* ¹ pp. 213.

 $^{^{159}}$ Though in 1876, Hase seems prepared to make eschatology the feature of the last period (*Quest* 1 p. 215).

¹⁶⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 226.

¹⁶¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 235.

¹⁶² *Quest* ¹ pp. 243-50.

¹⁶³ *Quest* ¹ p. 250.

¹⁶⁴ *Quest* ¹ p. 171.

 $^{^{165}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 171/172; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 171/152. Schweitzer continues, "Not less so is the placing of the thought of the passion in its proper eschatological setting as an act of atonement."

Previous research was misled by the "originality" of Jesus (der 'Originalität' Jesu), 166 when it should have remained within the world of Jewish eschatology. "Only after long and devious wanders did the study of the subject find the right road again."167 The right road, of course, being *Schweitzerstrasse*, and the *Bahn* of *konsequente* Eschatologie mapped out long ago—though slightly imperfectly—by Reimarus. All of theology from Reimarus up to Weiss and his eschatological solution, 168 therefore, "appears retrograde." 169 Weiss "leaves no place in the teaching of Jesus for anything but the single-line traffic of eschatology." $^{\rm 170}$ But even here Weiss and the eschatological school did not press die eschatologische Frage far enough as they considered only Jesus' preaching. "The final decision of the question" is to be found "in the examination of the whole course of Jesus' life." 171 As to whether Jesus' life and mission are dominated by eschatology or that he himself actively refuted it thus becomes the easiest explanation for the connection of events in Jesus' life, fate, and the expectation of the parousia in the community of his followers. But this course is followed by "few and far between. The average 'Life of Jesus' shows in this respect an inconceivable stupidity."172

Though Schweitzer is certainly aware of the complexities and pluralism within the history of interpretation,¹⁷³ the entirety of *Leben Jesu Forschung* is read through the singularity of *die eschatologische Frage*. In this sense, he falls prey to his own criticisms of Weiffenbach: "In the end [his] critical principle proves to be merely a bludgeon with which he goes seal-hunting and clubs the defenseless Synoptic sayings right and left."¹⁷⁴ Only Schweitzer is not hunting seals. He consolidates and

 $^{^{166}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 136/140; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 136/123.

¹⁶⁷ *Quest* ¹ p. 136.

¹⁶⁸ *Quest* ¹ p. 282.

¹⁶⁹ *Quest* ¹ p. 23.

¹⁷⁰ *Quest* ¹ p. 253.

¹⁷¹ *Quest* ¹ p. 257; cf., *Quest* ¹ p. 350.

¹⁷² *Quest* ¹ p. 257.

¹⁷³ See, e.g., *Quest* ¹ p. 219.

¹⁷⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 232.

funnels all past inquiry through *die eschatologische Frage*, marshalling it against his singular target: modern German liberal theology.¹⁷⁵

1.2.3. Dogmatic Agenda

As we saw above, Schweitzer sees in Reimarus a clear historical analog in his criticism of the modern lives of Jesus from the German liberalism of his day. His appearance throughout the *Geschichte* haunts and judges Schweitzer's *summa historica* as well as functions as the forerunner to its dénouement. He are it is in his deployment as judge which concerns us presently. Though Schweitzer seems to laud German theology in stating that its greatest achievement "is the critical investigation of the life of Jesus," This is in fact a latent *attaque au fer* for it is precisely this great achievement which spells the ultimate undoing of dogmatics. German theology attempted to create a new dogmatic, endeavoring "to keep a place for the religious life in the thought of the present; in the study of the life of Jesus it was working for the future." The study of the life of Jesus it was working for the future."

Against the usual narrative of seeing Schweitzer's attacking the societal dressing of Jesus with its own garments,¹⁷⁹ it is better to see how the subject of Schweitzer's concern is rather the collapsing of the enduringly-valid and the culturally-conditioned into a singularity. In other words, the modern theology under attack thought Jesus' teaching can bypass the Jewish eschatological *Weltanschauung* of its day and travel, without impediment, into the modern world. This was maintained, in large measure, on account of the teachings of Jesus being the "direct expressions of his own religious consciousness." Though aware of the culturally-conditioned eschatology of Jesus' day they ignored it or actively fought against it, seeking instead

¹⁷⁵ Cf. James C. Livingston, *Modern Christian Thought*, vol. 1, passim.

¹⁷⁶ Reimarus appears on pp. 4, 9, 10, 75, 94, 120, 159, 166, 171, 221, 241, 265, 305, 313, 321, 346, 366 in *Geschichte*¹.

¹⁷⁷ *Quest* ¹ p. 1.

¹⁷⁸ Geschichte¹ p. 2; Quest ¹ p. 2.

 $^{^{179}}$ For the proliferation of this misreading, see Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," pp. 339–40.

¹⁸⁰ See Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," p. 340.

the enduringly valid, say, in the ethical teaching within the Sermon on the Mount. Schleiermacher, for example, subordinated the culturally-conditioned *messianische Bewusstsein* to the enduringly-valid *Gottesbewusstsein* out of which flows his ethical teaching. It was this forced duality upon the historical Jesus which Schweitzer attacked with the singularity of *konsequente Eschatologie*. But Jesus and his teaching do not travel well. "Zwischen unserer Weltanschauung und derjenigen, in welcher er lebte und wirkte, liegt aber eine tiefe, wie es scheint, unüberbrückbare Kluft." The duality of modern theology produced "eine eigentümliche Unlebendigkeit und Zwitterhaftigkeit." Schweitzer's choice of the term "Zwitterhaftigkeit" is certainly vivid imagery. The root is *Zwitter* which basically carries the sense of hermaphrodite. For Schweitzer, modern theology's dual perspective is akin to the hermaphrodite who exhibits both sexes and is therefore confused as to which sexuality to perform.

This move is articulated well by Adolf von Harnack (1851–1930) in his popular lectures *Das Wesen des Christentums* in 1899–1900 at the University of Berlin. More than any other book it represented the spirit of Protestant Liberalism in the decades just prior to World War I. Harnack argued that the teaching of Jesus concerning the kingdom of God was a spiritual force which was operative within the

¹⁸¹ see Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," pp. 342-44.

¹⁸² Skizze, p. 97; Mystery, p. 250.

¹⁸³ *Skizze*, p. 97.

¹⁸⁴ For the issues of sexual performativity and the construction of sexuality and gender as it relates to hermaphrodites within modern medical science, see the fascinating work of Alice Domurat Dreger, *Hermaphrodites and the Medical Invention of Sex* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1998).

¹⁸⁵ Adolf von Harnack, *Das Wesen des Christentums* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007 [1900]). On the relationship between Schweitzer and Harnack, see the interesting paper by James Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer and Harnack: The History of an Unlikely Alliance," presented at the New Testament Research Seminar at Durham University (8 November 2010).

¹⁸⁶ Livingston, *The Enlightenment and the Nineteenth Century* p. 290; cf., Wayne Glick, *The Reality of Christianity: A Study of Adolf von Harnack as Historian and Theologian* (New York: Harper and Row, 1967); Wilhelm Pauck, *Harnack and Troeltsch: Two Historical Theologians* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1968); Martin Rumscheidt, ed., *Adolf von Harnack: Liberal Theology at Its Height* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991) 9–41.

individual and transcended former religious conceptions.¹⁸⁷ Harnack allows for the eschatological and apocalyptic husk, but sees its kernel, or essence, as

the rule of the holy God in the hearts of individuals; *it is God himself in his power*. From this point of view everything that was dramatic in the external and historical sense has vanished; and gone, too, are all the external hopes for the future...the word of God, God himself, is the kingdom. It is not a question of angels and devils, thrones and principalities, but of God and the soul, the soul and its God.¹⁸⁸

The permanent validity within temporal forms is what he called the gospel of Jesus Christ. 189 "Jesus Christ and his disciples were situated in their day just as we are situated in ours; that is to say, their feelings, their thoughts, their judgments and their efforts were bounded by the horizon and the framework in which their own nation was set and by its condition at the time." 190 To be human "means to be situated...in an historical environment which in turn is also limited and circumscribed." 191 Jesus and his followers "only shared the general notions of their time." 192 Harnack therefore sets his own *tertium non datur* with respect to the temporality of Jesus and the gospel. "There are only two possibilities here: either the gospel is in all respects identical with its earliest form, in which case it came with its time, and with its time has departed; or else it contains something which, under differing historical forms, is of permanent validity." 193 It was the "permanent"

¹⁸⁷ George L. Berlin, *Defending the Faith: Nineteenth-Century American Jewish Writings on Christianity and Jesus* (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1989) 47.

¹⁸⁸ Adolf von Harnack, *What Is Christianity?* (trans. Thomas Bailey Saunders; Philadelphia: Fortress, 1986 [1900]) 57–58.

¹⁸⁹ Harnack states that Jesus' teaching can be grouped under three headings but each "are of such a nature as to contain the whole, and hence it can be exhibited in its entirety under any of them. *First*, the kingdom of God and its coming; *second*, God the Father and the infinite value of the human soul; and, *third*, the higher righteousness and the commandment of love" (Harnack, *What Is Christianity*? p. 52).

¹⁹⁰ Harnack, *What Is Christianity?* p. 12.

¹⁹¹ Harnack, What Is Christianity? p. 13.

¹⁹² Harnack, What Is Christianity? p. 61.

¹⁹³ Harnack, What Is Christianity? p. 14.

validity" of the gospel which establishes the essence of Christianity. Harnack favors the latter view while Schweitzer appears to subscribe to the former. 195

Schweitzer maintains that "Jesus ist aber eine übermenschliche Persönlichkeit aus einem Guss," and modern theology does "violence" (*Gewaltthat*) in its separating (*herauszulösen*) Jesus from his age and translating (*übersetzen*) "his personality into the terms of our modern thought, and to conceive of him as 'messiah' and 'son of God' outside of the Jewish framework," often falling into the erroneous habits of early research by reducing these terms to "a spiritualizing" (*eine Vergeistigung*). This was to modern theology's own peril. The neglect of *die eschatologische Frage* as "merely a skirmish with a few unorganized guerillas" turned out to be

the advanceguard of the army with which Reimarus was threatening their flank, and which under the leadership of Johannes Weiss was to bring them to so dangerous a pass. And while they were endeavouring to avoid this turning movement they fell into the ambush which Bruno Bauer had laid in their rear: Wrede held up the Markan hypothesis and demanded the password for the theory of the Messianic consciousness and claims of Jesus to which it was acting as convoy.¹⁹⁸

The millstone of Reimarus which he hung upon the neck of the dogmatics of his age was cast upon the necks of the dogmatics of Schweitzer's day. 199 Though Otto Pfleiderer in his second edition of *Urchristentum* recognized the threat and marked "the first advance-guard action of modern theology coming into touch with the troops of Reimarus and Bruno Bauer," 200 the *coup de grâce* was finally given by Schweitzer himself. What *konsequente Eschatologie* has joined together, let no modern theology put asunder.

¹⁹⁴ Adolf von Harnack, *History of Dogma* (7 vols.; Eugene: Wipf and Stock Publishers, 1997) 1.13.

¹⁹⁵ I say "Schweitzer *appears* to subscribe to the former" because within his ethical construction of *Ehrfurcht vor dem Leben* Schweitzer seems to fall prey to his own criticism here in appropriating the enduringly valid of Jesus to the ethical.

¹⁹⁶ *Skizze*, p. 97; *Mystery*, pp. 250-51.

¹⁹⁷ Schweitzer, *Aus meinem Leben und Denken* p. 30; Schweitzer, *Life and Thought* p. 37.

¹⁹⁸ Geschichte^{1/2} pp. 220/220; Quest^{1/2} pp. 221/188. Though the translations of Quest¹ and Quest² read slightly different, the wording is unchanged in Geschichte² from Geschichte¹.

¹⁹⁹ *Ouest*¹ p. 26.

²⁰⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 313.

For Schweitzer, the canons of great men are lined by those who had a "clear grasp of a single definite problem." 201 That "single definite problem," of course, is eschatologie as the key to unlocking the connection between the events into a singular profile of the historical Jesus' life. "It was the way Schweitzer arranged his history of research that 'compelled attention.'"202 In his critique of the history of research through the singular key of *Eschatologie*, Schweitzer re-structures the history of the problem in such a way that it inevitably leads to his articulation of the solution.²⁰³ The "hundred and twenty years" of waiting are over,²⁰⁴ the "future historian" (einen kommenden Historiker) has arrived. 205 Schweitzer's "goal was nothing short of a paradigm shift in his discipline."206 In the face of German liberal dogmatics and its stance against eschatology, Schweitzer attempts "to destroy dogmatically what had been re-established critically": the Jesus-of-relevance in accordance with nineteenth-century German theology.²⁰⁷ The order brought forth from the chaos of former lives has a clear beginning (Reimarus), middle (Strauss), and end/goal (konsequente Eschatologie as articulated in Weiss and Schweitzer's own Skizze). Progress is evaluated and judged "as the ideas of these three are rediscovered or anticipated."208 Schweitzer, with a prophetic trope, "fuses narratorial hindsight with the impression of a predetermined scheme." ²⁰⁹ Indeed the posturing of Renan, the latter Strauss, Schenkel, Weizsäcker and Keim amount to little more than the singular rejection of eschatology and a spiritualization of an "inward kingdom of repentance." This move was met head on by Johannes Weiss

_

²⁰¹ *Quest*¹ p. 9.

²⁰² Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 262.

²⁰³ This was the substantial criticism of Windisch, Jülicher and Wernle who suspected Schweitzer's history of the problem of the life of Jesus to be from the singular perspective of *konsequente Eschatologie*. See, esp., Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 12 n. 44.

²⁰⁴ Cf., *Quest*¹ p. 23.

 $^{^{205}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 24/25; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 25/25.

²⁰⁶ Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 263.

²⁰⁷ Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 263.

²⁰⁸ Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 267.

²⁰⁹ Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," p. 269.

²¹⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 275.

and finally brought to an end by Schweitzer himself.²¹¹ But it was Reimarus who set the plot in motion.

1.3. Conclusion

Schweitzer thus engaged in more than chronicling. He is more than a mere guide through the libraries of *Leben Jesu Forschung*. He is less Virgil, more Dante, a narrator who has invaded his own narrative and taken up the starring role. "Schweitzer has intruded into the narrative uninvited," standing outside the promised sequence of the title. The reader, promised a history-of-research by the subtitle, instead is treated to Schweitzer's seventy-five page *Skizze* "smuggled inside an analysis of Wrede's work."212 In drawing attention to his *Skizze* for a fuller treatment of the litany of questions posed in a footnote tucked away within an examination of der konsequente Skeptizismus und die konsequente Eschatologie,²¹³ he is guilty of his own criticism of Bousset: "the author's real opinion is expressed in the footnote."214 But it is in his construction and characterization of Reimarus where the narrative movement is most evident. Reimarus, as with Hamlet's Ghost, sets the plot in motion and leads invariably to the plot's dénouement. So is Reimarus "a spirit of health or goblin damn'd"? There is no definitive answer as he appears to receive both commendation and condemnation. His appearance is functional. In suggesting that Reimarus' role in the drama of the critical examination of the life of Jesus was to dig his trowel around the dry bones of fact, collecting them for some future historian, 215 it is evident that, again, Schweitzer has fallen prey to his own criticism: what he went about looking for in the past was not the past but konsequente Eschatologie and himself as its champion in the past.²¹⁶ Schweitzer uses

²¹¹ Johannes Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation of the Kingdom of God* (trans. Richard H. Hiers & D. Larrimore Holland; Philadelphia: Fortress, 1971 [1892]).

²¹² Gathercole, "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Schweitzer's *Quest*," 280. On the distancing of Schweitzer from Wrede in the second edition, see Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," esp. p. 16 and n. 62.

²¹³ *Geschichte* ¹ p. 332 n. 1; *Quest* ¹ p. 335 n. 1.

²¹⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 265 though absent from *Quest*².

²¹⁵ *Ouest*¹ p. 25.

²¹⁶ Cf. *Geschichte*^{1/2} pp. 28/28; *Quest*^{1/2} pp. 28/28.

"Reimarus in the interests of his own point of view."²¹⁷ As such, Schweitzer's "architectonic structure" and strategy thus become clear.²¹⁸ He wishes to re-cast the history of inquiry into a new division: *vor Eschatologie und nach Eschatologie*; or, better, *vor Schweitzer und nach Schweitzer*. It now falls to us to discover what exactly he meant by *Eschatologie*,²¹⁹ but before we do that (see §3) we need to demonstrate the assumption which we have been making all along in this chapter: viz., that Schweitzer improperly framed Reimarus.

.

²¹⁷ Talbert, "Introduction," p. 40.

²¹⁸ Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition," p. 16.

²¹⁹ It must be maintained that Schweitzer's (mis)use or construction of Reimarus is not irreducibly connected with his own constructive project. We will examine his own constructive proposal in §3.

CHAPTER TWO A WOLF IN WOLFF'S CLOTHING? THE QUEST FOR THE HISTORICAL REIMARUS

"All we are not stares back at what we are."

W. H. Auden, "Prospero to Ariel"

1

"Tell all the Truth but tell it slant [...]
The Truth must dazzle gradually
Or every man be blind."

Emily Dickinson, "Tell all the Truth"2

2.0. The Complexities of Historical Identity

It now falls to us to demonstrate what we have assumed in the previous chapter; viz., that though the particulars of Schweitzer's construction of Reimarus are more or less correct with respect to Lessing's seventh *Fragment*, his framing of Reimarus is largely misleading. As we have seen, Reimarus was Schweitzer's "great hero." He marked for Schweitzer the "magnificent overture in which are announced all the *motifs* of the future historical treatment of the life of Jesus. In the previous chapter we focused on Schweitzer's construction of Reimarus and his rhetorical function within the narrative of the *Geschichte* through the critical tools of narratology and literary criticism. An examination of the "historical" Reimarus in comparison with Schweitzer's construction would seem to be the next logical step. A simple turn to the "historical" Reimarus, however, presents an interesting test case into the complexities of historical identity for there appear to be as many Reimaruses as

¹ W. H. Auden, "Prospero to Ariel," in Edward Mendelson, ed., *W. H. Auden: Selected Poems* (New York: Vintage, 2007) 139.

² Poem §1128 in Emily Dickinson, *The Complete Poems of Emily Dickinson* (ed. Thomas H. Johnson; Boston: Little and Brown and Company, 1961) 506–07.

³ Morgan, "From Reimarus to Sanders," 82.

⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 26.

⁵ The best biographies for Reimarus remain Peter Stemmer, *Weissagung und Kritik: Eine Studie zur Hermeneutik bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus* (Veröffentlichungen der Jungius-Gesellschaft 48; Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1983); David F. Strauss, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und seine Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes* (Bonn: Emil Strauss, 1877 [1862]); and,

there have been recourses to him. This "battalion of Reimarusus" is complicated by the nature of the sources and the realities of his multiple mediation.⁶ Nearly all of subsequent scholarship sees Reimarus through the prism of Lessing—who himself presents his own complications of identity.⁷ Lessing, however, only published a selection of the *Apologie* which included his own critical commentary.⁸ It was the critical commentary which was in turn appropriated by Kierkegaard,⁹ and the *Fragmente* themselves were substantially reworked and supplemented by Strauss who had access to a full manuscript of the *Apologie*.¹⁰ What is more, the writings which Reimarus released during his lifetime conceal the critical conclusions he would draw in the cloistered script of his *Apologie*.¹¹ As Charles H. Talbert has written, there "was a public and a private Reimarus." Reimarus himself alludes to his double life in the foreword to his *Apologie*¹³ for which he later appears to apologize to his wife:

und wie würde die, so in seinen Armen schläft, wenn sie dereinst ihres Mannes wahre Meynung von dem Christenthum erführe, nach ihrer Schwachheit, ängstlich thun, und den Herrn Beichtvater anflehen, daß er

Heinrich Sieveking, "Hermann Samuel Reimarus, 1694-1768," *Zeitschrift des Vereins für Hamburgische Geschichte* 38 (1939) 145-82. Though see the recent collection of excellent essays in Mulsow, ed., *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*.

52

⁶ The term "battalion of Reimaruses" is informed by the clever phrasing "battalion of Luthers" from David Steinmetz, "The Superiority of Pre-Critical Exegesis," *Theology Today* 37.1 (1980) 27-38, p. 36.

⁷ For Lessing's critical commentary and arrangement of his selection of the *Fragmente*, see Gotthold Ephraim Lessing, *Siebenter Band: Theologiekritische Schriften I und II* (Werke; 8 vols.; ed. Helmut Göbel; München: Carl Hanser Verlag, 1976); Gotthold Ephraim Lessing, *Lessing: Philosophical and Theological Writings* (trans. H. B. Nisbet; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005); Hugh Barr Nisbet, *Lessing: Eine Biography* (München: C. H. Beck, 2008) 701–44. On the reception of Lessing, see Nisbet, *Lessing*, pp. 850–64. See, too, §2.2.1. below.

⁸ On the story of the appearance of the *Fragmente*, see §2.2.1 below.

⁹ For Kierkegaard's recourse to Lessing, see Søren Kierkegaard, *Concluding Unscientific Postscript to the Philosophical Fragments* (trans. Alastair Hannay; Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 2009) 53–106; Jacob Howland, "Lessing and Socrates in Kierkegaard's *Postscript*," in *Kierkegaard's Concluding Unscientific Postscript: A Critical Guide* (ed. Rick Anthony Furtak; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010) 111–31.

¹⁰ Strauss, *Reimarus*.

¹¹ Hermann Samuel Reimarus, *Apologie: oder Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes* (2vols.; ed. Gerhard Alexander; Frankfurt: Insel, 1972). The publication of the *Apologie* under the editorial eye of Gerhard Alexander and the commissioning of Joachim-Jungius-Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften Hamberg did not appear until some two-hundred years after its writing.

¹² Charles H. Talbert, "Introduction," in *Fragments* (London: SCM Press, 1970) 6.

¹³ Reimarus, *Apologie*, p. 1.63.

doch ihren auf solche verdammliche Wege gerahtenen Mann bekehren mögte?¹⁴

It is this "double-life" which both complicates and sheds light on the *Apologie* as we shall see below. A full treatment of the historical and sociological pressures which gave rise to the public and private work of Reimarus and the subsequent theological debates provoked by Lessing cannot be attempted here. Moreover, a complete biography or theologico-philosophy of Reimarus falls beyond the scope of this chapter. Our aim here is simply to challenge Schweitzer's construction of Reimarus by situating his work within the wider conversations of his day. As we will see, Reimarus was less interested in questions of Christian origins than in the wider philosophical issues of natural religion and the competing metaphysics of reason. ¹⁶

This chapter, then, is divided into two sections: §2.1 *The Public Reimarus*; and, §2.2 *The Private Reimarus*. This distinction, however, presents real problems in that history and identity are not so easily bifurcated. In splitting Reimarus violently into "public" and "private" entities it is important to parse what is intended in each case and what is not. Such a distinction is *not* intended to suggest that public equals fraudulent and that private equals authentic or real. The sources of Reimarus' self surely comprised both spheres. ¹⁷ A more minimalist approach is operative here where *private* will order matters related to the *Apologie* and *public* to his wider *œvre*

¹⁴ Reimarus, *Apologie*, p. 1.130.

¹⁵ Though see §2.2.1. below and Eda Sagarra, *A Social History of Germany*, 1648–1914 (London: Transaction Publishers, 1977); and David Blackbourn, *History of Germany*, 1780–1918: The Long Nineteenth Century (Oxford: Blackwell, 2002); Margaret C. Jacob, Living the Enlightenment: Freemasonry and Politics in Eighteen-Century Europe (Oxford Oxford University Press, 1991); Margaret C. Jacob, The Radical Enlightenment: Pantheists, Freemasons and Republicans (Lafayette: Cornerstone Book Publishers, 2006 [1981]); and Jonathan Israel, Enlightenment Contested: Philosophy, Modernity, and the Emancipation of Man 1617-1752 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009); Jonathan Israel, A Revolution of the Mind: Radical Enlightenment and the Intellectual Origins of Modern Democracy (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2011).

¹⁶ In this sense, the words of Thiselton on Reimarus' a-theological historical approach to the New Testament are slightly misleading. See Anthony C. Thiselton, "New Testament Interpretation in Historical Perspective," in *Hearing the New Testament: Strategies for Interpretation* (ed. Joel B. Green; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010 [1995]) 14.

¹⁷ Here, cf. the work of Charles Taylor, *Sources of the Self: The Making of the Modern Identity* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1989).

which established his reputation as a Wolffian rationalist of the first rank. We will approach these in reverse order.

2.1. The Public Reimarus

Before turning to the wider concerns which informed and framed Reimarus' work, a word or two of brief biography is required in order to make sense of his refrain from voicing the true nature of his beliefs and to get a sense of his social location. As we will see, the two are deeply related as the reasons for his silence were quite personal and close to home. In this section we will first sketch a brief biography of Reimarus (§2.1.1), then we will suggest an environment in which Reimarus' selfnamed publications were constructed (§2.1.2), and conclude with a suggested reading of Reimarus within this environment (§2.1.3).

2.1.1. Reimarus and the Burden of Prestige

Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768) was born and later married into privilege and prestige. Born to Nicolaus Reimarus, a teacher at the Johanneum Academic Gymnasium, and Johanna Wetken, from an old Hamburg family, Reimarus studied theology, ancient languages and philosophy at Jena (1714–16) but grew "more interested in philological and philosophical questions and gave up his theological studies while in Jena." Reimarus left Jena and pursued his new interests at Wittenberg (1716–19) where he defended a thesis on the precedents of Machivaellian thought in *Machiaellismus vor Machiavell*. He was accepted to the Wittenberg philosophy faculty in the capacity of *Privatdozent* in 1719. During the next two years Reimarus took a study leave to tour Holland and England. These years proved crucial in his academic development as it was during this leave that Reimarus was introduced to Jean Le Clerc (1657–1736) and deism.¹⁹

¹⁸ Henning Graf Reventlow, *From the Enlightenment to the Twentieth Century* (History of Biblical Interpretation; vol. 4; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2010) 155.

¹⁹ On deism in England during this period, see Jeffrey R. Wigelsworth, *Deism in Enlightenment England: Theology, Politics, and Newtonian Public Science* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2009); James A. Herrick, *The Radical Rhetoric of the English Deists: The Discourse of Skepticism, 1680–1750* (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1997); and the massive

Reimarus would become a respected professor of oriental languages at Hamburg.²⁰ a position he was awarded in 1727. While at Hamburg he also lectured on philosophy, mathematics and natural sciences. He authored some thirty-seven different volumes covering various subject such as logic, philosophy and philology.²¹ His most significant works in the field of religion were *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten* der natürlichen Religion (1754), and, of course, the posthumous publication of Apologie oder Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes which was first made known as the so-called Wolfenbütteler Fragmente (1774–78) published by G. E. Lessing.²² It appears that it was around 1736 when he began work on the *Apologie* and worked at it up until his death in 1768. Lewis White Beck has argued that Reimarus left the higher academic world because of his uncertainty surrounding the doctrines and debates of Wolff. It was "in a state of indecision" that Reimarus left Wittenberg to join the gymnasium in Hamburg.²³ In any case, the young Reimarus fell under the spell of the physico-theologians Johann Albert Fabricius (1668–1736), the classical philosopher, and the Hebraist Johann Christoph Wolf (1690–1770). The former's influence had far-reaching affects.²⁴ Johanna Friederica Fabricius (1707– 83) was the daughter of Fabricius and would share a happy forty years of marriage with Reimarus.²⁵ The influence of his time in England reverberated in the children's education. He insisted that they be taught English, they owned several pieces of

_

volumes of Samuel Chandler and James Foster, *History of British Deism* (8vols.; London: Routledge, 1994).

²⁰ Cf. Strauss' charge that Reimarus lacked a proper understanding of things "Oriental." Strauss, *Reimarus*, §39.

 $^{^{21}}$ For a listing of the works of Reimarus, see Klein, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694-1768): Das theologische Werk* 286–88.

²² On the textual history of the *Apologie*, see Talbert, "Introduction," pp. 18–26. The manuscript Lessing presented to the Duke in 1778 has never been found and the *Apologie* in its entirety was not published until 1972. The text from which this chapter will quote is Hermann Samuel Reimarus, *Fragments* (trans. George Wesley Buchanan; London: SCM Press, 1970).

²³ Lewis White Beck, *Early German Philosophy: Kant and His Predecessors* (Cambridge: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1969) 293–94.

²⁴ On Fabricius, see Erik Petersen, *Johann Albert Fabricius: en humanist i Europa* (Køpenhavn: Det Kongelige bibliotek, Museum Tusculanum, 1998); and Wilhelm Götten, *Das Jetztlebende Gelehrte Europa* (vol. 1; New York: Olms, 1975 [1735]) 43–67.

²⁵ The two were married in 1728. On Reimarus and his personal life and as a family man, see Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg* 45–56. The Reimarus family seemed to be happy and H. S. Reimarus was known for his warmth and financial generosity. See *ibid.*, p. 125 n. 51.

English furniture, and he kept an active correspondence with English book traders and significant thinkers.²⁶

Reimarus might well have stayed silent owing to the grand lineage of his family's name as well as out of respect for his father-in-law. ²⁷ The Reimarus family was one of the oldest in Northern Germany, and could trace their roots back to the middle ages.²⁸ A public voicing of his *Apologie* would ruin the prospects for his children,²⁹ and as a teacher in the Gymnasium, he was "technically an employee of the church and probably enjoyed a pew reservation as part of his compensation."30 What is more, though not nearly as intense as their 1769 public dispute, the fiery Pastor Goeze had confronted a close family friend, Julius Gustav Alberti (1723–72), in 1755. This would have seemed the occasion to air his views in the defense of his friend, but Reimarus learned the lesson of timing from Alberti and the orthodox border patrol and decided to stay silent—Goeze, of course, will return later in our narrative.³¹ From all appearances, Reimarus was a strong Wolffian Christian apologist. Indeed, to the end, Reimarus participated in the worship and sacraments of the Lutheran church,³² and J. G. Büsch could eulogize Reimarus on the merits of his Christian commitments.³³ As the public Reimarus lay dying, however, the private Reimarus awaited in an intermediate state until Lessing resurrected him.

2.1.2. The Fate of Reason and the Zeitgeist of Reimarus

It is difficult to understand Reimarus without recourse to his times. But even here this simple statement is more complicated than is first apparent. Lessing's

56

²⁶ See Almut Spalding and Paul Spalding, "Living in the Enlightenment: The Reimarus Household Accounts of 1728–1780. Appendix: Extracts from the Household Accounts " in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)* (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Ledin: Brill, 2011) 201–29.

²⁷ Here there is an interesting parallel with Albrecht Ritschl and his son-in-law, Johannes Weiss. See Chapman, *The Coming Crisis* 67–71.

²⁸ On Reimarus' family heritage, see Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, pp. 34–56.

²⁹ See Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, p. 36.

³⁰ Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, p. 105.

³¹ See Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, p. 171.

³² Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought 1778 - 1860* 2. See, Spalding and Spalding, "Living the Englightenment," pp. 206–13, and 224.

³³ See Talbert, "Introduction," p. 7.

publication of the *Fragmente* brought Reimarus into conversations which were not concurrent with those happening during his lifetime—or, at least, in the manner in which these conversations were shaped. Lessing's use of Reimarus was in the service of his own debates. What will concern us here are those discernable pressures which gave rise to the penning of the *Apologie* as evidenced in his earlier work and not the debates surrounding its publication.³⁴

Reimarus was set within the twilight of late rationalism and the early momentum of *Aufklärung*, just prior to Kant (1724–1804) and Herder (1744–1803), and the evolving discourse on the relationship between reason and revelation.³⁵
Propositional revelation was coming under attack in two forms: Pietism and *Aufklärung*.³⁶ The former ranked the inner attestation of the soul above external forms while the latter developed through varying stages.³⁷ For many "freethinkers, *Aufklärer*, and *philosophes*, the new physics of Galileo, Newton, and Huygens had shown that everything in nature is explicable according to a system of mathematical laws, which are transparent to and discovered by reason."³⁸ These self-evident first principles of reason were appropriated into the "soft" sciences and held sway as the judicator over morality, religion and the state. It was boldly asserted that reason was impartial and universal in its explanatory powers.³⁹ "Toward the close of the eighteenth century, however, all these claims were thrown into question."⁴⁰ It was the decline of rationalist metaphysics within the Leibnizian-Wolffian school which

-

³⁴ On the debates surrounding the publication of the *Fragmente*, see Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought*, pp. 1–56 and the literature cited there. See, too, §2.2.1. below.

35 See Beiser. The Fate of Peason, passing Livingston. The Foliahtenment and the Nington.

³⁵ See Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, passim; Livingston, *The Enlightenment and the Nineteenth Century* 14–39.

³⁶ On Pietism, see Hermann Hettner, *Geschichte der deutschen Literatur im achtzehnten Jahrhundert* (2vols.; Berlin: Aufbau-Verlag, 1961) 1.42–52; F. Ernest Stoeffler, *German Pietism during the Eighteenth Century* (Leiden: Brill, 1973); Carter Lindberg, ed., *The Pietist Theologians: An Introduction to Theology in the Seventeenth Century* (Oxford: Blackwell, 2005).

³⁷ See Karl Aner, *Die Theologie der Lessingzeit* (Halle: Max Niemeyer, 1929) 3–4, 180.

³⁸ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 10.

³⁹ See Margaret C. Jacob, *The Newtonians and the English Revolution 1689–1720* (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1976).

⁴⁰ Frederick C. Beiser, *The Fate of Reason: German Philosophy from Kant to Fichte* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1987) 1.

Kant's trenchant critique of this rationalism "was only the coup de grace to the rotting edifice of the Leibnizian-Wolffian school."⁴² The Kantian critique was met with equal force, however, with the rise of post-Kantian concerns over "the metacritical problem."⁴³ Johann Georg Hamann (1730–88) in particular opposed Kant's adjectival modifier of *reinen Vernunft*. Reason is embodied in language and action.⁴⁴ Nevertheless, the seventeenth century's principle of the harmony of reason and nature was inherited by the eighteenth century.⁴⁵ The later break with rationalism did not question this harmony but rather sought different ways on how to demonstrate it. Hamann detested the "purism" of reason abstracted from its function in speech and culture.⁴⁶ This move from reason as a separate faculty to a functionalist understanding as well as his insistence that we must grasp our faculties as a whole in order to grasp the possibility of knowledge left the "one-sided extremes of Leibnizian rationalism or Lockean empiricism" looking rather dated.⁴⁷ These were the products of the wars over reason.⁴⁸

The significance of this for our purposes in this chapter is that it places Reimarus within the twilight of rationalism's attempt to extend the harmony of reason and nature to all spheres of inquiry within a Wolffian system. He "marks the climax of

⁴¹ On the response to and influence of Wolff in Kant's philosophy, see Michael Albrecht, "Kants Kritik der historischen Erkenntnis – ein Bekenntnis zu Wolff?," *Studia Leibnitiana* 14.1 (1982) 1–24.

⁴² Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 4. The Wolffians did strike back, however, and had a profound influence on later reformulations of Kant and Reinhold and C. G. Bardili. But the Wolffians were most influential in their claim that the principles of logic are "neither subjective nor objective but valid of things-in-general" which anticipated in its own right Hegel's *Logik* and Schelling's *Identitätssystem* (*idem.*, p. 225). On the response of the Wolffians to Kant post-1788 in general, see Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, pp. 193–225.

⁴³ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 7.

⁴⁴ See Johann Georg Hamann, *Hamann: Writings on Philosophy and Language* (ed. Kenneth Haynes; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007); and Robert Alan Sparling, *Johann Georg Hamann and the Enlightenment Project* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2011).

⁴⁵ See Ernst Cassirer, *The Philosophy of the Enlightenment* (Princeton Classic Editions; Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2009 [1951]).

⁴⁶ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 39.

⁴⁷ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 43. See, too, the interesting relationship of Reimarus and Hamann teased out in John R. Betz, *After Enlightenment: The Post-Secular Vision of J. G. Hamann* (Oxford: Blackwell, 2008) 173, 179, 183, 190, 191, 242.

⁴⁸ A fuller detailing of this complex development is explicated by Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*.

the Enlightened theology that was the outcome of the philosophy of Wolff."⁴⁹ The rise of philological and historical criticism of scripture in the 1770s drafted the momentum of the natural sciences with Wolffianism entrenching "itself in most of the universities of Protestant Germany."50 Wolff himself boasted in *Theologica naturalis* (1737) that his system was a "bulwark against Spinozism." Wolffians needed to separate themselves from Spinoza because pietists such as Joachim Lange (1670–1744) and Johann Franz Budde (1667–1729) "maintained that Wolff's rationalism was the slippery slope to the atheism and fatalism of Spinoza."52 Until the mid-eighteenth century professors and clerics had to demonstrate their orthodoxy before being awarded with an office; and in practice "this often meant denouncing Spinoza as a heretic."53 The danger of Spinoza's political views were clearly felt by the academic and ecclesiastical establishments in Germany.⁵⁴ The Tractatus theologicus-politicus (1670) was seen as a challenge to and an undercutting of the basis for which princes were allotted the principle of *cuius regio* eius religio as outlined by the Augsburger Religions-friede of 1555.55 But after the publication of Friedrich Heinrich Jacobi's (1743–1819) Briefe über die Lehre von *Spinoza* in 1785,⁵⁶ and in large measure owing to the reception of Lessing's work, public opinion of Spinoza shifted from public scorn "to universal admiration" 57 as he became the "very vanguard" of the late seventeenth and early eighteenth century

⁴⁹ Johann Eduard Erdmann, *History of Philosophy* (3vols.; London: Routledge, 2002 [1890]) 2.297.

⁵⁰ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 45. See, too, Hettner, *Geschichte der deutschen Literatur im achtzehnten Jahrhundert* and his discussion of "das Vordringen des Rationalismus," pp. 1.163–220.

⁵¹ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 49.

⁵² Beiser, The Fate of Reason, p. 49.

⁵³ Beiser, The Fate of Reason, p. 49.

⁵⁴ On attitudes toward Spinoza's philosophy in Germany, see Hettner, *Geschichte*, pp. 1.34–38; and K. Grunwald, *Spinoza in Deutschland* (Berlin: Calvary, 1897) 45–48.

⁵⁵ Cf., Axel Gotthard, *Der Augsburger Religionsfrieden* (Münster: Aschendorff, 2004); Heinz Schilling and Heribert Smolinsky, ed., *Der Augsburger Religionsfrieden 1555* (Münster: Aschendorff, 2007); and George Kreuzer and Nicola Schümann Wolfgang Wüst, *Der Augsburger Religionsfriede 1555. Ein Epochenereignis und seine regionale Verankerung* (Zeitschrift des Historischen Vereins für Schwaben 98; Augsburg: Wißner, 2005).

⁵⁶ This statement must be tempered by the reality that Pantheism was at the time the "secret religion in Germany." In other words, public scorn did not exactly match private estimations of Spinoza. See B. A. Gerrish, "The Secret Religion of Germany: Christian Piety and hte Pantheism Controversy," *The Journal of Religion* 67.4 (1987) 437–55.

⁵⁷ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 59.

Aufklärung and the champion for the "Protestant Counter-Reformation." The *Tractatus* became a manifesto for all radicals who clearly favored their Lutheran heritage of an individual, immediate relationship with God, and, this side of Spinoza, at the same time allowed for the doing away with the unfashionable authority of the bible. 59

The work of Christian Wolff (1679–1754) was significant in the ramp up to these debates. Wolff turned to the study of mathematics in "his quest for certainty" when he grew unsatisfied with orthodox theology. 60 Wolff eventually wrote a dissertation on the appropriation of mathematical methods to problems in practical philosophy from Leipzig in 1702. His dissertation drew the attention of Leibniz and the two remained in correspondence until Leibniz's death in 1716. It is mistaken, however, as is often the case, to name Wolff a mere "popularizer of Leibniz." Though Leibniz seemed to see his work reproduced in Wolff, the latter claimed the greater influence was Thomas Aguinas and railed against the labeling of a Leibniz-Wolffian philosophy by his opponents Budde and Rüdiger as uninformed. 62 It was the appearance of his Vernünftige Gedanken von den Kräften des menschlichen *Verstandes* in 1713 which "made him the leading philosopher in Germany." ⁶³ Though his philosophy was taught widely in Jena, Tübingen and Königsberg, Thomasius, Rüdiger, Gundling, and Budde opposed him at Halle. The pietists, under the direction of Francke, also opposed his rationalism, but it took the intrigue of the "tobacco cabinet" under Friedrich Wilhelm I (1688–1740) to rid "den berühmten Philosophen" from the flock of Halle.⁶⁴ Wolff had forty-eight hours to leave Halle or be executed. His flight to Marburg proved fortuitous in that his works became

_

⁵⁸ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 50. The phrase "Protestant Counter-Reformation" is from Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, pp. 148–56.

⁵⁹ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 51; See Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, pp. 148–56. See James Samuel Preus, *Spinoza and the Irrelevance of Biblical Authority* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001).

⁶⁰ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 256.

⁶¹ As is the case in Livingston, *The Enlightenment and the Nineteenth Century* p. 29; and, Talbert, "Introduction," p. 11.

⁶² Beck, Early German Philosophy, p. 257.

⁶³ Beck, Early German Philosophy, p. 257.

⁶⁴ Hettner, *Geschichte*, p. 1.177.

available throughout the continent as a result, and, combined with the dramatic flight from state persecution, "made him an intellectual hero and brought him European fame...and a patent of nobility." The impact of Wolff was immense. Frederick the Great (1712–86), upon his ascension in 1740, recalled Wolff from his father's banishment and placed him in a permanent fellowship within the Berlin Academy. Wolff instead returned to Halle to empty lecture halls but a country filled with his influence. He was given the title of *praeceptor Germaniae*. Wolff's legacy was not so much in his original philosophical work, but, as Beck states,

Wolff changed the Catholic and Protestant scholasticism of the Baroque period and the new mathematical methods and natural science of Leibniz and von Tschirnhaus, as well as he understood them, into a conception of philosophy as an omnicompetent instrument of public enlightenment.⁶⁷

What is more, his influence on philosophical terminology was felt even through Kant. Nevertheless, the empty lecture halls awaiting him in Halle proved prescient in that he was a fading star amidst the "low state of philosophy in Germany at that time."

2.1.3. Reading Reimarus within the Wars of Reason

Reimarus' scholarly work is therefore situated within these wider conversations. His *Allgemeine Betrachtungen über die Triebe der Thiere* (1760–62), for example, was less about animal behavior than a physical-theological view of the natural world and the questions of teleology which were experiencing a "revival" toward the close of the eighteenth century, particularly with Kant's attack of Herder and Forster.⁶⁹ Though written twenty years before Kant's influential essay, "Ueber den Gebrauch teleologischen Prinzipien in der Philosophie" (1781), Reimarus' assumption was

⁶⁵ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 260.

⁶⁶ Friedrich Wilhelm I did later regret his hasty move and sought in 1733 to reinstate him—a move which Wolff refused.

⁶⁷ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 261.

⁶⁸ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 275.

⁶⁹ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 13. On the phenomenon of early animal behaviorists, see Philip Howard Gray, "The Early Animal Behaviorists: Prolegomenon to Ethology," *Isis* 59.4 (1968) 372–83.

that nature appears to act as if it were influenced by purpose. His view of the world was thus "thoroughly teleological." ⁷⁰ Kant, ⁷¹ of course, developed the question considerably whereas Reimarus' investigation was more exploratory and demonstrative of earlier presuppositions of teleological models.⁷² Reimarus' interest in teleology is not so much in the defense of the existence of God, but in the establishment of the rationality of the universe and, therefore, natural religion's sufficiency in apprehending it. What is more, the end of the world was viewed as the well-being of every living thing.⁷³ Reimarus was a member of the poet Barthold Heinrich Brockes' (1680–1747) circle in Hamburg. 74 Within this circle, the concept of teleology was pursued in the study of animals as in the case of Reimarus as well as through lithotheology, testaceotheology, or seismotheology. 75 Vernunftlehre (1756) is his theory of logic and Vindicatio dictorum Veteris Testamenti in Novo allegatorum (1731) was his attempt as an apologist to defend the prophetic witness of the OT in the formation of traditional Christology. Along with his *Abhandlungen* über die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion (1754), some have suggested that "the separate publication of these works was one of the maneuvers by which he kept from the public his true attitude."76 This, however, assumes too much and misses the layered development of Reimarus as a complex thinker.

Christian Wolff's synthesis of revelation *above* reason and reason as establishing the criteria with which reason is judged was attacked by neology on the one hand,⁷⁷ and

⁷⁰ Erdmann, *History of Philosophy*, p. 2.294.

⁷¹ On Kant and the question of teleology, see, John David McFarland, *Kant's Concept of Teleology* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1971); Peter McLaughlin, *Kant's Critique of Teleology in Biological Explanation: Antimony and Teleology* (New York: Edwin Mellen Press, 1990). Beiser states that the questions facing Kant in the *Kritik des Geschmacks* "all revolved around the thorny issue of teleology" (*Fate of Reason*, p. 153).

⁷² Erdmann goes so far as to call Reimarus a "precursor of Kant" (*History of Philosophy*, p. 2.295).

⁷³ On what constitutes "every living thing," see Tobias Cheung, "Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Theorie der 'Lebensarten' und 'Triebe'," *Sudhoffs Archiv* 90.2 (2006) 143–60.

 $^{^{74}}$ On Brockes, see Hans M. Wolff, "Brockes' Religion," $\it PMLA$ 62.4 (1947) 1124–52; and, Hettner, $\it Geschichte$, pp. 1.250–56.

⁷⁵ Cf. Beck, Early German Philosophy, p. 294.

⁷⁶ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.157.

⁷⁷ The contention of neology was twofold: (1) revelation is real but its content is not different from natural religion; (2) reason is the baseline from which revelation is judged. "The term

rationalism on the other.⁷⁸ The public Reimarus, whose views were set forth in *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion* (1754), applied Wolff's and Leibniz's theological synthesis against the atheistic materialism of La Mettrie and the pantheism of Spinoza amongst others.⁷⁹ The work was influential in its day, contributing to the evolving system of Moses Mendelssohn (1729–86).⁸⁰ There appears to be an interaction between Mendelssohn and Reimarus over his *Allgemeine Betrachtungen über die Triebe der Tiere, hauptsächlich über ihren Kunsttrieb*.⁸¹ The former acknowledged that his *Phaidon* was heavily influenced by the latter's *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion*.⁸² Mendelssohn was "the last figure in the rationalist metaphysical tradition of Descartes, Spinoza, Leibniz, and Wolff."⁸³ And what is left latent by these thinkers "is often articulated and defended by Mendelssohn."⁸⁴

Apart from a brief aside on the irrationality of the miraculous and therefore their impossibility,⁸⁵ Reimarus appears to be an apologist of the Wolffian ilk intending to show that natural religion and Christianity were complementary, not contradictory.

_

Neologie denotes a movement which reached its zenith in the half-century between 1740 and 1790. In general, the Neologians sought to transcend both orthodoxy and pietism by restating the Christian faith in the light of modern thought. To them, revelation was a confirmation of the truths of reason. They drew a distinction between religion and theology, and between dogmas and the Bible. In a sense they were pioneers of a moderate biblical criticism, maintaining that Jesus deliberately accommodated his teaching to the beliefs and understandings of his hearers" (Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought*, p. 8; though see generally, pp. 8–16).

⁷⁸ Rationalism agrees with the latter element in Wolff's thesis but on the basis of it denied the necessity of the former. Reason displaces revelation.

⁷⁹ Here, see Hettner, *Geschichte*, pp. 1.360–73.

⁸⁰ On Mendelssohn and his place in the history of philosophy and with particular emphasis on the pantheism controversy, see Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, pp. 92–108; Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, pp. 324–39; Hettner, *Geschichte*, pp. 1.478–508.

⁸¹ On the issues of classification and drives of life, see Cheung, "Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Theorie der 'Lebensarten' und 'Triebe'."

⁸² See Alexander Altmann, *Moses Mendelssohn: A Biographical Study* (New York: Littman Library of Jewish Civilization, 1998); Shmuel Feiner, *Moses Mendelssohn: Sage of Modernity* (trans. Anthony Berris; New Haven: Yale University Press, 2010); and, Edward Breuer, "Of Miracles and Events Past: Mendelssohn on History," *Jewish History* 9.2 (1995) 27–52.

⁸³ Beiser, The Fate of Reason, p. 93.

⁸⁴ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 93. Beck states that Mendelssohn's "Prize Essay" is the best presentation of Leibnizian-Wolffian epistemology (*Early German Philosophy*, pp. 332–35).

⁸⁵ Hermann S. Reimarus, *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion* (2vols.; Hamburg: Johann Carl Bohn, 1754) pp. 1.587–90. Cf., *Apologie*, p. 1.184; 2.348.

For the public Reimarus, natural religion prepares the way for Christianity.⁸⁶ The move from the public Reimarus to the private Reimarus is the move from natural religion as preamble (preambula) to Christian faith to natural religion as sufficient in itself. Natural religion is a living knowledge of God acquired through reason. The cosmos is a planned and ordered creation which is discernable through reason. Revelation and positive religion thus become gratuitious. He sees the pursuit of happiness as the goal of human life as established by providence and the immortality of the soul.⁸⁷

2.2. The Private Reimarus

With the benefit of the retrospective glance, Reimarus' secret did reveal itself in his public works if ever so slightly.88 If his own account is to be trusted, Reimarus speaks of how his initial doubts of the whole edifice of Christianity began during his childhood.⁸⁹ What is more, Reimarus may well have written a rationalist catechism that appeared in Hamburg in 1753 which rivaled the larger catechism which was an orthodox Lutheran version authored by Erdmann Neumeister (1671–1756)—an outspoken opponent of the Patriotic Society which regularly met in the Reimarus home. The smaller catechism was accredited to Friedrich Wagner (1693–1760), but many have suggested it was actually Reimarus' pen which was responsible. 90 In any case, despite hints within his public works, it was the *Apologie* which collected his private convictions.

In 1731 there is evidence of Reimarus' growing disquiet with a purely sacred hermeneutic as well as his developing system of reasonable theology. 91 An

⁸⁶ This is more or less suggested in the preface of Reimarus, Die vornehmsten Wahreiten der natürlichen Religion.

⁸⁷ See, e.g., Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion, pp. 2.691–766.

⁸⁸ E.g., the denial of the *possibility* of the miraculous in Reimarus, *Die vornehmsten* Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion, pp. 1.587-90.

⁸⁹ *Apologie*, p. 1.47.

⁹⁰ Carl Mönckeberg, Hermann Samuel Reimarus und Johann Christian Edelmann (Gallerie hamburgischer Theologen 5; Hamburg: Gustav Eduard Nolte, 1867) 66-87; and, Carl Mönckeberg, "Die Geschichte des hamburgischen Katechismus," Z Ver Hamburg Gesch 4 (1858) 595-96.

⁹¹ See his interesting comments on "tempered reason" in *Apologie*, p. 2.348.

intriguing witness to this growing tension is in his editing of Johann Adolf Hoffmann's Neue Erklärung des Buchs Hiob in 1731–33.92 Hoffmann's work was guided by an edifying hermeneutic while Reimarus' employed "eine vernünftige Hermeneutic."93 Nevertheless, it is not apparent that he "perceived any irreconcilable differences between biblical hermeneutics and natural theology" at this time. 94 Between 1733 and 1736, however, something led to the penning of the first draft of his *Apologie* where "the explosive potential of a consolidation of the authority of natural reason at the expense of the bible became apparent."95 As it happened, 1736 was the year in which his reviews of the so-called Wertheim Bible, the work of the young Johann Lorenz Schmidt (1702–49), 96 appeared in the Hamburgische Berichte von Gelehrten Sachen. 97 These reviews mark two of the rare public performances where Reimarus manifests some public symptoms of what would later become his private constitution. 98 What is more, there is a subtle change felt between the two reviews from critical and suspicious in the first to supportive in the second which may be owing "to the great efforts of Schmidt and his supporters at Wertheim to refute the accusation of Lange concerning his hostile intentions."99 Almut and Paul Spalding have recently argued, judging from the Reimarus family account books, that the young Schmidt may have been employed in the Reimarus

⁹² The work was published in 1734. On the history of this fascinating episode, see Wilhelm Schmidt-Biggemann, "Edifying versus Rational Hermeneutics: Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Revision of Johann Adolf Hoffmann's 'New Erklärung des Buchs Hiob'," in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)* (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Leiden Brill, 2011) 41–74, esp. pp. 69–73 for his hermeneutical logic.

⁹³ Cf. Schmidt-Biggemann, "Edifying vs. Rational Hermeneutics," p. 45 n. 8. See, too, pp. 53–57 on the criticisms of those who saw this tension in Reimarus' "editorializing" of Hoffmann's unfinished manuscript on Job.

⁹⁴ Schmidt-Biggemann, "Edifying vs. Rational Hermeneutics," p. 66.

⁹⁵ Schmidt-Biggemann, "Edifying vs. Rational Hermeneutics," p. 67. See, too, p. 68 n. 93.

⁹⁶ On the far-reaching effects of the *Wertheim Bible*, cf. Paul Spalding, "Toward a Modern Torah: Moses Mendelssohn's Use of a Banned Bible," *JSTOR* 19.1 (1999) 67–82.

⁹⁷ See, esp., Ursula Goldenbaum, "The Public Discourse of Hermann Samuel Reimarus and Johann Lorenz Schmidt in the *Hamburgische Berichte von Gelehrten Sachen* in 1736," in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)* (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 75–101. On the *Wertheim Bible* in general, see pp. 82–88.

⁹⁸ Here see Stemmer, *Weissagung und Kritik: Eine Studie zur Hermeneutik bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus* 92–146. On all of this, see Goldenbaum, "Public Discource," pp. 76–82. On the two contributions in general, see pp. 88–94.

⁹⁹ Goldenbaum, "Public Discourse," p. 94. The fiery Joachim Lange included Reimarus' first review in the second edition of his polemical *Religionsspötter* (1736).

household as a tutor in the 1740s.¹⁰⁰ There appears to be a kind of relationship between the two dating prior to this tutorship. In any case, in 1737, Reimarus ceased lecturing on the topic of sacred hermeneutics altogether at the *Gymnasium illustre* but continued his work in biblical antiquities.¹⁰¹ This cessation marks a significant departure and turning point for Reimarus as shortly after he ceases buying theological books.¹⁰² Perhaps, then, 1735–36 marks a halfway house in between the public square of his lectures and the gated walls of the *Apologie*.

The transition from the Reimarus of "Hamburgian and Wittenbergian orthodoxy" to the Reimarus latter revealed in the *Apologie*, however, remains a "process that has not yet been fully understood." Peter Stemmer has strongly argued that the move cannot be located to the time of his *peregrinatio academica* through Holland and England. Jonathan Israel has furthered this contention, calling the *idée fixe* in Reimarus scholarship on English influence "both groundless and highly misleading." While Israel stresses the lack of explicit appeal within the *Apologie* to English deists, such an argument misses the way in which many references that were initially worked into the *Apologie* are not ostensibly cited in the final draft. He states that Jean Le Clerc and the Dutch contexts—though certainly not the main influences—are "more important than the British context." This, too, is overstated

_

¹⁰⁰ Spalding, "Living in the Enlightenment: The Reimarus Household Accounts of 1728–1780. Appendix: Extracts from the Household Accounts " 217; cf., too, Almut Spalding and Paul Spalding, "Der rätselhafte Tutor bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus: Begegnung zweier radikaler Aufklärer in Hamburg," Zeitschrift des Vereins für Hamburgische Geschichte 87 (2001) 49–64.

¹⁰¹ For the listing of Reimarus' lectures, see Wilhelm Schmidt-Biggemann, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus: Handschriftenverzeichnis und Bibliographie* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1979). See, too, Mulsow, "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism?" p. 11.

¹⁰² Spalding and Spalding, "Living in the Enlightenment," pp. 218–19.

¹⁰³ Martin Mulsow, "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism? Young Reimarus Visits the Netherlands. With an edition of the Travel Diary Fragment of 1720/21," in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)* (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History Leiden Brill, 2011) 3.

¹⁰⁴ Stemmer, Weissagung und Kritik: Eine Studie zur Hermeneutik bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus pp. 88ff.; cited first in Mulsow, "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism?" p. 3 no. 8.

¹⁰⁵ Jonathan Israel, "The Philosophical Context of Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Radical Bible Criticism," in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)* (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 188.

¹⁰⁶ For examples, see Mulsow, "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism," p. 14 n. 54.

¹⁰⁷ Israel, "Philosophical Context," p. 188.

as Reimarus would write of Le Clerc in his travel diary that "he seemed to me a little profane" and was suspicious of Le Clerc's dangerous muddling of *philologia sacra* and *philologia profana*. Israel's argument, however, is an interesting attempt at seeing a "philosophically coherent whole" which can be read across both the public and private Reimarus. This "whole" for Israel is Reimarus' "general critique of materialism, purely mechanistic systems, and Spinozism." Throughout his works, "the primary point for Reimarus was that while God can reveal no more than what is universal and material, philosophy cannot, on that ground, reduce everything to one substance." 111

Despite the complexities of Reimarus' historical location, it is clear that the private Reimarus is revealed in the *Apologie*. It was not until 1814, however, when his son handed a copy of the *Apologie* to the library at Göttingen, that its authorship was finally settled. The reasons for Reimarus' silence have been speculated as ranging from the former persecution of Schmidt to the delicate family situation regarding his father-in-law, Fabricius. Reimarus gives his own reason, in an early prefiguration of Nietzche's "The Madman," stating that though the time is near he feels it has not yet arrived for his views to be publicized, 114 perhaps patterning himself after Wolff, who was released from banishment in 1743 and whose views were later celebrated and vindicated.

.

 $^{^{108}}$ See Reimarus' travel diary cited in Mulsow, "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism?" pp. 2–3.

¹⁰⁹ Israel, "Philosophical Context," p. 184.

¹¹⁰ Israel, "Philosophical Context," p. 188.

¹¹¹ Israel, "Philosophical Context," p. 197.

¹¹² See Talbert, "Introduction," pp. 7–10. Apparently even Reimarus' wife was never informed of the festering doubts swirling within the "other" man she married. See Sieveking, "Hermann Samuel Reimarus, 1694-1768," p. 168.

¹¹³ The relevant section is, "Here the madman fell silent and looked again at his listeners; and they, too, were silent and stared at him in astonishment. At last he threw his lantern on the ground, and it broke into pieces and went out. 'I have come too early,' he said then; 'my time is not yet. This tremendous event is still on its way, still wandering; it has not yet reached the ears of men. Lightning and thunder require time; the light of the stars requires time; deeds, though done, still require time to be seen and heard. This deed is still more distant from them than most distant stars—and yet they have done it themselves." Friedrich Nietzsche, *The Gay Science: With a Prelude in Rhymes and an Appendix in Songs* (trans. Walter Kaufmann; New York: Vintage, 1974 [1882]) §125.

¹¹⁴ Apologie, p. 1.41, "...bevor sich die Zeiten mehr aufklären."

2.2.1. From Halle to Wolfenbüttel: The Story of the Fragmente

As stated above, it was only shortly before his death that Reimarus' son, Johann Albert Hinrich Reimarus (1729–1814), willed the final version of the original *Apologie* in 1814 to the City Library of Hamburg, 115 and the handwritten copy Reimarus' friend, the senator Johann Klefeker (1698–1775), had made in 1782 to the University Library of Göttingen. 116 Reimarus was finally confirmed as the author of the infamous *Apologie* attested to in Lessing's *Wolfenbütteler Fragmente*. Lessing himself suggested the author of the anonymous *Fragmente* to be Schmidt,¹¹⁷ who fell under persecution for his hand in the translation of the so-called "Wertheimer Bible."118 But it was Lessing to whom the storm following the publication of the Fragmente of the Apologie deserves credit. Gerhard Alexander suggests that it was Elise Reimarus (1735–1805) who proved the "crucial link" between the cloistered two-thousand-page manuscript and Lessing's possession of it. 119 Toward the end of Lessing's time in Hamburg (1767–70) he appears to have become friendly with Elise. 120 His move from Hamburg to the Herzog-August-Bibliothek in Wolfenbüttel was precipitated by the Duke of Brunswick's hiring him as librarian. In 1772 Lessing was granted permission to publish artifacts from the library without submitting them to the regular censorship. Lessing, of course, misled the public to think that he had discovered the manuscript in the library when in fact he obtained it earlier from Reimarus' daughter in Hamburg. Perhaps as a gesture of testing the waters, Lessing's first selection on *Von der Duldung der Deisten* was released through the periodical he founded as librarian in 1774. Without much public protest, he released

¹¹⁵ There was no State or University Library in Hamburg.

¹¹⁶ Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, p. 15 n. 12.

¹¹⁷ See the discussion of Paul Spalding, *Seize the Book, Jail the Author: Johann Lorenz Schmidt and Censorship in Eighteenth-Century Germany* (West Lafayette: Purdue University Press, 1998).

¹¹⁸ See Jonathan Sheeham, *The Enlightenment Bible: Translation, Scholarship, culture* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2005), especially the section "Clearing Away the Shit: The Wertheimer Bible and the Politics of Interpretation," pp. 121–31.

¹¹⁹ Gerhard Alexander, "Neue Erkenntnisse zur Apologie von Hermann Samuel Reimarus," *Z Ver Hamburg Gesch* 65 (1979) 145–59, p. 159; cf. Gerhard Alexander, "Wie kam Lessing zur Handschrift der Wolfenbüttler Fragmente?," *Philobiblon* 16 (1972) 160–72.

¹²⁰ Lessing was employed as dramaturg and adviser at the German National Theatre in Hamburg. Despite his move to Wolfenbüttel in 1770, he was initiated into the Freemasonry in Hamburg in 1771.

five more Fragmente in 1777: Von der Verschreiuung der Vernunft auf den Kanzeln; Unmöglichkeit einer Offenbarung, die alle Menschen auf eine gegründete Art glauben könnten; Durchgang der Israeliten durchs Rothe Meer; Dass die Bücher des A. T. nicht geschrieben wurden, eine Religion zu offenbaren; and Ueber die Auferstehungsgeschichte. What followed was "the greatest controversy in German Protestantism in the eighteenth century, if not since the Reformation era." 121

The response to the publication of the Wolffenbütteler Fragmente had "a sensational effect on the public of the day."122 Numerous reviews and over fifty books and articles appeared in response. 123 Johann Daniel Schumann and Johann Heinrich Ress did not draw the ire or attention from Lessing that his third adversary, Johann Melchior Goeze (1717–86) did. The subsequent exchange embroiled the two in controversy, and produced a "masterpiece of German polemical literature" along the way: Lessing's *Anti-Goeze*. 124 Goeze was chief pastor of the Church of St Catharine in Hamburg and senior representative of the clergy in Hamburg from 1760–70. He issued a series of vitriolic exchanges and postured toward including secular authorities from the Corpus Evangelicorum—the body which represents Protestant interests within the Holy Roman Empire. Other threats came from J. H. Ress of Wolfenbüttel and J. B. Lüderwald, the Lutheran Superintendant in Brunswick. Perhaps sensing that his access to a free press was running short these pressures caused Lessing to publish the final Fragment, the infamous Von dem Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger in 1778. In July of that year "conservative elements at the Brunswick court prevailed upon the reigning Duke to ban Lessing from publishing anything further in the dispute without advance permission of the censor."125 Lessing would continue to publish, however, 126 until Lessing's acid quill aimed at Goeze was finally

_

¹²¹ See Nisbet's "Introduction," in *Lessing: Philosophical and Theological Writings*, p. 8.

¹²² Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 57.

¹²³ See Nisbet's "Introduction", p. 8 n. 11 for references as well as Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought*, pp. 1–56.

¹²⁴ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 57.

¹²⁵ Nisbet, "Introduction," p. 10. See, too, Nisbet, *Lessing: Eine Biography*, pp. 701–744.

¹²⁶ For example, Lessing published his "Necessary Answer to a Very Unnecessary Question of Herr Hauptpastor Goeze of Hamburg" in 1778. See Nisbet, ed., *Lessing's Philosophical and Theological Writings*, pp. 172–77.

silenced when the Duke of Brunswick stepped in for the sake of public order. When the Corpus Evangelicorum pushed for punitive measures, the Duke's son and successor, Charles William Ferdinand (1735–1806), assured that none would be taken.

Lessing had his own complex reasons for publishing selections of the *Apologie*. ¹²⁷ He was not in agreement with Reimarus on several points, ¹²⁸ and his *Fragmente* were filled with critical commentary at points which highlight these differences. ¹²⁹ Nevertheless, it was in his obtaining of the *Apologie* which gave occasion to the airing of his theological views in contradistinction to the two rival extremes of orthodoxy and the neologists. The orthodox position was defended, as we saw, by Goeze and others, while the neologist challenge fell to C. W. F. Walch and J. S. Semler who eventually came into the debate in 1779. ¹³⁰ "According to Lessing, the orthodox overextended the sphere of faith in defending beliefs that could not withstand rational criticism, while the neologists overextended the sphere of reason in trying to justify beliefs whose only basis was historical." ¹³¹ It was Reimarus' *Apologie* which undercut the foundation of both. For Reimarus the concept of revelation

¹²⁷ It should be noted that the *Fragmente* represent an early draft of a final version that did not become public until 1972. The version which would be published in its entirety in 1972 is a longer and revised version of what Lessing had access and he appears to be unaware of it in his critical commentary. In what follows we will draw from mainly Lessing's version, but will make recourse to the 1972 version here and there.

¹²⁸ Lessing, for example, did not share the anti-semitism which tends to appear in Reimarus' work (e.g., *Apologie*, "Vorbericht," p. 1.51), though see Dietrich Klein, "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah. Appendix: Texts by Reimarus and Wolf on Judaism and Islam, and a Document on Rabbi Eybeschütz," in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus* (1694–1768) (ed. Martin Mulsow; Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 159–81, esp. pp. 169–72 and the Rabbinate Struggle in the 1750s. See, generally, Ludwig Borinski, "Antijudaistische Phänomene in der Aufklärung," in *Auftrag der Lessing-Akademie* (ed. Günter Schulz; Wolfenbütteler Studien zur Aufklärung 4; Wolfenbüttel: Jacobi, 1977) 115–16; Gerhard Freund, "Erkenntliche Wahrheit: Anregungen Lessings zum Dialog zwischen Christen und Juden," in *Lessing und die Toleranz* (ed. Peter Freimark et al.; Sonderband zum Lessing Yearbook; Detroit: Wayne State University Press, 1986) 142. Though cf. Spalding, *The Muse of Hamburg*, pp. 261–63 for a counterbalance to the easy charge of anti-semitism.

¹²⁹ Some, of course, suggest that his commentary and counter-propositions to Reimarus were intended as mere bromide. See Friedrich Loofs, "Lessings Stellung zum Christentum," *Theologische Studien und Kritiken* 83 (1913) 31–64.

¹³⁰ On Lessing and the neologists, see Henry E. Allison, *Lessing and the Enlightenment: His Philosophy of Religion and Its Relation to Eighteenth-Century Thought* (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 1966); and Aner, *Die Theologie der Lessingzeit* pp. 61–143.

¹³¹ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 57.

which is available for rational acceptance is impossible. Lessing conceded this point, but "denied that such revelation had ever been required by the orthodox position." Lessing also conceded to Reimarus the apparent contradictions in scripture. Nevertheless, these contradictions are not detrimental to divine inspiration. Lessing invents the term "bibliolatry" here in his claim that "the certainty of Christianity does not depend on the putative infallibility of the Bible." The wide ugly ditch is therefore between the historical and metaphysical / theological truth. Lessing thus saw in Reimarus an opportunity to demonstrate his own view that the truths of scripture are not necessary for the truth of Christianity. As Lessing would state, the "letter is not the spirit, and the bible is not religion, so that objections against the letter, or against the bible, are not *ipso facto* objections against religion." Reimarus, Lessing contends, is therefore an embarrassment to the orthodox and neologist, but not to the Christian whose religion is "the proof of the power of the spirit."

2.2.2. Radical Conclusions: Reimarus, Wolff and the English Deists

As mentioned earlier, the reception of Lessing's work factored in the shift from public scorn to public praise of Spinoza. Lessing saw in the *Apologie* an ally. The *Apologie* was "essentially a critique of positive religion and a defense of natural religion." Reimarus' general thesis was "that religion had to be based upon reason alone, and that no rational person could possibly accept the historical record contained in the bible." The great irony here is that Reimarus' public defense of orthodoxy against the *Tractatus* in *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen*

¹³² Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 294.

¹³³ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 347.

¹³⁴ Beck, *Early Germany Philosophy*, p. 347. For Lessing's concept of "bibliolatry," see Lessing, *Werke*, pp. 7.959–61.

¹³⁵ See Nisbet's edition of Lessing's *Philosophical and Theological Writings*, p. 87.

¹³⁶ Quoted in Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 58.

¹³⁷ Lessing is nearer to Leibniz than Wolff here. See, Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 348. This argument is from *On the Proof of the Spirit and of Power*. See Lessing, *Lessing's Theological Writings* 55–60.

¹³⁸ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, pp. 56–57.

Religion is somewhat reversed in the *Apologie* which "breathes a Spinozist spirit."¹³⁹ Reimarus was an avid student of Spinoza,¹⁴⁰ and his *Apologie* was thought of as a "radical, Spinozist *Apology*."¹⁴¹ Lessing was therefore unwittingly furthering the Spinozist pantheist cause through the publication of the *Fragmente*.¹⁴²

Though part of the purpose of the *Apologie* was to defend the "rational worshippers" of God" from condemnations, it also aimed to guard the rational from the condemnation of the orthodox. "Weil Gott und Unsterblichkeit von Reimarus gepredigt wurde, galt er für einen Bekämpfer der Religionsfeinde."143 Nevertheless, the emphasis is surely on the side of the freethinker. "Wir haben in seinen auf Religion und Theologie bezüglichen Schriften eine zwiefache Richtung zu unterscheiden."144 The *Apologie* begins "by condemning those who decry reason in the name of the faith." 145 His belief in the "natural faculty of reason" coincides with his polemic against the priests of positive religion who dull the natural light of reason by their "pretensions and propaganda." 146 The Zeitgeist of dogmatism and censure, Reimarus contends, "does not produce Christians, but either hypocrites or victims of priestly and political persecution who are in fact 'righteous worshippers of God, obedient subjects of their superiors, peaceful and useful citizens of the state, friends of humanity, and lovers of truth and virtue."147 Reimarus would prove neither to be "a consistent disciple of Wolff nor his student." ¹⁴⁸ In many respects he grew "more extreme than Wolff." 149 For Wolff, revelation supplemented reason but

-

 $^{^{139}}$ Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 57. See, too, "diese seltsame Ironie" in Hettner, *Geschichte*, pp. 1.373–74 on the influences and tensions within Reimarus.

¹⁴⁰ For a listing of what Reimarus was reading, see n. 253.

¹⁴¹ Alan Mittleman, "Toleration, Liberty, and Truth: A Parable," *Harvard Theological Review* 95.4 (2002) 353–72, p. 370.

¹⁴² Beiser, *The Fate of Reason*, p. 57; cf, generally, pp. 44–108, 113–18.

¹⁴³ Hettner, *Geschichte*, p. 1.373.

¹⁴⁴ Hettner, *Geschichte*, p. 1.360.

¹⁴⁵ Beck, *Early German Philosophy*, p. 295.

¹⁴⁶ Beck, Early German Philosophy, p. 296.

¹⁴⁷ Quoted in Beck, Early German Philosophy, p. 296.

¹⁴⁸ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.156.

¹⁴⁹ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.156.

could never supplant it.¹⁵⁰ Reimarus "radicalized this position" where reason became the final arbitrator of all matters of life and practice.¹⁵¹

"Die Kritik der christlichen Offenbarung zerfällt bei Reimarus in drei Teile. Erstens Kritik des Alten, zweitens Kritik des Neuen Testaments und drittens Kritik der Hauptsätze des protestantischen Lehrbegriffs."152 Reimarus argued that scripture is not divine revelation, but human testimony to divine revelation.¹⁵³ In the case of the OT, Reimarus has a "thoroughgoing tendency to condemn morally the humans who appear in the Old Testament as witnesses of revelation."154 In other words, how could bearers of revelation not satisfy apparent moral demands?¹⁵⁵ The moral criticism of OT personalities was not unique to Reimarus, 156 and, what is more, he debunked miracle accounts as processes of natural causes or deceitful reports.¹⁵⁷ Reimarus earlier attempted to demonstrate a christological reading of OT prophetic texts in Vindicatio dictorum Veteris Testamenti in Novo allegatorum (1731) but in the *Apologie*, he follows Anthony Collins (1676–1729) who stated that this christological reading of the OT is dependant upon an allegorical approach which needs to be replaced with a literal-historical reading thus removing the prophetic sense of the OT witness to Christ. 158 "The criticism of Jesus Christ the messiah promised in the Old Testament is one of the main topics" in throughout the Apologie. 159 Throughout the Apologie, there is a passing from a rather moderate analysis in the beginning to a "sharp polemic" in the latter portions. 160 The strong

¹⁵⁰ In this sense, the statement of Hettner is a bit overstated: "ist Reimarus strenger Deist im Sinn Wolffs und Lockes" (*Geschichte*, p. 1.370).

¹⁵¹ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.156.

¹⁵² Hettner, Geschichte, p. 1.364.

 $^{^{153}}$ See Mittleman, "Toleration, Liberty, and Truth," p. 370; cf., $\it Apologie$ p. 1.184; and, p. 2.348.

¹⁵⁴ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.158.

¹⁵⁵ See *Apologie*, p. 1.672.

¹⁵⁶ E.g., Pierre Bayle's (1647–1706) *Dictionnaire historique et critique* (1692–95) did the same with Abraham and David.

¹⁵⁷ The most infamous is of course the Red Sea incident (*Apologie* pp. 1.299–326).

¹⁵⁸ *Apologie*, pp. 1.721–55.

¹⁵⁹ Klein, "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah," p. 173.

¹⁶⁰ Klein, "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah," p. 160.

non-messianic interpretation of the Old Testament throughout¹⁶¹ may well be Reimarus' attempt to demonstrate the "critical potential" in Judaism in the service of dismantling "the Christian dogma of Christ's divinity."¹⁶²

Lessing's *Fragment* on the resurrection published in 1777¹⁶³ attests to the potential influence of Thomas Woolston on Reimarus. Woolston's earlier theory was that the disciples had in fact stolen Jesus' carcass from the tomb.¹⁶⁴ Reimarus deepens his argument against the resurrection by pointing out the perceived inconsistencies in the four Gospel reports.¹⁶⁵ Indeed, according to Reimarus, the entire system of Christianity rests on the fabrication of the resurrection and is therefore "groundless."¹⁶⁶

What was new about Reimarus was his "radicalism with which he advanced the consequences of his criticism, extending to a complete rejection of the view that the revelation of Christian faith was based on the bible." The private Reimarus held to the replacement of revelation with reason, and extended the claims of Wolff and English deism to radical degrees. As we saw earlier with Wolff, his aim was to offer a synthesis of all knowledge, though he spent most of his efforts in the realm of philosophy, or as he called it, "the science of the possibles insofar as they can be." And in order for something to be possible, it must meet the criterion of

74

¹⁶¹ E.g., *Apologie*, pp. 1.224–26, 238–40; 718–755. See, esp., Klein, "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah. Appendix: Texts by Reimarus and Wolf on Judaism and Islam, and a Document on Rabbi Eybeschütz," 159–82.

¹⁶² Klein, "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah," p. 173.

¹⁶³ Lessing, *Werke*, pp. 7.426–57.

¹⁶⁴ *Apologie*, pp. 2.198–271.

¹⁶⁵ Reventlow states that "here for the first time [these contradictions] are expressly mentioned" (*History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.161), though rightly tempers this statement with reference to Reimarus' near proximity to Thomas Chubb's earlier work, *The True Gospel of Jesus Christ* (1738).

¹⁶⁶ *Apologie*, p. 2.306.

¹⁶⁷ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.165.

¹⁶⁸ On Reimarus and his deism, see Brown, Jesus in European Protestant Thought, p. 286 n. 3.

¹⁶⁹ *History* discerns the bare knowledge of facts; *Philosophy* discovers the reasons things are the way they are; *Mathematics* determines the quantifiable. See Talbert, "Introduction," p. 12.

¹⁷⁰ Talbert, "Introduction," p. 12.

internal consistency—though, of course, possibility does not infer actuality, the existence of entities must be reasoned.

Wolff's understanding of revelation is that it is possible because God is all-powerful but must be proved necessary and must be free from contradiction. "It cannot contradict either the divine perfections or the laws of nature," nor can it be internally contradictory.¹⁷¹ Wolff, however, does not maintain that these affirmations of natural theology contradict the testimony of scripture. Through the work of Wolff, Reimarus was introduced to John Locke and his triad of propositions: ¹⁷² according to reason, contrary to reason, ¹⁷³ and above reason. ¹⁷⁴ From this Locke stated that "Reason is natural revelation, whereby the eternal Father of light, and fountain of all knowledge, communicates to mankind that portion of truth which he has laid within the reach of their natural faculties. Revelation is natural reason enlarged by a new set of discoveries communicated by God immediately, which reason vouches the truth of, by the testimony and proofs it gives that they come from God."175 Wolff contended that revelation could be above reason but never contrary to it and Locke placed reason as the arbitrator of revelation's authenticity. 176 Reimarus accepted the dual criteria of necessity and consistency in establishing revelation. His treatment of the rise of Christianity attempted to demonstrate the material origins of Christianity and that its confession of revelation fails the second test of internal consistency.

¹⁷¹ Talbert, "Introduction," p. 13.

¹⁷² John Locke, *An Essay Concerning Human Understanding* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1979 [1690]) §4.17.23. See Roger Woolhouse, *Locke: A Biography* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007). Though see the assertions to the contrary in Israel, "Philosophical Context," pp. 183–200. Nevertheless, there does appear to be at least some allusion in *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten*, pp. 1.127–48.

¹⁷³ That is, propositions which fail the test of consistency or the law of contradiction.

 $^{^{174}}$ That is, propositions by which reason is unable to discover but are not themselves contradictory.

¹⁷⁵ Locke, Essay Concerning Human Understanding, §4.19.4.

¹⁷⁶ Cf. John Locke, *The Reasonableness of Christianity with A Discourse of Miracles and part of A Third Letter Concerning Toleration* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1958 [1695]).

Another influence upon Reimarus, though perhaps slightly overstated, ¹⁷⁷ were the polemical wars surrounding the English deists John Toland (1670–1722), 178 Anthony Collins (1676–1729),¹⁷⁹ and Thomas Woolston (1668–1733).¹⁸⁰ The English deists were most thoroughly introduced to Germany through the appearance of John Leland's three-volume anthology, A View of the Principal Deistical Writers that Have Appeared in England in the Last and Present Century (1755–56). Latent within the *Fragmente* may well be recourse to Woolston's attack on miracles, Annet's exposing the contradictions surrounding the resurrection, and Thomas Chubb's (1679–1747) claim in *The True Gospel of Jesus Christ Asserted* (1738) that the apostles altered the original preaching of Jesus. It may well have been the English deists which provoked Reimarus to search into the matters himself.¹⁸¹ Moreover, Schmidt's translation of Matthew Tindal's *Christianity as Old* as the Creation (1730) might have been the seed to Reimarus' eschatological considerations. 182 "The common thought of these writings was that Christianity is essentially nothing else than the moral religion of reason, the truth of which is to be apprehended by the universal human reason, and which therefore was originally common to all men, but which has been distorted in later ages by manifold superstition." 183 As opposed to the public Reimarus, natural religion for the private Reimarus replaces Christianity. The public Reimarus believed, along with Lessing,

¹⁷⁷ As argued by Israel, "Philosphical Context," pp. 138–200.

¹⁷⁸ Toland influenced Reimarus in at least three ways: first, revelation is to be judged on the basis of its contents alone with no recourse to revelation *above* reason; second, the triad test of revelation through usefulness and necessity, intelligibility, and consistent with our common notions; and, third, the simplicity of Jesus was perverted by the early church. See Stephen Daniel, *John Toland: His Mind, Manners and Thought* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1984); Robert E. Sullivan, *John Toland and the Deist Controversy: A Study in Adaptations* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1982).

¹⁷⁹ Collins is important for two reasons: he contends Christianity's allegorical proof from prophecy is no real fulfillment and therefore no real reason for its authenticity; second, he makes mention of the general expectancy of a temporal deliverer. See James O'Higgins, *Anthony Collins the Man and His Works* (The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1970).

¹⁸⁰ William H. Trapnell, *Thomas Woolston: Madman and Deist?* (London: Thoemmes Press, 1994).

¹⁸¹ See the third chapter of Lundsteen, *Reimarus und die Anfänge*; though we should note Talbert is slightly exaggerated in "Introduction," p. 18.

¹⁸² See Stephen Lalor, *Matthew Tindal, Freethinker: An Eighteenth-Century Assault on Religion* (London: Continuum, 2006).

¹⁸³ Otto Pfleiderer, *Philosophy and Development of Religion* (2vols.; Edinburgh: William Blackwood and sons, 1894) pp. 1.7–8.

that humanity could be bettered and that rational religion had a part to play in that betterment. But the private Reimarus held that in order for this betterment to have a chance, "revealed religion must be exposed."¹⁸⁴

The public Reimarus held to the Wolffian synthesis; the private Reimarus destroyed it. In a sense it was inevitable. For if reason is the criteria by which revelation is to be judged there is no real basis for a revelation-*above*-reason. Revelation was grounded by reason. Though we need to temper easy conclusions about dependence and influence, this brief sketch at least demonstrates the philosophical concerns which were swirling about Reimarus' day and how they—in whatever form—were his preoccupation as opposed to the origins of Christianity as Schweitzer would have led us to believe. They were the frameworks through which Reimarus reasoned and more or less structured his *Apologie*. And its first appearance within Lessing's *Wolffenbütteler Fragmente* sparked no small controversy.

2.2.3. On the Aims of Reimarus: Reading the Final Fragment

This detour into the environment of the complexity of Reimarus was necessary in order to demonstrate just how severely mis-framed he is in the *Geschichte*. As is the case with most of the characters in the *Geschichte*, however, Schweitzer's presentation of the particulars of Reimarus are more or less correct. The driving force behind much of *Von dem Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger*¹⁸⁸ is to drive a wedge between the intentions of the former and the latter: viz., the so-called followers of Jesus constructed a new dogmatism and religion while the former had no desire for

¹⁸⁴ Talbert, "Introduction," p. 25; Strauss, *Reimarus*.

¹⁸⁵ Here again, cf., Israel, "Philosophical Context," pp. 183–200.

¹⁸⁶ The "structure of Reimarus's treatment of Jesus is governed by the categories of natural religion despite its appearance as a historical investigation of the origins of the Christian religion" (Talbert, "Introduction," p. 27).

 $^{^{187}}$ See Buchanan's "Introduction," pp. 10–27; and, Brown, Jesus in European Protestant Thought, pp. 1–16. See, too, the preface of Semler, Beantwortung der Fragmente eines Ungenannten ins besondere vom Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger .

 $^{^{198}}$ In what follows, all references will be made to the translation of Ralph S. Fraser in the Talbert edition.

such a founding.¹⁸⁹ Reimarus finds "great cause to separate completely what the apostles say in their own writings from that which Jesus himself actually said and taught."¹⁹⁰ This was not on account of some mere misunderstanding of Jesus' essential message.¹⁹¹ It was an outright transmutation and reversing of their master's intention.¹⁹² "In a word, the apostles strayed completely from their master in their teaching and in their lives, abandoning his religion and his intention and introducing a completely new system."¹⁹³ After Jesus' death they abandoned their former hope of Jesus-as-temporal-redeemer.¹⁹⁴

Luke 24:21 is an important passage for Reimarus' reconstruction of the apostles' "parting of the ways" with their former master for several reasons. First, argues Reimarus, the text suggests a persistence in their belief of a temporal messiah (cf. Matt 10:7; 19:28; Mk 10:37; Lk 22:30). It "was not a savior of the human race who would expiate the sins of the whole world through his Passion and death, but one who would redeem the people of Israel from temporal servitude, whom they invariably presented in Jesus and of whom they hoped that he would be mighty in words and deeds, so regarded by all the people." The disciples did not show at any stage a hope for resurrection. This was a later product aired at Pentecost. Second, it seems that all people, not simply a small contingent, understood Jesus in this sense. Third, if these beliefs were present immediately after his death they must have been before as well. And, fourth, this all proves that after the failure of the messiah the apostles drafted a dogmatism of a suffering savior. 199

_

¹⁸⁹ For Reimarus, Jesus "was born a Jew and intended to remain one" (*Frag.* 1.7).

¹⁹⁰ *Frag.* 1.3.

¹⁹¹ *Frag.* 1.3.

¹⁹² See *Frag.* 1.19 with respect to the Law, for example. Moreover, Reimarus takes Matt 5:17–20 as clear proof of Jesus' considering of the Law as enduringly valid, even in the kingdom of heaven/God. For Reimarus, this is "perfectly evident" (*Frag.* 1.19).

¹⁹³ *Frag.* 1.20.

¹⁹⁴ *Frag.* 1.20.

¹⁹⁵ See, e.g., *Frag.* 2.26.

¹⁹⁶ Frag. 1.30.

¹⁹⁷ *Frag.* 1.32.

¹⁹⁸ On Pentecost, see, *Apologie*, p. 2.350.

¹⁹⁹ E.g., *Frag.* 1.30.

Despite the early conservatism apparent in the early portions of the *Fragment*,²⁰⁰ Reimarus sees the Gospels as dogmatically conceived.²⁰¹ Doctrine, thus, controls history,²⁰² and the rise and spread of Christianity are owing to natural explanations (apostolic fraud) as opposed to the supernatural.²⁰³ Jesus was fundamentally a preacher of repentance,²⁰⁴ and his preaching was connected with the popular imaginary's conception of the kingdom.²⁰⁵ "Both these things, the kingdom of heaven and repentance, are so connected that the kingdom is the goal, while repentance is the means or preparation for this kingdom."²⁰⁶ The only development from the religion of his day was that he taught "the expected redeemer of Israel had already come" in his person.²⁰⁷ In this sense, Jesus, in his reforms, did not introduce any supernatural mysteries.²⁰⁸ The single word which summarizes Jesus' teaching is therefore "repent," which functions as a means of preparation for the imminent kingdom (see §1.1.2.).²⁰⁹

Reimarus' understanding of the motivation behind Jesus' teaching of repentance is more fully elaborated in the *Apologie*. Jesus' preaching of repentance was preparatory for his deeper agenda of overthrowing the Romans and the Jewish Sanhedrin and establishing himself in their place.²¹⁰ His pure vision was "stained and blackened through his intention to become a messiah of the Jews and through the suspicious and seditious measures due to it."²¹¹ Within Lessing's *Fragmente*, however, the "imminent kingdom"²¹² for Reimarus is the goal of Jesus' call for

²⁰⁰ Frag. 1.3.

²⁰¹ Frag. 1.29–30.

²⁰² Frag. 1.33.

²⁰³ Frag. 2.53-60.

²⁰⁴ Frag. 1.4 with texts.

²⁰⁵ See *Frag.* 1.4.

²⁰⁶ Frag. 1.4.

²⁰⁷ Frag. 1.20.

²⁰⁸ *Apologie* pp. 2.39–72.

²⁰⁹ Frag. 1.29.

²¹⁰ See *Apologie* pp. 2.130–35.

²¹¹ *Apologie* p. 2.176. The "seditious measures" included associating himself to OT messianic passages, simulation of miracles, and the banding together of commoners against the religious and political authorities. "In the version of the fragments, this criticism is still completely missing" (Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.163).

²¹² See, *Frag.* 1.19.

repentance. "The kingdom of heaven for which the repentance thus preached was to be a preparation and a means, and which therefore contained the ultimate purpose of Jesus' undertaking, is not explained by him at all, neither as to what it is nor what it consists of."213 Therefore it must be understood within the environs in which he moved.214 Anyone hearing Jesus' preaching would have known what it meant: "the messiah would soon appear and that his kingdom would commence," the king would come and "free them from all afflictions and establish a glorious kingdom among them."215 Preaching the gospel simply means announcing the messiah is soon to appear and begin his rule. Repentance and call for belief are calls to make oneself ready for the imminent arrival for the messiah who "would be a great temporal king and would establish a powerful kingdom in Jerusalem, whereby he would free them of all servitude and make them masters over other peoples."216 Such, Reimarus argues, "was incontestably the general understanding of the messiah among the lews."217

In broad strokes, these are the particulars of Reimarus' construction: a Jesus who believed himself to be the temporal, political messiah who was looking to launch a resistance movement against Rome and the collusion of the Sanhedrin in order to bring the kingdom of heaven to earth; a preacher of repentance who called for a deeper morality and turning away from the hypocrisy of the religious leaders in preparation for the imminent arrival of the kingdom; a failing of the crowds to rise up against their overlords and the consequent failing of the messiahship of Jesus; and the transmutation of "Jesus" into the dogmatic whip of his former followers. Apart from a few trivial points, Schweitzer is near the mark.

As we have seen, however, it is Schweitzer's framing of Reimarus which is misleading. One gets the sense if one reads Schweitzer *before* Reimarus that every

²¹³ Frag. 1.29.

 $^{^{214}}$ Kingdom of God and kingdom of heaven for Reimarus are "one and the same." For his explanation and rationale, see {\it Frag.} 1.29.

²¹⁵ Frag. 1.29.

²¹⁶ Frag. 1.30.

²¹⁷ Frag. 1.30.

page of the *Apologie* would be charged with eschatology. This is not the case. Discussion of the kingdom and eschatology only begin at *Frag.* 1.29 and run sporadically throughout. What is more, *Zwecke*, though significantly longer than the other *Fragmente*, is a single fragment within a selection of seven which Lessing published from a manuscript well over two-thousand pages. The ratios tell another story. This is not necessarily to downplay the importance of eschatology within Reimarus' system—but it is to relativize it. Eschatology—though left undefined in the *Apologie*—became a tool of Reimarus' refutation of Christ as the spiritual redeemer of humanity through his two antitheses: secular not sacred; particular not universal.²¹⁸ In other words, anything in the NT that is peculiarly Christian goes beyond natural religion and thus contradicts itself.²¹⁹ Reimarus, then, is not the historian of Christian origins which he is made out to be. His deeper intention is to contribute to the debates swirling about Germany regarding natural religion. At every turn in the *Apologie* one suspects these deeper aims—though, admittedly, some remain tacit, latent, and unnamed.

In his sustained pitting of Jesus against the Pharisees and religious leaders for their "hypocrisy and sanctimonious" aura,²²⁰ and fundamental misinterpretation of religious phenomenon,²²¹ one can hear his own frustration with current religious leaders for their hypocritical and intentional misleading. "My goodness!" laments Reimarus, "How the simple and ignorant allow themselves to be deceived by their leaders who are themselves blind guides! And how easily great mysteries, even an entire religion, have been hammered out and for centuries have chained human reason and conscience from a few obscure words that people do not understand and whose genuine antiquity is extremely doubtful!"²²² These "blind guides" (cf. Matt 15:13–14; Lk 6:39–40; *G.Thom.* 34) have constructed institutions which have

_

²¹⁸ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.163.

²¹⁹ Reventlow, *History of Biblical Interpretation*, p. 4.163.

²²⁰ E.g., Frag. 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 1.19.

²²¹ Cf. *Frag.* 1.5.

²²² Frag. 1.24.

"nothing at all in common" with NT realities. 223 When Jesus called for repentance and belief in the gospel, he meant nothing more than "believe in the joyful news of the imminent coming of the messiah and his kingdom," and make oneself ready for this.²²⁴ Jesus proposed no new "mysteries" or dogmas,²²⁵ his catechism consists of one article: the kingdom of imminence and subsequent repentance.²²⁶ There are no "really new or incomprehensible precepts" to be found in the so-called secrets in Jesus' teaching (cf. Matt 13:11; Mk 4:11; Lk 8:10).²²⁷ Reimarus laments the accustomed nature amongst so-called Christians who in their understanding of the words *faith* or *gospel*, swallow "the whole body of Christian doctrine" and "articles" of the Christian faith in their interconnection, the entire catechism and the creed," and while calling "mysteries' those doctrines that surpass understanding and that are neither to be understood or proved by reason alone."228 Reimarus' exposé of constructed dogmatisms such as the trinity begins with his emptying of divinity from the term son of $God.^{229}$ Son of God meant no more than one particularly or "especially beloved" of God,²³⁰ and the so-called "union" of God with the son of God (e.g., John 10:31) is nothing more than consensionem animorum, an agreement or union of aim or spirit.²³¹ Messiah was the exceptional meaning of son of God,²³² and Satan's temptation in the wilderness consists of the vocation of messiah and God's favor.²³³ This meaning, claims Reimarus, "is so obvious."²³⁴ But the church has followed the deception of the disciples into twisting the phrase into an "unfounded

²²³ Frag. 1.24.

²²⁴ Frag. 1.4.

²²⁵ See, generally, *Frag.* 1.8–28.

²²⁶ Frag. 1.9.

²²⁷ Frag. 1.9.

 $^{^{228}}$ Frag. 1.9. Here we see the explicit influence of Locke and Wolff's notion of truth above reason.

²²⁹ See *Frag.* 1.10–18; *Apologie* pp. 2.73–96.

²³⁰ Frag. 1.12.

²³¹ Frag. 1.18.

²³² Frag. 1.12.

²³³ Frag. 1.12.

²³⁴ *Frag.* 1.12.

interpretation and system,"²³⁵ seeing son of God and son of man as referring to different aspects of his person when they in fact are distributive.²³⁶

The socio-rhetorical charge behind the accusation of "fraud" is telling here. "Fraud is a verdict arising from prejudice and polemics, so that one person's religious foundation is another person's fraud."237 Theories of Christianity's fraudulent origins were discussed in French and German "Enlightenment literature," but it was Reimarus' *Apologie* that "changed the situation radically." Another element which shines through is the notion of the perfectibility of humanity and progress. In this vein, Reimarus could not accept eternal punishment or original sin or anything that went against the Enlightenment's optimistic anthropology.²³⁹ Reimarus' Jesus was after a "proper, active character," and his sermons are "nothing other than moral teachings and duties intended to improve man inwardly."240 Throughout *Frag.* 1.8–9 for example, there are several instances of Reimarus' framing Jesus' preaching within the wider environs of human betterment and progress.²⁴¹ The Jewish expectation regarding the advent of the messiah, so Reimarus argues, was contingent upon repentance and betterment.²⁴² Jesus' ethical teaching, particularly his "beautiful Sermon on the Mount," was solely intended for "repentance, conversion, and betterment insofar as these consist of a true inner and upright love of God, of one's neighbor, and of all that is good."243 In short, to better humanity inwardly,²⁴⁴ and free humanity from the external and hypocritical righteousness of the Pharisees for "better righteousness" of the kingdom. 245

²³⁵ Frag. 1.3.

²³⁶ *Frag.* 1.13. This, of course, is in conflict with Schweitzer's interpretation of son of man within apocalyptic environs, notably Daniel.

²³⁷ Hans Dieter Betz, "The Birth of Christianity as a Hellenistic Religion: Three Theories of Origin," *The Journal of Religion* 74.1 (1994) 1–25, p. 11.

²³⁸ Betz, "Birth of Christianity," p. 13; see generally, pp. 10–15.

²³⁹ *Apologie*, pp. 2.451–74.

²⁴⁰ Frag. 1.6.

²⁴¹ Cf. *Apologie*, p. 2.415.

²⁴² Frag. 1.4.

²⁴³ Frag. 1.5.

²⁴⁴ Frag. 1.6.

²⁴⁵ Frag. 1.28.

The issue of toleration haunts and even causes some tension in Reimarus' commitments in understanding Jesus as a Jew all the way down. For example, he states Jesus' universalistic message of the kingdom of God (e.g., Matt 28:19; Mk 16:15) "does not entirely exclude from this hope even those heathen who remain firmly rooted in their imperfect understanding" (e.g. Matt 11:22; Lk 10:14). Later he backpedals in *Frag.* 1.20. He confesses confusion regarding Matt 10:5–6; 15:24 and Matt 28:19; Mk 16:15. And he sees the Cornelius episode in Acts 10–11 as clear indications of nationalistic prejudice. Yet later he uses the *Targum* on Micah 4:7 in the favor of a universalistic understanding of the kingdom. Here he is not as clear cut as Schweitzer made him. He is struggling against his method of Jesus-as-Jew, the textual evidence, and his commitments to the *Aufklärung* virtue of tolerance.

2.3. Conclusions

"Mit dem theologischen Vermächtnis des Reimarus umzugehen, ist eine der bleibenden Aufgaben der Theologie." To Reimarus, or, perhaps, even more so to Lessing, we owe a debt for questioning the silly scruples of orthodox censorship. But Reimarus can hardly be made out to be the pioneer of either suspicion or first-sighter of eschatology. Semler had earlier commented on the basic eschatological strain in the preaching of Jesus and the early Church. But what is crucial for our purposes is that though eschatology is part of Reimarus' reading of the historical Jesus, it is hardly the main focus of the final *Fragment*, the *Apologie*, or, of course, his wider religious writings. Indeed, the role of eschatology, as August Christian Lundsteen suggests, is not the main point (*kein Hauptpunkt*) for Reimarus that Schweitzer makes it out to be, "sondern nur als ein nebengeordnetes." What is more, Semler in his *Beantwortung der Fragmente eines Ungenannten* (1779) draws

²⁴⁶ Frag. 1.2.

²⁴⁷ See, *Frag.* 1.29.

²⁴⁸ Cf., *Apologie*, pp. 1.133–35.

²⁴⁹ Klein, *Reimarus*, p. 279.

²⁵⁰ Gottfried Hornig, *Die Anfänge der historisch-kritischen Theologie* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1961) 227 n. 47. Cited from Talbert, "Introduction," p. 40 n. 86.

²⁵¹ Lundsteen, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und die Anfänge der Leben-Jesu-Forschung* 10; cited first in Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," 345 n. 53.

attention to the "deficiencies of Reimarus' scholarly equipment," and viewed his account of Christian origins as suspect.²⁵²

In this sense, Reimarus was hardly the innovator that Schweitzer made him out to be. The English deists appear to have influenced Reimarus and it seems he was familiar with their ideas.²⁵³ This brief sketch hopes to contribute to other historiographical corrections of the likes of Kümmel who see precedents within English deism,²⁵⁴ Hornig and the fuller elaborations of Semler,²⁵⁵ and others who suggest Edelmann had published similar sentiments some thirty years earlier.²⁵⁶ What is more, though Schweitzer's construction of Reimarus singled out eschatology as the singular key which unlocks all the mysteries of a singular profile of the historical Jesus, Reimarus does not appear to explicate or give the kind of credence Schweitzer attributes to Reimarus' project.²⁵⁷ Recourse to the "historical Jesus" was not so much in the service of Christian origins as it was a test case for one's own philosophical commitments. Questions about the historical Jesus in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries in European thought were "as much a history of changing philosophies, theologies, and worldviews, as it [was] of growing refinements in historical techniques."²⁵⁸

-

²⁵² Chadwick in *Lessing's Theological Writings*, p. 40 n. 2.

²⁵³ For a listing of Reimarus' library and a sense of what he was reading, see Schmidt-Biggemann, *Hermann Samuel Reimarus: Handschriftenverzeichnis und Bibliographie*; and, Gerhard Alexander, *Auktionskatalog der Bibliothek von Hermann Samuel Reimarus*, Redigiert von Johann Andreas Gottfried Schetelig, Hamburg 1769 und 1770, ed. Reimarus-Kommission der Joachim-Jungius-Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften, Hamburg, and Lessing-Akademie, Wolfenbüttel (Hamburg: n.p., 1978). Alexander also compiled the index which bears the same title (Hamburg: Joachim-Jungius-Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften, 1980).

²⁵⁴ Werner G. Kümmel, *Das Neue Testament* (Freiburg: München, 1959) 73–82; though, again, cf. Israel, "Philosophical Context," pp. 183–200.

²⁵⁵ Gottfried Hornig, *Die Anfänge der historisch-kritischen Theologie, Johann Salomo Semlers Schriftverständnis und seine Stellung zu Luther* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1961).

 $^{^{256}}$ Walter Grossmann, "Johann Christian Edelmann's Idea of Jesus," $\it HTR$ 60 (1967) 375–89; cf. Mönckeberg, $\it Reimarus$ und $\it Edelman$.

²⁵⁷ See Brown, *Jesus in European Protestant Thought*, p. 6., who extends the charge of raising the issue of eschatology's importance without giving full credence to it to Schweitzer as well.

²⁵⁸ Brown, Jesus in European Protestant Thought, p. 275.

Our main findings in this chapter have been the social location and wider concerns which informed Reimarus' complicated ævre. The great hero of honest inquiry of Schweitzer's construction when compared with the "historical Reimarus" appears to have clay feet—or different feet altogether. He may well have told the "truth" in the *Apologie*, but when combined with his public works, this "truth-telling" and honest inquiry appear slant. All that he was in the *Apologie* stares back at what he was not in his public works, and, indeed, what he was not in Schweitzer's construction. Our suspicions in §1 now appear justified. Reimarus was not the historian of Christian origins of Schweitzer's construction. The rhetorical function of Reimarus within the *Geschichte* was for the airing of Schweitzer's own views. It now falls to us to examine Schweitzer's use of eschatology and its function within his reading of the historical Jesus material as a hermeneutical key which serves his reconstruction efforts of a consistent, systematic, and tidy Jesus.

CHAPTER THREE SCHWEITZER'S KEY TO ALL MYTHOLOGIES: KONSEQUENTE ESCHATOLOGIE

Don't get involved in partial problems, but always take flight to where there is a free view over the whole single great problem, even if this view is still not a clear one.

Ludwig Wittgenstein¹

One often makes a remark and only later sees how true it is.

Ludwig Wittgenstein²

3.0. The Key to All Mythologies

As we saw in the previous chapters, Schweitzer constructed Reimarus as the weary traveler along the plains who saw from the distant reaches of the eighteenth century the towering heights of eschatology. After eighteen long centuries of misconception, he was the first to have "an inkling of what eschatology really was," and drew the attention of scholarship to the eschatological *Weltanschauung* within first-century Palestine. It was this distance, however, which prevented the range's full shape from being apprehended. Strauss was another traveler along the plains, who, in his first edition at least, recognized that the thought-world of Jesus was purely eschatology and thus acted as "the prophet of a coming advance in knowledge." But these two figures suffered the same fate: viz., the constructive element of their discoveries were buried under the rubble of their criticism and hence scholarship and they themselves "failed to realize their full significance." Schweitzer, however, stood with the full mountain in view, now "in its true form." From this summit

¹ Ludwig Wittgenstein, *Notebooks, 1914-1916* (trans. G. E. M. Anscombe; Oxford: Blackwell, 1961) 23.

² Wittgenstein, *Notebooks*, §10e.

³ Schweitzer, The Quest of the Historical Jesus 23; Schweitzer, Von Reimarus zu Wrede 23.

⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 10.

⁵ David F. Strauss, *The Life of Jesus Critically Examined* (Lives of Jesus Series; trans. George Eliot; Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1972 [1840]).

⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 95.

⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 120.

⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 23.

casts his judgment upon past critical-histories of the life of Jesus in general, and German theological liberalism in particular. The social liberalism of its most articulate proponent, Albrecht Ritschl (1822–1889), for example, centered Jesus within a world-affirming, ethical kingdom. But this Jesus had more in common with a Kantian ethical idealism than the environs of first-century Palestine which was "saturated with eschatology." Knowledge of the historical Jesus rests in first-century Palestine, not nineteenth-century Germany. We will need to track this claim of contamination as Schweitzer thinks that what he is doing is pure history. He thinks he has arrived at a pure vision of the first-century world without the tainted spectacles of modern thought-forms. As we shall see, however, Schweitzer's thought is not as "pure" as he constructs it to be.

In any case, together with Johannes Weiss,¹³ the son-in-law of Ritschl,¹⁴ Schweitzer's eschatological scheme effected "*una svolta fondamentale*,"¹⁵ leaving the purely ethical and spiritual formulations of the kingdom of God in its crosshairs.¹⁶ Though there were former proponents of the eschatological cultural conditioning of the

⁹ In the "Preface to the Sixth Edition," Schweitzer states, "The fundamental problem which stands out more and more clearly in the course of that research is whether Jesus presupposes the notions of later Jewish eschatology about the coming of the kingdom of God and the Messiah, or replaces them with a non–eschatological approach" (*Quest*² p. xxxviii).

¹⁰ See the collection of essays in Rolf Schaefer, ed., *Albrecht Ritschl: Vorlesung 'Theologische Ethik'* (*Arbeiten zur Kirchengeschichte*; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006); cf., Clive Marsh, *Albrecht Ritschl and the Problem of the Historical Jesus* (Lewiston: Mellen University Press, 1992).

¹¹ *Quest*¹ p. 350.

¹² Cf. *Quest*² p. xliii. In this respect, Schweitzer's target is not merely the liberal and rationalistic schools, but also the purely literary approaches of the likes of Bruno Bauer who thought there was no evidence for an existing eschatological expectation during the time of Jesus (e.g., *Quest*² p. 303). This, of course, would figure significantly in *Geschichte*² along the lines of the historicity of Jesus' existence. In this respect, even though Schweitzer sees a connection with Wrede's "solution" and his own in the *Skizze* (see *Quest*² p. 302), this is the cause of much of Schweitzer's suspicion of Wrede and the reason for his softening of the connection between the two in *Geschichte*². See Paget, "Schweitzer's second edition,", pp. 20–37.

¹³ Weiss, Jesus' Proclamation of the Kingdom of God.

¹⁴ For this reason, it is of note to point out that Weiss did not publish his volume until 1892, three years after the death of Ritschl.

¹⁵ Vittorio Subilia, *Il Regno Di Dio: Interpretazioni Nel Corso Dei Secoli* (Nuovi Studi Teologici; Claudiana: Torino, 1993) 149.

Kümmel suggests a significant turning point affected by Weiss and Schweitzer. See Werner
 Kümmel, "Ein Jahrhundert Erforschung der Eschatologie des Neuen Testaments," *TLZ* 107 (1982)
 81.

historical Jesus,¹⁷ it was Schweitzer and Weiss who summoned "al terzo grand autaut" in scholarship:¹⁸ either thoroughgoing eschatology or skepticism.¹⁹ When Albert Schweitzer reflected in 1933 upon his teaching activities at the University of Strasbourg, he states:

The question of whether Jesus thought eschatologically or not leads therefore to one point: Did he consider himself to be the messiah or not? Anyone who admits that he did must also admit that his ideas and expectations conformed to the eschatological views of late Judaism. Anyone who refuses to recognize this Jewish element in his thought must also refuse to attribute to him any consciousness of being the messiah.²⁰

It was while in Strasbourg that the "inspiration for studying the history of research into the life of Jesus" attended Schweitzer after some conversation with students who took a course on the subject from Prof. Spitta and demonstrated an ignorance of previous research. This led to a two-hour weekly lecture throughout the summer of 1905 on the history of historical Jesus research. The result of this summer course would eventually become *Von Reimarus zu Wrede* (1906). The significance of this detail is that Schweitzer more or less had his mind made up with the publication of *Eine Skizze* (1901), the second part of his *Habilitationschrift*, with the *Geschichte* functioning as both a literature review which situates *Eine Skizze* and an attempt to highlight his own constructive proposal which had passed without notice.²² Though the *Geschichte* is the better known, it is actually his *Skizze* which is

¹⁷ See the works of Wilhelm Baldensperger (1895), Otto Schmoller (1893), and Ernst Issel (1891) referred to in Lundström, *The Kingdom of God in the Teaching of Jesus* 37–34; Kümmel, "Ein Jahrhundert Erforschung der Eschatologie des Neuen Testaments," p. 83. On the rise of eschatology within the history of interpretation, see Kümmel, "Die 'Konsequent Eschatologie' Albert Schweitzers im Urteil der Zeitgenossen," 328. For a discussion of the general movement toward eschatology in the twentieth century, see Elmar Fastenrath, *'In Vitam Aeternam': Grundzüge christlicher Eschatologie in der ersten Hälfte des 20. Jahrhunderst* (Sankt Ottilien: Eos Verlag, 1982).

¹⁸ Subilia, *Il Regno Di Dio*, p. 153.

¹⁹ The first alternative was issued by Strauss—either purely historical or purely supernatural. "The second had been worked out by the Tübingen school and Holtzmann: *either* Synoptic or Johannine. Now came the third: *either* eschatological or non-eschatological" and hence skeptical (*Quest*² p. 198).

²⁰ Schweitzer, *Life and Thought* 49; Schweitzer, *Aus meinem Leben und Denken* 38.

²¹ Schweitzer, *Life and Thought*, p. 44.

²² See Kümmel, "Ein Jahrhundert Erforschung der Eschatologie des Neuen Testaments," p. 85. In this respect, one can read between the lines and hear the annoyance on the part of Schweitzer when he writes: "Men who have no qualifications for the task, whose ignorance is nothing less than criminal, who loftily anathematise scientific theology instead of making themselves in some measure

the best source for his eschatology. Commenting on Schweitzer's *Das Messianitäts* und Leidensgeheimnis: Eine Skizze des Lebens Jesu, Vittorio Subilla says that it "può essere considerata il manifesto della scuola detta dell'escatologia conseguente o radicale." Nevertheless, the force of Schweitzer's notion of *konsequente* Eschatologie was largely mediated through the *Geschichte*—in the English-speaking world, at least—so we will use both of these texts together in our analysis of what Schweitzer meant by this concept.

The disparaging elements of historical Jesus research come together for Schweitzer with his discovery of *konsequente Eschatologie*. *Das Problem*²⁴ has been solved with [*d*] *ie Lösung der konsequenten Eschatologie*. ²⁵ Thus in the 1950 Preface to the "Sixth Edition" of the *Geschichte*, Schweitzer states, "The historical problem confronting scholarly research into the life of Jesus may be said to be *solved* in its essentials by the knowledge gained from late-Jewish eschatology." ²⁶ The "momentous decision" of *either* eschatology *or* non-eschatology is now a foregone conclusion and likely never to be questioned again. ²⁷

Explicating what Schweitzer means by *konsequente Eschatologie* presents challenges for the interpreter. For it is not a singular doctrine but the unifying theory which explains everything. Others had seen the key of eschatology but only used it to turn the lock of the gate whereas the key which they possessed could in fact unlock the entire castle.²⁸ In *konsequente Eschatologie* Schweitzer had succeeded precisely where the pedantic scholar, Edward Casaubon, of George Eliot's *Middlemarch* had

acquainted with the researches which it has carried out, feel impelled to write a Life of Jesus, in order to set forth their general religious view in a portrait of Jesus which has not the faintest claim to be historical, and the most far–fetched of these find favour, and are eagerly absorbed by the multitude" ($Quest^1$ p. 325).

²³ Subilia, *Il Regno Di Dio*, p. 154. In general, cf. pp. 149–64.

 $^{^{24}}$ *Geschichte* $^{1/2}$ pp. 1–12; *Quest* $^{1/2}$ pp. 1–12.

²⁵ Geschichte² pp. 390–443; Quest² pp. 315–54. Though this chapter is new to Geschichte², the contents are by no means peculiar to it; the concepts appear throughout Geschichte¹.

²⁶ *Quest*² p. xli. Emphasis mine.

²⁷ *Quest*² p. xliii.

²⁸ Cf., *Quest*¹ p. 346.

failed: he found the *Key to all Mythologies*.²⁹ Schweitzer's eschatology was *konsequent* in that it affected *everything*. In this sense, an analysis of his eschatology is to pull apart what coordinates the whole and as a result, in the words of Yeats, "Things fall apart; the centre cannot hold."³⁰ In our systematic descriptions to follow, then, all distinctions made must be understood to be notional, not actual.

3.0.1. Dogmatic and Actual History: Schweitzer's Hermeneutical Key

The significance of konsequente Eschatologie for Schweitzer is that it acts as something like a touchstone. In the Preface to the Sixth Edition, Schweitzer states, "Thus only eschatology explains for the first time the oldest tradition about the preaching and conduct of Jesus in matters great and small, and thereby establishes its trustworthiness beyond all conceivable doubt." Schweitzer considers his "contribution" to be the finding of "the eschatological clue, not only to his preaching, but also to his life and work." It is this eschatological clue which acts as a "principle of discrimination," separating the base metals of modern ideas from the gold of the ancient NT Weltanschauung. Once this move has been made, it becomes impossible to import modern ideas into Jesus' Weltanschauung, and "then take them back from his as a loan." In Schweitzer's mind, [d]ie $\kappa \rho i \sigma i \beta$ ist nun eingeleitet, as a compromise between the modern historical and the eschatological Jesus is no longer possible.

²⁹ George Eliot, *Middlemarch* (New York: Simon & Brown, 2011 [1871]) pp. 45, 61, 207, 277, 307, 362. Cf., Roger Travis, "From 'Shattered Mummies' to 'An Epic Life': Casaubon's Key to All Mythologies and Dorothea's Mythic Renewal in George Eliot's *Middlemarch*," *International Journal of the Classical Tradition* 5.3 (1999) 367-82.

³⁰ William Butler Yeats, "The Second Coming," in *The Collected Poems of W. B. Yeats* (ed. Richard J. Finneran; New York: Scribner, 1996) 187.

³¹ Quest2 p. xli.

³² Quest² p. xxxviii.

³³ "Vor der eschatologischen Erkenntnis war die kritische Theologie doch in letzter Linie prinzipienlos, insofern als sie kein Scheidungsmittel besaß, das moderne und neutestamentlichantike Gedanken unfehlbar sicher auseinandergelöst hätte" (*Geschichte*² p. 244 / *Quest*² p. 209).

 $^{^{34}}$ $Quest^2$ p. 209. The main target here appears to be Ritchl, whom Schweitzer accuses of "naivete" with respect to this illicit move from modern ideas to the ancient world and then back again.

³⁵ Geschichte² p. 244.

³⁶ *Geschichte*² p. 369 / *Quest*² p. 297.

Schweitzer's *konsequente Eschatologie* is thus more than theological emphasis, it functions as his principled hermeneutical method, throwing light upon Jesus' whole public work—as opposed simply to his preaching as Weiss saw.³⁷ As Bahrdt and Venturini demonstrated in their fictive writings, "the connexion of events" in the life of Jesus has "to be discovered,"³⁸ as the sources are silent on the character of Jesus' self-consciousness and aims.³⁹ Schweitzer believes he found the "inner connection" or "thread of connection" which coordinates the disparaging pieces of Jesus' activity and teaching together into a singularity.⁴⁰ Moreover, *konsequente Eschatologie* allows for the complexities of Jesus' messianic consciousness to be discovered within his historical activity. For Schweitzer, then, *konsequente Eschatologie* is the one "historically certain element" against which all else is judged,⁴¹ and allows for the tensions of Jesus' messianism to remain as they are, while revealing a singular portrait of the hidden, historical Jesus.

Schweitzer understood every person within first-century Palestine as figuring themselves "in two entirely different states": viz., the "pre-messianic age" or the messianic age. 42 It was this "intense theological expectation" which "inspired" and gave rise to Jesus and the movement surrounding him. 43 He was not a man "lost in a world of illusions. He reacted in an absolutely normal fashion to what was said to him, and to the events that concerned him. He was never out of touch with reality." 44 This "reality" was that of *konsequente Eschatologie*. And it was this dogma of *Eschatologie* which shaped the history of Jesus. *Eschatologie*, then, is simply *dogmatische Geschichte* "which breaks in upon the natural course of history and abrogates it." 45 The lack of apparent connection within the Gospel sources "is just

_

³⁷ *Quest*² p. 315.

³⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 47.

³⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 7

⁴⁰ The terms "thread of connection" or "inner connection" appear throughout the *Geschichte*. See, for example, *Quest*¹ pp. 6, 7, 10, 47, 257.

⁴¹ *Quest*¹ p. 122.

⁴² *Mystery*, p. 187.

⁴³ Mystery, p. 264.

⁴⁴ *Life and Thought*, p. 109.

⁴⁵ *Geschichte*² p. 391 / *Quest*² p. 315.

what is historical" (*ist eben das Historische*),⁴⁶ in that the history of Jesus was determined not by the pressure of external forces, "but by the decisions of Jesus" which were governed by "dogmatic eschatological considerations."⁴⁷ Jesus lived wholly within *dogmatic history* which formed the basis for the activity of Jesus within *actual history*.⁴⁸

3.0.2. Schweitzer's Sources

This poses the problem of sources for Schweitzer. On the one hand Jesus belongs to the social imaginary of first-century Palestine. But on the other hand, the Gospel texts are silent (misleading?) when it comes to determining Jesus' aims and messianic consciousness. This is owing to an inevitable and unconscious shifting of perspective (eine unbewusste, notwendige perspektivische Verschiebung)⁴⁹ which happened within the early church after the death of Jesus. This "shifting of perspective" concerned the nature of Jesus' intentions surrounding the Passion. After the apparent messianic failure, the early church read its existence into his atoning death. The print of the early church's influence upon the Gospel material is therefore felt. Yet despite this shift and effect, Schweitzer maintains that its influence "does not go nearly so deep" as many have supposed. Though the life of Jesus "cannot be arrived at by following the arrangement of a single Gospel,"51 Schweitzer adopts a rather conservative attitude toward the material presented in Mark and Matthew, seeing the Sermon on the Mount, the commission to the twelve, the eulogy of the Baptist, prophecies of Passion and resurrection, as more or less "handed down as they were given,"52 and preserving the basis of tradition.53

⁴⁶ *Geschichte* ¹ p. 355 / *Quest* ¹ p. 358.

⁴⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 358.

⁴⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 359.

⁴⁹ *Mystery*, p. 10; *Skizze*, p. ix.

 $^{^{50}}$ Mystery, p. 8. Here Schweitzer is steering his ship away from the chaotic waters of Reimarus' cynicism regarding the early church.

⁵¹ *Quest*² p. 352.

⁵² *Mystery*, pp. 7–8.

 $^{^{53}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 391–92 / 444; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 394 /352.

What is more, the early Christians "drew no distinction between their own eschatology" and that of their ancestry.⁵⁴ What, then, of the eschatological Weltanschauung of first-century Palestine? As we have already stated, the key to unlocking the riddle of the historical Jesus is *konsequente Eschatologie*, and the Eschatologie of Jesus and the early church was irreducibly enmeshed with the "Jewish apocalyptic literature of the period between Daniel and the Bar-Cochba rising."55 Moreover, during the time of Jesus, Schweitzer sees an unparalleled influence of prophetic eschatology,⁵⁶ demonstrated in the ethic of repentance and carried through in *Baruch* and *4 Ezra* with "this ethical deepening of apocalyptic." ⁵⁷ Schweitzer sees a "great simplification and deepening of eschatology" happening during this period.⁵⁸ The apparent "remolding" and "elevation" of the Daniel-Enochic apocalyptic with ancient prophetic hopes reaches a significant stage of development in that the *Eschatologie* of Jesus and the Baptist are non-contingent. Daniel, for example, is rhetorically contingent upon the religious oppression of Antiochus IV who ruled the Seleucid empire from 175–164 BCE. The Psalms of Solomon arose in response to the civil strife surrounding the presence of Pompey and Roman power in 63 BCE. Fourth Ezra and Baruch were constructed upon the ruins of the Jerusalem temple, laid siege by Titus in 70 ACE. But the "apocalyptic movement in the time of Jesus is not connected with any historical event."59 What is remarkable for Schweitzer, then, is that the "apocalyptic enthusiasm" of this period issued not from external events, "but solely by the appearance of two great personalities."60 The difficulty here, of course, is that this itself is a form of contingency. The cultural pressure which gave rise to the Baptist and Jesus were themselves the contingencies of "external events." Schweitzer here does not utilize

⁻

 $^{^{54}}$ Quest 1 p. 367; cf., too, Albert Schweitzer, *The Kingdom of God and Primitive Christianity* (trans. L. A. Garrard; New York: Seabury Press, 1966).

⁵⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 367.

⁵⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 368.

⁵⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 369.

⁵⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 369.

⁵⁹ *Quest*¹ pp. 369–70. Schweitzer sees the time between the arrival of the Psalms of Solomon and the arrival of the Baptist as a "decadence of Pharisaism," where they decline "into an external legalism."

⁶⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 370.

his criterion of perspectival shift. In a sequence which foreshadows Bultmann, if the proclaimer becomes the proclaimed, then the contingencies which gave rise to the proclaimer would be collapsed into and obscured by the proclaimed.⁶¹ This non-utilization is somewhat surprising.

In any case, fundamental for Schweitzer was to place Jesus within his eschatological "nest." 62 Schweitzer cites the appearance of Adolf Hilgenfeld's *Jüdische Apokalyptik* (1857) and Dillmann's *Henoch* (1851) as making known the fundamental characteristics (*Grundzügen*) of Jewish apocalyptic and establishing the so-called Jewish Pseudepigrapha as "representative documents of the last stage of Jewish thought." 63 Historically considered (*Geschichtlich betrachtet*), 64 then, the Baptist, Jesus, and Paul are "simply the culminating manifestations of Jewish apocalyptic thought." 65 Mark, Matthew and the writings of Paul therefore are "the best sources for the Jewish eschatology of the time of Jesus." 66

3.0.3. Schweitzer's Method

Here we begin to feel a bit of a tension.⁶⁷ Schweitzer states that since the work of Hilgenfeld and Dillmann, the fundamental characteristics of Jewish apocalyptic were

⁶¹ Cf. Rudolf Bultmann, *Theology of the New Testament* (trans. Kendrick Grobel; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2007) 33.

⁶² Wittgenstein suggested that "What a believer 'believes is not a single proposition, but a system of propositions (light dawns gradually over *the whole*)." This is his concept of "nest." What then is Jesus' nest? Of what story or stories did he find himself a part? What did his "nest" allow him to become? These are all determined, in Schweitzer's mind, by the eschatological environment of his day. On "nest," see, Wittgenstein, *On Certainty* §141. See, too, Alisdair MacIntyre, *After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory* (London: Duckworth, 1985) 216.

 $^{^{63}}$ Geschichte $^{1/2}$ pp. 221 / 222; Quest $^{1/2}$ pp. 223 / 190.

⁶⁴ *Geschichte*¹ p. 364; *Quest*¹ p. 367.

⁶⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 367; Albert Schweitzer, *Mystik des Apostels Paulus* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1931); and the English translation, Albert Schweitzer, *The Mysticism of Paul the Apostle* (trans. William Montgomery; Baltimore: John's Hopkins University Press, 1998 [1931]).

⁶⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 368. We will bracket out his discussion of Paul here owing both to space limitations and because of his insistence that with the death of Jesus and the rise of early Christianity there was a de-Christianizing of eschatology. On Schweitzer and Paul in general, see now James Carleton Paget, "Schweitzer and Paul," *JSNT* 33.3 (2011) 223–56.

⁶⁷ On Schweitzer's method, see Morgan, "From Reimarus to Sanders," 24–28; Norman Perrin, *The Kingdom of God in the Teaching of Jesus* (London: SCM Press, 1963) 34–36; Nineham, *Explorations in Theology 1* 112–33, especially p. 129; and, Pleitner, *Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik am Beispiel Albert Schweitzers* 180–262.

revealed.⁶⁸ This is significant for Schweitzer because much of his reading of the Gospel material is backed by the confident assertion that Jesus' eschatology is "the apocalyptic of the book of Daniel."⁶⁹ But he also states, rather baldly, that "no clear answer can be given" regarding the nature of the contemporary Jewish *Weltanschauung* at the time of Jesus.⁷⁰ Schweitzer is confident about the form of messianic expectation within the prophets, the apocalyptic vision of Daniel, Enoch, Psalms of Solomon, Fourth Ezra and Baruch, but it is the "popular form" (*Volksgut*) which eludes the interpreter.⁷¹ "We know only the form of eschatology which meets us in the Gospels and in the Pauline epistles." In other words, the expressions of eschatology within the early Christian community.⁷²

Jewish eschatology, in other words, has a "great gap" so long as it is conceived of apart from the Gospels and the Pauline material.⁷³ The "true historian" (*Der richtige Historiker*) will therefore begin with the material of the Gospels and Paul in order to understand the *Volksgut* of Jesus' day.⁷⁴ That is, "bringing the details of the discourses of Jesus into an eschatological system" and from this system bring the "disconnected events" into an history of his public life.⁷⁵ The contextual back-stories of Daniel, Enoch, and the Psalms of Solomon as well as the fore-stories of Baruch and Fourth Ezra are important, but "it is impossible to over-emphasize the uniqueness of the point of view from which the eschatology of the time of the Baptist, of Jesus, and of Paul presents itself to us."⁷⁶ Though Schweitzer stresses the importance of understanding apocalyptic texts, they are functionally ignored in his constructive proposal. In a methodological sleight of hand, it is his version of

⁶⁸ The discussion of apocalyptic, of course, has since been dramatically furthered as have the rigors of various methodologies. The aim in this section, therefore, is not to take anachronistic cheap shots at Schweitzer, but simply to explicate and to test the consistency of his method.

⁶⁹ *Mystery*, pp. 114–15.

⁷⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 8.

⁷¹ *Geschichte*¹ p. 8; *Quest*¹ p. 8.

⁷² *Quest*¹ p. 8.

⁷³ Cf. "Eine, in deren Mitte ein großes Loch ist, weil die Hauptepoche mit den Dokumenten, die sich darauf beziehen, darin fehlt." *Geschichte*¹ p. 364; *Quest*¹ p. 368.

⁷⁴ *Geschichte*¹ p. 364; *Quest*¹ p. 368.

⁷⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 368.

⁷⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 368.

konsequente Eschatologie which fundamentally sets the contextual grid in which to locate the historical Jesus.

3.1. The Preaching of Jesus

As we noted above, Schweitzer saw his contribution to be the discovery of "the eschatological clue, not only to Jesus' preaching, but also to his life and work."77 As he would later state in his memoirs, "I show that his thought, word, and action were based on his expectation that the end of the world was near and that the kingdom of God would be revealed."⁷⁸ Everything is transposed into the key of eschatology.⁷⁹ Though here we focus on the subject of his preaching it must be remembered that Schweitzer sees both Jesus' preaching and activity in symbiotic relation. They are epexegetical of each other. It must also be stressed that *die Predigt Jesu* for Schweitzer does not envisage merely sermonizing, teaching, philosophizing, or the like. Words receive their meaning from their pragmatic function within a sentence, and, as we shall see, die Predigt for Schweitzer connotes something like "summons" or "proclamation." Jesus' preaching was contingent on and colored by the eschatological environs of his day and the secret of the kingdom of God (e.g., Mark 4:11; το μυστήριον τῆς βασιλείας τοῦ θεοῦ). 80 This "contingency" was never forced upon Jesus from "outward experiences," but, from the beginning, was the very "base of his preaching."81 From the outset of the baptism, Jesus' proclamation stemmed from the fertile soil of the "late-Jewish eschatological world of ideas,"82 which affected people with the "hourly expecting" of the kingdom's arrival.83 And with every appearance he proclaims the kingdom and its prerequisites.⁸⁴

3.1.1. The Gift of the Imminent Kingdom

⁷⁷ *Quest*² p. xxxviii.

⁷⁸ *Life and Thought*, p. 38.

⁷⁹ This is Schweitzer's departure from the literary approaches and that of Johannes Weiss who left the horizons of eschatology just short of his activity.

⁸⁰ Cf. *Quest*¹ p. 394.

⁸¹ Mystery, p. 87.

⁸² Quest² p. 314.

⁸³ *Quest*¹ p. 386.

⁸⁴ Quest² p. 321.

Central to Schweitzer's understanding of the secret of the kingdom is that its arrival is near, it is a gift, and that it relativizes current temporal realities. The kingdom was secret precisely because its content and terms were kept from those outside ($\tau o \tilde{\iota} \zeta \xi \omega$) and revealed to those within Jesus' inner circle (cf. Mark 4.11). Jesus preached "the near approach of the kingdom of God."⁸⁵ Its realization was his mission.⁸⁶

Schweitzer connects the harvest season with the arrival of the kingdom "not only symbolically or analogically, but also really and temporally."87 The crowds are therefore urged to watch not only for the harvest of their crops, but also for the kingdom of God.88 "The same God who through his mysterious power in nature brings the harvest to pass will also bring to pass the kingdom of God."89 His preaching therefore calls for a making ready, a "moral renewal," which stands in "a necessary but inexplicable" connection with the kingdom's arrival. 90 The parables about sowing suggest that there is "somehow or other" a connection with the "eschatological preaching of repentance which had begun by the Baptist." Jesus shares the belief with the Baptist that the time was near for the world and the elect to be raised into a "supernatural state." Jesus makes no distinction between the messianic kingdom and eternal glory; he sees "both as a single entity." The kingdom is therefore wholly future. 94 This forms the substance of Jesus' preaching and parabolic discourse:95 "read in the harvest which is ripening upon earth what is being prepared in heaven!"96 The later parables of the tenants (Matt 21:33–46); the wedding feast (Matt 22:1–14); the watchful servants (Matt 24:42–47); the ten

_

⁸⁵ Mystery, p. 189.

⁸⁶ *Mystery*, p. 61.

⁸⁷ *Quest*² p. 325.

⁸⁸ *Mystery*, p. 110.

⁸⁹ *Mystery*, p. 110.

⁹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 110.

⁹¹ *Quest*² pp. 325–26.

⁹² *Quest*² pp. 316–17.

⁹³ *Quest*² p. 248.

⁹⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 239; *Mystery*, p. 107.

⁹⁵ "Wie auf die Saat die Ernte folgt, ohne dass jemand sagen kann, wie es zuging, so wird auf Jesu Predigt hin das Reich Gottes in Macht sich einstellen" (*Skizze*, p. 25). Walter Lowrie translates this as the kingdom of God as "sequel" to Jesus' preaching (*Mystery*, p. 109).

⁹⁶ *Quest*¹ pp. 325–26.

virgins (Matt 25:1–13); and the talents (Matt 25:14–30) all suggest that only those who prepare for its arrival through moral conduct will be included.⁹⁷ The forgiveness of sins mentioned by the Baptist is "proleptic" in that it will be realized at the judgment.⁹⁸ The secret therefore turns to summons in Matt 10:27 where the disciples are called to shout from the rooftops that the kingdom is "now, at harvest time." The former times of the "is near" (*ist nahe*) will soon give way to the "is here" (*ist da*).⁹⁹ The Now (*das Jetzt*) is only for a moment longer; then the Then (*das Dann*).¹⁰⁰

If the kingdom is wholly future and near, the schematics of the transition from Now (Jetzt) to Then (Dann) become valuable leverage for present rule and ordering. It is this politics of the middler-moment which becomes the contested sphere within Judaism. Does the arrival of the kingdom consist of a wresting from or a waiting for? Schweitzer makes recourse here to the early Strauss and his tertium quid as opposed to the either/or of spiritual or political messianic aspirations of Jesus. The move of Strauss was to conceive of the contingency of the kingdom's arrival not in terms of human agency but of divine intervention (überirdische Intervention). This marks for Schweitzer one of the most significant contributions to "a real understanding" (wirklichen Erfassung) of the eschatological riddle. On the one hand, Jesus dismissed the politics of the zealots and their posture of wresting from. On the other hand, his waiting for was of an entirely different sort than the inactivity of some of his contemporaries. Though Jesus "did not propose to bring about any arbitrary action of his own," and "left it to his heavenly Father" to bring about this "catastrophic change" (Katastrophe) within this middler-moment, 103 his was an

⁹⁷ *Mystery*, p. 124.

⁹⁸ *Quest*² p. 340.

⁹⁹ *Geschichte*² p. 405; *Quest*² p. 326.

¹⁰⁰ *Geschichte*² p. 393; *Quest*² p. 317.

¹⁰¹ *Geschichte*¹ p. 91; *Quest*¹ p. 92.

¹⁰² Schweitzer calls this the "waiting messiah of the Rabbis" (*Quest*¹ p. 254).

¹⁰³ *Geschichte* p. 91; *Quest* p. 93.

active passivity, a making-ready-for the arrival of the kingdom. ¹⁰⁴ The politics of both these alternatives is therefore problematized.

There is therefore a doubly-polemical edge about Jesus' posture toward the imminence of the kingdom. On the one hand all claims toward human agency toward ushering in the kingdom are undercut at their base. The kingdom's arrival is *given*, not *grabbed*. On the other hand it is *to come*. This leads invariably to the relativization of temporal ordering and revaluation of values (*eine Umwertung der Werte*).¹⁰⁵ Schweitzer's language and idea of the revaluation of values here is quite similar to and certainly influenced by Friedrich Nietzsche (1844–1900).¹⁰⁶ Here we see an example of Schweitzer working with (fashionable) concepts in the reconceptualization of the past. In any case, any sense or suggestion of the kingdom's presence in Jesus' teaching therefore "is not to be understood as implying an anti-eschatological acceptance of the world, but merely as a phenomenon indicative of the extreme tension" of his eschatological consciousness.¹⁰⁷ The texture of the *Jetzt* and the *Dann* runs through all of Jesus' work and words. Because of the *Dann*, the *Jetzt* of social status and empire are negated.¹⁰⁸

This, sadly, is an underdeveloped thought in Schweitzer's work. He seems to distance himself from Reimarus on the grounds of the political but fails to realize

¹⁰⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 93.

¹⁰⁵ *Geschichte*² p. 393; *Quest*² p. 317.

¹⁰⁶ On Nietzsche and the revaluation of values, see Aaron Ridley, "Nietzsche and the Re-Evaluation of Values," *Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society* 105 (2005) 155–75; Donald D. Stone, "Arnold, Nietzsche, and the 'Revaluation of Values'," *Nineteenth-Century Literature* 43.3 (1988) 289–318; Jacqueline Stevens, "On the Morals of Genealogy," *Political Theory* 31.4 (2003) 558–88; George de Huszar, "Nietzsche's Theory of Decadence and the Transvaluation of all Values," *Journal of the History of Ideas* 6.3 (1945) 259–72; Kimerer L. LaMothe, "'A God Dances through Me': Isadora Duncan on Friedrich Nietzsche's Revaluation of Values," *The Journal of Religion* 85.2 (2005) 241–66; and the dated O. L. Bockstahler, "Revaluing Values with Nietzsche and Sudermann," *The Modern Language Journal* 18.2 (1933) 100–08.

¹⁰⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 249.

¹⁰⁸ There are further potential parallels here or at least traces of Nietzsche's thought with respect to Schweitzer's formulation of eschatology. For Nietzsche's eschatology, see Harry J. Ausmus, "Nietzsche and Eschatology," *The Journal of Religion* 58.4 (1978) 347–64; and, Karl Löwith, *From Hegel to Nietzsche: The Revolution in Nineteenth-Century Thought* (trans. David E. Green; New York: Columbia University Press, 1991), *passim*.

that he himself is engaged in a *kind* of political reading of Jesus. ¹⁰⁹ We see this especially in his understanding of the role of suffering and service in Jesus' consciousness and teaching. Earthly rule ([i]rdisches Herrschen), 110 with its reliance upon force, "is an emanation of the power of ungodliness." 111 Authority within the kingdom of God signifies an "emanation from the divine power." The rule of the *letzt* is destroyed (*vernichtet ist*) by the authority of the *Dann*. 112 It is thus the suffering and service of Jesus which keeps him from the "contamination of earthly rule." 113 They represent the "moral means of acquiring and confirming the messianic authority to which he is designated."114 Serving and reigning in the mind of Jesus are thus chronologically and logically connected. The aeons are split with the mention of the nearness of the kingdom, and the lowly "position of humble service" in the *Jetzt* of earthly rule by force testifies to its own doom within the *Dann* when "earthly force is done away" (wenn die irdische Gewalt aufhört). 115 Due attention to the "now and then" (jetzt und dann) within Jesus' preaching reveal the "descending stages of service corresponding to the ascending stages of rule."116 Herod in his Palace or Caesar on his throne or Caiaphas in his temple are therefore elided with a temporal indifference within the middler-moment.

Schweitzer sees a tension in "the particularism of the preaching of the kingdom and the universalism of its consummation." The kingdom is universalistic in that it stems from a "cosmic act" (*kosmische Akt*) "by which God awakes unto glory the righteous of all times and of all peoples." But this universalism is dependent upon the particularity of the kingdom's approach forced by the "moral renewal of the contemporaries of Jesus." Salvation, in the last, comes out of Israel (cf. Ps 14:7;

_

¹⁰⁹ See Bammel, "The Revolution Theory from Reimars to Brandon," 11–68.

¹¹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 77; *Skizze*, p. 10.

¹¹¹ *Mystery*, p. 77.

¹¹² *Mystery*, p. 77; *Skizze*, p. 10.

¹¹³ *Mystery*, p. 77.

¹¹⁴ Mystery, p. 77.

¹¹⁵ *Mystery*, p. 74; *Skizze*, p. 8.

¹¹⁶ *Mystery*, p. 75; *Skizze*, p. 9.

¹¹⁷ *Mystery*, p. 118.

¹¹⁸ *Skizze*, p. 30; *Mystery*, p. 118.

53:6).¹¹⁹ This tension is part of the secret of the kingdom of God,¹²⁰ and it is within this tension that the universalism of empire is bettered by the universalism of the kingdom *while at the same time* contested by its particularity. Sadly, Schweitzer never develops these themes.

3.1.2. Making Ready for the Kingdom: Repentance

The transition from the Now (*Jetzt*) to the Then (*Dann*) becomes the play of space in the earthly activity of Jesus. But what was Jesus' relation to this transition? Johannes Weiss (1863–1914) negated the modern view of Jesus as founding a kingdom with his "eschatological insight" that Jesus' relation to its arrival was a posture of waiting. 121 Weiss maintained that the preaching of Jesus must be understood from an eschatological standpoint. His essay, Die Predigt Jesu vom Reiche Gottes, though published in 1892, was not translated into English until 1971 and therefore did not make as much of an impact in the English-speaking world as Schweitzer did. 122 Many scholars have commented on the superiority of Weiss' scholarship in its rigor.¹²³ Even so, his thought is largely mediated through the *Geschichte*.¹²⁴ Schweitzer of course sees problems with an eschatological approach being extended only to the preaching of Jesus, but Weiss' reasons for doing so were largely rhetorically contingent upon the earlier vocational ethical perspective of his fatherin-law, Albrecht Ritschl. Weiss maintained that the kingdom for Jesus was wholly future and dependant upon divine initiation instead of ethical moral renewal.¹²⁵ Moreover, Jesus was the *future* messiah who would be revealed as such in the future

¹¹⁹ *Mystery*, p. 118.

¹²⁰ Mystery, p. 118. Schweitzer states, "They ought to have the presentiment that the moral renewal in consequence of his preaching stands in a necessary but inexplicable connection with the dawning of the kingdom of God. The same God who through his mysterious power in nature brings the harvest to pass will also bring to pass the kingdom of God" (Mystery, p. 110).

¹²¹ *Quest*¹ p. 357.

 $^{^{122}}$ The 1892 edition was subsequently revised and expanded in 1900 but this edition has yet to be translated.

¹²³ Cf. Chapman, *The Coming Crisis* 77.

¹²⁴ That is both in the English-speaking and German-speaking world. See Berthold Lannert, *Die Wiederentdeckung der neutestamentlichen Eschatologie durch Johannes Weiss* (Tübingen: Francke Verlag, 1989) 252–59. Cf. Chapman, *The Coming Crisis*, pp. 76–80.

¹²⁵ Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation*, p. 114.

reign of God—an insight revealed to him at his baptism.¹²⁶ It is precisely the notion of "kingdom" which Weiss is attempting to rescue from modern theological contamination.¹²⁷ He asked whether modern theology could "issue the old coinage at a new rate of exchange?"¹²⁸ Weiss, for his part, seemed unenthused on the prospect of success.¹²⁹ Schweitzer positions himself in line with the early Strauss and Weiss here, but parses this waiting not as inactivity but as exerting "an active influence upon the kingdom of God" (eine Aktivität auf das Reich Gottes ausübt).¹³⁰ Jesus' mission was a making ready for, a preparation. It consisted of one "article of instruction": repentance.¹³¹

When the Baptist appeared he preached βάπτισμα μετανοίας εἰς ἄφεσιν άμαρτιῶν (Mark 1:4). His call for repentance was based upon the imminence of the kingdom: μετανοεῖτε, ἤγγικεν γὰρ ἡ βασιλεία τῶν οὐρανῶν (Matt 3:1). Repentance therefore consists of believing "in the nearness of the kingdom." A key text for Schweitzer in this respect is Matt 11:12, ἀπὸ δὲ τῶν ἡμερῶν Ἰωάννου τοῦ βαπτιστοῦ ἕως ἄρτι ἡ βασιλεία τῶν οὐρανῶν βιάζεται καὶ βιασταὶ άρπάζουσιν αὐτήν. 133 Jesus and the Baptist, however, are not the βιασταί. In this sense they were not among those who were "working at the coming of the kingdom." It is, rather, the "host of penitents" (die Schar der Büßenden) which wrings it from God "so that it may now come at any moment." 134

The β I α o τ a α i, then, are those whose repentance and moral renewal act like "a pressure which is exerted in order to compel its appearance." These Promethean

¹²⁶ Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation*, p. 114. This view is altered in the second edition, however, where it appears that Weiss thought Jesus envisioned a future ruler would be made manifest in the kingdom.

¹²⁷ Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation*, p. 59. Here we hear an unmistakable echo to Reimarus as discussed in §2.2.3. and §1.1.2.

¹²⁸ Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation*, p. 60.

¹²⁹ Weiss, *Jesus' Proclamation*, p. 135.

¹³⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 357; *Geschichte*¹ p. 354.

¹³¹ *Mystery*, p. 89. Here we hear explicit echoes to Reimarus.

¹³² *Mystery*, p. 89.

¹³³ Schweitzer maintains that "the full difficulties of this passage are first exhibited by Johannes Weiss (*Quest*¹ p. 266).

¹³⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 357; *Geschichte*¹ p. 355.

penitents take the kingdom by force by putting "into practice the moral renewal. They draw it with power down to earth." ¹³⁵ It is only through "humiliation and the meek service" in the *Jetzt* that one is "prepared to reign" in the *Dann*. ¹³⁶ Repentance and service act as a "hidden transcript," ¹³⁷ then, by which earthly rule is relativized in the "moral renewal of the circle" gathered around Jesus. The preaching of Jesus was the bold declaration that the end was near and the urgent call to make oneself ready for its coming by repentance and through this repentance to hasten its approach. His preaching is the enlisting of the "violent" to take the kingdom by the force of moral renewal. There is a slight tension felt here in that earlier we saw Schweitzer use the early Strauss in seeing the arrival of the kingdom not by means of human agency but by divine intervention (*überirdische Intervention*). This move marked for Schweitzer one of the more significant contributions to the eschatological riddle. ¹³⁸ Is Schweitzer simply re-naming human agency as the "morally-renewed circle" which effects the coming of the kingdom? ¹³⁹ It appears so.

Fundamental to the tension of the *Jetzt* and the *Dann* is a sense of one's security within the latter owing to its relativizing effects upon the former. The assurance of one's membership within the future community "in a time of eschatological expectation demanded some kind of security for the future of which the earnest could be possessed in the present." In this sense, confessions of election fall into accord. Schweitzer sees within the traditions of "sign and seal" in Psalms of Solomon, Paul, Revelation, and the Shepherd of Hermas, the reasonable assumption that similar ideas "will be found in some form or other in the eschatological teaching of the Baptist and Jesus." He finds them in the moral

_

¹³⁵ *Mystery*, p. 112.

¹³⁶ *Mystery*, p. 268.

¹³⁷ Cf. James C. Scott, *Domination and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1992).

¹³⁸ *Geschichte*¹ p. 91; *Quest*¹ p. 92.

¹³⁹ *Mystery*, p. 116.

¹⁴⁰ *Ouest*¹ p. 378.

 $^{^{141}}$ E.g., Ezek 9; Ps Sol 15:8; Gal 6:17; 2 Cor 4:10; Rev 9:4–5; 8:16; 14:1; 20:4; and throughout Hermas.

¹⁴² *Quest*¹ p. 378.

activity of the community of faith. Because Jesus' moral teaching was "preparation for the kingdom of God,"¹⁴³ the exercise of his moral teaching demonstrates the quality of belonging to the coming kingdom.¹⁴⁴ Their deeds are not a matter of getting in or even staying in, but of knowing that they are already within the community of the end time. In other words, their deeds demonstrate and testify to their election.¹⁴⁵

In order to understand this Synoptical scheme properly, "one must have in mind" this prophetic sense of $\mu\epsilon\tau\dot{\alpha}\nu\sigma\iota\alpha$ within the early prophets of Amos, Hosea, Isaiah, and Jeremiah, ¹⁴⁶ with its "emphasis upon the new moral life." ¹⁴⁷ They are seen as "dominated by the thought of a condition of perfection which God will bring to pass through the Judgment." ¹⁴⁸ The prophetic literature understood this as the Day of the Lord; the Synoptics as the dawn of the kingdom. Repentance thus "makes one meet for the kingdom of God," as only the righteous are welcome or fit for its arrival. ¹⁴⁹ As in the prophets, then, the relation between moral reform and the transition into the *Dann* is "not that of a mere temporal sequence, but it rests upon a supernatural causal connection" (*kein rein zeitliches, sondern es beruht auf einem übernatürlichen kausalen Zusammenhang*). ¹⁵⁰

3.1.3. Making Ready for the Kingdom: Interimsethik

As we saw earlier, suffering and service are a sort of "moral means" (*sittliche Bewährung*) by which Jesus both acquires and confirms his "messianic authority to which he is designated." But these means do not become the morality of the

¹⁴³ *Mystery*, p. 39.

¹⁴⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 355.

¹⁴⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 354.

¹⁴⁶ *Mystery*, pp. 94–95.

¹⁴⁷ *Mystery*, p. 95.

¹⁴⁸ *Mystery*, p. 95.

¹⁴⁹ *Mystery*, p. 95.

¹⁵⁰ *Mystery*, p. 113; *Skizze*, p. 27.

¹⁵¹ *Mystery*, p. 77; *Skizze*, p. 10.

kingdom. The kingdom is super-moral (*übersittlichen*).¹⁵² How then are the ethics of Jesus' moral teaching consistent with his expectation of an imminent end?¹⁵³ Schweitzer thinks of Jesus enmeshed within a matrix of thought which "anticipated the imminent end of the world,"¹⁵⁴ and "had not considered the existence of a community after his death."¹⁵⁵ Moreover, the teaching of Jesus "was purely and exclusively world-renouncing."¹⁵⁶ This is where Schweitzer sees the question of whether Jesus' preaching of the kingdom was wholly eschatological or not is at its sharpest: viz., in his ethical teaching.¹⁵⁷

The concurrence in Jesus of an ethical with an eschatological line of thought has always constituted one of the most difficult problems of New Testament study. How can two such different views of the world, in part diametrically opposed to one another, be united in one process of thought?¹⁵⁸

Schweitzer answers this question in his articulation of *Interimsethik*.¹⁵⁹ Jesus was the "ethical master promised by the prophets." ¹⁶⁰ And, like his secret, Jesus' "whole ethical outlook" was "ruled by the contrast of" *Jetzt* and *Dann*. ¹⁶¹ But in "sovereign style, Jesus effects the synthesis of the apocalyptic of Daniel" and the ethics of the earlier prophets. ¹⁶² The ethics of the early prophets are transfigured into the condition of the "moral conversion of Israel" which brings about "the final state of glory." In this sense, his ethics are not eschatological (*eschatologische Ethik*); rather,

¹⁵² Schweitzer states, "Ist aber Dienen nicht die Sittlichkeit des Gottesreiches, so operiert Jesu Leidensvorstellung auch nicht mit dem darauf beruhenden Begriff des Gottesreichs als der sich vollendenden ethischen Gemeinschaft, sondern mit einer übersittlichen Grösse, nämlich mit der eschatologischen Reichsvorstellung" (*Skizze*, p. 10; *Mystery* p. 77). Lowrie translates "einer übersittlichen Grösse" as "a super–moral entity" (cf. his translation of "Das Reich Gottes als ethische Grösse im Leidensgedanken," *Mystery*, p. 12). *Größe*, here, can mean "greatness" in the figurative sense, or height, or quantity in the mathematical sense. Here again we hear echoes of Nietzsche.

¹⁵³ On Schweitzer and the relevance of Jesus for ethics, see Jack T. Sanders, "The Question of the Relevance of Jesus for Ethics Today," *JAAR* 38.2 (1970) 131–46.

¹⁵⁴ *Life and Thought*, p. 55.

¹⁵⁵ *Quest*² p. 335.

¹⁵⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 250.

¹⁵⁷ *Quest* ¹ p. 250. The immediate context is with respect to Bousset.

¹⁵⁸ *Mystery*, p. 84.

¹⁵⁹ For an article–length interaction with Schweitzer's *Interimsethik*, see Richard Hiers, "Interim Ethics," *Theology and Life* 9 (1966) 220-33.

¹⁶⁰ *Life and Thought*, p. 109.

¹⁶¹ *Mystery*, p. 255.

 $^{^{162}}$ Mystery, p. 256. Once again, Schweitzer does not ground his claims in any exegesis of the prophets.

his eschatology is ethical (ethische Eschatologie). 163 For if one begins with the ethical and seeks to understand the eschatological s/he is bound for failure. The opposite course is required.¹⁶⁴ This is the secret of the kingdom of God.¹⁶⁵

Iesus preaches and works a "higher morality" (höhere Sittlichkeit) 166 by which he prepares a moral community to hasten the kingdom's return. Within his Beatitudes, ¹⁶⁷ for example, the "poor in spirit, the meek, those that endure suffering, those that hunger and thirst after righteousness, the merciful, the pure in heart, the peacemakers," are blessed precisely because by these actions they demonstrate "they are destined for the kingdom." 168 It is behind this "ethical preaching" that the secret of the kingdom looms. 169 The "performance of the individual" within the community's accomplishment of a "moral renewal in preparation for the kingdom," hastens the supernatural realization of the kingdom. Thus individual and social ethics blend in the great secret." It is in this mingling that the "moral renewal" forces the kingdom's return.¹⁷¹ Jesus' ethics are "absolutely dependent upon this eschatology."¹⁷² Every "moral-religious performance" (sittlich-religiöse Bethätigung) is labor (*Arbeit*) for the coming kingdom. They "make one meet for" entrance into and bearing rule within the kingdom of God. 174 Here again, we feel the tension of Schweitzer and issues of human agency. 175

¹⁶³ *Mystery*, p. 256; *Skizze*, p. 100.

¹⁶⁴ *Mystery*, pp. 93–94.

¹⁶⁵ *Mystery*, p. 256.

¹⁶⁶ *Mystery*, p. 255; *Skizze*, p. 99.

¹⁶⁷ Cf. *Mystery*, p. 96.

¹⁶⁸ *Mystery*, p. 255.

¹⁶⁹ *Mystery*, p. 255.

¹⁷⁰ Mystery, p. 255. It is with some hesitation and reluctance that Schweitzer feels in admitting "the eschatological idea of the kingdom of God lay at the basis of Jesus' preaching from beginning to end, since then one cannot explain how the new moral community which he formed about himself was in his thought organically connected with the kingdom which was supernaturally to appear" (Mystery, p. 104).

¹⁷¹ *Mystery*, p. 256.

¹⁷² *Mystery*, p. 122.

¹⁷³ *Mystery*, p. 122; *Skizze*, p. 32.

¹⁷⁴ *Mystery*, p. 97.

¹⁷⁵ See above.

In a very real sense, however, his *Interimsethik* is no ethic at all, or, at least, it is a "special ethic" with a fast approaching spoil date. 176 The Sermon on the Mount and the Beatitudes are instances of *Interimsethik* in that they "define the moral disposition which justifies admission,"177 and demonstrate the Jetzt and Dann nature of the kingdom where service now will lead to rule later. 178 *Interimsethik* stresses the "immediateness of the transition from the condition of moral renewal into the super-moral perfection of the kingdom of God."179 This "expected state of perfection" does not share the assumption of modern ethics, latent or tacit as it may be, that "the conflict between good and evil must go on forever, as belonging constantly to the nature of the ethical."180 Schweitzer understands Intermsethik as the obliteration of this binary and moves the ethical "beyond the borders of good and evil."181 This is the point of the later parables like the so-called Pearl of Great Price (Matt 13:44-46). It is the quality of the pearl, which represents the *Dann* of the kingdom, which allows for the quality of the field, which represents the *letzt*, to be utterly relativized. The ethic of Jesus, then, is one in which in the *Dann* frees one from the world and prepares one to enter "unimpeded into the kingdom." His ethics are of a "completely negative" character, and, as such, "not so much an ethic as a penitential discipline."182

It is precisely as a non-ethic which makes Schweitzer's formulation doubley radical. In one sense it blurs the boundary markers of national identities. In Torah observance, for example, "Jesus did not declare himself either for or against it. "He

¹⁷⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 354.

¹⁷⁷ *Mystery*, p. 96.

¹⁷⁸ Mystery, p. 97. Schweitzer stresses the "significance of humility and service in expectation of the kingdom of God" in that they constutite the "fundamental law" of Intermsethik (Mystery, p. 76).

179 "die Unmittelbarkeit des Uebergangs aus dem Zustande der sittlichen Erneuerung in den

der übersittlichen Vollendung des Gottesreiches handelt" (Skizze, p. 20; Mystery, p. 99).

¹⁸⁰ *Mystery*, p. 103.

¹⁸¹ Mystery, pp. 101–02. The allusion to Nietzsche here is unmistakable. See Friedrich Nietzsche, Beyond Good and Evil (trans. Walter Kaufmann; New York: Vintage, 1966 [1886]); Nietzsche, The Gay Science; Friedrich Nietzsche, Daybreak: Thoughts on the Prejudices of Morality (trans. R. J. Hollingdale; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997 [1881]); and, Friedrich Nietzsche, On the Geneology of Morality and Ecce Homo (trans. Walter Kaufmann; New York: Vintage, 1967 [1887]).

¹⁸² *Quest*¹ p. 240.

recognized it simply as an existing fact without binding himself to it."¹⁸³ His "real concern" was not the Torah but the perfection of morality within the new morality. The former was "holy and inviolable" only insofar as it pointed to the latter. ¹⁸⁴ The Torah was preparatory "for the expected estate of glory."¹⁸⁵ This "accomplished condition," however, is both "super-legal" and "super-ethical" (*übergesetzlich und überethisch*). ¹⁸⁶ The "higher righteousness" of Jesus' proclamation transcends the temporal fixity of Torah, ¹⁸⁷ while synthesizing "the spirit of the letter of the Law" within *Interimsethik* in order to make one ready for the kingdom's arrival."¹⁸⁸

What is true for the Law, *mutatis mutandis*, applies to the terrestrial in general: "all earthly rule is done away, as well as the earthly human nature itself."189 Herod and Caesar are "simply earthly," and therefore exerters of godless domination. The dawn of God's dominion means an abrupt end to theirs. 190 Jesus' mere mention of this nearness is a catalyst by which a revolution of expectancy is borne within the moral community; viz., the "violent." It is the nature of this expectancy which relativizes "all earthly institutions, conditions, and benefits." They belong to the Jetzt and will either be extinguished or sublimated in the *Dann*. 191 Here again, despite his disassociations with political formulations of Jesus' ministry, his reading of the kingdom's affect upon the terrestrial is a profound politics of a similar sort. One might even call it an ironic "spiritualizing" of politics. Ironic, that is, in the sense that for all Schweitzer's railing against the spiritualizing of past *Leben Jesu Forschung*, precisely where one would expect an historical assessment of the political environment of the first century and the complex system of Roman hegemony, the historical is functionally replaced by a kind of spiritual brush to the side of what he calls "godless domination" and metaphysical moves on the doing away of earthly

_

¹⁸³ *Mystery*, p. 119.

¹⁸⁴ *Mystery*, p. 119.

¹⁸⁵ *Mystery*, p. 114.

¹⁸⁶ *Mystery*, p. 119; *Skizze*, p. 30.

¹⁸⁷ *Mystery*, p. 69.

¹⁸⁸ *Mystery*, p. 95.

¹⁸⁹ *Mystery*, p. 269.

¹⁹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 120.

¹⁹¹ *Mystery*, p. 240.

human nature. This, of course, is not necessarily a criticism of Schweitzer's move—in fact, the unfortunate reality is that he leaves it underdeveloped—but the move is suspicious when read within his bold claims that what he is doing is pure history with little recourse made to the political historical realities of the day.

Moreover, Schweitzer's "pure history," despite protestations to the contrary, is heavily influenced by modern forms of thought. 192 This, of course, is no sin—that is, unless one accuses others of losing the purely historical and claim to recover it by returning to the first century. As Schweitzer stated, the aim of *Eine Skizze* was to present Jesus in his "overwhelming heroic greatness and to impress it upon the modern age and upon the modern theology."193 Though certainly present in *Geschichte*¹, *Geschichte*² furthers this sentiment in the concluding reflections where, though "coming to us as one unknown," 194 Jesus is "retained as a kind of good-willed Nietzchean Übermensch."195 The moves of Schweitzer here seem to be guided by a similar impulse in discovering the enduringly valid within the Jesus material but guided by a different unity. Gräßer, for example, sees Jesus-as-alien to be the key move in Schweitzer's work so that his cultural conditionality could be left behind with the ultimate significance of the "person of Jesus" and his *überirdische Persönlichkeit* being retained. 196 Within this movement some peculiar tensions are raised. On the one hand, as we have mentioned throughout, Schweitzer is not the pure historian that he is constructing himself to be. For if the complexities of the first-century environs of Palestine are where the historical Jesus is to be found one would suspect at least some recourse would be made to contiguous texts of that era. For example, Josephus is a glaring omission within both the *Skizze* and the Geschichte. What is more, for as much as Schweitzer talks about the fundamental

-

¹⁹² Schweitzer was engaged in a wider social understanding and constuction of "history." Cf., e.g., Pleitner, *Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik*, pp. 1–15 and 180–205; and, Lannert, *Die Wiederentdeckung der neutestamentlichen Eschatologie durch Johannes Weiss*.

¹⁹³ "[D]er modernen Zeit und der modernen Dogmatik die Gestalt Jesu in ihrer überwältigenden heroischen Grösse vor die Seele zu führen" (*Skizze*, p. 109; *Mystery*, p. 274).

¹⁹⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 403; *Quest*² p. 487.

¹⁹⁵ Chapman, *The Coming Crisis*, p. 75.

¹⁹⁶ Gräßer, *Albert Schweitzer als Theologe* 79. See, too, Nineham, *Explorations in Theology*, p. 129.

eschatological and apocalyptic context of the first century, there are scant quotations of or even allusions to relevant literature. R. H. Charles laid into the "bizarreness" and "cocksureness" of Schweitzer's generalizations which are built upon "untempered mortar" and a "halting knowledge of apocalyptic. And, as *konsequent* as his *Eschatologie* is, Schweitzer himself does not use it as the positive tool of reconstruction as he suggests he would in the shadow of Reimarus' instrument of deconstruction. In this sense, as Sydney Ahlstrom states, Schweitzer "founded a school of biblical interpretation which he never joined." 199

What is guiding Schweitzer then? Throughout the *Skizze* and the *Geschichte(n)* Schweitzer demonstrates an interest in the great personality of Jesus. The echo of Thomas Carlyle (1795–1881) and the cult of the heroic here is quite strong.²⁰⁰ The impact of Carlyle's *On Heroes, Hero-Worship, and the Heroic in History* (1841) was great and its influence reached Wilhelm Bousset.²⁰¹ Schweitzer himself labels Bousset's work as "inspired by the spirit of Carlyle" in that it "vindicates the original force of a great Personality against the attempt to dissolve it into a congeries of contemporary conceptions."²⁰² Yet Schweitzer himself appears to be attempting to recapture the "mighty original genius" of Jesus for the restoration of German theology.²⁰³ Such a move appears equally "inspired by the spirit of Carlyle,"²⁰⁴ despite Schweitzer's implicit rejection of this.²⁰⁵

¹⁹⁷ Schweitzer appears to make an attempt at correcting this oversight in Schweitzer, *The Kingdom of God and Primitive Christianity*, pp. 1–67.

¹⁹⁸ The comments were made before the general assembly of the 1910 Church Congress. See C. Dunkley, ed., *The Official Report of the Church Congress Held at Cambridge* (London: George Allen, 1910) 74.

¹⁹⁹ Sydney E. Ahlstrom, "Continental Influence on American Christian Thought Since World War I," *American Society of Church History* 27.3 (1958) 256–72, 262. Though here he seems to associate the language of George Tyrrell's accusation of Harnack peering down the well of history only to see himself in the reflection with Schweitzer.

²⁰⁰ See, e.g., Heinrich Kahlert, *Der Held und seine Gemeinde: Untersuchungen zum Verhältnis von Stifterpersönlichkeit und Verehrergemeinschaft in der Theologie des freienProtestantismus* (Frankfurt: Peter Lang, 1984) 137–38; and Chapman, *The Coming Crisis*, pp. 75–76.

²⁰¹ Brent A. R. Hege, "Jesus Christ as Poetic Symbol: Wilhelm Bousset's Contribution to the Faith/History Debate," *Zeitschrift für Neuere Theologiegeschichte* 16.2 (2009) 197–216.

²⁰² *Quest*¹ p. 249.

 $^{^{203}}$ Quest¹ pp. 2 and 1.

²⁰⁴ On Carlyle, see John Morrow, *Thomas Carlyle* (London: Continuum, 2006).

²⁰⁵ "Carlyle's *On Heroes and Hero-Worship* is not a profound book" *Life and Thought*, p. 89.

What is more, Schweitzer demonstrates considerable recourse to Nietzsche here. ²⁰⁶ The familiarity of Schweitzer with Nietzsche before *Eine Skizze* and the *Geschichte* is beyond question. As early as 1899 in Berlin he was exposed to Nietzsche's work from the philosophical lectures of Georg Simmel (1858–1918) who was interested in Nietzsche's notion of self-transcendence. ²⁰⁷ But Nietzsche's influence was wide and considerable enough that Schweitzer would certainly have been familiar with his work or ideas before then. ²⁰⁸ In any case, B. H. Streeter has detected this Nietzschean trace and stated that Schweitzer "himself cannot quite escape the charge of modernizing, and that his own boldly-outlined portrait [of the historical Jesus] is a little like the Superman of Nietzsche dressed in Galilean robes. ²⁰⁹ This has led Henning Pleitner to suggest Schweitzer was less of an historian and more of a metaphysician, and indeed nearer the liberalism he critiques than is often noted. ²¹⁰ Indeed, as we have seen scattered throughout, there appears to be a slight Nietzschean subtext to Schweitzer's project. But again, this is no real criticism of strategy but a criticism of consistency with one's stated agenda.

3.2. The Performance of Jesus

In the previous section we looked at Schweitzer's understanding of the content of Jesus' preaching. In this section we will look at the role of Jesus' activities within the

²⁰⁶ Schweitzer would of course go on to write about Nietzsche's ethics later in Albert Schweitzer, *The Philosophy of Civilization* (Amherst: Prometheus Books, 1987) 235–48. Moreover, his medical dissertation on the psychology of Jesus may well be an implicit check to Nietzsche's account of Jesus as a "degenerate madman." See Schweitzer, *Die psychiatrische Beurteilung Jesu. Darstellung und Kritik*. The phrase "degenerate madman" is from Gregory Moore, *Nietzsche, Biology, and Metaphor* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004) 148.

²⁰⁷ See Brabazon, *Albert Schweitzer: A Biography* 86.

²⁰⁸ On the influence and legacy of Nietzsche in Germany, see Steven E. Aschheim, *The Nietzsche Legacy in Germany, 1890–1990* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1992).

²⁰⁹ B. H. Streeter, "The Historic Christ," in *Foundations: A Statement of Christian Belief in Terms of Modern Thought* (ed. B. H. Streeter; London: Macmillan, 1912), 77. See, too, the interesting work of Tim Murphy, *Nietzsche, Metaphor, Religion* (Albany: State University of New York Press, 2001) 111–42.

²¹⁰ Pleitner, *Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik am Beispiel Albert Schweitzers* pp. 230–31. Here, see James Carleton Paget, "The Religious Authority of Albert Schweitzer's Jesus," in *Scripture's Doctrine and Theology's Bible: How the New Testament Shapes Christian Dogmatics* (ed. Marcus N. A. Bockmuehl and Alan Torrance; Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2008) 75–90.

schema of *konsequente Eschatologie*. Schweitzer, to remind ourselves, sees his contribution to scholarship to be the application of eschatological to the entirety of Jesus' earthly ministry. Whereas other contributions stop short at his preaching, Schweitzer's was *konsequent*. The split we are making between preaching and performance is therefore arbitrary in many respects. Preaching is a kind of performance just as performance is a kind of preaching. Our splitting of the two are therefore analytical in purpose—though, of course, Schweitzer himself can make the distinction of thoughts, words, and actions.²¹¹ We now turn to the activity of Jesus, the performance.

Central for Schweitzer's reconstruction of Jesus' earthly life is the Gospel of Mark. In Schweitzer's reading of Mark, Jesus' public ministry lasted just short a harvest year, 212 and is "limited to the last months of his existence on earth." 213 The sum of his activity may be counted in terms of weeks. The first period extends from seedtime to harvest and the second consists of his days in Jerusalem. "Nature was God's clock." 214 The coming of the kingdom of God, for Schweitzer, is not only symbolically or analogically connected with the harvest, but also temporally. 215 The harvest was to give an "eager eschatological hope" for the culmination of the kingdom. 216 Jesus' earthly activity is an eschatological hastening, a setting in motion of the "eschatological development of history" so as to "introduce the supramundane phase of the eschatological drama." 217 The analogical and temporal parallelism completes itself with the assumption that the Baptist began in the spring, and, according to Matt 9:37–38, Jesus expected a "rich harvest" when the disciples were commissioned. "It seems like a final expression of thought contained in the parables about the seed and its promise, and finds its most natural

²¹¹ *Life and Thought*, p. 38.

²¹² Schweitzer's reason for this is that there is only one Passover journey mentioned in Mark. From this datum he confidently asserts, "we may conclude that no other Passover fell within the period of Jesus' activity as a teacher" (*Quest*¹ p. 351).

²¹³ *Mystery*, p. 253.

²¹⁴ *Mystery*, p. 256.

²¹⁵ *Quest*¹ pp. 356–57.

²¹⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 357.

²¹⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 371.

explanation in the supposition that the harvest was actually at hand." 218 Jesus, therefore, expected the "dawn of the kingdom" at harvest time. 219

Karl August von Hase (1800–90) was the first to distinguish between the two periods within Jesus' earthly activity. Schweitzer accepts this dual-period approach, but rails against the developmental theories which see Jesus first beginning with an ethical outlook and then in the second period, by way of defeat, adopting an eschatological view. In the first period, so the theory goes, the "purely ethical view" consisted of Jesus "looking for the realization of the kingdom of God through the spread and perfection of the moral-religious society which he was undertaking to establish." But his message was not received, and owing to the mounting opposition, "the eschatological conception forced itself upon him." The initial "religious-ethical ideal" had to be reconfigured as contingent upon "a cosmic catastrophe" in which God's omnipotence would vindicate and culminate Jesus' initial activity. Second continuous continuous process.

Schweitzer cannot accept this. He sees from beginning to end that "Jesus' ministry counted *only* upon the eschatological realization of the kingdom."²²² Moreover, Schweitzer turns this logic against itself in seeing the two-stage theory of Jesus' activity as consisting of a fortunate Galilean period followed by a time of defeat. The assumption behind this is "historically untenable," and the wrong way around.²²³ For in the so-called fortunate period, controversies surrounded his healing ministry (Mark 2:1–12); he was criticized for his views of fasting (Mark 2:18–22) and his activity on the Sabbath (2:23–28). Already in Mark's third chapter, his life is at risk (Mark 3:6). His prophetic call went unrecognized in his hometown (Mark 6:1–6), his

²¹⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 357.

 $^{^{219}}$ Schweitzer states, "If this genuinely 'historical' interpretation of the mystery of the kingdom of God is correct, Jesus must have expected the coming of the kingdom at harvest time. And that is just what he did expect" ($Quest^1$ p. 358). Here we see a bit of what he accused Brandt; viz., turning his *if* into an historical fact ($Quest^1$ p. 258).

²²⁰ *Quest*¹ pp. 61, 214–15.

²²¹ *Mystery*, pp. 85–86.

²²² Mystery, p. 92.

²²³ Mystery, p. 81.

family called him mad (Mark 3:20–22, 31–35), the religious authorities stymied his every move charging him as being in league with Satan (Mark 3:23–30), and the crowds failed to understand his message. "Such are the well known events of the *successful period*!"²²⁴ For Schweitzer, the successes only began with the commissioning of the twelve.

3.2.1. The Commissioning of the Twelve

The hinge upon which the dual-stage of Jesus' earthly activity turns is the commissioning of the twelve (Matt 10:1–42; Mark 6:6b–13). Jesus expects that the kingdom's arrival is at the doorstep, and the "parousia of the son of man, which is logically and temporally identical with the dawn of the kingdom, will take place before they have completed a hasty journey through the cities of Israel to announce it." The so-called "success" of the first period is actually misappropriated: successes really "first begin with the mission of the twelve." The very fact that twelve are chosen suggests symbolic and indeed dogmatic significance. He chooses them as those who are destined to hurl the firebrands into the world, and are afterwards, as those who have been the comrades of the unrecognized messiah, before he came to his kingdom, to be his associates in ruling and judging it." Light in the commission of the service of the unrecognized messiah,

The twelve were sent out to give "a flying proclamation throughout Israel." As teachers their doctrine was singular: the kingdom of God was near. ²³⁰ This nearness called for repentance and the warning of judgment. ²³¹ And as such, he "intimated to the disciples as he sent them upon their mission that the son of man would appear before they had gone through all the cities of Israel" (Matt 10:23). ²³² The disciples were endowed with authority over the demonic (Matt 10:1) and were to "give the

²²⁴ *Mystery*, p. 65.

²²⁵ Cf. Subilia, *Il Regno Di Dio*, p. 155.

²²⁶ *Quest*² p. 327.

²²⁷ Mystery, p. 66.

²²⁸ Cf. Sanders, *Jesus and Judaism*, p. 96.

²²⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 371.

²³⁰ Mystery, p. 88.

²³¹ *Mystery*, p. 90.

²³² *Mystery*, p. 136.

last blow" to evil.²³³ Schweitzer sees a strong connection with the persecution texts (Matt 10:16–25; 26–33; 34–39) and the commissioning of the twelve. Mark reports a scant and hurried sequence of Jesus commissioning the disciples (6:7–11), offering a brief summary of their exploits (6:12–13), and then immediately follows with the murdering of the Baptist at the hands of secular authorities (6:14–29). Matthew significantly expands the commissioning with respect to warnings of coming persecutions and the charge to persevere until the end (Matt 10:16–42). These warnings and persecutions are enacted with the near referent of the Baptist first in prison (Matt 11:2–19) and then with reports of his death (Matt 14:1–12). In other words, the messianic woes and threats of persecution spelled out in Matt 10:16–39 were about real-time happenings, not an envisioned future when Jesus would depart from their company.

These so-called messianic woes, then, represent the "last uprisings of the world." The twelve are sent out "as the men of violence who are to deal the last blow." The moral renewal had not hastened the *Endzeit* so the commissioning was Jesus' "last effort for bringing about the kingdom." The disciples returned, enthusiastic and triumphant in many respects, but the kingdom did not come. Time kept marching on. This failure to launch is the "first eschatological delay and postponement" and became "momentous for the fate of the Gospel tradition." This episode is unintelligible apart from the eschatological environs of expectancy, and subsequent tradition has been blinded by this oversight. The report of the twelve was that "all was ready." The failure of the kingdom's arrival did not equate to a failure of the disciples. The power of evil appeared to be wounded as the evil spirits were subject to their authority (cf. Mark 6:13). The crowds continued to grow in their expectancy—as evidenced by the multitude texts (e.g., Mark 6:30–44; 8:1–10)—but the kingdom delayed.

²³³ Mystery, p. 257.

²³⁴ Mystery, p. 144.

²³⁵ *Mystery*, p. 261.

²³⁶ Mystery, p. 264.

The so-called miracle of the feeding of the five thousand has been "distorted into miracle" (Mark 6:30–44).²³⁷ It was instead a "cultus-meal" improvised by Jesus along the seashore as a foretaste of the messianic banquet.²³⁸ The gathering of the crowd thus takes on "an eschatological character." It was an act of his messianic consciousness that replaced the customary and mundane with "a sacred ceremonial meal."²³⁹ The meal was intended to be shared with his disciples in solitude (Mark 6:31). When the disciples returned to report their triumph (Mark 6:30) it came immediately upon news of the Baptist's death (Mark 6:14–29).

This presented a problem within Jesus' mind. The promise of Matt 10:23 remained awkwardly unfulfilled at the disciples' return. "The actual history disavowed the dogmatic history." Jesus urgently needed to retreat and come to an understanding of two historical happenings. Why was his designate as Forerunner murdered by secular authorities *before* the "messianic time" arrived? And why was the kingdom still slow in appearing despite "the tokens of its dawning" being present? It was this failure to launch which marks the first "historical" occurrence for Jesus; "the central event which closed the former period of his activity and gave the coming period a new character." The answer comes from the scriptures: God brings about the kingdom without the general Affliction. 243

Before turning to Schweitzer's "answer" we must consider the problem a bit more. Schweitzer's move here raises at least three tensions and one possible embarrassment for *konsequente Eschatologie*. First, Schweitzer is proposing a kind of development by a different name. As we will see below, Schweitzer is careful to guard against developmental theories within Jesus' messianic consciousness.²⁴⁴

²³⁷ *Mystery*, p. 170.

²³⁸ *Mystery*, p. 171.

²³⁹ *Mystery*, p. 172.

²⁴⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 359.

²⁴¹ *Mystery*, p. 265.

²⁴² *Quest*¹ p. 359.

²⁴³ *Mystery*, pp. 265–66.

²⁴⁴ *Mystery*, pp. 223–24; *Quest*¹ p. 388.

From his baptism to his crucifixion his consciousness was the same. But the deployment of strategy is significantly altered with the return of the disciples. Second, again we see a rather loose alliance with the early Strauss and Weiss along the lines of agency. Jesus appears to be forcing the hand of the kingdom's arrival through the gathering of the host of penitents and the commissioning of the twelve. Third, and perhaps slightly embarrassing for *konsequente Eschatologie*, Schweitzer does not seem bothered by the fact that not only did the twelve *return*—did not Jesus say that they would *not return*?—but that they returned to *Jesus before the kingdom arrived*. The failure of the kingdom's arrival with the return of the disciples is a critical embarrassment for the Jesus of *konsequente Eschatologie*. Nothing is unlocked with Schweitzer's key here apart from a development in the strategy of Jesus' messianic vocation—which would seem integral to a development in Jesus' messianic consciousness. In any case, just as the kingdom failed to launch with the return of the twelve, Schweitzer' *konsequente Eschatologie* fails to deliver precisely where it needs to do so.

3.2.2. Healings and Exorcisms

Schweitzer's "answer" to this tension is with his peculiar reading of the tribulation. Before looking at how the *general Affliction* was going to be avoided, it is important to understand the role of healings and exorcisms within Jesus' ministry and the deputy authority given to the disciples in their commissioning. The disciples were not sent on a mission of kingdom "extension" but one of announcing its hurried arrival.²⁴⁵ Signs and wonders, naturally, come under the double-view of *Jetzt* and *Dann*.²⁴⁶

Schweitzer understands that "miracles had nothing to do with the messiah, since no one expected the messiah to come as an earthly miracle-worker in the present age." Miracles were instead a sign of the Forerunner (cf. Mal 4:5; Joel 2:37). "The

²⁴⁶ Mystery, p. 256.

²⁴⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 239.

²⁴⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 372.

Forerunner without miracles in an unmiraculous age was therefore unthinkable."²⁴⁸ The assumption of messianic significance of miracles within John, for example, demonstrate for Schweitzer a loss of the eschatological perspective.²⁴⁹ But "genuine eschatology" excludes any messianic interpretation of the miracles.²⁵⁰ They function as exhibitions of mercy "intended to awaken repentance," or indications of the nearness of the kingdom's arrival (e.g. Matt 12:28).²⁵¹ They are connected not with the messiah but with the kingdom.²⁵²

The disciples' reporting of their authority over unclean spirits (Matt 10:1) are signs by which they "are to perceive that the power of ungodliness is coming to an end and the morning-glow of the kingdom of God already dawns." This deputy authority is an expression of Jesus' own miraculous work which signifies "the binding of the power of ungodliness and rendering it harmless." As was the case of repentance and ethics, exorcisms and healings stand in a "causal relation" with the kingdom's arrival. Jesus in this sense is the "man of violence" who through his assault of the empire of evil "compels the approach of the kingdom." It is in the binding of this evil when its dominion will crumble. In this sense the disciples are endowed with authority over evil to deliver its death knell. These "signs" signified a nearness more than the purely temporal and chronological. "By his victory over the demons he was conscious of influencing the coming of it."

These demonstrations represent for Schweitzer the "only sense in which Jesus thinks of the kingdom as present." These outliers function as challenges to the

²⁴⁸ *Mystery*, p. 141.

²⁴⁹ *Quest*¹ pp. 347–48.

²⁵⁰ *Quest*¹ pp. 347–48.

²⁵¹ *Quest*¹ pp. 347–48.

²⁵² *Quest*¹ p. 348.

²⁵³ *Mystery*, p. 89.

²⁵⁴ *Mystery*, p. 144.

²⁵⁵ Cf. *Mystery*, p. 144. This statement here needs to be held in tension with his comments regarding how Jesus and the Baptist are *not* the men of violence referred to in Matt 11:12 but instead gather a "host of penitents" who are the violent ones. Cf. *Quest*¹ p. 357; *Geschichte*¹ p. 355 cited earlier.

²⁵⁶ *Mystery*, p. 144.

²⁵⁷ Mystery, p. 143.

Pharisees precisely on this ground (Matt 12:25–28)—the kingdom of God *is* present in Jesus' teaching and activity and therefore poses a serious challenge to the Pharisees' objection of Jesus' teaching and activity.²⁵⁸ This activity is not a mode of establishing but an expression of arrival, recognizing the "paralysis of the kingdom of Satan."²⁵⁹ This bald admission by Schweitzer does not seem to trouble him as much as it should. Even a singular instance in the face of a theory which claims to be *konsequent* is problematic.²⁶⁰ Schweitzer's hermeneutical criterion for discerning what is historical and what is not seems to lose traction with this admission.

Perhaps a denial of this passage's historical veracity would have been in order.

Nevertheless, this singular admission is a significant stumbling block for *konsequente Eschatologie* and calls into question its ability to deal with other related texts.

3.2.3. The Victorious Funeral Procession

Even though the disciples appeared to be triumphant in their mission and the effects of the loosening of evil's tyranny was demonstrated in the healings and exorcisms, the kingdom delayed. Why this failure to launch? This is more of a problem than Schweitzer allows. His singular key cannot turn the stubborn lock of the disciples' return. Though Schweitzer sees a consistency in the vocational aim of Jesus, he concedes a pointed shift of emphasis after the commissioning of the twelve. It was after the first "historical" occurrence of the failure for the kingdom to arrive after the disciples' return which led Jesus to a refocus of mission.

This refocusing centered on his relationship to the great Affliction. "A time of unheard of affliction must precede the coming of the kingdom. Out of these woes the messiah will be brought to birth." These afflictions are "the last desperate attack of the powers of this world at enmity with God, which shall sweep like a flood over

²⁵⁹ Ouest¹ p. 239.

120

_

²⁵⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 239.

 $^{^{260}}$ That is not to say detrimental, but it is certainly a problem which Schweitzer brushes over.

²⁶¹ Mystery, p. 219.

those who in expectation of the kingdom represent the divine power in the godless world."²⁶² It was while in solitude, reflecting on the return of the twelve and the death of the Baptist, that Jesus became convinced that the general Affliction was going to be replaced with his own personal affliction. It was through his affliction that his death becomes substitutionary. His own personal affliction substitutes for the general Affliction. In this sense, ὁ υἱὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου οὐκ ἦλθεν διακονηθῆναι ἀλλὰ διακονῆσαι καὶ δοῦναι τὴν ψυχὴν αὐτοῦ λύτρον ἀντὶ πολλῶν (Mark 10:45).

The polemical edge to this reading is directed against past scholarship which saw the public ministry of Jesus as a revelation of the present-ness of the kingdom as "a dispensation of the forgiveness of sin or as the morally developing society."²⁶³ But in Jesus' death, Schweitzer sees "a real significance."²⁶⁴ The great fact of delay on the heels of the disciples' return led Jesus to the startling realization: it was his great affliction—in lieu of the failure of the general Affliction to arrive—which would constrain the kingdom to arrive.²⁶⁵ Jesus therefore begins his journey to Jerusalem, "the second period" of his public ministry,²⁶⁶ as a "funeral march to victory."²⁶⁷

The single event of the so-called triumphal entry (Mark 11:1–11; Matt 21:1–11; Lk 19:28–44) is split between the secret of Jesus' messianic consciousness and the expectation of the crowd. The crowds meet him with great excitement and expectation for the kingdom's arrival, 268 but they recognize him not as the messiah but the Forerunner, \dot{o} προφήτης Ἰησοῦς \dot{o} ἀπὸ Ναζαρὲθ τῆς Γαλιλαίας (Matt 21:11). In other words, not as the messiah but as Elijah. His "entrance into Jerusalem, therefore, was an ovation not to the messiah but to the Forerunner." Yet Jesus made messianic preparations for his entry. The entry therefore betrays messianic

²⁶² *Mystery*, p. 220.

²⁶³ *Mystery*, p. 82.

²⁶⁴ *Mystery*, p. 82.

²⁶⁵ *Mystery*, p. 234.

²⁰³ *Mystery*, p. 234.

²⁶⁶ *Mystery*, p. 268.

²⁶⁷ *Mystery*, p. 267.

²⁶⁸ *Mystery*, p. 268.

²⁶⁹ *Mystery*, p. 158.

features. His riding in on the ass was not owing to physical fatigue but his messianic consciousness which intended secretly to fulfill Zech 9:9.²⁷⁰ As with the sending forth of the disciples, the explanation of the Baptist's true identity, and at the feeding of the multitude, Jesus' messianic consciousness reveals itself in his actions—this time in his entry into Jerusalem. The entry was messianic for Jesus, not for the crowds.²⁷¹ Dogmatic history is driving actual historical events.

3.3. The Complexities of Messiahship

The preaching and performance of Jesus demonstrate the complexities of messiahship. "If Jesus really regarded himself as messiah, how comes it that he acted as if he were not messiah?" It is through this question that Schweitzer explicates the mystery of Jesus' messiahship. He takes as his point of departure Wrede's misassortment of the circle of mysteries. For Wrede, the inner-circle of mystery which coordinates everything is the messianic secret. But there is a second mystery missed by Wrede that has nothing to do with messianism as such but with the kingdom of God. Wrede's mistake, Schweitzer contends, "consists in endeavoring by violent methods to subsume the more general, the mystery of the kingdom of God, under the more special, the mystery of the messiahship, instead of inserting the latter as the smaller circle, within the wider, the secret of the kingdom of God." 273

For Schweitzer, the messiah was an expression and function *within* the kingdom. And, as we have seen, since Jesus preached a future kingdom, his messianic understanding must be future as well.²⁷⁴ What is more, just as the eschatological understanding of the kingdom was wholly within a first-century Palestinian imaginary, so also was the messiah. Jesus' messiahship was completely within the "popular conception" (*volkstümliche Anschauung*).²⁷⁵ And the "Jewish messiah is

²⁷⁰ *Quest*¹ pp. 393–94.

²⁷¹ *Quest*¹ p. 394.

²⁷² *Mystery*, p. 4.

²⁷³ *Ouest*¹ p. 349.

²⁷⁴ *Mystery*, p. 135.

²⁷⁵ *Mystery*, p. 210; *Skizze*, p. 76.

essentially a glorious being who shall appear in the last time."²⁷⁶ The "late-Jewish eschatology" of the day saw the messiah as a "supernatural ruler of the supernatural kingdom of God."²⁷⁷ The messianic titular, therefore, is supernatural and future in aspect.²⁷⁸ In this sense, Jesus was the "future messiah" (*der kommende Messias*),²⁷⁹ convinced that "only at the appearance of the messianic kingdom," will he be "manifested as the messiah" (*als der Messias offenbar werden wird*).²⁸⁰ And though for Schweitzer the messiah is entirely future within the future-kingdom, in all Jesus' acts and speech-acts, "the messianic consciousness shines forth."²⁸¹ These "deeds of Jesus' messianic consciousness" (*Taten des messianischen Selbstbewußtseins Jesu*)²⁸² are not "messianic functions" as such,²⁸³ but the authoritative self-reference in, say, the Sermon on the Mount or the Beatitudes, that hint he thought of himself as the messiah designate.²⁸⁴

3.3.1. Jesus' Relationship to the Baptist

As we saw earlier, the crowds welcomed Jesus to Jerusalem as the Forerunner. When Jesus identifies the Baptist as Elijah (Matt 11:14–15), he "was the first and the only person who attributed this office to him."²⁸⁵ At the time, the crowds were not in expectation of the messiah, but the Forerunner.²⁸⁶ And the people understood Jesus to be the "one who announces the imminent coming of the kingdom of God."²⁸⁷ It was not until the confession before the Council and Caiaphas that his messianic secret became known (Matt 26:57–68).²⁸⁸ It is this plurality of perception regarding the relationship of Jesus and the Baptist, then, that needs to be addressed. There are

²⁷⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 387.

²⁷⁷ *Quest*² p. xlv.

²⁷⁸ *Quest*² pp. xxxviii, xxxix.

²⁷⁹ *Quest*² p. 338; *Geschichte*² p. 421.

²⁸⁰ *Life and Thought*, p. 39; *Leben und Denken*, p. 31.

²⁸¹ "Und doch blitzt überall aus seinem Reden und Tun das messianische Selbstbewußtsein heraus" (*Geschichte*¹ p. 369; *Quest*¹ p. 372).

²⁸² Geschichte¹ p. 369.

²⁸³ *Quest*¹ p. 239.

²⁸⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 372.

²⁸⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 373.

²⁸⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 374.

²⁸⁷ *Life and Thought*, p. 39.

²⁸⁸ *Mystery*, p. 163.

at least three perspectives in view: that of the crowd, that of the Baptist, and that of lesus himself.

One could suspect Schweitzer of reductionism in his treatment of the crowds, but by it he more or less means popular expectation. The crowds could not have thought the Baptist was the Forerunner, according to Schweitzer, for at least three reasons: he did not describe himself as such; he performed no miracle; and, finally, he himself pointed to the coming of the Forerunner.²⁸⁹ Schweitzer contends that the miraculous was expectant as contemporaneous with the Forerunner (cf. Mal 4:5; Joel 2:37). "The Forerunner without miracles in an unmiraculous age was therefore unthinkable."²⁹⁰ The Baptist performed no signs and wonders while Jesus did. "He was only a natural man without any evidence of supernatural power."²⁹¹ The Baptist, then, was seen as one who preached the nearness of the kingdom, while Jesus was seen as the one who confirmed its nearness with signs and wonders.²⁹² The baptism unto repentance and the offer of the forgiveness of sins by the Baptist was a proleptic realization of eschatological reality: a sign in the present of that which will be made manifest at the Judgment.²⁹³

Even for John his self-understanding seems unspectacular. At the baptism scene, he states,

Έγω μὲν ὑμᾶς βαπτίζω ἐν ὕδατι εἰς μετάνοιαν, ὁ δὲ ὀπίσω μου ἐρχόμενος ἰσχυρότερός μού ἐστιν, οὖ οὐκ εἰμὶ ἱκανὸς τὰ ὑποδήματα βαστάσαι· αὐτὸς ὑμᾶς βαπτίσει ἐν πνεύματι άγίω καὶ πυρί· οὖ τὸ πτύον ἐν τῆ χειρὶ αὐτοῦ καὶ διακαθαριεῖ τὴν ἄλωνα αὐτοῦ καὶ συνάξει τὸν σῖτον αὐτοῦ εἰς τὴν ἀποθήκην, τὸ δὲ ἄχυρον κατακαύσει πυρὶ ἀσβέστω (Matt 3:11–12).

Schweitzer sees a hint here in the claim that John expected Jesus to carry on a baptism ἐν πνεύματι ἁγί ω καὶ πυρί (v.11). John's consisted of water, Jesus' was to be of fire. But this "cannot apply to the messiah" Schweitzer contends because

²⁹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 141.

²⁸⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 374.

²⁹¹ *Quest*¹ p. 374.

²⁹² *Mystery*, p. 141.

²⁹³ *Quest*² p. 340.

nowhere is the messiah expected to baptize. This unfortunate literalism confuses the referent of the symbolism. It is not the baptism qua baptism that is being compared but the activities of the two qua ministry. 294 In other words, Jesus' ministry is an altogether different entity. But for John, according to Schweitzer, δ δ è δ ioπίσω μου ἐρχόμενος (Matt 3:11) is not the messiah but the Elijah figure of the last days.

Only for Jesus was John the Elijah figure of the last days. This, of course, was a "necessary inference" from his messianic consciousness.²⁹⁵ The disciples are let in on this secret when after the transfiguration scene (Mark 9:2–8) they ask why the scribes say Elijah must come first (Mark 9:11). Jesus informs them that the Baptist was the Elijah of the last day, "with whose appearance the hand of the world clock nears the fateful hour."²⁹⁶ In this revelation Jesus unveiled "almost the whole mystery of the kingdom of God, and nearly disclosed the secret of his messiahship."²⁹⁷ This eschatological office of the Baptist, then, is a construct of Jesus' messianic consciousness.²⁹⁸ This naming is yet another example for Schweitzer of Jesus dragging and forcing eschatological events "into the framework of the actual occurrences."²⁹⁹ Dogmatic history is yet again determining actual history.

From an eschatological standpoint, the Baptist as Elijah was as unrecognizable as the messiahship of Jesus. The two were mutually informing. The Baptist had to be the Forerunner because Jesus was the messiah. And Jesus could only claim to be the messiah because the Forerunner had made ready his appearance.³⁰⁰ The distinguishing mark between the two is Jesus' "consciousness of being the messiah"

²⁹⁴ One thinks here of the aside from Samuel Taylor Coleridge, "It is among the miseries of the present age that it recognizes no medium between literal and metaphorical" Samual Taylor Coleridge, *Biographia Literaria: Or, Biographical Sketches of My Literary Life and Opinions and Two Lay Sermons* (Elibron Classics Series; Boston: Adamant Media Corporation, 2004 [1817]) 322.

²⁹⁵ *Mystery*, p. 147.

²⁹⁶ *Mystery*, p. 150.

²⁹⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 375.

²⁹⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 376.

²⁹⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 376.

³⁰⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 383.

which awoke at his baptism. But this *being* is a *becoming*. The "messiahship which he claims is not a present office; its exercise belongs to the future."³⁰¹ Schweitzer's understanding of the epiphenomenon of this "conscious awakening" is not discussed but we get a hint of how Schweitzer understands this in his treatment of the Davidic genealogies of Matt 1:1–17 and Lk 2:23–31. Though these chronologies were drafted later and are most likely historically spurious, it does not necessarily follow that Jesus' family did not have Davidic lineage.³⁰² In the so-called triumphal entry there seems to be a presupposition of possessing Davidic lineage.³⁰³ Schweitzer sees it as "conceivable up to a point that an outstanding religious personality of Davidic descent could see himself as the chosen one."³⁰⁴ It is therefore time "to consider seriously whether it was not rather Jesus who held himself to be the messiah because he was descended from David."³⁰⁵ Though we have no record of how Jesus came to see himself as the messiah, Schweitzer does think we are not without some traces. These are the traces of Jesus' messianic consciousness.

3.3.2. The Secret of Jesus' Messianic Consciousness

Schweitzer states that we possess "no psychology" of Jesus.³⁰⁶ Wrede is certainly in the background here who was deeply suspicious of any attempt at "recovering" the a psychology of Jesus. As Wrede states, whatever "is alleged to be psychology amounts to an accumulation of partly arbitrary and partly inconceivable assumptions called in to help out in the emergency."³⁰⁷ In other words, psychology tends to be the *deus ex machina* of interpretive impasse. Though in fundamental agreement with Wrede here, this does not prevent Schweitzer from attempting to explicate what might have been Jesus' messianic consciousness. Indeed, despite his rude dismissal of Schleiermacher,³⁰⁸ Schweitzer shares his insistence that external events are less

³⁰¹ *Quest*¹ p. 383.

³⁰² *Quest*² p. 317.

³⁰³ *Quest*¹ p. 395.

³⁰⁴ *Quest*² p. 319.

³⁰⁵ *Quest*² p. 319.

³⁰⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 8.

³⁰⁷ Wiliam Wrede, *The Messianic Secret* (trans. J. C. G. Greig; London: James Clarke & Co Ltd, 1971 [1901]) 31.

³⁰⁸ *Quest*¹ pp. 58–67.

significant to the inscape of psychological happenings.³⁰⁹ Jesus' actions are prompted by his messianic consciousness, 310 and this consciousness "underlay all the while his preaching of the kingdom of God."311 The complexities of Jesus' messianic consciousness for Schweitzer become his means of critically retrieving the dogmatic history of Jesus which has been covered by the fateful shift of perspective. That is, at his baptism "the secret of his existence was disclosed to him—namely, that he was the one whom God had destined to be the messiah."312 Why Jesus kept this designation secret "cannot be answered with any accuracy."313 But part of the reason is that the secret of his existence remained secretive "not merely because he had forbidden it to be spoken," but because by its very nature it was secret. This "nature," of course, is as such because its realization is wholly future.³¹⁴ His messianic consciousness is difficult to grasp by terms such as "identity, continuity, and potentiality" as "none of these modern conceptions can render the consciousness of Jesus as the disciples understood it."315 It cannot be illustrated or explained. Only the eschatological view can be explained. The sources "assert that Jesus felt himself to be the messiah; and yet from their presentation of his life it does not appear that he ever publicly claimed to be so."317

The difficulty for us in understanding this problem is in our inability to inhabit the tensive nest of *Jetzt und Dann*.³¹⁸ This state of double consciousness functions as a critical agenda to shed light on the problems of Jesus' messiahship. With this double consciousness it is possible to "conjecture what kind of messianic consciousness his must have been." And from this move Schweitzer thinks he can deduce from Jesus'

³⁰⁹ On Schleiermacher's hermeneutics and his grammatical and psychological interpretation, see Friedrich Schleiermacher, *Hermeneutics and Criticism and Other Writings* (Cambridge Texts in the History of Philosophy; trans. Andrew Bowie; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998).

³¹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 172.

³¹¹ *Mystery*, p. 127.

³¹² *Mystery*, p. 254; cf. p. 127.

³¹³ *Quest*² p. 319

³¹⁴ *Mystery*, p. 186.

³¹⁵ *Mystery*, p. 186.

³¹⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 367.

³¹⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 7.

³¹⁸ *Mystery*, p. 187.

activity underlying aims and agendas.³¹⁹ He was a messiah "who during his public ministry would not be one, did not need to be, and might not be, for the sake of fulfilling his mission!"³²⁰ This secret of Jesus messianic consciousness "created alike the events and their connexion."³²¹ To understand this secret, then, "is to understand his life."³²²

An example of this history-creation of Jesus' messianic consciousness is seen in the so-called miraculous feeding stories (e.g., Mark 6:30–44). The supper by the lake has been "distorted into a miracle," when it was instead a "veiled eschatological sacrament," and became the "sacrament of the eschatological community." As the future messiah the meal is transformed, without the crowd's knowledge, by the messianic consciousness of Jesus into a proleptic realization of the eschatological reality of the messianic feast.

The complexities of Jesus' messiahship are furthered within the sources in that they were composed this side of the "fateful shifting of perspective." That is, after the death of Jesus, the Gospel writers made Jesus the messiah *before* the messianic age. "Gospel history" was understood from this point of view and therefore shrouds the secret further. The messiahship of which Jesus became aware at his baptism was "not a possession, nor a mere object of expectation." It was within the eschatological conception that it was an implied "matter of course" that he would become what he was "destined" to be. There could therefore be no self-claiming of "I am the

³¹⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 8; *Quest*² p. 334.

³²⁰ *Mystery*, pp. 134–35.

³²¹ *Quest*¹ p. 395.

³²² *Mystery*, p. 6.

³²³ *Mystery*, p. 170.

³²⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 379.

³²⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 381.

³²⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 376.

³²⁷ *Mystery*, pp. 211–12.

³²⁸ *Mystery*, p. 214.

³²⁹ *Mystery*, p. 223.

messiah";³³⁰ only actions which sprung from a messianic consciousness which was "futuristic".³³¹ Jesus was not yet what he was to be:³³² "the messiah that is to be."³³³

After the revelation of the messianic secret at the baptism (Mark 1:9-11; Matt 3:13-17),³³⁴ the sharing of this secret is always connected with conditions of "great eschatological excitement" such as the transfiguration.³³⁵ But in order to make the narrative of the transfiguration coherent—that is, as being a revelation of Jesus' messiahship—Schweitzer rearranges the sequence of the transfiguration with the confession at Caesarea Philippi.³³⁶ Schweitzer seeks the trace of this literary rearrangement in Mark 7:37 where Jesus "is suddenly transferred from the north to Decapolis" and in Mark 8:14ff. which refer to the two feedings of the multitude.³³⁷ Peter's declaration to Jesus' of σὺ εἶ ὁ χριστός (Mark 8:29) as it currently stands is anachronistic. The original *Sitz im Leben* of the transfiguration belongs within his days in Bethsaida, "and originally followed immediately upon the crossing of the lake, after the feeding of the multitude." It was after the six days of being surrounded by the crowds that the transfiguration occurred instead of the six days after the confession at Caesarea Philippi as it currently stands. 338 If this is the case, the difficulties of Peter's confession "are cleared up in a moment." Peter confesses who Jesus "really is." 339 The transfiguration has been handed down to us "in the form of a miracle-tale,"340 when in reality it is "nothing else but the revelation of the secret of messiaship to the three."341 Prior to this, no one recognized him as such.342 Outliers such as Matt 9:27–31; 12:23; 14:33; 15:22 "are peculiar to Matthew and

³³⁰ *Mystery*, p. 201.

³³¹ *Mystery*, p. 188

³³² *Mystery*, p. 185.

³³³ *Mystery*, p. 189; cf. *Skizze*, p. 65: "So stand er als werdender Messias mitten drin in der messianischen Erwartung seines Volkes."

³³⁴ E.g., *Quest*² p. 316.

³³⁵ *Mystery*, p. 182.

 $^{^{336}}$ *Quest*¹ p. 383. Elsewhere Schweitzer calls this discovery as "one of the greatest advances in the study of the subject" (*Quest*¹ p. 220).

³³⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 385.

³³⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 385; cf. *Mystery*, p. 180.

³³⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 385.

³⁴⁰ *Mystery*, p. 181.

³⁴¹ *Mystery*, pp. 180–81.

³⁴² *Mystery*, p. 128.

belong to a secondary literary stratum" and bear no importance for the history of Jesus—"but a great deal for the history of the history of Jesus."³⁴³ Other outliers such as the declarations of the demoniacs are unproblematic as they were ignored by the people as the stuff of crazy-talk (e.g., Mark 1:24, 57; 3:11),³⁴⁴ and his use of the son of man language was done in such a way that no one "could suppose that he assumed for himself the dignity of the son of man in Daniel."³⁴⁵ Jesus' messianic secret was not voluntarily shared, then; rather, "it was wrung from him by the pressure of events."³⁴⁶ Schweitzer's rearrangement here feels less like a turn of the master key of *konsequente Eschatologie* than it does the wielding of an Alexandrian sword which cuts through knotty textual problems instead of untying them.

In any case, Schweitzer's construction of the messianic consciousness is polemical in that he is careful to guard against developmental theories of an evolving awareness in favor of the constancy of Jesus' messianic consciousness. This is particularly the case in his understanding of the Passion. His "character did not undergo an 'evolution' through the acceptance" of this idea—it was there from beginning to end.³⁴⁷ As we have seen, however, there are several stages at which development creeps into Schweitzer's construction of Jesus' vocational strategies and aims.

Schweitzer's strategy around this perceived tension is that the meaning of the Passion within Jesus' messianic consciousness has been blurred by the shifting of perspective. As we have seen, Schweitzer makes recourse to this strategy at several key points. According to the eschatological view, the cross was "merely a transitional event." The cross-event, within the memory of the early church, however, shifted from the transitional moment to the central fact of Christianity and proved "fatal to the early Christian eschatology." From "Paul to Ritschl," then, the

343 M

³⁴³ *Mystery*, p. 129.

³⁴⁴ *Mystery*, p. 129.

³⁴⁵ *Mystery*, p. 130.

³⁴⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 386.

³⁴⁷ *Mystery*, pp. 223–24; *Quest*¹ p. 388.

³⁴⁸ *Mystery*, p. 248.

³⁴⁹ *Mystery*, p. 245.

"significance of the Passion" is lost because such theologies "proceed upon an entirely different assumption" than was present within the messianic consciousness. Jesus sets his death in a "temporal-causal connection" with the eschatological realization of the kingdom. His Passion was not of the ethical mold of modern theology, but "hyper-ethical" (überethische). Schweitzer is concerned in Eine Skizze with "why Jesus now suddenly counts his death necessary, and in what sense he conceives it as a saving act. He saw the resolve to suffer and die as dogmatic and therefore unhistorical; konsequente Eschatologie, however, sees this as historical precisely because it is dogmatic.

Schweitzer maintains that the "Synoptical texts do not explain how the idea of the Passion forced itself upon Jesus and what it meant to him." And it appears that Jesus himself struggled with its realization. If, as we saw, the Passion was part of the messianic consciousness from the beginning, why the wavering in Gethsemane (Mark 14:32–42; Matt 26:36–46)? The necessity of his death is "grounded in dogma" not external forces. But above the "dogmatic eschatological necessity," stands "the omnipotence of God, which is bound by no limitations." Schweitzer therefore sees the hesitancy "grounded in the divine will itself," and places "the messianic drama" (*messianische Drama*) within a wider "divine drama" (*göttliche Drama*). Here again, sadly, Schweitzer's thought is not developed.

_

 $^{^{350}}$ Mystery, p. 244. It is important in this sense for Schweitzer to guard against alleged Paulinisms within the Synoptic tradition regarding the Passion. In his view, no such influence can be seen (Mystery, pp. 70–73).

 $^{^{351}}$ Mystery, p. 80. Schweitzer calls the placing of the thought of the Passion within "its proper eschatological setting as an act of atonement" nothing less than "an historical achievement without parallel" ($Quest^1$ p. 171).

³⁵² *Mystery*, pp. 81–82; *Skizze*, p. 12.

³⁵³ *Mystery*, p. 3.

³⁵⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 387.

³⁵⁵ *Mystery*, p. 59.

³⁵⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 392.

⁻⁻⁻ Quest p. 592.

³⁵⁷ *Mystery*, p. 227.

³⁵⁸ *Mystery*, p. 227; *Skizze*, p. 85.

³⁵⁹ *Mystery*, p. 226; *Skizze*, p. 84.

The so-called betrayal of Jesus therefore is not a sign of external forces exerting their control, but part of the wider messianic drama within the divine drama. The betrayal itself was the betrayal of Jesus' messianic secret by Peter and Judas:³⁶⁰ Peter making known the secret to the wider twelve at Caesarea Philippi (Mark 8:27–30; Matt 16:13–20);³⁶¹ and Judas to the high priest.³⁶² The sudden possession of the messianic secret at the trial of Jesus was the condemnation of Jesus-as-messiah "although he never appeared in that role."³⁶³ Jesus was crucified, but, again, his death was not outside of his control. As we saw earlier, Schweitzer sees Jesus' journey to Jerusalem as a victorious funeral march.

Why then did Jesus go to the capital to die? Schweitzer here introduces the broader conception of the Great Affliction into Jesus' messianic consciousness. 364 The tribulation was to precede the appearing of the son of man. 365 Jesus could not discuss the appearing or revelation of himself as the son of man without first warning his disciples of the eschatological tribulation which must precede it. 366 "The kingdom could not come until the debt which weighted upon the world was discharged." 367 Tribulation and judgment were to precede the kingdom. 368 It was therefore a "maxim" during this period "that whosoever would reign with the coming messiah must suffer with Jesus." 369 All must pass through the messianic woes, the "time of unheard of affliction." 370 The preaching of the kingdom therefore "brought into sharp prominence the thought of the Affliction of the last times." 371

³⁶⁰ Cf. *Quest*¹ pp. 386, 396.

 $^{^{361}}$ Schweitzer would understand Matt 16:23 as Peter's forcing of Jesus' messianism—to—be into the present.

³⁶² *Quest*¹ p. 396.

³⁶³ *Mystery*, p. 218.

³⁶⁴ For an excellent study along these lines, see Brant Pitre, *Jesus, the Tribulation, and the End of the Exile: Restoration Eschatology and the Origin of the Atonement* (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2005).

³⁶⁵ Cf. *Quest*¹ p. 362.

³⁶⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 386.

³⁶⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 390.

³⁶⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 240.

³⁶⁹ *Mystery*, p. 227.

 $^{^{370}}$ Mystery, p. 219. Schweitzer states, "in no other wise could the events of the last times be imagined."

³⁷¹ *Mystery*, p. 219.

Against the majority understanding of seeing the persecutions which Jesus speaks as occurring after his death—which Schweitzer considers as "totally false" the disciples "must bear with him before the dawn of the kingdom." This "last desperate attack of the powers of this world" will "sweep in like a flood over those who in expectation of the kingdom represent the divine power in the godless world." The woes precede the kingdom. The time of $\pi \epsilon \iota \rho \alpha \sigma \mu \delta \varsigma$ is not "individual psychological temptation," but "the final insurrection of the power of this world." This is reflected in the "purely eschatological character" of the first three and final three petitions of the Lord's Prayer. This Affliction also assumed atonement "because God requires of the adherents of the kingdom a satisfaction for their transgressions in this aeon." They must be morally purified.

Earlier we saw how Schweitzer railed against developmental views within Jesus' messianic consciousness especially with respect to the Passion. According to Schweitzer, the Passion was in Jesus' mind from the beginning. But within this constancy there appears to be a measure of development in the move from the general to the particular with respect to the *Great Affliction* within Jesus' messianic consciousness. That is, the sense of the general Affliction of the moral community is transformed into the particular affliction of Jesus so that atonement can return to the general moral community. The space in which this movement occurs is the relationality of affliction and atonement. "According to the Passion idea of the first period, the believers must suffer along with the messiah; according to that of the second, he was resolved to endure the Affliction for them." This development was owing to the "non-fulfillment" of the initial promises behind the commissioning of

³⁷² *Mystery*, p. 219.

³⁷³ *Mystery*, p. 220.

³⁷⁴ E.g., *Mystery*, pp. 91–92.

³⁷⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 364.

³⁷⁶ *Mystery*, p. 90.

³⁷⁷ Mystery, p. 229.

³⁷⁸ *Mystery*, p. 258.

³⁷⁹ *Mystery*, pp. 76–78. Here Schweitzer closely associates eschatology and election. On the relation of these two elements within Schweitzer's thought, see *Quest*² pp. 339–40.

³⁸⁰ See, e.g., *Mystery*, p. 223.

³⁸¹ *Mystery*, p. 246.

the twelve. He had thought this move would "let loose the final tribulation and so compel the coming of the kingdom."382 His departure from Galilee was his departure from the conviction that the "movement of repentance" had been sufficient for the forcing of the final Affliction.³⁸³ It was in the stubborn delay of the Affliction to arrive—the Affliction which precedes the kingdom—which caused Jesus to turn to the scriptures and recognize himself in the suffering servant of Isaiah.³⁸⁴ As did the Baptist, he must suffer at the hands of the "secular authority as a malefactor in the sight of all the people."385 Jesus' idea of the Passion thus becomes "completely absorbed in that of Deutero-Isaiah."386 He was to force the Affliction to come so that the kingdom would come speedily after.³⁸⁷ He is to endure the iniquity of others as an atonement which would make ready the kingdom's arrival. This is the secret of the Passion.³⁸⁸ His confrontation of world powers and the Great Affliction in the stead of the moral community is so that they can be exempted from "the trial of suffering."389 The petition of καὶ μὴ εἰσενέγκης ἡμᾶς εἰς πειρασμόν (Matt 6:13a), therefore, is fulfilled in his passion.³⁹⁰ Schweitzer sees no precedent for this messianic maneuvering in Judaism. "It first arises with the self-consciousness of Jesus.³⁹¹ "The coming of the kingdom of God with power is dependent upon the atonement which Jesus performs. That is substantially the secret of the Passion."392 His journey to the capital was therefore "a pilgrimage to death, not to the Passover."393 It was this confrontation which was "the deliberate bringing down of

³⁸² *Quest*¹ p. 389.

³⁸³ *Ouest*¹ p. 389.

³⁸⁴ *Mystery*, p. 236.

³⁸⁵ *Mystery*, p. 266.

³⁸⁶ *Mystery*, p. 238.

³⁸⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 381.

³⁸⁸ *Mystery*, pp. 235, 238.

³⁸⁹ *Mystery*, p. 232.

³⁹⁰ *Mystery*, pp. 240–41.

³⁹¹ *Quest*¹ p. 387.

³⁹² *Mystery*, p. 83.

³⁹³ *Quest*¹ p. 391 n.1. Schweitzer sees a substantial dividing–line within historical Jesus scholarship along this point: did Jesus go to Jerusalem to work or to die? Schweitzer favors the latter option, following Wrede and Weisse.

death upon himself."³⁹⁴ The secret of the Passion therefore furthers and transforms the secret of the kingdom.³⁹⁵

Intriguingly, Schweitzer's later essay, *Reich Gottes und Christentum* (1950–51), contains a remarkable retraction.

In the section on the secret of suffering in my *Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung* (2nd and subsequent editions, pp. 435–437. A shorter and earlier version can be found in *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*, pp. 387–389), I still believed that in the pre-Messianic tribulation a load of guilt that encumbered the world and was delaying the coming of the kingdom could be expiated by believers, and that Jesus therefore, in accordance with the servant passages, regarded his vicarious sacrifice as an atonement. As the result of further study of late Jewish eschatology and the thought of Jesus on his passion, I find that I can no longer endorse this view.³⁹⁶

Our interests throughout this thesis have had less to do with Schweitzer's development than in presenting his ideas which have accrued a profound influence in subsequent scholarship. But tucked away in a small footnote in Schweitzer's last religious work is evidence of Schweitzer's own realization and admission that his earlier work was not as informed by the sources of the second temple period as was the Gospel material forced into a system of his own devising.

Returning to the Schweitzer of the *Geschichte* and the *Skizze*, it is difficult to know what exactly to make of Schweitzer's understanding of the death of Jesus and its relationship to resurrection. He does state that with it "a new world era dawned." The cross also represents a kind of failure as well. As we saw earlier with the return of the twelve, the cry of dereliction is another potential embarrassment for *konsequente Eschatologie*. Schweitzer's method here cannot account for these two failures. If Jesus' *death* was a moment of transition why despair while still *alive*? Was it not his *death* which was going to usher in the arrival of the kingdom? Again, at a crucial point the singular key of *konsequente Eschatologie* cannot turn the lock. If

³⁹⁵ *Mystery*, p. 125.

³⁹⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 392.

³⁹⁶ Schweitzer, *The Kingdom of God and Primitive Christianity*, p. 128 n. 31.

³⁹⁷ *Mystery*, p. 213.

these crucial passages were moments of transition, why is it that the disciples returned *before* the kingdom arrived? And why did Jesus not endure to the end?

Schweitzer reconfigures the death of Jesus and his cry of dereliction as a great *Unsieg* which becomes *Sieg* through Schweitzer's understanding of resurrection. Schweitzer sees the resurrection as the catalyst for the fateful shift in perspective of the early church. The risen Jesus "produced a sudden revolution in his disciples' conception of him." In this sense, it was, as Wrede saw, "the real messianic event in the life of Jesus." The Markan narrative was constructed from the "impulse to give a messianic form to the earthly life of Jesus." But in its proper eschatological setting, resurrection represents the bridge from the *Jetzt* to the *Dann*—that is, the realization of the new condition of things. It is no singular act but "a complex occurrence." The realizing of Jesus as the son of man, the resurrection of the dead, and the translation of the earthly into the realm of perfection "take place simultaneously, and are one and the same act."

This "complex occurrence" is retrospective with respect to the resurrection of the dead. "Jesus' glance is directed backward" in this respect as "the kingdom is composed of the generations which have already gone down to the grave and which are now to be awakened unto a state of perfection."⁴⁰³ It is erroneous to connect Jesus' thought of the kingdom "as directed toward the future as if it had to do with subsequent generations." It was the translation of past generations as fit for the arrival of the kingdom. Therefore "all generations of the world are lifted out of their temporal sequence and placed before God's judgment as contemporaries" (e.g., Mark 12:1–12).⁴⁰⁴ They are "one collective whole."⁴⁰⁵ The resurrection in this sense

³⁹⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 339.

³⁹⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 339.

⁴⁰⁰ *Mystery*, p. 208.

⁴⁰¹ *Quest*¹ p. 366 n. 1.

⁴⁰² *Quest*¹ p. 366.

⁴⁰³ *Mystery*, p. 102.

⁴⁰⁴ *Mystery*, p. 205.

⁴⁰⁵ *Mystery*, p. 205.

is "the mode in which the transformation of the whole form of existence was accomplished upon those who had already succumbed to death." The kingdom's arrival necessitates "an incomparably higher estate" than the present form of earthly existence. By some "higher power" (eine höhere Macht)—a phrase which Schweitzer leaves vague—the "mode of existence" is transformed into a "new form of existence" which is "the messianic mode of being."⁴⁰⁶ Being that is "appropriate" for the kingdom.⁴⁰⁷ Apart from this "metamorphosis," a "vivid eschatological expectation" is impossible to conceive. "The resurrection is only a special case of this metamorphosis, the form in which the new condition of things is realized in the case of those who are already dead."⁴⁰⁸

As part of the "complex occurrence" of resurrection, it also represents the moment where Jesus is to be revealed as the son of man. 409 It is only from the moment of resurrection that the "historical Jesus laid claim" to messiahship. 410 It is the "messianic event" which signaled the arrival of the kingdom, 411 and revealed Jesus to be the messiah. 412 Jesus therefore makes no distinction between his resurrection and his parousia. 413 They are "one and the same thing."414 It is at this point where an intriguing discussion of Schweitzer's thought emerges. What did Jesus expect at the end? Was it the end of the world or simply the world as we know it? In some respects both are emanations of each other. But here we must press Schweitzer to see if he saw in Jesus' messianic consciousness an expectation of the *end* of the space-time universe or a *transformation* of it. As we should come to expect with Schweitzer, there is no simple answer.

⁴⁰⁶ *Mystery*, p. 206; *Skizze*, p. 74.

⁴⁰⁷ *Mystery*, p. 208.

⁴⁰⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 366.

⁴⁰⁹ *Mystery*, p. 267.

⁴¹⁰ *Mystery*, p. 210.

⁴¹¹ *Mystery*, p. 202.

⁴¹² *Mystery*, p. 205. Cf., too, pp. 208–09.

⁴¹³ *Quest*¹ p. 346 n.1.

⁴¹⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 366 n.1.

In several places Schweitzer speaks of a "cosmic catastrophe," through which, for example, "moral criteria are to be abolished."⁴¹⁵ The kingdom of God is "supermoral."⁴¹⁶ The tearing of the temple and the accompanying earthquakes are seen as "signs of the end of the world."⁴¹⁷ The appearing of the messiah is in conjunction with "the great crisis," which is "the supernatural drama which the world awaits."⁴¹⁸ The kingdom rises out of "a cosmic act,"⁴¹⁹ or "the great catastrophe,"⁴²⁰ and everyone was on the lookout of "the approaching catastrophe."⁴²¹ In Schweitzer's mind, Jesus expected "the end of the world,"⁴²² and, following Strauss, trusted his Father to bring about this "catastrophic change."⁴²³ He did not expect "the existence of a community after his death."⁴²⁴ In this sense, it seems that Schweitzer expects the destruction of space-time.

Schweitzer also sees at the advent of the kingdom that the rulers and powers of this age, and "earthly human nature itself," are "done away." And at the cross a new world-era dawned." The resurrection is the moment where the current mode of existence is suddenly "transformed into another." This judgment brings about a condition of perfection, a "future aeon." The resurrection is a complex action in which "the new condition of things is realized through a "metamorphosis." This "time of the end" is when "the supernatural eschatological course of history will break through into the natural course."

⁴¹⁵ *Mystery*, pp. 101–02.

⁴¹⁶ *Mystery*, p. 102.

⁴¹⁷ *Mystery*, p. 213.

⁴¹⁸ *Mystery*, p. 139.

⁴¹⁹ *Mystery*, p. 118.

⁴²⁰ *Mystery*, p. 115.

⁴²¹ *Mystery*, p. 81.

⁴²² *Life and Thought*, pp. 38, 55.

⁴²³ *Quest*¹ p. 93.

⁴²⁴ *Quest*² p. 335.

⁴²⁵ *Mystery*, p. 269.

⁴²⁶ *Mystery*, p. 213.

⁴²⁷ *Mystery*, p. 208.

⁴²⁸ *Mystery*, p. 95.

¹²⁰ Mystery, p. 93

⁴²⁹ *Mystery*, p. 74. ⁴³⁰ *Ouest*¹ p. 366.

⁴³¹ *Quest*¹ p. 362.

"transformed into something supra-mundane," 432 where "the present era passes into the age to come." 433 From these texts, it appears that Schweitzer has in mind a "metamorphosis" of the world as opposed to its destruction.

3.3.3. The Secret of the Son of Man

The term "son of man," is, for Schweitzer, of central concern with respect to Jesus' messianic consciousness. Every messianic designation that is attributed to him is corrected and reinterpreted with this phrase.⁴³⁴ The "problem which became most prominent of all the problems raised by eschatology was the question concerning the son of man." Schweitzer sees in this, however, titular freight for anyone to smuggle their own views of the messiah and call it "son of man."⁴³⁵ As early as Strauss, the problem of the son of man is seen as the central problem regarding questions of messianism and eschatology.⁴³⁶ For behind it rests the issue of the temporality of Jesus' messianic claims.⁴³⁷

The son of man for Schweitzer is a purely eschatological and future role which Jesus is to be revealed as fulfilling at the resurrection. The appearing *as* the son of man signifies "the dawning of the kingdom of God with power." It is "futuristic in character," referring to the time when Jesus appears as judge. In the era of the *Jetzt*, then, Jesus and the son of man are "two entirely distinct personalities." Outliers such as Matt 8:20; 11:19; 12:32, 40; 13:38, 41; 16:13—if they are historical—mean nothing more than "man." And the sayings which place on the lips of Jesus "son of man" as an expression of self-designation are owing to the

⁴³² *Quest*¹ p. 348.

⁴³³ *Quest*¹ p. 283.

⁴³⁴ *Mystery*, p. 190.

⁴³⁵ *Quest*¹ p. 267.

⁴³⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 94.

⁴³⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 280.

⁴³⁸ *Mystery*, p. 88.

iso mystery, p. oo.

⁴³⁹ *Mystery*, p. 191.

⁴⁴⁰ *Mystery*, p. 191.

⁴⁴¹ *Mystery*, p. 195.

"shifting of perspective." These first-person references represent a secondary stratum. Moreover, only those passages which demonstrate "the influence of the apocalyptic reference to the son of man in Daniel" are historical. All others are "unhistorical." Issue' taking of this designation from Daniel therefore becomes an issue of *Quellenkritik*. Schweitzer here makes recourse to Weiss and the early Strauss in stating that the "son-of-man problem" has been solved. Only those passages which are used in the apocalyptic sense of Daniel are authentic.

For his hearers, Jesus and the son of man remained "two entirely distinct personalities." But to those to whom the secret of the kingdom has been given, 448 there is an "absolute solidarity" between the two. 449 It was *in the kingdom* that the son of man would be *manifested as Jesus*. 450 When the "present era passes into the age to come," Jesus would possess this position. 451 Jesus' revelation at Caesarea Philippi therefore consists of his revelation of the nature of the "personal relationship he stands to with the coming son of man." 452 The problem of the son of man for Schweitzer is therefore "elucidated." It was "a solemn title which he adopted when in great moments of his life he spoke about himself to the initiated as the future messiah." 453 It was a title specific to an "episode of the messianic drama." 454 Jesus never spoke of *coming again*; only of *the coming of the son of man*; 455 or of his coming *as the son of man*. 456

⁴⁴² *Mystery*, p. 196.

⁴⁴³ Mystery, p. 198; cf. Quest¹ p. 286.

⁴⁴⁴ *Mystery*, p. 199.

⁴⁴⁵ See Chapman, *The Coming Crisis*, pp. 67–72.

⁴⁴⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 283.

⁴⁴⁷ *Mystery*, p. 136.

⁴⁴⁸ *Mystery*, p. 192.

⁴⁴⁹ *Mystery*, p. 136.

⁴⁵⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 94.

⁴⁵¹ *Quest*¹ p. 283.

⁴⁵² *Mystery*, p. 192.

⁴⁵³ *Mystery*, p. 193.

⁴⁵⁴ *Mystery*, p. 200.

⁴⁵⁵ *Mystery*, p. 80

⁴⁵⁶ Here again we see no real exegesis of the relevant texts in Daniel. Schweitzer does, however, provide a reading of Daniel in his later *Reich Gottes und Christentum*, pp. 25–32.

3.4. *Jetzt und Dann*: Putting Eschatology Back Together Again

Schweitzer's notion of *konsequente Eschatologie* is a hermeneutics of recovery. It is through eschatology which Schweitzer seeks to discover eschatology. This circular understanding of *konsequente Eschatologie* represents the one "historically certain element" against which all else is judged, and by which the singularity of Jesus can be discovered. It was the loss of eschatology which requires *konsequente Eschatologie* in order to discern elements of Gospel material which are the results of the fateful shift of perspective.

The loss of eschatology in Schweitzer's mind stems from a couple of factors. The first is the "abolition of the causal connection" between Jesus' death and the realization of the kingdom. This led to the flattening of the distinction between the *Jetzt* and *Dann* nature of Jesus' messianic consciousness. Moreover, within Jesus' death itself, the eschatology of the early church was "dechristianized" (*entchristlicht*). In his Passion he seeks to bring "ordinary history to a close," taking upon himself the Afflication. This "wheel of the world" which he had hoped to turn by this action of atonement turned against him. "Instead of bringing the eschatological conditions," these conditions were destroyed as he himself was. How the sechatological conditions, these conditions were destroyed as he himself was.

Whatever the case may be for Schweitzer, one thing is clear: "the world continued to exist."⁴⁶² Jesus died and cried out in dereliction, "despairing of bringing in the new heaven and the new earth."⁴⁶³ His death was his defeat. But this defeat sets loose "liberating and life-giving influence" in the transformation of the slow-dying of the civilization of the ancient world with the early Christian dogma of immortality.⁴⁶⁴ It was this victory through defeat which Jesus set loose upon the world. But in order to

⁴⁵⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 122.

⁴⁵⁸ *Mystery*, p. 245.

⁴⁵⁹ See, e.g., *Mystery*, pp. 75, 143, 186–87; *Quest*¹ p. 243.

⁴⁶⁰ *Mystery*, p. 245; *Skizze* p. 94; cf., too, *Mystery*, p. 247; *Skizze*, p. 95.

 $^{^{461}}$ $Quest^1$ pp. 370–71. This famous passage, of course, is not in $Quest^2$ which is the subject of Holladay's essay. Though the passage is removed from the second edition, the thought is still there.

⁴⁶² *Quest*¹ p. 3.

⁴⁶³ *Quest*¹ p. 255.

⁴⁶⁴ *Quest*¹ p. 255.

arrive at this truly historical understanding of the historical Jesus, Schweitzer contends, we must make the choice between either the purely eschatological or the uneschatological. He complexities of Jesus' messiahship are therefore to be found either in the literary fiction of the earliest Evangelists for on the ground of a purely eschatological messianic conception. He force and in the structural ordering of the *Geschichte* substitute is either the *eschatological solution* which takes the Markan account, inconsistencies and all, as genuine history and retains the elements of Jesus' messianic consciousness; or there is the *literary solution* which sees the whole enterprise as the interpolations of later Evangelists and therefore strikes out the messianic claim altogether from the historical life of Jesus. He you remove the flower from its soil it will wither. If Jesus is wrenched loose from the soil of eschatology he is no longer historical. He you are left either with a thoroughgoing eschatology or a thoroughgoing skepticism: *Tertium non datur*.

As we have seen with respect to the return of the twelve and in the cry of dereliction, however, *konsequente Eschatologie* is weak precisely where it needs to be strong. The singular key appears to be a fake as it cannot unlock two of the biggest puzzles in the *konsequente Eschatologie* schema and his reading of key texts such as the return of the twelve, his confrontation with the Pharisees and claim that the kingdom of God is present in his life and ministry, and his cry of dereliction hence become incoherent. What is more, we have seen how Schweitzer is heavily influenced by current intellectual trends (particularly Nietzsche) as opposed to the purity of his disinterested historical agenda. With respect to Strauss' first *Life of Jesus*, Schweitzer asks in Strauss' defense, "Whoever discovered a true principle without pressing its application too far?"⁴⁷⁰ Elsewhere, with respect to Schleiermacher, he states that it is difficult to "avoid being caught in the coils of that

⁴⁶⁵ *Mystery*, p. 86.

⁴⁶⁶ *Quest*¹ p. 398.

⁴⁶⁷ *Quest*¹ p. 337.

⁴⁶⁸ *Quest*¹ p. 401.

⁴⁶⁹ *Quest*¹ p. 337.

⁴⁷⁰ *Quest*¹ p. 85.

magical dialectic."⁴⁷¹ So it is with *konsequente Eschatologie* and the "magical dialectic" of Schweitzer. Though appreciative of his genius, it is in his citing of the "singular mountain" of *konsequente Eschatologie* and its path to it which has influenced generations of Questers. As we shall argue in Part Two, however, there is no *single* mountain (or key) to discover. Schweitzer's singular mountain of *eschatologie* and his elegant reconstruction of a singular historical Jesus out of that discovery turns out to be but one peak within a sprawling mountain range. It is time we move on from this *tertium non datur* of Schweitzer, allowing for some appreciative, critical distance from this enchanted *Leben und Denken*.⁴⁷²

⁴⁷¹ *Quest*¹ p. 63.

⁴⁷² Cf. Watson, "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century," 347.

[&]quot;A century after Schweitzer's survey of life-of-Jesus scholarship was transformed into a "quest of the historical Jesus" for the benefit of English-speaking readers, there is a need for critical distance from this spell-binding work. If the spell is broken, it may become clear that the crucial issue is not "the historical Jesus" in abstraction, but rather the question how Jesus as an empirical figure is received and interpreted within the early Christian communities, a process that issues in the production of gospel literature and, later, in the great divide between the canonical and the noncanonical. On that model, the historical Jesus would no longer be separable from the textuality of the gospels, as though a real, uninterpreted Jesus could be detached from his representations. In the end, the "consistent eschatology" hypothesis is false because it attempts to answer the wrong question."

PART TWO

MOVING HOUSE

"The 'true' histories of the past uncover the buried potentialities of the present."

Paul Ricoeur¹

0.1. A Path Well Travelled, A Quest Grown Weary

We now come to the sudden turn in this thesis from analyzing Schweitzer's tools to advocating for a whole-scale relocation from Schweitzer's house; viz., his persistent influence. We have labored in Part One to narrate Schweitzer's remarkably efficient system and test its claims to cover and explain everything. Though it may be the case that "no scholar accepts Schweitzer's presentation of Jesus' apocalyptic conduct," the underlying assumptions of his presentation are almost unanimously followed: viz., the establishing of criteria (singular key) against which all material is read and from which a singular reconstructed profile of the "historical Jesus" is constructed. A testimony to his persistent influence is the impact of his ideas latent even within the wider criticisms of his solution of *konsequente Eschatologie*. Even the likes of the Jesus Seminar and its poetic statesmen, Marcus Borg and John Dominic Crossan, seem to be stuck on the other side of Schweitzer's dialectic: Wrede's skepticism.

¹ Paul Ricoeur, Hermeneutics and the Human Sciences: Essays on Language, Action and Interpretation (trans. John B. Thompson; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981) 295.

² James M. Robinson, "The Gospel of the Historical Jesus," in Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.449.

³ See, e.g., Marcus Borg, Jesus: An Uncovered Life, Teachings, and Relevance ofa Religious Revolutionary (San Francisco HarperSanFrancisco, 2006) 257–58; Marcus Borg, "Con: Jesus Was Not an Apocalyptic Prophet," in *The Apocalyptic Jesus: A Debate* (ed. Robert J. Miller; Santa Rosa: Polebridge, 2001) 31–48; Borg, Jesus in Contemporary Scholarship, pp. 47–68; John Dominic Crossan, *The Historical Jesus: The Life of a Mediterranean Jewish Peasant* (San Francisco: HarperOne, 1993); John Dominic Crossan, Jesus: A Revolutionary Biography (San Francisco: HarperOne, 2009); John Dominic Crossan, "Assessing the Arguments," in *The Apocalyptic Jesus: A Debate* (ed. Robert J. Miller; Santa Rosa: Polebridge, 2001) 119–23.

⁴ Here Allison is right on the mark in Dale C. Allison, *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History* (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2010) 134–35.

One of the foremost scholars of the last twenty-five years on the historical lesus. Dale C. Allison, Ir., recently lamented the unsatisfactory results produced by the canons of traditional criteria.⁵ He even calls for the need not for the refinement of these criteria but their marginalization and the deployment of experimental approaches. Ironically, Allison is perhaps the greatest champion of the eschatological reading of Jesus.⁷ Perhaps part of Allison's disillusionment with the canons of past criteria is owing to the fact that his question is still stuck in Schweitzer's forced tertium non datur: is Jesus an eschatological prophet or not? Here Allison falls within the paradigm set by Johannes Weiss and Schweitzer and their search for a singular hermeneutical key which will lead us to a tidy profile of Jesus.⁸ Moreover, he refocuses the *tertium non datur* of Schweitzer to new extremes: "our choice is not between an apocalyptic Jesus and some other Jesus; it is between an apocalyptic Jesus and no Jesus at all." What is more, Allison's picture of Jesus, though rigorous, clever, and certainly compelling, appears still to be dominated by the latent assumption that this singular key will unlock the door to the room of mysteries which contains the singular, tidy portrait of the enigmatic Nazarene. 10 It appears we cannot quite shirk the shadows of Schweitzer's structuring.

0.2. The Anxiety of Influence

⁵ See, e.g., Dale C. Allison, "How to Marginalize the Traditional Criteria of Authenticity," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.3–30; Allison, *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History*; Allison, *The Historical Christ and the Theological Jesus*.

⁶ See, especially, Allison, "How to Marginalize the Traditional Criteria," p. 1.8.

⁷ Dale C. Allison, *The End of the Ages Has Come: An Early Interpretation of the Passion and Resurrection of Jesus* (Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1985); Dale C. Allison, *Jesus of Nazareth: Millenarian Prophet* (Fortress Press; Minneapolis: 1998); and Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 31–220; Dale C. Allison, "A Plea for Thoroughgoing Eschatology," *JBL* 113.4 (1994) 651–68; Dale C. Allison, "Jesus & the Victory of Apocalyptic," in *Jesus and the Restoration of Israel: A Critical Assessment of N. T. Wright's Jesus and the Victory of God* (ed. Carey C. Newman; Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 1999) 126–46.

⁸ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 31.

⁹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 46–47.

¹⁰ He does distance himself from some of his earlier strong statements regarding his earlier endorsement of Schweitzer's *konsequente Eschatologie*. See *Constructing Jesus*, p. 134 n. 461.

In what follows I do not sound a death knell for the genre of historical Jesus research as some have but merely lobby for its experimental retooling. Harold Bloom's early criticism on the poem argued that the poetry process is largely the struggle between old and new, novice and master. The young poet must "misread" the "strong poets" of the past in order to "clear imaginative space" so as to overcome *the anxiety of influence*. It is this "imaginative space" which allows the *ephebe* to create, thereby resisting the strong poets of the past and the pull to become their derivatives.

Regardless of what one thinks of Bloom's criticism, his imagery is powerful when read into the aims of this research. Schweitzer is a "strong poet" when it comes to historical Jesus scholarship—perhaps the strongest. His influence is everywhere felt whether or not his construction is met with approval. Our attempt to escape his influence and to "clear imaginative space" for new and exploratory approaches to the material, however, is not a move of disregard. It is actually a tip-of-the-cap to his enduring genius. It is because of his genius that we must move away from his dominance lest our own constructions become merely derivative to his. Schweitzer presented an elegant hermeneutic which in turn produced a near seamless portrait of the historical Jesus. But beauty is not truth and elegance can be misleading when applied to the wrong set of material. The identity of the historical figure of Jesus is too complicated by cultural distance, too enmeshed with the identities of his early followers, too impartially attested to in the historical record and within the manuscript evididence, too unruly to be systematized. The Gospels are tidy narratives which attest to an untidy past. It is the assumption of a Weltformel when it comes to a singular profile of the historical figure where the anxiety of Schweitzer's influence is most acutely felt within historical Jesus scholarship. Part Two ("Moving House"), then, attempts to "clear imaginative space" for future work on the historical Jesus by moving away from singular keys and tidy profiles. It aims to move away from Schweitzer's strong gravitational pull.

¹¹ Harold Bloom, *The Anxiety of Influence: A Theory of Poetry* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997 [1973]) 1. See, too, Harold Bloom, *A Map of Misreading: With a New Preface* (Oxford Oxford University Press, 2003 [1975]).

0.3. The Contours of this "Imaginative Space"

The final two chapters of the thesis attempt to move beyond the strong force of Schweitzer's influence. Chapter Four, "Forgetting Schweitzer and Remembering Jesus: The Role of Memory in Communal Formation," drafts the mounting findings of critical memory theory and the role of communal identity formation as a promising way forward in terms of (re)approaching the Jesus material. In this chapter we think about the dynamics of movement through and between events, memories, and texts. Three scholars have produced significant volumes of late in this respect: Dale Allison, Richard Bauckham, and Jens Schröter. Significant space is dedicated to each of these projects as some of their findings are both appropriated and distanced. Though there are many reasons to be suspicious of memory theory, an epistemologically chastened and hermeneutically informed version of memory theory proves an interesting and promising way forward in terms of (re)approaching the Jesus material as it allows for new questions altogether: e.g., how did early communities form themselves around shared remembrances of Jesus? Once these sorts of questions are allowed, many other promising questions follow: e.g., questions of a canon of memories surrounding the Jesus material in early Christian interpretation; the dexterity of early Christian memory across competing communities; the allowance for "apocryphal" material as witnesses to the communal memories of the historical figure; the polemical rub with other communities of memory; and, new considerations on the fusion of christology and anthropology. These questions will not be explored fully in this chapter but simply alluded to as the potential products of this new approach to the question of the historical Jesus. The main focus will be to detail the ways in which memory theory problematizes concepts of pure origins and the singularity of the originary. In this sense, we consider how the singular subject of Jesus was represented in pluralistic perspective; how the narratives of the later Gospels made recourse to the memory cluster in order to apply varying and distinct modes of Jesus' words and actions to the needs of the community.

The thesis concludes with a test case of sorts in Mark's Gospel: "The Untidy Jesus of Markan Memory." In the previous chapter we thought about the dynamics of movement through and between events, memories, and texts. In this chapter we consider this dynamic in reverse: texts, memories, and events. Following the suggested proposal of Elizabeth A. Clark—and the insights gleaned from Allison, Bauckham, and Schröter in the previous chapter—we consider the rhetoricity of texts and their ideologies as part of the historical process. Here we take the single example of Mark as an early Christian redactor of remembrances who made recourse to the memory cluster of Jesus for the purposes of communal concerns. I argue for a move away from singularities and pure origins to multiplicity and the "contaminated" as we consider the untidy Jesus which is represented in Mark. What in the past might have made possible the traces which now remain in the Markan text and what might have been the social pressures and conditions which may have guided its production? These are our guiding questions as we employ a "hermeneutic of relevance" to the Jesus material. We suggest that Mark employed memories of Jesus in diverse ways for the purpose of communal direction and identity. As such, we get a picture of how an early Christian "author" made recourse to the memory cluster through the detection of ways in which Jesus is portrayed as teacher, healer, and martyr for the gospel of God while tentatively suggesting a Sitz im Leben of the need to configure early Christian identity with respect to life on the colony and in the aggressive shadows of the synagogue. In configuring Mark as a kind of witness to the past, then, we can detect refracted images of the untidy Jesus of Markan memory.

Schweitzer and his ménage have reigned supreme over the very inquiry of the Quest since its inception. This reign has indeed produced stunning portraits and useful historical tools. Yet despite these great advances—and, perhaps, even because of them—the Master's Tools must be set aside for a whole-scale relocation from the Master's House if for nothing else than to create a space in which new mistakes can be made. In so doing it may be that new tools will be constructed which can better approach the hermeneutical and epistemological challenges presented by the

sources themselves. It is the wager of Part Two that memory presents a promising step forward—or, at least, a few corrective steps backward.

CHAPTER FOUR FORGETTING SCHWEITZER AND REMEMBERING JESUS THE ROLE OF MEMORY IN COMMUNAL IDENTITY AND FORMATION

"The past is never dead. It's not even past."

William Faulkner¹

"Memory can be many things."

Samuel Byrskog²

4.0. Mapping a New Way

It does not take too much reading in the literature to feel the mounting sense of frustration and, in some cases, despair which has taken hold of writings within the genre which Schweitzer framed. What then of the Quest? Have we finally reached the back wall of Martin Kähler's "blind alley?" Has the Quest yet again collapsed under the weight of its own critical reconstructions? Has its construction of historical Jesuses produced the butchery lamented by William Wordsworth (1770–1850)?

Our meddling intellect
Mis-shapes the beauteous forms of things—
We murder to dissect.³

Though Kähler was nothing if not suspicious of the Quest,⁴ latent within his trenchant criticisms are something of an implicit affirmation:

I regard the entire Life-of-Jesus movement as a blind alley. A blind alley usually has something alluring about it, or no one would enter it in the first place. It usually appears to be *a section of the right road*, or no one would hit

¹ William Faulkner, "Requiem for a Nun," in *William Faulkner: Novels 1942-1954: Go Down, Moses; Intruder in the Dust; Requiem for a Nun; A Fable* (ed. Joseph Blotner; New York: The Library of America, 1994 [1950, 51]) 535.

² Samuel Byrskog, "Introduction," in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives* (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 1.

³ William Wordsworth, "The Tables Turned: An Evening Scene on the Same Subject," in *The Major Works* (ed. Stephen Gill; New York: Oxford University Press, 2008 [1798]) 131.

⁴ Martin Kähler, *The So-Called Historical Jesus and the Historic Biblical Christ* (trans. Carl E. Braaten; Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1964) 46-71.

upon it at all. In other words, we cannot reject this movement without understanding *what is legitimate in it.*⁵

Kähler's implicit affirmation of the Life-of Jesus movement appears to be in its attempt to set the "Bible against an abstract dogmatism." In their own ways, both Reimarus and Strauss saw historical kernels within the husk of the Gospel form, but William Wrede (1859–1906), that maven of suspicion, was doubtful of even this assertion. In 1901 he published his *Das Messiasgeheimnis in den Evangelien* where he argued that the "person of Jesus is dogmatically conceived," and the Gospels, Mark in particular, no longer offer an "historical view of the real life of Jesus," thus belonging to the "history of dogma."

The conviction of this thesis is that such radical skepticism is unwarranted. As Rudolf Bultmann saw, however, "there can be no question of discarding historical criticism. But we must understand its true significance." Käsemann, following his *Doktorvater*, stated that the "issue today is not whether criticism is right, but where it is to stop." The line of this demarcation, of course, is hotly contested. From the very beginning the Jesus of the Canonical Gospels was interpreted from "faith convictions," and we have "access to none other than to *Jesus as he was remembered*" within these faith convictions. The early stories recorded in the Gospels "about Jesus tend to be sparse; circumstantial details are occasional,

⁵ Kähler, *The So-Called Historical Jesus*, p. 46, emphasis added.

⁶ Kähler, *The So-Called Historical Jesus*, p. 46.

⁷ Wrede, *The Messianic Secret* 131.

⁸ Rudolf Bultmann, *Faith and Understanding* (trans. Louise Pettibone Smith; London: SCM Press, 1969 [1966]) 28-52.

⁹ Quoted in Gregory W. Dawes, ed., *The Historical Jesus Quest: Landmarks in the Search for the Jesus of History* (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1999) 300.

¹⁰ Jens Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon: The Early Jesus Traditions in the Context of the Origins of the New Testament Canon," in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (ed. Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) 121.

¹¹ James D. G. Dunn, *A New Perspective on Jesus: What the Quest for the Historical Jesus Missed* (Acadia Studies in Bible and Theology; ed. Craig A. Evans and Lee Martin McDonald; Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2005) 30.

adjectives less than abundant." ¹² They themselves demonstrate narrative strategies in the service of reconstruction on the part of the "authors." The drive to "get behind" these strategies to a singular script and a singular subject is natural enough but as David Parker has argued, the dual quest for a "single original text of the Gospels" which is "driven by the same forces that have sought a single original saying of Jesus behind the different texts of different Gospels" is "dubious." ¹³ Jens Schröter, with a touch of understatement, suggests that such an approach to the Jesus tradition is not so much unjustified as the question is in need of transformation. ¹⁴ Though more or less dead in explicit articulation, this sort of positivism still haunts current explorations in its vocabulary and posing of questions. It is the very *status quaestionis* therefore which is in need of re-focusing.

To label the Quest a failure for its inability to "get behind" these faith convictions or dogmatic constructions and produce "objective results," however, is a hasty charge. As our technologies and tools of inquiry grow in sophistication, the object of measurement grows in accordant complication and complexity—or, at least, in our realization of its complexity. As has often been pointed out within the spheres of the philosophy of science, though no adequate demarcation criteria have yet been formulated, it does not follow that none can be formulated.¹⁵ These so-called "failures" of the Quest of the historical Jesus, then, are the "failures" of a diagnostician, the careful dialectical sorting through necessary and sufficient conditions.¹⁶ What follows therefore is not a condemnation of all that has gone before but an attempt to recast the Quest through the experimental rubric of *memory*; transforming the approach to the Gospel sources from a storehouse of

-

¹² Dale C. Allison, "Healing in the Wings of His Garment: The Synoptics and Malachi 4:2," in *The Word Leaps the Gap: Essays on Scripture and Theology in Honor of Richard B. Hays* (ed. C. Kavin Rowe J. Ross Wagner, and A. Katherine Grieb; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008) 144.

¹³ David C. Parker, *The Living Text of the Gospels* (Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 1997) 208.

¹⁴ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 121.

¹⁵ Jeffrey L. Kasser, *Philosophy of Science* (Chantilly, VA: The Teaching Company, 2006) 17.

¹⁶ Similarly, see Jens Schröter, "Jesus of Galilee: The Role of Location in Understanding Jesus," in *Jesus Research: An International Perspective* (ed. James H. Charlesworth and Petr Pokorný; Princeton-Prague Symposia Series on the Historical Jesus; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009) 36–40.

logia to a collection and construction of memories—both individual and communal. In the following chapter we will consider ideologies of narrative as itself a *kind* of witness to theological history but here we are concerned with the dynamics of movement from and between events, meaning, and texts. We have been the prisoner of our own questions in many respects when it comes to the question of the historical Jesus. Questions need rephrasing when it comes to this complex social and ideological history. A new map is needed.¹⁷

4.1. A Walk Down Memory Lane: Theory of Promise or More of the Same?

Before progressing, however, we must place this approach under the searching question of whether it is a theory of promise or is it simply the repackaging of more of the same. In a slightly different context, Ernst Troeltsch (1865–1923) laid bare the criticisms of Theodor Zahn (1838–1933) regarding the historical critical method by stating that Zahn "has merely matched results with results, rather than method with method." For Troeltsch, "all the animadversions against the historical method have represented only checks upon it or corrections of particular results, but no viable alternative." Any move away from standard approaches to the historical Jesus should therefore be held with some suspicion as to whether they are simply matching "results with results" instead of offering viable alternatives at the level of method, epistemology, and the hermeneutical task. At the moment there appears to be a "contemporary fascination" with memory, and memory studies "are presently much in vogue" in the humanities and social sciences. It is therefore worth

¹⁷ These words reflect the thoughts of Jan Assmann form a slightly different context. See Jan Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory* (trans. Rodney Livingstone; Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2006) 75.

¹⁸ Ernst Troeltsch, "Historical and Dogmatic Method in Theology," in *Religion in History* (Fortress Texts in Modern Theology; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007 [1898]) 18. On Troeltsch and the historical-Jesus, see Sarah Coakley, *Christ without Absolutes: A Study of the Christology of Ernst Troeltsch* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1988) 136–63.

¹⁹ Troeltsch, "Historical and Dogmatic Method in Theology," p. 18.

²⁰ H. Ram, "The Immemorial Iranian Nation? School Textbooks and Historical Memory in Post-Revolutionary Iran," *Nations and Nationalisms* 6.1 (2000) 67–90, p. 67.

²¹ Werner H. Kelber, "Memory's Desire and the Limits of Historical Criticism: The Case of the Gospels," *Oral Tradition* 17.1 (2002) 55-86, p. 55.

considering if critical memory theory is a method of promise or more of the same by any other word.²²

Why not, for example, use the terminology of "tradition"? Jan Assmann and Aleida Assmann are right to shy away from the concept, "arguing that it overemphasizes the elements of continuity and evolutionary progression."²³ Moreover the concept does not reveal its meaning in any transparent way.²⁴ What is more, though using the term "tradition" in his summation, Jens Schröter states that, "from its earliest attestation," the Jesus tradition

was not oriented toward the preservation of original sayings of Jesus and the recording of their wording. Rather, from the very beginning the teaching of Jesus is found in a variety of receptions, variable in language and elastic in extent. The Jesus tradition is thus, from the time of its earliest attestation, a free and living tradition, and therefore the idea of a fixed, authoritative form of that tradition must be abandoned.²⁵

Tradition is not "thick"—or, indeed, flexible—enough. Our project of rehabilitation, therefore, follows the dual hermeneutical task of Paul Ricoeur. It is a critical task in doing away with idols by countering self-deception through a hermeneutic of suspicion. It is also a movement of retrieval in its attention to the symbols, metaphors, narratives, and other texts through openness and listening. Hermeneutics, for Ricoeur, is "animated by this double motivation: willingness to suspect, willingness to listen; vow of rigor, vow of obedience. In our time we have not finished doing away with *idols* and we have barely begun to listen to *symbols*."27

²² The allusion here is of course to William Shakespeare, "The Most Excellent and Lamentable Tragedy of Romeo and Juliet," in *The Oxford Shakespeare: The Complete Works* (ed. Stanley Wells and Gary Taylor; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005 [1592]) Act II, Scene I, Lines 85-86, p. 379.

²³ Kelber, "Memory's Desire," p. 57; cf. Aleida Assmann, *Erinnerungsräume: Formen und Wandlungen des kulturellen Gedächtnisses* (Munich: C. H. Beck, 1999); Jan Assmann, *Das kulturelle Gedächtnis: Schrift, Erinnerung und politische Identität in frühen Hochkulturen* (Munich: C. H. Beck, 1992).

²⁴ Aleida Assmann, *Zeit und Tradition: Kulturelle Straegien der Dauer* (Cologne: Böhlau, 1999).

²⁵ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 116.

²⁶ Paul Ricoeur, *Freud and Philosophy: An Essay on Interpretation* (trans. Denis Savage; New Haven: Yale University Press, 1970) 27–28.

²⁷ Ricoeur, *Freud and Philosophy*, p. 27.

Though Ricoeur speaks of a "post-critical faith" or a "second naïveté,"²⁸ it is necessary to keep both postures in mind here vis-à-vis critical memory theory in the service of historical-Jesus research. We must doubt, we must believe.

4.1.1 Locating and Defining Memory Studies

Our posture to the past "has become one of the key issues of modern cultural studies and 'memory' its leading term."²⁹ The interconnectivity of memory and retrievals of the "past" has often been pointed out. As Paul Ricoeur stated, memory is the "womb of history,"³⁰ and at every stage of the historiographical process is the whole process of memory.³¹ In 1947, Jacob Taubes wrote in his *Abendländische Eschatologie*:

Memory is the foundation of history. Because without it present, past, and future would be cut off forever. Historical knowledge is an act of memory. The outward objective event is internalized by memory: man recalls within himself the depths of time. [...] The memory is the organ which embeds man into history. Memory mirrors the confrontation of time and eternity on the battlefield of history and recalls the final victory of eternity. That is why memory is an eschatological area, a powerful force in the drama of eschatology.³²

The development of memory as its own field of study, however, is a more recent phenomenon. Memory studies, to be sure, are by no means "a unified, coherent field."³³ Moreover, it is difficult to locate the thread of its beginnings.³⁴ But no one can deny the place of importance and influence of Maurice Halbwachs (1877–

²⁸ Ricoeur, *Freud and Philosophy*, pp. 28–29.

²⁹ Silke Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces: 1989 and the Question of German Cultural Identity* (Berlin: Peter Lang, 2005) 8.

³⁰ Paul Ricoeur, *Memory, History, Forgetting* (trans. K. Blamey and D. Pellauer; Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2004) 87.

³¹ Ricoeur, *Memory, History, Forgetting*, p. 87.

³² Taubes, *Occidental Eschatology* 13–14.

³³ Gabriel Moshenska, "Working with Memory in the Archaeology of Modern Conflict," *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 20.1 (2010) 33-48, p. 34.

³⁴ For example, Augustine made use of the concept of memory in his philosophical formulations. Cf. Paul Ricoeur, *Time and Narrative* (3vols.; trans. Kathleen Blamey and David Pellauer; Chicago University of Chicago Press, 1984, 1985, 1988) 1.16. Or, of course, Plato's metaphor of memory as a seal leaving its imprint on wax (*Theaetetus* 191 c–e) or his doctrine of reminiscence is worth considering as well. See D. Draaisma, *Die Metaphernmaschine: Eine Geschichte des Gedächtnisses* (Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1999) 33–36; and the historical survey of Gordon H. Bower, "A Brief History of Memory Research," in *The Oxford Handbook of Memory* (ed. Endel Tulving and Fergus I. M. Craik; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).

1945),³⁵ the "godfather" of modern critical memory theory.³⁶ Halbwachs, himself a student of Émile Durkheim (1858–1917), developed his later articulation of his theory of social memory and collective memory in reference to the "memories" of the early Christians of the landscape of Palestine.³⁷

His works on the "social frameworks of memory" are viewed as the "theoretical anchor for all memoriologists." Memory, for Halbwachs, could not be reduced to its neural foundation. Memory is a "social phenomenon" whose contents and usage are determined through interaction with others in "language, action, communication, and by our emotional ties to the configurations of our social existence." His claim was that "the idea of an individual memory, absolutely separate from social memory, is an abstraction almost devoid of meaning." Halbwachs was suspicious of "the individualism of early twentieth-century psychology" and formulated "a theory of collective memory that subordinated the individual to the collective." Memories are "formed through dialogue within social groups, and as such the memory of the greatest number or the most powerful subgroup becomes the official memory of the collective." Halbwachs complemented the phrase "we are what we remember" with "we are what we belong to," decisively expanding this narrow notion of memory by showing its social

³⁵ Maurice Halbwachs, *Les cadres sociaux de la mémoire* (Paris: F. Alcan, 1925); Maurice Halbwachs, *La Topographie légendaire des évangiles en Terre Sainte: Étude de mémoire collective* (Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 1971); Maurice Halbwachs, *Les Cadres sociaux de la memoire* (New York: Arno Press, 1975); Maurice Halbwachs, *On Collective Memory* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1992); Maurice Halbwachs, *La Mémoire Collective* (Paris: A. Michel, 1997).

³⁶ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 34.

³⁷ In this instance, the comments are only half correct in Doron Mendels, "Societies of Memory in the Graeco-Roman World," in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity* (ed. Stephen C. Barton Loren T. Stuckenbruck, Benjamin G. Wold; WUNT 212; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007) 143. Halbwachs had worked on these issues in germ in his earlier work.

 $^{^{38}}$ Gedi & N. Gedi & Y. Elam, "Collective Memory – What Is It?," *History and Memory* 8.1 (1996) 30-50, p. 35.

³⁹ Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory*, p. 1. Aleida Assmann has further suggested that there needs to be a distinction between "functional memory" and "stored memory." See Assmann, *Erinnerungsräume*, pp. 130–45.

⁴⁰ James Fentress and Chris Wickham, Social Memory (Oxford: Blackwell, 1992) ix.

⁴¹ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 35; cf. A. Green, "Individual Remembering and 'Collective Memory': Theoretical Presuppositions and Contemporary Debates," *Oral History* 35 (2004) 35-44; N. Wood, *Vectors of Memory: Legacies of Trauma in Post-War Europe* (Oxford: Berg, 1999).

dimension. "Individual memory is a social fact; it develops by socialization and communication." Communities shape and pattern their collective identity through shared remembrances and it is within this shared remembrance—and, indeed, shared forgetting that the socialized individual "remembers" their identity.

His work was not without its detractors, however, as his collective memory schema subordinated the individual "to the extent that the individual is almost entirely irrelevant."⁴⁴ How might one move beyond this cultural determinist view of collective memory to an understanding of the role of the individual subject?⁴⁵ Even here, however, there is an unfortunate either/or forced in much of the literature between Halbwachs' model of the individual as a "passive automaton" and the "idea that memory can exist at a purely individual level unmediated by cultural influences."⁴⁶ Part of the problem is with this sort of continuum thinking: viz., a sliding scale of individual and societal influences. Individuals make up societies and whole societies shape individuals. There is an asymmetrical relationship of the individual within society where subjects—though fixed within that culture—are open to an infinite array of assemblings. Like the eighty-eight keys on a piano, culture is not *necessarily* a restrictive force. Within the configuration of this "limiting" is the potential for any number of possible compositions and expressions.

Jan Assmann has emphasized "that the past is always mediated by socially constructed memory, so that a pristine past is simply not recoverable from archivally understood sources." Moreover, since "memory is also integrally

⁴² Jan Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device: Cultural Texts and Cultural Memory," in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (ed. Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) 68.

⁴³ Jill Price, who "suffers" from hyperthymestic syndrome, spoke to Diane Sawyer in a 20/20 interview on 9 May 2008 and made the interesting comment of how we survive and find happiness by what we edit and choose to forget. Price is an interesting example in the way identity is constructed not only through what is remembered but also what is edited and forgotten—intentionally or otherwise. See Jill Price, *The Woman Who Can't Forget: The Extraordinary Story of Living with the Most Remarkable Memory Known to Science* (New York: Free Press, 2009).

⁴⁴ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 35.

⁴⁵ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 36.

⁴⁶ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 36.

connected with social identity, often of whole societies, the investigation of history is better understood as one aspect of a wider-ranging process of constructed cultural memory."⁴⁷ It is this interplay between past and present within sociocultural contexts which frames the discussion of cultural memory.⁴⁸ Against the implication that there are communities that are not imagined but based on some kind of "hard" essential *realia* such as family, clan, tribe and so on, Benedict Anderson defines nations as "imagined communities."⁴⁹ Assmann suggests that *all* "collective identities are imagined. It is not 'blood' or 'descent' as such that keep a group together but the shared *consciousness* of it, the idea of common descent."⁵⁰ Along this respect, the individual "may be defined as the juncture of two dimensions": the social and the temporal.⁵¹

What then keeps groups together? Halbwachs suggests emotion, *communautés affectives*; though Assmann does not devalue "emotion," he is keen on the role of "symbolization," of "symbolic forms" in the sense of Ernst Cassirer.⁵² "Memory as a means of orientation has to be understood as a faculty of remembering and of forgetting."⁵³ And this remembering and forgetting is conscripted into ritual and symbols, and into memory's cognitive translation of elective experiences into memory artifacts. The human being as *animal sociale*, or Aristotle's *zoon politikon* "is

⁴⁷ As sumarrizd by Richard A. Horsley, "Introduction," in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (ed. Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) xiv. Elsewhere Assmann states, "The present is 'haunted' by the past and the past is modeled, invented, reinvented, and reconstructed by the present" Jan Assmann, *Moses the Egyptian: The Memory of Egypt in Western Monotheism* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997) 9.

⁴⁸ Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning, ed., *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008) 2. See, too, Jeannette Marie Mageo, *Cultural Memory: Reconfiguring History and Identity in the Postcolonial Pacific* (Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press, 2001) 1–29; and Jeanette Rodríguez and Ted Fortier, *Cultural Memory: Resistance, Faith and Identity* (Austin: University of Texas Press, 2007) 7–14; and Ben Wang, *Illuminations from the Past: Trauma, Memory, and History in Modern China* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2004) 1–16.

⁴⁹ Benedict Anderson, *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism* (London: Verso, 1991).

⁵⁰ Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device," p. 67.

⁵¹ Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device," p. 68.

⁵² Cf. Ernst Cassirer, *Philosophy of Symbolic Forms* (4vols.; trans. Ralph Manheim; New Haven: Yale University Press, 1953-96).

⁵³ Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device," p. 68.

not so much the emotional but the symbol-using animal."⁵⁴ And it is this notion of symbol which "forces us to transcend the frames of body and consciousness and to take into account the whole range of cultural expression, of texts, images, and actions, as carriers or representations of memory and identity expressive of time, selfhood, and belonging."⁵⁵

People derive their identities in part from shared remembrances. This "social memory" in turn "provides them with an image of their past and a design for their future." Social memory is "an expression of collective experience," ordering and orientating the past and defining aspirations for the future. Olick and Robbins define social memory studies as "a general rubric for inquiry into the varieties of forms through which we are shaped by the past, conscious and unconscious, public and private, material and communicative, consensual and challenged." This is near Assmann's "cultural memory," summed up by Jonker as "the sum of the memories which a society needs to emulate its past and from which it derives its identity." Key to understanding social memory is the phenomenon called *localization*.

In this process, mental images associated with the past are anchored to specific mental frames of reference. By themselves these images are abstract and incomplete until they are set firmly within a context of meaning. These contexts (or frames) of meaning form fragmentary ideas into complete and unified memories. Functionally, this process reinforces images associated with the past by localizing them within contexts that are meaningful and intelligible to the present train of thought.⁶⁰

⁵⁴ Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device," p. 68.

⁵⁵ Assmann, "Form as a Mnemonic Device," p. 68.

⁵⁶ Susan E. Alcock, *Archaeologies of the Greek Past: Landscape, Monuments, and Memories* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002) 1.

⁵⁷ Fentress and Wickham, *Social Memory*, p. 25.

⁵⁸ Jeffrey K. Olick and Joyce Robbins, "Social Memory Studies: From 'Collective Memory' to the Historical Sociology of Mnemonic Practices," *Annual Review of Sociology* 24 (1998) 105–40, p. 112.

⁵⁹ Gerdien Jonker, *The Topography of Remembrance: The Dead, Tradition and Collective Memory in Mesopotamia* (Leiden: Brill Academic Publishers, 1995) 30.

⁶⁰ Anthony Le Donne, "Theological Memory Distortion in the Jesus Tradition: A Study in Social Memory Theory," in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity* (ed. Stephen C. Barton Loren T. Stuckenbruck, Benjamin G. Wold; Wissenschaftliche Untersuchungen zum Neuen Testament 212; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007) 164.

The key development in all of this work is in memory's functional role as a mechanism of temporal ordering. The past is given a narrative shape, the future is formed by communal directives and hopes, and the present is therefore constructed through social structuring. The past is the product of the present and thus "malleable."61 Memory narratives are therefore "to some extent constructed in relation to social or cultural forces."62 As such, these constructed memory narratives not only reflect social location but also reveal personal and collective strategies, 63 "often in opposition to the national or other collective memory." A tertium quid is needed, then, to bridge these two poles, "taking into account the role of individual agents."64 Moshenska suggests that the "clearest and most influential attempt to chart" this tertium quid is from the war memorial study of Winter and Sivan. 65 In their study, the notion of a collective memory is rejected in favor of "collective remembrance," which they define as the "activity of individuals coming together in public to recall the past."66 There is also a needed distinction between active and passive recollection.⁶⁷ Active memory establishes a "middle ground between the individual and collective," which has been characterized as intersubjective; 68 "focusing on the interaction of individuals at [the] small-scale community level."69 Individuals engage in the remembering process qua individuals in relation to the

⁶¹ Cf. Olick and Robbins, "Social Memory Studies," pp. 105–40.

⁶² Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 34.

⁶³ Cf. the study of Fried who states that memory's presentation of incidents from the past tend to be highly selective and subjective in manner. See, Johannes Fried, *Der Schleier der Erinnerung: Grundzüge einer historischen Memorik* (Munich: C. H. Beck, 2004).

⁶⁴ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 36; J. Edkins, *Trauma and the Memory of Politics* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003) 33.

⁶⁵ J. Winter and E. Sivan, "Setting the Framework," in *War and Remembrance in the Twentieth Century* (ed. J. Winter and E. Sivan; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999).

⁶⁶ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 36; cf. Winter and Sivan, "Setting the Framework," p. 11; and J. Winter, *Rembering War: The Great War between Memory and History in the Twentieth Century* (New York: Yale University Press, 2006) 139 n. 4.

⁶⁷ Horsley, "Performing the Gospel," p. xi.

⁶⁸ See, especially, Barbara A. Misztal, *Theories of Social Remembering* (Philadelphia: Open University, 2003) 75–98; 126–54. On recent efforts within the study of psychology to redress the balance, see William Hirst and David Manier, "Remembering as Communication: A Family Recounts Its Past," in *Remembering Our Past: Studies in Autobiographical Memory* (ed. David C. Rubin; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996) 271–90; and, Jerome Bruner and Carol Fleisher Feldman, "Group Narrative as a Cultural Context of Autobiography," in *Remembering Our Past: Studies in Autobiographical Memory* (ed. David C. Rubin; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996) 291–317.

⁶⁹ Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 36.

world in interaction with the collective. Though the individual remembers, memory is "more than just a personal act." 70

4.1.2. Suspicions and Cautions of the Use of Memory Theory

The use of memory theory is not without its critics. Apart from the usual hecklers of New Testament scholars' (ab)use of sociological and anthropological methods,⁷¹ the fashionable increase of memory studies "has been ascribed to the emergence of post-colonialism; the crises of modernity and post-modernity; the decline of 'actual' memory; the decline of historicism; a response to the traumas of two World Wars and the Holocaust; and the emergence of identity politics."⁷² Kerwin Klein states that former discourse on "folk history or popular history or oral history or public history or even myth" is now replaced by "memory as a metahistorical category that subsumes all these various terms."⁷³ He suggests that it may serve a "therapeutic alternative to historical discourse"⁷⁴ which "has slowly and painfully withered under the assault of various anti-foundational epistemologies."⁷⁵

Far from seeing this "flexibility" as a boon, many see its spanning of the disciplines of the arts, humanities and social sciences as well as aspects of medicine and the biological sciences, as its bane. Memory's danger is presented in its very "seductiveness, and consequently in the sloppy employment of the term, in the relapse into gnomic metaphor and supine idealism, tempered sometimes with a strong dose of mysticism."⁷⁶ It is "a nonparadigmatic, transdisciplinary, centerless"

⁷⁰ Misztal, *Theories of Social Remembering* pp. 6, 11, 12.

⁷¹ See especially Mary Ann Tolbert, "Social, Sociological, and Anthropological Methods," in *Searching the Scriptures: A Feminist Introduction* (ed. Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza; New York: Crossroad, 1993) 1.226.

⁷² Moshenska, "Working with Memory," p. 34. Cf. S. Radstone, "Working with Memory: An Introduction," in *Memory and Methodology* (ed. S. Radstone; Oxford: Berg, 2000); Wood, *Vectors of Memory*.

 $^{^{73}}$ K. L. Klein, "On the Emergence of *Memory* in Historical Discourse," *Representations* 69 (2000) 127-49, p. 128.

⁷⁴ Klein, "On the Emergence of *Memory* in Historical Discourse," p. 145.

⁷⁵ Duncan S. A. Bell, "Mythscapes: Memory, Mythology, and National Identity," *British Journal of Sociology* 54.1 (2003) 63–81, p. 65.

⁷⁶ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 71.

enterprise;"⁷⁷ a "largely meaningless term increasingly co-opted as socio-political capital" for this or that power base.⁷⁸ There appear to be many "interpenetrating social and cognitive processes" which get broad-brush-stroked as memory.⁷⁹ Duncan Bell, for instance, has attempted to place this "memory boom" under suspicion while arguing for a social agency approach.⁸⁰ It is the raising of memory to "the role of a meta-theoretical trope" which has caused the ire of many.⁸¹ The varying social practices, cognitive processes and configurative strategies are subsumed with their "contradictory forces and tensions of history and politics" by a singular name.⁸² In short, it has become a term "under-theorized and yet grossly over-employed."⁸³

The concept of memory might also be a clever cover to dodge the difficult questions of historicity.⁸⁴ What is more, though seen as a natural methodological complement of oral culture, the problem is that though there has been great work done on oral culture and societies,⁸⁵ the oral period of Jesus remains difficult for us to imagine.⁸⁶ As Jan Vansina stated in his authoritative study of oral cultures, the one general rule of oral tradition is that there are no general rules. The relationship between faithful

⁷⁷ J. K. Olick and J. Robbins, "Social Memory Studies: From 'Collective Memory' to the Historical Sociology of Mnemonic Practices," *Annual Review of Sociology* 24 (1998) 105-40, p. 106.

⁷⁸Elam, "Collective Memory—What is it?"; cf. the caution of J. Bourke, "Introduction: 'Remembering' War," *Journal of Contemporary History* 39.4 (2004) 473-85, p. 473.

⁷⁹ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 65.

⁸⁰ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 65. The Social agency approach for which he advocates is that of E. Sivan and J. Winter, ed., *War and Remembrance in the Twentieth Century* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999) esp. 1–39. See, too, the employment of this method in J. Winter, *Remembering War*.

⁸¹ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 65.

⁸² Bell, "Mythscapes," pp. 71–72.

⁸³ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 74.

⁸⁴ This criticism, though leveled against narrative critical approaches, could be applied to critical memory theory as well. On the critique of narrative criticism, see Dunn, *A New Perspective on Jesus*, p. 21.

⁸⁵ See Donald A. Ritchie, ed., *The Oxford Handbook of Oral History* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), esp. pp. 77–168. Cf. Samuel Byrskog, *Story as History - History as Story: The Gospel Tradition in the Context of Ancient Oral History* (WUNT 123; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000); David Aune, *The New Testament in Its Literary Environment* (Cambridge: James Clarke, 1988); David Aune, "Prolegomena to the Study of Oral Traditions in the Hellenistic World," in *Jesus and the Oral Gospel Tradition* (ed. H. Wansbrough; JSNTSupp; Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 1991).

⁸⁶ E. P. Sanders and Margaret Davies, *Studying the Synoptic Gospels* (Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1989) 141.

preservation of the past must be investigated on a case by case basis.⁸⁷ Memory capacities "vary not only from person to person but also from place to place and from time to time." What is more, it is always "hazardous to move from psychological studies of moderns to historical conclusions about ancients."⁸⁸ The science of cognition and the psychological reflection on cognitive science is evolving as new evidence comes to light.⁸⁹ Offering definitive pronouncements on what memory is and how it works, therefore, should cause us some level of caution in proceeding. In setting memory as the object of study there is a "risk of naturalizing the very phenomenon whose heightened presence or salience is in need of investigation."⁹⁰ Methodologically speaking, for many memory critics, *plus ça change, plus c'est la meme chose.* If we are going to employ the concept of memory in this research it is therefore appropriate to define and explicate our usage of this conflicted term.

4.1.3. Appropriations and Alterations of Memory Theory for this Research
Though sympathetic with many of the suspicions of memory studies articulated
above—and indeed critical of some of the studies which have appropriated memory
theories unreflectively to Jesus and the Gospels—there are plenty of advantages for
applying a form of the method to this research as a viable alternative to the current
status within historical Jesus scholarship. The dangers of memory's overdetermination as well its amorphous employment to mean and catch everything are
certainly to be avoided. Part of the attractive quality, however, of thinking about
memory with respect to the historical figure of Jesus and the Gospels which evoke
him is owing to the generational gap between his death and the rise of the Gospel
tradition. Though there are certainly no simple answers concerning the origins of a

⁸⁷ Jan Vansina, *Oral Tradition as History* (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1985) 42. I am grateful to Prof. Richard Bauckham for directing me to this reference.

⁸⁸ Allison, *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History* 27. Though see the interesting attempt in Jocelyn Penny Small, *Wax Tablets of the Mind: Cognitive Studies of Memory and Literacy in Classical Antiquity* (London: Routledge, 1997).

⁸⁹ See, e.g., Keith Frankish and William Ramsey, ed., *The Cambridge Handbook of Cognitive Science* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012).

⁹⁰ Michael Lambek, "Memory in a Maussian Universe," in *Regimes of Memory* (ed. Susannah Radstone and Katharine Hodgkin; New York: Routledge, 2003) 211.

Gospel tradition and its witness to the historical figure of Jesus,⁹¹ memory can offer a promising, nuanced approach in making sense of the dynamics of Gospel tradition(s).⁹²

An early attempt to configure the relationality of this space was the rise of the *Formgeschichtliche Schule*. 93 Though following the lead from Old Testament scholars such as Hermann Gunkel and Hugo Gressmann, 94 *Formgeschichtliche* influence was mediated particularly through the articulations of Karl Ludwig Schmidt, 95 Martin Dibelius, 96 and Rudolf Bultmann. 97 *Formgeschichte* was not naïve to the role of memory within the development of the Gospel tradition but it was certainly antiquated in its understanding of the complex phenomenon. 98 *Formgeschichte* "conceived of memory narrowly" on the model of recollections which did not match with the narratives of Gospel traditions. 99 In the work of Schmidt's *Der Rahmen der Geschichte Jesu* (1919), for example, Mark is seen as adding an artificial framework

⁹¹ Cf. Werner H. Kelber, "Conclusion: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective," in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives* (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 48.

⁹² Cf. Alan Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 809–42, p. 815.

⁹³ On Formgeschichte in general, see Vernon K. Robbins, "Form Criticism: New Testament," in The Anchor Bible Dictionary (ed. David Noel Freedman; New York: Doubleday, 1992) 2.841–43; Johannes P. Floss, "Form, Source, and Redaction Criticism," in The Oxford Handbook of Biblical Studies (ed. J. W. Rogerson and Judith M. Lieu; Oxford Oxford University Press, 2006); 591–614; Christopher Tuckett, "Form Criticism," in Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 21–38; Jens Schröter, Erinnerung an Jesu Worte: Studien zur Rezeption der Logienüberlieferung in Markus, Q, und Thomas (WMANT 76; Neukirchen-Vluyn: Nuekirchener, 1997) 1–65; and, Arland J. Hultgren, "Form Criticism and Jesus Research," in Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 649–72.

⁹⁴ See, e.g., James C. Livingston and Francis Schüssler Fiorenza, *The Twentieth Century* (Modern Christian Thought; vol. 2; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) 15–17.

⁹⁵ Karl Ludwig Schmidt, *Der Rahmen der Geschichte Jesu: Literarkritische Untersuchungen zur ältesten Jesusüberlieferung* (Berlin: Trowitzsch, 1919).

⁹⁶ Martin Dibelius, *Die Formgeschichte des Evangeliums* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1919); Martin Dibelius, *From Tradition to Gospel* (London: Ivor Nicholson and Watson, 1934 [1919]).

⁹⁷ Rudolf Bultmann, "The New Approach to the Synoptic Problem," in *Existence and Faith* (ed. Rudolf Bultmann; London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1961 [1926]) 35–56; Rudolf Bultmann, *Die Geschichte der Synoptischen Tradition* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck, 1921); Rudolf Bultmann, *The History of the Synoptic Tradition* (trans. John Marsh; Oxford: Blackwell, 1968 [1921]).

 $^{^{98}}$ It should be noted that Halbwachs was active during the time of Formgeschichte and vice versa.

⁹⁹ Alan Kirk, "Memory," in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives* (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 163.

that links and unites the various forms of preexistent Gospel material within the oral tradition. In this scenario, memory and tradition are incommensurable as the former are buried underneath the multiple layers, or stages, of the latter. The latter of latter of the latter of latter of the latter of latter of

This may well inform why memory studies, as we noted above, though widely appropriated across the range of humanities are surprisingly sparse within New Testament scholarship. 104 This is most likely owing to the hangover of certain forms of *Formgeschichte*. Birger Gerhardsson was one of the first respondents to the dominant theory of *Formgeschichte* with a prescient counterproposal of memory. 105 Memory within *Formgeschichte* had been viewed as a contaminant but Gerhardsson raised memory to "the crucial operational role in the origins and transmission of

¹⁰⁰ Rudolf Bultmann, *Jesus and Word* (trans. Louise Pettibone; New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1958 [1926]) 125–26.

¹⁰¹ See, e..g, R. H. Lightfoot, *History and Interpretation in the Gospels* (London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1935) 30–31.

¹⁰² Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity* (ed. Alan Kirk; Semeia Studies 52; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005) 30. That is to say, which *Gattung* (form) each unit would take: the paradigm, the tale, the legend, the passion story, the myth. See Richard Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses: The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2006) 244.

¹⁰³ Ernst Käsemann, "The Problem of the Historical Jesus," in *Essays on New Testament Themes* (*Studies in Biblical Theology*; London SCM, 1964); Kelber states that the preoccupation for Bultmann was authenticating memories about Jesus. See Kelber, "Memory's Desire," p. 65. This should be nuanced a bit, however, as Bultmann was rather guarded about *any* historical information preserved in the Gospel material. The persistence of Jesus traditions was owing to the pragmatic needs of the early Church. His was the Jesus of the *kerygma*, not of history in the first instance. See, e.g., Bultmann, *Jesus and Word*, p. 8.

¹⁰⁴ Kelber, "Memory's Desire," pp. 58-59.

¹⁰⁵ On the contribution of Gerhardsson in general, see Byrskog, "Introduction," pp. 4–17.

tradition."¹⁰⁶ The shortcomings of *Formgeschichte* have been pointed out on numerous occasions and need not detain us here,¹⁰⁷ but its fundamental assumption of an original form (*die ursprüngliche Form*) is what needs to be underscored as problematic. According to memory theory, there is simply "no single original to be varied."¹⁰⁸ In like manner, any concept of "tradition" cannot be understood as a singular or static phenomenon but "is characterized by variability, while retaining stable, mnemonic markers as facilitators of remembering."¹⁰⁹ It is within this dated paradigm that the debates of the last few centuries over the historical reliability of this or that episode in the Gospels gets played out with the conflict invariably "centering on the relative distance between the original memories of Jesus and the documents that are now available."¹¹⁰ Though few still follow Bultmann and other form critics,¹¹¹ its assumptions within the dynamics of oral transmission in the movement from historical figure to Gospel text is still widely operable—even in its critics.

The approach adopted here is similar to *Formgeschichte* in that both understand the societal pressures and communal concerns as significant factors both within the rehearsing of a community's past and in their shaping of texts to reflect these strategies. But the two approaches diverge significantly at the level of the artificial wedge *Formgeschichte* posits between memory and the "past" and its search for the originary. The approach here suggests that the past is shaped, sacralized, and

¹⁰⁶ Kirk, "Memory," p. 155.

¹⁰⁷ Werner H. Kelber, "The Oral-Scribal-Memorial Arts of Communication in Early Christianity" in *Jesus, the Voice, and the Text* (ed. Thomas Thatcher; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2008) 235–62; Werner H. Kelber, "The Work of Walter Ong and Biblical Scholarship," in *Language, Culture, and Identity: The Legacy of Walter Ong, S. J.* (ed. Sara van den Berg and Thomas M. Walsh; Creskill: Hampton Press, 2011); Werner H. Kelber, "The History of the Closure of Biblical Texts," *Oral Tradition* 25.1 (2010) 115–40. Still worth consulting is the early work of Erhard Güttgemanns, *Candid Questions Concerning Gospel Form Criticism: A Methodological Sketch of the Fundamental Problematics of Form and Redaction Criticism* (The Pittsburgh Theological Monograph Series; vol. 26; Pittsburgh: Pickwick Press, 1979).

¹⁰⁸ Kelber, "Conclusion: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective," p. 183.

¹⁰⁹ Kelber, "Conclusion: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective," p. 183.

 $^{^{110}}$ Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 26

¹¹¹ See, e.g., Reiner Blank, *Analyse und Kritik der formgeschichtlichen Arbeiten von Martin Dibelius und Rudolf Bultmann* (Basel: Reinhardt, 1981); and, generally, Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 246–48.

interpreted through commemoration while still being a *kind* of witness to the past. Collective memory recognizes the communal fashioning and cultivating of foundational memory clusters as they are communicated and performed within the community. There are cognitive social, and cultural dynamics to memory which are at work in the formation of a tradition as an artifact of the memory cluster. The memory cluster is the "perpetually mutating repository for the representation of the past for the purposes of the present." Tradition and memory, therefore, cannot be pried apart. The former is the "indissoluble, irreducibly complex artifact of the continual negotiation and semantic interpenetration of present social realities and memorialized pasts." Though not without its ambiguities, memory theory provides a useful framework for assessing the development and transformations of the Gospel tradition in "terms of the constitutive orientation of the Jesuscommunities to a commemorated past," and intersects quite well with key issues of so-called Christian "origins" and historical Jesus scholarship.

A helpful grid, appropriated largely from the work of Jan Assmann, in terms of the move from empirical event to text and a community's commemoration of the process may be in order. The community's foundational memories first circulate through face-to-face interactions. This communicative dynamic was fueled by initial participants. This process of *communicative memory* extends from the lifetime of the foundational memory to the last of the participants. After the passing of the last event-participants of the foundational memories a crisis of memory occurs. There is a composite or cluster of memories which then move into the lived and shared experiences of small groups which form around these participant remembrances. This gives rise to *cultural memory*. Varying cultural and social pressures give rise to competing versions of memory or the threat of the oblivion of communal

¹¹² Kirk, "Memory," p. 166; cf. Gérard Namer, *Mémoire et société* (Paris: Méridiens Lincksieck, 1987) 140–57.

¹¹³ Bell, "Mythscapes," p. 66.

¹¹⁴ Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 33.

¹¹⁵ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.820.

¹¹⁶ See Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 25.

¹¹⁷ For what follows, see generally, Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory* pp. 1–121.

remembrance which in turn give rise to a new set of crises of memory. Authoritative memories are thus established through commemoration in "an effort to fix the meaning and purpose...in an enduring form;" that is, in an authoritative text. Here, however, we should perhaps guard a bit from overstating the case made by Savage with respect to war monuments and the dynamics operative in the Markan Gospel. If there is any truth to the reports of Quadratus in his *Apology*, as late as 100CE initial participants were still living (cf. *Hist. Eccl.* 4.3.1–2). The disappearance of these participants is therefore only part of the process as the Markan Gospel was considerably earlier. A significant factor that is often overlooked in this regard is the role scripture played both as a site of contested claim as well as a source for identity construction—both in terms of continuity and discontinuity with the heritages of Judaism. ¹¹⁹

A text, therefore, is an artifactual form of cultural memory or an "extended context" of tradition. Tradition is the community's "deposit of its formative narratives and normative wisdom," and thus the "artifactual manifestation of its cultural memory. Tradition cannot be seen as a singular or fixed phenomenon. Some have made the comparison of tradition with a living river that shifts its bed as it ebbs and flows. As a "tradition" shifts its bed, some texts and memories within the memory cluster are forgotten while others added or reformulated. They get "expanded, shortened, re-written, and anthologized in a constant flux. Gradually, the center and the periphery become identifiable structures. Because of their

¹¹⁸ Kirk Savage, "The Politics of Memory: Black Emancipation and the Civil War Monument," in *Commemorations: The Politics of National Identity* (ed. John R. Gillis; Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1994) 127.

¹¹⁹ Here we depart from Kirk who states that the sphere of oral transmission of the tradition "is a *synchronic* space defined by a community's generational life-cycle." Issues of *generational succession* trigger a "crisis in tradition." Within this pattern of thought, the Gospels can be conceived of as "artifacts of this crisis of memory triggered by generational succession in the Jesus movement" (Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.839). In my view this overlooks the role in which scripture played in the process of self identification. I am grateful to Dr Wendy E. S. North for a lively conversation regarding some of these dynamics.

¹²⁰ K. Ehlich, "Text und sprachliches Handeln: Die Enststehung von Texten aus dem Bedürfnis nach überlieferung," in *Schrift und Gedächtnis* (ed. J. Assmann A. Assmann, and C. Hardmeier; Munich: W. Fink, 1983). Paul Ricoeur calls documents the "archived memory." See Ricoeur, *Memory, History, Forgetting*, p. 178

¹²¹ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.829.

importance, certain texts acquire central status," eventually embodying normative and formative value. These structures however themselves shift. "The activity of memory in articulating the past is unceasing because it takes place within the social frameworks of the ever-shifting present." The move from memory cluster to text is therefore best viewed "als eine Veränderung im Überlieferungsprozeß." 124

Cultural memory "investigates the conditions that enable" these texts to be "established and handed down."¹²⁵ For some theorists, constructions of the past are no more than projections of ideological compounds and rhetorical strategies of present negotiations. ¹²⁶ There is of course no "royal road to the historical Jesus," ¹²⁷ but the Scylla of constructivism and the Charybdis of passivity with respect to memory approaches are polarities which need to be avoided altogether. Moreover, the failings of human memory within memory experiments are hardly relevant to this research. ¹²⁸ Dominic Crossan makes recourse to the experiments of Frederic Bartlett which show how human memory "is normally exceedingly subject to error." ¹²⁹ Crossan builds on Bartlett in order to problematize memory's recall of the past. ¹³⁰ There is a corrective here that is worth noting: memories of the past are

¹²² Assmann, Religion and Cultural Memory, p. 40.

¹²³ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.816.

¹²⁴ Schröter, *Erinnerung*, p. 464. Cited in Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.813.

¹²⁵ Assmann, Religion and Cultural Memory, p. ix.

¹²⁶ John Bodnar, *Remaking America: Public Memory, Commemoration, and Patriotism in the Twentieth Century* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1992) 15.

¹²⁷ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.839.

¹²⁸ Even here we should note the conclusion of Gillian Cohen's impressive study: "Considering how grossly it is overloaded, memory in the real world proves remarkably efficient and resilient." See Gillian Cohen, "Overview: Conclusions and Speculations," in *Memory in the Real World* (ed. Gillian Cohen and Martin A. Conway; New York: Psychology Press, 2008) 389.

¹²⁹ Frederic C. Bartlett, *Remembering: A Study in Experimental and Social Psychology* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995) 176.

¹³⁰ John Dominic Crossan, *The Birth of Christianity: Discovering what Happened in the Years Immediately after the Execution of Jesus* (San Francisco: HarperOne, 1999) 78–84.

never full presentations of the past.¹³¹ "Thanks to their very gappiness, memories can be considered *pastiches* of the past—never its full spatial re-presentation."¹³²

Nevertheless, we again make reference to Allison's caution regarding the hazardous move from psychological studies of moderns to historical conclusions about antiquity.¹³³ Even more to the point, the difficulty with relying too much on Bartlett's experiments and others like them is that the scenarios with which they are observing and the phenomenon of the Jesus-tradition are incommensurate groups. An oral tradition is set up to counter—or, at least, account for—the failings and fraudulences of human memory.¹³⁴ Memories become conventionalized or schematized which refer to the "rapid reduction of diffusely complex experiences to stereotyped forms and scripts that acts as mnemonic mechanisms for their reproduction as memory."135 Moreover, though memory can exert a sense of creativity in the memorial process, it remains "enmeshed in its origins even when it seems to be functioning independently of them" retaining "a commitment to truth concerning the past, a truth that reflects the specificity of the past even if it need not offer an exact likeness of it."136 The cognitive operations of memory such as "economy of presentation, compounding, temporally indeterminate framing, and schematizing in a typology of forms" tie memory clusters to a sense of the past without wildly recreating at whim. These all "correspond to characteristic features" of the synoptic tradition."137 Indeed the Gospel genre is a culturally-inculcated pattern for organization, a cultural script which serves as a cognitive aid to memory.

¹³¹ See, in somewhat similar ways applied to oral poetry, A. D. Baum, "Der mündliche Faktor: Teilanalogien zu Minor Agreements aus der Oral Poetry-Forschung und der experimentellen Gedächtnis-Psychologie," *Biblica* 85 (2004) 264–72.

¹³² Edward S. Casey, *Remembering: A Phenomenological Study* (Studies in Continental Thought; Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2000) 72.

¹³³ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 27.

¹³⁴ David C. Rubin, *Memory in Oral Traditions: The Cognitive Psychology of Epic, Ballads, and Counting-Out Rhymes* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995) 144.

¹³⁵ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.823.

¹³⁶ Casey, *Remembering*, pp. 280–83.

¹³⁷ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.826.

The failings and frailties of human memory are also accounted for through the act of commemoration and its signification of the past. "Drawing upon all the symbolic resources of culture, memory infuses past events with *meaning*; it converts them into symbolic forms artificed to be bearers of the truth, moral judgments, and norms perceived to be immanent in the actual empirical events."138 Within the Jesus tradition, the influx of communal concerns with memories of actual words and activities of the historical figure are always already present at every stage of the memory process. The Gospels cannot be brute history because brute history is without meaning. Meaning is assigned to the past through its commemoration in the present. Within the Jesus tradition "the past is marked and represented in such a way as to enable it to exercise culture-symbolic power for the tradent communities."139 In other words, the so-called historical Jesus and Christ of faith are fused and infect every memory within the memory cluster and every aspect of the Jesus tradition. Communal interests and retrospective historicizing, however, are not incommensurable with an historical dynamic within the Jesus tradition.¹⁴⁰ Though the product of the politically contested valuations of the 1980s, for example, the Vietnam War Memorial in Washington D.C. cannot be excluded from saying something about the Vietnam War itself. 141 The opposite is the case. The "changing, even conflicting, interpretations of landmark events evident in these commemorative enterprises amount to the reverberative effects of foundational events into new social contexts and thus are historically informative in their own right."142 The Gospel tradition, similarly, has a relationship with the empirical past which is *mediated by commemoration*.¹⁴³ They are the results of communities drawing from the "deep pools of early Christian memory" by way of negotiating their relationship to the historical figure of Jesus and his Wirkungsgeschichte and

¹³⁸ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.835.

¹³⁹ Kirk," Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.835.

¹⁴⁰ For what follows, I follow with some tinkering, Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.835.

¹⁴¹ Robin Wagner-Pacifici and Barry Schwartz, "The Vietnam Memorial: Commemorating a Difficult Past," *ASJ* 97 (1991) 376–420. See, too, Judith Dupre, *Monuments: America's History in Art and Memory* (New York: Random House, 2007).

¹⁴² Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.837.

¹⁴³ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.837.

their own socio-cultural realities.¹⁴⁴ Jesus was thus represented "through multiple acts of remembering that semantically fused the present situations of the respective communities" with relevant memories from the memory cluster and were borne out in commemorative practices without being swallowed up entirely by the other.¹⁴⁵

What "is at issue is the question of the relationship between the witness to Jesus Christ found in the New Testament and the activity of the earthly Jesus," as well as the "relationship between oral Jesus traditions and their being committed to writing." ¹⁴⁶ Here, however, we must exercise caution with respect to making simplistic claims about orality. It is important not to underestimate the written at the expense of the oral. Communication throughout the Roman empire consisted of both the scopic and the inscriptural. ¹⁴⁷ Moreover, discoveries from the so-called Vindolanda Tablets and Oxyrhynchus papyri attest that written communication was actually quite prevalent in matters great and small. ¹⁴⁸ To suggest that the ancient world was a world of orality is therefore a bit naïve and overstated. ¹⁴⁹ Moreover, citing literacy studies of antiquity which estimate the number of people who could read, write, or do both at somewhere between 5% percent and rising as high as 15%

¹⁴⁴ See, e.g., Peter Pokorný, "Jesus Research as Feedback on His *Wirkungsgeschichte*," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.333–60.

¹⁴⁵ Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 33.

¹⁴⁶ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 104; cf. Jens Schröter, "'Die Kirche besitzt vier Evangelien, die Häresie viele,' Die Entstehung des Neuen Testaments im Kontext der frühchristlichen Geschicte und Literature," *Bibel und Kirche* 60.2 (2005) 68-74.

¹⁴⁷ Cf. Laura Salah Nasrallah, *Christian Responses to Roman Art and Architecture: The Second-Century Church amid the Spaces of Empire* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010) 215; and, Paul Zanker, *The Power of Images in the Age of Augustus* (Ann Arbor; University of Michigan Press: 1988). See, too, Clifford Ando, *Imperial Ideology and Provincial Loyalty in the Roman Empire* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2000) 73–130.

¹⁴⁸ On the Vindolanda Tablets, see Alan K. Bowman, *Life and Letters on the Roman Frontier* (London: Routledge, 1998) 82–99; A. K. Bowman and J. D. Thomas, *The Vindolanda Writing-Tablets* (Tabulae Vindolandenses II; London: British Museum Press, 1994). For a listing of the Vindolanda Tablets online, see http://vindolanda.csad.ox.ac.uk/ (accessed 25 March 2012). See, too, J. N. Adams, "The Latin of the Vindolanda Writing Tablets," *Journal of Roman Studies* 85 (1995) 86–134. For an online version of the Oxyrhynchus papyri, see http://www.papyrology.ox.ac.uk/POxy/ (accessed 25 March 2012).

¹⁴⁹ As does Dunn, *A New Perspective on Jesus*, p. 76. Dunn goes on to cite Marshall McLuhan, *The Gutenberg Galaxy: The Making of Typographic Man* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1962); Walter J. Ong, *Orality and Literacy: The Technologizing of the World* (New York: Routledge, 1988 [1982]); Eric A. Havelock, *The Muse Learns to Write: Reflections on Orality and Literacy from Antiquity to the Present* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1986).

for the elite is deeply problematic.¹⁵⁰ How can this possibly be known? Even so, though sharing the cautions of Sanders noted earlier, it is worth considering the transmission of memory through traditional conceptions of oral studies.¹⁵¹ The cultivation of memory is particularly emphasized in oral cultures.¹⁵² Though again, we must be suspicious of overstatement, some have suggested that "there remained a bias toward orality and oral memory in the first-century world."¹⁵³ The recorded tales of the capacities of individual memory in antiquity are astounding,¹⁵⁴ and even if such memory moguls were sparse in the early church, "it requires far less exceptional *communal* memory to have preserved the basic substance of Jesus' message and the direction of his ministry."¹⁵⁵ Moreover, remembering a teacher's sayings was expected of disciples.¹⁵⁶ "Both attributed and unattributed maxims were memorized and passed on for centuries even in elementary educational settings."¹⁵⁷

150 Holly E. Hearon, "The Implications of Orality for Studies of the Biblical Text," in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (ed. Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) 18. Cf. Richard Rohrbaugh, "The Social Location of the Marcan Audience," *BTB* 23 (1993) 23; Meir Bar-Ilan, "Illiteracy in the Land of Israel in the First Centuries CE," in *Essays in the Social Scientific Study of Judaism and Jewish Society* (ed. S. Schoenfeld S. Fishbane, and A. Goldschläger; Hobeken, N.J.: KTAV, 1992) 2; William V. Harris, *Ancient Literacy* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1986).

¹⁵¹ See, especially, John Miles Foley, "Memory in Oral Tradition," in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (ed. Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006) 83–96; John M. Foley, *Immanent Art: From Structure to Meaning in Traditional Oral Epic* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991); Albert B. Lord, *The Singer of Tales* (Harvard Studies in Comparative Literature; vol. 24; ed. Stephen Mitchell and Gregory Nagy; Cambridge Harvard University Press, 2000).

¹⁵² See the study of Alistair Thomson, "Memory and Rembering in Oral History," in *The Oxford Handbook of Oral History* (ed. Donald A. Ritchie; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010) 77–95.

¹⁵³ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels* 140; cf. Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyew*itnesses, pp. 325–41 and the literature cited therein for a defense of this position.

¹⁵⁴ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. 141. See, for example, Pliny *Ep.* 2.3.3; 6.11.2; cf. 6.2.2.; Seneca, *Controv.* 1 pref.17–18.

¹⁵⁵ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. 146.

 $^{^{156}}$ Though I see a fundamental problematization of pure origins on account of memory theory, I do not wish to move so far away from something like the past and drift into the currents of pure constructivism.

¹⁵⁷ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. 146.

James Dunn gives five broad characteristics of oral transmission that are worth considering. First, oral performance is not like reading a literary text. It is evanescent, an event. Tied up with this is the phenomenon of *second orality*; that is, a written text is "known only through oral performance of the text. Second, oral tradition is communal in character, with the "performance" being heard "within the community's 'horizon of expectation. Third, in the oral community there would be one or more who were recognized as having *primary responsibility for maintaining and performing the community's tradition*—what E. A. Havelock calls "an oral 'encyclopedia' of social habit and custom-law and convention. The fourth, oral tradition subverts the idea of an original version. And, fifth, oral tradition is a combination of fixity and flexibility, of stability and diversity.

Jesus most likely "used some sayings on more than one occasion, just as most speakers do." The search for the original saying or source, then, is further complicated. But the Gospels seem to contain "representative samples of enough kinds of sayings" to suggest a common pattern. Yet can we speak at all of a "collective memory" in the societies of antiquity without being accused of using an artificial expression? Perhaps one should rather think of common events, common matters or even common experiences which may have been known within a community. "Memory of such matters is not necessarily collective, although the objects or events that were common to the society may be so." This is what Pierre Nora has termed lieux de mémoire. The past that is not gone but is perceived as eternal presence" creates what Nora called milieux de mémoire, "the real

¹⁵⁸ Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, pp. 46–56.

¹⁵⁹ Paul J. Achtemeier, "*Omne verbum sonat*: The New Testament and the Oral Environment of Late Western Antiquity," *Journal of Biblical Literature* 109 (1990) 3-27.

¹⁶⁰ Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, p. 47.

¹⁶¹ Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, p. 95.

¹⁶² Havelock, *The Muse Learns to Write*, pp. 57–58.

¹⁶³ Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. 142.

¹⁶⁴ Though not sharing his confidence in the "high degree of historical probability," see Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, p. 155; cf. Schröter, *Erinnerung*, passim.

¹⁶⁵ Mendels, "Societies of Memory in the Graeco-Roman World," p. 144.

¹⁶⁶ Pierre Nora, *Realms of Memory: The Construction of the French Past* (3vols.; New York: Columbia University Press, 1996-98).

environments of memory." Ritual and the *milieux de mémoire* have vanished and we are left with only sites which remind us of the past, *lieux de mémoire*. It is therefore not retrieval or repetition of the past but its representation, "a meaningful entity of a real or imagined kind, which has become a symbolic element of a given community as a result of human will or the effect of time." It is therefore worth considering the historical figure, his actions and words and the discernable aims of these interactions, as the lieu(x) de memoire of early Christian reflection (see further, §5.1.1.).

4.2. Examples of Use in Similar Studies

Though memory studies have been fashionably catching on across the humanities, its impact upon NT scholarship has been sparse. The concept of memory has been applied to various strands within biblical studies, and there has been some pioneering work done by Birger Gerhardsson and Werner Kelber, that its appropriation within Gospel studies and historical Jesus research is still in its infancy.

¹⁶⁷ See Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces*, p. 8.

¹⁶⁸ See Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces*, p. 8, citing Pierre Nora, ed., *Les Lieux de Memoire* (Del'archive à l'emblème Paris: III/3, Les France, 1992) 1004.

¹⁶⁹ Kelber, "Memory's Desire," pp. 58–59.

¹⁷⁰ E.g., Yosef H. Yerushalmi, Zakhor: Jewish History and Jewish Memory (Philadelphia: Unversity of Washtington Press, 1982); Michael A. Signer, ed., Memory and History in Christianity and Judaism (Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 2001); John W. Rogerson, A Theology of the Old Testament: Cultural Memory, Communication and Being Human (Lond: SPCK, 2009) 13–41; and, of course, within Jan Assmann's own field of Egyptology, Assmann, Moses the Egyptian pp. 1–54. See, too, the essays collected in Kirk and Thatcher's recent edited volume which as a whole "outline a research agenda for memory-oriented analysis of the beginnings of Christianity and its literature." Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 22.

¹⁷¹ For an evaluation of the contribution of Birger Gerhardsson, see Byrskog, "Introduction," pp. 4–17; Kelber, "Conclusion: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective," pp. 173–206; Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," pp. 34–35.

¹⁷² See, e.g., the studies in Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher, ed., *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity* (Semeia Studies 52; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005); Terrence C. Mournett, "The Jesus Tradition as Oral Tradition," in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives* (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 39–62; Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley, ed., *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006); Michael F. Bird, "The Formation of the Gospels in the Setting of Early Christianity: The Jesus Tradition as Corporate Memory," *WTJ* 67 (2005) 113–34; Rafael Rodriguez, *Structuring Early Christian Memory: Jesus in Tradition, Performance, and Text* (European Studies on Christian Origins, LNTS 407; London: T & T Clark, 2010); Anthony Le Donne, *The Historiographical Jesus: Memory, Typology, and*

There is certainly broad consensus that the Gospels contain some form of blurred reminiscence in the sense that early communities were not interested in a kind of von Rankean Jesus, 173 but an historically significant Jesus for the communities which bore witness to him. The broad consensus, however, ends here as there is no clear or precise way in determining the extent of this blurred reminiscence. 174 This is the key debate within contemporary memory studies and several studies have worked through sketches for ways forward. Some scholars advocate a strong correlation between memory and history and argue for the Gospels as ancient biography. 175 Others allow for communal concerns to shape the material while still retaining an element of witness to historical material. Whatever the merits of his particular argument might be, Alan Kirk, for example, argues that the construction of Q was an artifact of commemoration in response to Jesus' crucifixion in an act of ritualized political violence. 176 It was through commemorative *keying* that the community transformed this trauma into a meaningful event by fusing it with foundational

the Son of David (Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009); Robert K. McIver, Memory, Jesus, and the Synoptic Gospels (Resources for Biblical Study 59; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2011); and Dunn, Jesus Remembered.

¹⁷³ Leopold von Ranke's dictum wie es eigentlich gewesen has come under heavy criticism to say the least. Walter Benjamin, for example, called it the strong "narcotic" of the nineteenth century. See Walter Benjamin, "N [Re the Theory of Knowledge. Theory of Progress]," in *Benjamin: Philosophy, Aesthetics, History* (ed. Gary Smith; Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1989 [1982]) 51. For an excellent analysis of Benjamin's project, see Amy Kapczynski, "Historicism, Progress, and the Redemptive Constitution," *Cardozo Law Review* 26.3 (2005) 1041–117. The reception of von Ranke and his famous (infamous?) wie es eigentlich gewesen has been variously understood. See, especially, Clark, *History, Theory, Text* 194 n. 5. On von Ranke and the "Noble Dream" of objectivity within the history profession, see *ibid.*, pp. 9–28, esp. pp. 9–17. See, too, on some of the undeserved criticisms of Ranke, Gérard Noiriel, *Sur la 'crise' de l'histoire* (Paris: Editions Gallimard, 2005 [1996]); and, Jean Glénisson, *Dictionnaire des Sciences Historiques* (Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 1986).

¹⁷⁴ Sanders, *Jesus and Judaism* 15–16.

¹⁷⁵ See, e.g., Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*, pp. 71–162; Richard A. Burridge, *What Are the Gospels? A Comparison with Graeco-Roman Bibliography* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004); cf. Adela Yarbro Collins, *Mark: A Commentary* (Hermeneia: A Critical and Historical Commentary on the Bible; ed. Harold W. Attridge; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007) 15–43.

¹⁷⁶ Kirk, of course, is aware that most see little theological reflection on Jesus' death in Q. Nevertheless, it seems an uphill battle to argue for a commemoration of something when commemorating an act usually tends toward the naming of that act. In any case, Kirk does represent someone who is working hard at the methodological level of memory and also thinking about its appropriations in texts. Though on Q, see Francis Watson, "Q as Hypothesis: A Study in Methodology," *NTS* 55.4 (2009) 397–415.

themes and tropes within the heritages of Judaism.¹⁷⁷ April DeConick, in a similar vein, argues that the texts of the *Gospel of Thomas* are the result of a retooling of apocalyptic traditions from earlier eschatological emphases to a more mythical basis in order to cope with the trauma of Jesus' failed return.¹⁷⁸

In a rather different move, Crossan balances the rise of early Christianity against his convictions of the frailties and faults of human memory. He sees the Gospel material as supported by the understructure of the interface between memory and tradition through three movements. First, the retention of original Jesus materials; second, the development of these materials according to social need and pressure; and, third, the creation of totally new materials.¹⁷⁹ Burton Mack operates fully within the last of these three movements when he suggests that there are no authentic materials going back to the historical Jesus and places significant stress on the social formation of the Gospel communities which were engaged in mythmaking. 180 The Gospel accounts are not "the mistaken and embellished memories of the historical person, but the myth of origin imagined by early Christians seriously engaged in their social experiments."181 The early Christians, according to Mack, had no interest in an *historical* Jesus. 182 Within these conflicting reports on the relationship between salient pasts and present social realities and the role of memory it is worth looking in detail at three case studies which will add to our own picture developed in §4.1.3.: Dale Allison, Jr., Richard Bauckham, and Jens Schröter.

¹⁷⁷ Alan Kirk, "The Memory of Violence and the Death of Jesus in Q," in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity* (ed. Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher; Society of Biblical Literature Semeia Studies; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005) 191–206.

¹⁷⁸ April DeConick, "Reading the *Gospel of Thomas* as a Repository of Early Christian Communal Memory," in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity* (ed. Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005) 207–20.

¹⁷⁹ Crossan, *The Birth of Christianity*, p. xiii.

¹⁸⁰ Burton L. Mack, *The Christian Myth: Origins, Logic, and Legacy* (London: T & T Clark, 2001) 19. Cf. Brurton L. Mack, *A Myth of Innocence: Mark and Christian Origins* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1998).

¹⁸¹ Mack, *The Christian Myth*, p. 40.

¹⁸² Mack, *The Christian Nation*, p. 40.

4.2.1. The Jesus of Recurrent Attestation: Dale Allison Jr. 183

By his own count, Allison's latest book, *Constructing Jesus*, is his fourth and final attempt to make sense of the "hypnotic" problem of the historical Jesus. ¹⁸⁴ The book is as fascinating for its chronicling of Allison's own development as it is for the contents inside. ¹⁸⁵ Those who have followed his work will notice that it, along with his earlier *The Historical Christ and the Theological Jesus* and various recent articles along the way, ¹⁸⁶ marks a significant departure and dissatisfaction with the canons of criteria which adjudicate this or that bit of material as "authentic." Allison's growing conviction is "that the means that most scholars have employed and continue to employ for constructing the historical Jesus are too flimsy to endure, or at least too flimsy for [himself] to countenance any longer." ¹⁸⁷

Allison has moved into what he considers as the promising stream of memory studies as a tool for making sense of the Gospels as authentic sources of Jesus material. Though he does not enter into a sustained discussion of what the Gospels are, his wider concern is to explore them as gathered remembrances which are "neither innocent nor objective." That is, "memories are a function of self-interest" and a significant step in the process of making sense of self-identity. Allison works with contemporary memory studies and advances nine these which serve to unsettle any sense of the stability of memory and how memory is always in the service of meaning-making and orientation in the present.

¹⁸³ For what follows, see Michael J. Thate, "Review of Dale C. Allison Jr., *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History,*" *Themelios* 36.3 (2011) 481–84.

¹⁸⁴ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. ix. The previous three were Allison, *Jesus of Nazareth: Millenarian Prophet*; Dale C. Allison, *Resurrecting Jesus: The Earliest Christian Tradition and Its Interpreters* (London: T & T Clark, 2005); and Dale C. Allison, *The Historical Christ and the Theological Jesus* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009).

¹⁸⁵ For a methodological analysis of Allison prior to this development, see Joel Willitts, "Presuppositions and Procedures in the Study of the 'Historical Jesus': Or, Why I Decided Not to be a 'Historical Jesus' Scholar," *JSHJ* 3.1 (2005) 61–108, pp. 95–100.

¹⁸⁶ E.g., Allison, "How to Marginalize the Traditional Criteria of Authenticity," 1.3–30.

¹⁸⁷ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. x.

¹⁸⁸ Allison, *Constructing Iesus*, pp. 1–30.

¹⁸⁹ Though cf. Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 441–44.

¹⁹⁰ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 1.

¹⁹¹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 6.

- 1. To recollect is not to play back a tape. 192
- 2. Information after the fact often becomes incorporated by memory into the historical happenings. There are clear cases where people "remember" events that actually did not happen.¹⁹³
- 3. Humans tend to project present circumstances and biases onto past experiences, thus assimilating our former selves with our current selves.¹⁹⁴
- 4. Memories tend to become less distinct as the time after the event increases. 195
- 5. Memories are subject to sequential displacement. 196
- 6. Individuals shape memories into meaningful narratives which further their agendas.¹⁹⁷ They help preserve "a meaningful sense of self-identity."¹⁹⁸ Similar to the ways we take on different roles within different situations, so too we shape our memories according to the varied contexts in which we find ourselves.¹⁹⁹
- 7. Memories are regulated by canon; that is, approved memories live on while unapproved remembrances are systematically forgotten.²⁰⁰
- 8. As in the case of the canonical Gospels, memory becomes story and narrative conventions inescapably sculpt their formation and result.²⁰¹
- 9. Even the most vivid memories are often "decidedly inaccurate." ²⁰²

Though we might well be wary here of a high confidence in people remembering now as they always have in the past,²⁰³ or from context to context,²⁰⁴ Allison is surely correct in pointing out the deficiencies and fallibility of human memory. The emphasis, however, seems slightly misplaced when considering the social forces of

¹⁹² Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 2.

¹⁹³ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 3.

¹⁹⁴ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 4.

¹⁹⁵ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 5.

¹⁹⁶ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 5.

¹⁹⁷ Memories are "transmuted re-creations," part of "our continued efforts to make coherence of our own lives, to synthesize past and present so as to face the future" Steven Rose, *The Making of Memory: From Molecules to Mind* (New York: Doubleday, 1992) 307.

¹⁹⁸ Greg J. Neimeyer and April E. Metzler, "Personal Identity and Autobiographical Recall," in *The Remembering Self: Construction and Accuracy in the Self-Narrative* (ed. Ulric Neisser and Robyn Fivush; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994) 129.

¹⁹⁹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 7.

²⁰⁰ Wickham, *Social Memory* and Jan Assmann, "Ancient Egyptian Antijudaism: A Case of Distorted Memory," in *Memory Distortion: How Minds, Brains, and Societies Reconstruct the Past* (ed. Daniel L. Schacter; Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1995). Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 7.

²⁰¹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 7.

²⁰² Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 7.

²⁰³ Though see Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 222 n. 1 and pp. 253–54.

²⁰⁴ E.g., remembering what you had for breakfast this morning is not the same *activity* as remembering the congregational hymns or prayers of your youth. Memory can function differently from activity to activity.

memory at work within the Gospels as communal remembrances for communal formation.²⁰⁵ As we saw above, oral tradition was not unaware of the failings and fraudulences of human memory and thus had failsafe measures to protect a community's formative communal memory. Nevertheless, there is here a step forward, or, at least, a step away from the textual impasse of this or that saying or event going back to the historical Jesus.²⁰⁶ Allison favors attention to the "larger pattern" of material,²⁰⁷ and formulations of "recurrent attestation."²⁰⁸ In other words, attention to "a topic or motif or type of story [which] reappears again and again throughout the tradition."209 In Allison's mind, "we are more likely to find the historical Jesus in the repeating patterns that run throughout the tradition than in the individual sayings and stories."210 Again, Allison's approach is laudable for its rigor and sense. Nevertheless, it is difficult to see what exactly changed in terms of his earlier reconstructions other than a few tempered "maybes" or "perhapses" inserted along the way. Though Allison's work is certainly a welcome advance which problematizes the simple theories on reception and transmission, for all his fury and fervor it is difficult to notice any real results in terms of conclusions of the historical or theological sort. In the end, memory serves a rather fiduciary approach in taking the Gospel sources as reliable memories of his previous constructions of the historical lesus.

This is seen most clearly in the application of his theory of recurrent attestation within the Gospel material.²¹¹ Allison represents the best case for reading Jesus as a prophetic figure dominated by apocalyptic expectations.²¹² Allison aligns himself

_

²⁰⁵ Though see Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 25 n. 101.

²⁰⁶ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 10.

²⁰⁷ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 19.

²⁰⁸ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 20.

²⁰⁹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 20.

²¹⁰ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 23.

²¹¹ See, especially, pp. 31–220.

²¹² Allison, *The End of the Ages Has Come: An Early Interpretation of the Passion and Resurrection of Jesus*; Allison, "A Plea for Thoroughgoing Eschatology,"; Allison, *Jesus of Nazareth*; Allison, "Jesus & the Victory of Apocalyptic,"; Dale C. Allison, "The Continuity between John and Jesus," *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003) 6-27.

within the paradigm set by Johannes Weiss and Albert Schweitzer,²¹³ and refocuses the *tertium non datur* of Schweitzer to new extremes: "our choice is not between an apocalyptic Jesus and some other Jesus; it is between an apocalyptic Jesus and no Jesus at all."²¹⁴ Allison's survey of the literature is, as is always the case with his work, exhaustive, creative, and rigorous. He sees the pertinent apocalyptic material as "sufficiently abundant" and that a removal of it from any construction of the historical Jesus could only be fueled by a "thoroughly skeptical" approach to the "mnemonic competence of the tradition."²¹⁵ Eschatological remains are too early and pervasive in the fossil record of the tradition for any other story to be told without "tearing him from his century."²¹⁶

This is all surely probable, but to read *everything* through eschatology leads the evidence away from subtler concerns. For example, Allison is certainly correct in pointing out that the early Jewish imaginary was dominated by the geographic conviction that the world emanates from Jerusalem and that the end-time scenario would be played out there.²¹⁷ But Allison reads this as evidence that the early followers of Jesus, who were generally northerners, relocated to Jerusalem because they expected an imminent end and wanted to be at the center of the party. This may well be true, but such a reading misses the strategic missiological subtleties of this relocation. If the missional vocation consisted of the Jew first (e.g., Matt 10:6; 15:24) and Jewish restoration,²¹⁸ it would make sense to relocate the movement to the *omphalos* of Judaism (indeed, the world!): viz., Jerusalem and her temple (e.g., Isa 2:2; Mic 4:1; Zech 14:10; Ezek 38:12 [LXX]; *1 Enoch* 26:1–3; *Jub* 8:19; *Sib. Or*. 5:251).²¹⁹ In other words, this move would not be only eschatological but also

²¹³ E.g., Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 31.

²¹⁴ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 46–47.

²¹⁵ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 47. The allusion to Wrede is unmistakable here.

²¹⁶ Allison (*Constructing Jesus*, p. 47) is here citing Walter E. Bundy, *The Religion of Jesus* (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1928) 123.

²¹⁷ For textual support, see Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 51.

²¹⁸ Cf. the essays in James M. Scott, ed., *Restoration: Old Testament, Jewish, and Christian Perspectives (Supplements to the Journal for the Study of Judaism*; Leiden: Brill 2000).

²¹⁹ Cf. Jon D. Levenson, "The Temple and the World," *JR* 64 (1984) 275–98; Jon D. Levenson, *Sinai and Zion: An Entry into the Hebrew Bible* (New York: HarperCollins, 1985); Michael Tilly, *Nabel*

strategic.²²⁰ Backed by his recent foray into the vast literature on millenarian movements, Allison attempts to temper his earlier statements on the tertium non datur by stating that eschatological movements are "never reducible to their eschatologies."221 He even states, rather astutely, that others *outside* the eschatological approach such as Marcus Borg reproduce the errors of Schweitzer by reading everything either as for or against eschatology. But if he wants to contend that "Weiss and Schweitzer set us on the right path," 222 that path cannot be removed from their own cartography. Others before Schweitzer pointed out the eschatological currents within the Gospel material (e.g., Semler and others), but Schweitzer raised these "currents" to the singular criterion of judging material as authentic or blurred by the church's "shifting of perspective" this side of the Easter event. Allison is keen on pointing out that mental boundaries are not so fixed and can handle "contradictory" notions.²²³ He even states, rather brilliantly, that there is nothing "in the tradition—besides the person of Jesus himself—[that] coordinates everything."224 But functionally, after all of these concessions and fine-tunings, he re-coordinates all apocalyptic outliers within the tradition as eschatological; a kind of apocalyptic without apocalyptic. Under this line of thought, why not simply call Jesus a sage of subversive wisdom who occasionally draws on apocalyptic themes or one who freely floats in and out of the apocalyptic milieu as best serves his needs?²²⁵ His earlier configuration of memory could have allowed for the dexterity of Jesus' mission to be irreducible to singular descriptions.

_

der Welt: Überlieferung und Funktionen von Heiligtumstraditionen im antiken Judentum (Stuttgart: Kohlhammer, 2002). See, too, Lutz Doering, "Urzeit-Endzeit Correlation in the Dead Sea Scrolls and Pseudepigrapha," in Eschatologie - Eschatology: The Sixth Durham - Tübingen Research Symposium: Eschatology in Old Testament, Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity (ed. Christof Landmesser and Hermann Lichtenberger Hans-Joseph Eckstein; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011) 19–58, esp. 19–22.

²²⁰ On the early Christian mission in Jerusalem, see the first volume of Eckhard J. Schnabel, *Early Christian Mission* (2vols.; Downers Grove: IVP Academic, 2004).

²²¹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 134.

²²² Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 157.

²²³ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 135.

²²⁴ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 135.

²²⁵ Though here see Schröter, *Erinnerung an Jesu Worte* pp. 482–84. In this respect, it may be worth looking at the way 4QInstruction and other sapiental texts figure within the assumed apocalyptic worldview of the Qumran community. See Matthew J. Goff, *The Worldly and Heavenly Wisdom of 4QInstruction* (Leidin: Brill, 2003); John Strugnell and Daniel J. Harrington, *Qumran Cave*

Allison's understanding of Jesus' vocation is that "Jesus thought of himself as a king, destined to take center stage in God's eschatological drama." But this kingship was in terms of a *messias designatus*: "he saw kingship as a hope or a destiny, not an accomplishment." Wrapped up with this is an intriguing set of reflections on the problematic son of man sayings. Though he remains noncommittal, Allison ponders Jesus' third-person reference to the son of man and the possibility of its unity with his own person through a reading of heavenly doubles. The precedent is certainly present across varying traditions and the thought seems to hold together ideas which otherwise seem in tension: e.g., preexistence, the future son of man sayings, and traditions of Jesus having an earthly twin (e.g., *Acts Thom.* 1, 11, 31, 34–35, 39, 45 57, 147–53). This move produces a model for reading thematic descriptions of Jesus across traditions both canonical and not as witnesses to the deep fund of the memory cluster while calling for serious attention to be given to the exalted views of Jesus originating with himself.

Though the discourses of Jesus in the Gospels may contain "secondary elaborations, artificial composites made up of what were once much smaller pieces," some of the texts in the Synoptics lay beyond this generalization.²³¹ In other words, simply because the Synoptics place sermons or longer speeches on his lips does not necessarily mean that they are inauthentic. What is more, Allison renders the dichotomy of either "prophecy historicized" or "history remembered" as an inadequate rendering of the scripturalizing tendencies in the Passion accounts.²³² The appearance of scriptural quotations and themes at the Passion does not disqualify it from being counted as authentic memory. "A memory can be told in

^{4.}XXIV: Sapiential Texts, Part 2. 4 QInstruction (DJD 34; Oxford: Clarendon, 1999); Daniel J. Harrington, *Wisdom Texts from Qumran* (London: Routledge, 1996).

²²⁶ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 288.

²²⁷ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 290.

²²⁸ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 293–303.

²²⁹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 300–03.

²³⁰ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 304.

²³¹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 308.

²³² Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 387–434.

many languages, including the language of scripture."²³³ What is more, Allison sees Jesus as going to his death with purpose and intention.²³⁴ The underlying assumption guiding his reworked project is that the Evangelists were working with traditions *informed by the past.*²³⁵ Here he flirts with the genre question and aims to demonstrate that, regardless of whatever we make of the Gospels, "our Synoptic writers thought that they were reconfiguring memories of Jesus, not inventing theological tales."²³⁶ Nevertheless, "the evangelists, it appears, [were] far more interested in the practical and theological meanings of their stories than in literal facticity."²³⁷

Intriguingly, Allison closes his book precisely where Schweitzer begins his *Geschichte*: viz., in stating the negative nature of the quest for the historical Jesus.²³⁸ Nevertheless, his project represents a significant model for reading the Gospels as witnesses to memories within the memory cluster of the historical figure Jesus. As such they can be set as a denominator from which to test recurrent patterns of memories across traditions as potentially originating from the memory cluster, as well as configure theological constructions informed by the scriptural process as a form of historical reflection.

4.2.2. The Jesus of Eyewitness Testimony: Richard Bauckham

One of the more significant and fresh attempts to work with the Gospels as sources for the historical Jesus within the last several years has been the project of Richard Bauckham.²³⁹ It is significant for the purposes of this chapter, then, to situate the approach adopted here both *with* Bauckham's project and *against* it. But first we

²³³ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 389.

²³⁴ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 433.

²³⁵ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 435.

²³⁶ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 459.

²³⁷ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 442.

²³⁸ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, pp. 461–62.

²³⁹ E.g., Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses: The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony*; and Richard Bauckham, "The Eyewitnesses and the Gospels," *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003) 28-60.

should explicate the dynamics of his movement between the Gospel material and their relationship to the historical Jesus.

Right away Bauckham presents us with terminological decisions: viz., what do we mean by the "historical Jesus?" Bauckham is suspicious of minimalistic pictures and instead attempts to portray the Gospels as faithful witnesses to Jesus.²⁴⁰ They are faithful in the sense that the information is "not merely accurate but faithful to the meaning and demands of what is attested."²⁴¹ As with any other era of history, "the Jesus who lived in first-century Palestine is knowable only through the evidence that has survived."²⁴² The former "methodological skepticism" of subjecting the Gospels to ruthlessly "objective" scrutiny is, ironically, a Gospel writing of its own sort, an attempt "to provide an alternative to the Gospel's construction of Jesus."²⁴³ Methodological skepticism produces a different Jesus than the Jesus at the center of the Christian faith.²⁴⁴ According to Bauckham, Christian faith trusts these texts as the means through which the "real Jesus" is encountered, "and it is hard to see how Christian faith and theology can work with a radically distrusting attitude to the Gospels."²⁴⁵

The question becomes for Bauckham: are the constructions of critical historical methods better reports than those of the Gospels?²⁴⁶ Bauckham demurs and suggests instead the category of "testimony" as the best way forward; that is, the

²⁴⁰ On the fidelity of testimony to past events, see the intriguing and highly sensitive treatment of deep memory, limit experiences, and the reception of testimony in his comparison with holocaust reports and the Gospels in Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 490–504. Bauckham is somewhat dependent on Ricoeur and his concept of "uniquely unique events" in Ricoeur, *Time and Narrative*, p. 3.188; and his later reflections on events "at the limit" of experience and representation. For the later, see Ricoeur, *Memory, History, Forgetting*, pp. 175, 254, 255, 258, 498. Ricoeur is himself dependent on the introductory remarks of Saul Friedlander, ed., *Probing the Limits of Representation: Nazism and the 'Final Solution'* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1992) 8.

²⁴¹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 505.

²⁴² Bauckham, *Jesus and the Evewitnesses*, p. 2.

²⁴³ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 3.

²⁴⁴ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 2.

²⁴⁵ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 2.

²⁴⁶ Bauckham, Jesus and the Eyewitnesses, p. 4.

kind of historiography the Gospels are is *testimony*.²⁴⁷ Testimony is considered to be both an historically and theologically appropriate category for approaching the Gospels as a *kind* of history.²⁴⁸ As such, the Gospel accounts ask to be trusted.²⁴⁹ This trusting is not "an irrational act" but the "rationally appropriate" response to authentic testimony.²⁵⁰ Here Bauckham is near Frank Kermode's concept of *rational reading*. We are to read texts for what they are.²⁵¹ Testimony is at the basis of history and knowledge,²⁵² therefore, theologically speaking, the concept allows the Gospels to be read in a proper historical and theological way,²⁵³ and in the end offering "access to the real Jesus."²⁵⁴

Fundamental to Bauckham's constructive proposal is his suspicion of the presupposition of *Formgeschichte* that traditions about Jesus reached the Gospel writers at a late stage of the oral process.²⁵⁵ He sees a "personal link of the Jesus tradition with particular tradents" with the Gospels themselves written "within living memory of the events they recount."²⁵⁶ As such, eyewitnesses and their witness is what the Jesus tradition preserved. In the background of this statement are the works of Samuel Byrskog and Bauckham's own exegesis of the bishop of

²⁴⁷ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Evewitnesses*, p. 5.

²⁴⁸ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 437.

²⁴⁹ There is here a remarkable similarity between Bauckham and Joseph Ratzinger's emphatic statement, "I trust the Gospels." See Pope Benedict XVI (Joseph Ratzinger), *Jesus of Nazareth* (trans. Adrian J. Walker; New York: Doubleday Religion, 2007) xxi.

²⁵⁰ Bauckham, Jesus and the Eyewitnesses, p. 5.

²⁵¹ Cf. Kermode, *The Sense of an Ending: Studies in the Theory of Fiction with a New Epilogue* 103. Kermode, in this context, is discussing myth. "If we treat them [myths] as something other than they are we are yielding to irrationalism; we are committing an error against which the intellectual history of our century should certainly have warned us."

²⁵² Bauckham relies heavily on the three phases of the historian's work explicated by Ricoeur, *Memory, History, Forgetting*. For his interaction with Ricoeur's triad, see Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 487–90.

²⁵³ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 5–6.

²⁵⁴ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 473, 505.

²⁵⁵ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Evewitnesses*, p. 6.

²⁵⁶ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 7. Here Bauckham follows the work of Byrskog, *Story as History*.

Hierapolis, Papias, and the Prologue of his five-volume work, *Exposition of the Logia* of the Lord—fragments of which are preserved in Eusebius (*Hist. Eccl.* 3.39.3–4).²⁵⁷

These "eyewitnesses" populate the Gospel material both in name and anonymity. 258 Throughout the period up to the composition of the Gospels traditions were associated with and tied to "named and known eyewitnesses," and indeed remained "the authoritative guarantors" of the traditions which continued to be told.²⁵⁹ These eyewitness testimonies, when taken together or, in some cases, on their own encompass "the whole course of Jesus' story." ²⁶⁰ An example of this is seen in Bauckham's notion of the eyewitness inclusio in Mark's Gospel. The first named disciple in the Markan material is Simon and indeed the second is named in association to Simon: Καὶ παράγων παρὰ τὴν θάλασσαν τῆς Γαλιλαίας εἶδεν Σίμωνα καὶ Ἀνδρέαν τὸν ἀδελφὸν Σίμωνος (Mark 1:16). It is the reference to Σίμων καὶ Ἀνδρέαν τὸν ἀδελφὸν Σίμωνος which Bauckham sees as significant as elsewhere the doubling does not occur with respect to other fraternal pairings with the exception of 3:17 and 5:37. Σ (μων, of course, is changed to Σ (μωνι Πέτρον in 3:16 and occurs at the end of Mark's narrative in 16:7. Bauckham sees these two references as a framing technique, "suggesting that Peter is the witness whose testimony includes the whole story."261 He sees this pattern repeated in John's Gospel with respect to the Beloved Disciple, 262 in Luke's Gospel with respect to women,²⁶³ and as a literary motif employed in classical writers such as Lucian's *Alexander*, ²⁶⁴ and Porphyry's *Life of Plotinus*. ²⁶⁵ In doing so, he counters the

²⁵⁷ See, Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 12–38; 202–39; 412–37. See, too, Richard Bauckham, "Papias and Polycrates on the Origin of the Fourth Gospel," *JTS* 44.1 (1993) 24–69.

²⁵⁸ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 39–66.

²⁵⁹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 93.

²⁶⁰ Bauckham, Jesus and the Eyewitnesses, p. 114.

²⁶¹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 125. See, similarly, Martin Hengel, *Studies in the Gospel of Mark* (trans. J. Bowden; London: SCM Press, 1985) 82. For the Petrine perspective of Mark, see Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 155–82. Here, at points, Bauckham reads the Petrine perspective as a cipher for the wider group (e.g., p. 180).

²⁶² Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 127–29; see, too, Richard Bauckham, "John for Readers of Mark," in *The Gospels for All Christians: Rethinking the Gospel Audiences* (ed. Richard Bauckham; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1997) 147–71.

²⁶³ Bauckham, Jesus and the Eyewitnesses, pp. 129–32.

²⁶⁴ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 132–37.

prevailing view of not seeing high importance to eyewitnesses since they remained unnamed. Bauckham contends, however, through such narrative subtleties as *inclusio*, "the Gospels do have their own literary ways of indicating their eyewitness sources,"²⁶⁶ and suggests that points of anonymity serve a host of wider strategic purposes, including safety.²⁶⁷

The dynamics of movement from the historical figure of Jesus to the Gospel material are therefore guided by the testimony of eyewitnesses in which both memorization and individual note-taking played a part. Bauckham is confident in the capability of oral transmission's integrity to the eyewitness testimony over time as they remained "accessible sources and authoritative guarantors of their own testimony throughout the period between Jesus and the writing of the Gospels." In this sense the Jesus tradition was a "formal controlled tradition in which the eyewitnesses played an important part." Though Bauckham is wary of drawing generalizations from oral societies and forcing them onto the Gospel material, he has little problem stating that distinctions between "tales" and "historical accounts," as described by Jan Vansina, Frequency refute "all claims that Gospel scholars, from the form critics onward, have made to the effect that early Christians, in the transmission of Jesus traditions, would not have made any distinction between the past time of the history of Jesus and their own present because oral societies and their traditions do

²⁶⁵ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 137–45.

²⁶⁶ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 147.

²⁶⁷ See, e.g, Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 183–201. On "protective anonymity," see Gerd Theissen, *The Gospels in Context* (trans. L. M. Maloney; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2004 [1991]) 184–89.

²⁶⁸ See Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 280–89. See too, pp. 305–10.

²⁶⁹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 241.

²⁷⁰ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 264. "Formal controlled tradition" is the category of K. E. Bailey which refers to tradition that has a "clearly identified teacher," students, and "block of traditional material that is being passed on from one to the other." See Kenneth E. Bailey, "Informal Controlled Oral Tradition and the Synoptic Gospels " *Themelios* 20 (1995) 4–11; and Kenneth E. Bailey, *Jesus Through Middle Eastern Eyes: Cultural Studies in the Gospels* (Downers Grove: IVP Academic, 2008). Bauckham tinkers a bit with this definition and states that his use of "formal" is intended to communicate "specific practices employed to ensure that tradition was faithfully handed on from a qualified traditioner to others" (p. 264).

²⁷¹ See Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 271–73.

²⁷² Vansina, *Oral Tradition as History*, pp. 25–26.

not make such distinctions."²⁷³ Here Bauckham obliterates any easy homeostasis which might exist between a society and its traditions to the point where they cannot refer to anything except the present situations of the community.²⁷⁴ For Bauckham, the early Christians retained the history of Jesus by remembering his earthly activity in order to know and follow the living Christ. Though this may be true to some extent, the issue is not whether *any* distinctions between the past time of the historical Jesus and the present time of the communities would have been made *but the extent to which these distinctions were made*. In other words, the issue is not if there were distinctions or if there were not distinctions made between the past and present but *to what extent* these distinctions were made and observed.

Bauckham's recourse to Eugene Lemcio is intriguing in this regard. Bauckham judges Lemcio's study to have amply demonstrated "that the Gospel writers distinguished the time of Jesus' past history from their own present." Lemcio suggests that the Gospel writers employed terminology appropriate to Jesus' era and not that of the early church. And in instances where words were common to both eras they receive emphasis and nuance in accordance with the perspective or idiom of the telling. He concludes by stating that kerygmatic "expressions of 'faith' found outside of the gospels were not projected back onto the narrative." This, however, is an improper leap between premises. Terminological "fidelity" or distinction does not necessarily equal *actual* distinction. Bauckham has to brush aside the few outliers to this claim, thus states that the Gospels as *bioi* entail a "real sense of the past as past and an intention to distinguish the past from the present." Here again, though viewing the Gospels as *bioi* may certainly be appropriate at some level, 279 the issue appears to be one of distinctiveness but not

.

²⁷³ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 273.

²⁷⁴ See, too, Byrskog, *Story as History*, pp. 131–33.

²⁷⁵ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 275.

²⁷⁶ Eugene Lemcio, *The Past of Jesus in the Gospels* (SNTSMS 68; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1991) 2.

²⁷⁷ Bauckham, Jesus and the Eyewitnesses, p. 276.

²⁷⁸ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Evewitnesses*, p. 276.

²⁷⁹ See, esp., Burridge, What are the Gospels?

separateness when it comes to pasts and presents. In other words, there may well be a sense of the past, but it is only *a sense*. Notions of past and present, though perhaps distinct from one another, cannot be easily separated.

Bauckham considers potential sociological explanations, ²⁸⁰ but maintains that actual history is referred to owing to it being *religiously relevant*. ²⁸¹ He states that though social models are advantageous in some respects they are inappropriate when it comes to the Gospels because the early church was "less concerned with self-identity than with salvation." ²⁸² Though there is a strong caution which should be heeded in guarding from importing modern understandings of identity back onto former communities, ²⁸³ the opposing of these two notions is rather unfortunate. Even if this were the case amongst the early Christians—viz., that they were less interested with "individual identity" than they were with salvation—it suffers from the ironic oversight that this would be a kind of explication or description of their identity. ²⁸⁴

Bauckham does helpfully distinguish three categories within the memory process: first, the social dimension of individual eyewitness recollection; second, the shared recollections of the group or the "fund of memories" (this is near to what we have been calling the memory cluster); and, finally, collective memory.²⁸⁵ Central to his concerns is his contention that the first movement was never swallowed up within the third but maintained its distinctiveness throughout. "The incorporation of the testimony of the eyewitnesses into the Gospels insured the permanence of that identity."²⁸⁶ Nevertheless, Christianity continued to find "fresh discovery of the relevance of the story of Jesus to new circumstances" through the constant

_

²⁸⁰ E.g., Misztal, *Theories of Social Remembering*.

²⁸¹ Here he is following lines set forth by Gerd Theissen and Annette Merz, *The Historical Jesus: A Comprehensive Guide* (trans. John Bowden; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1998) 102–04.

²⁸² Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 277.

²⁸³ See, e.g., the functional demonstration of this in Taylor, *Sources of the Self*.

²⁸⁴ Bauckham struggles under this tension by stating that the two notions are closely related. But this is nuance applied too late. See Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 277.

²⁸⁵ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 313.

²⁸⁶ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 318.

negotiation of past and present.²⁸⁷ Here is where the social appears to be swallowed up in the individual eyewitnesses for Bauckham. He himself, following Papias to some degree,²⁸⁸ admits that "Mark may well have arranged some of this material and created connections between stories."²⁸⁹ As many have pointed out, some features in the Passion narrative reflect situations within the Jerusalem church around 40–50 C.E.²⁹⁰ And Bauckham later states that memories "must be told in forms corresponding to socially available schemata if those who tell their memories are to be successful in communicating with others."²⁹¹ What is more, story scripts are "infinitely flexible."²⁹² How can there not be, then, a blurring of past and present in both directions? In some instances, then, there appears to be the trading of the naïve positivism of former historicist convictions regarding the recovery of the events of Jesus' ministry for the acceptance of eyewitness testimony as the key to the "real" Jesus. One may also quibble with the appropriateness of "eyewitness" as a term of description. Surely witnessing an event implies more than the visual.

Nevertheless, Bauckham offers a significant way forward in making sense of the dynamics of movement from the historical figure of Jesus to the written Gospels and the role early participants may have played in that process. Though I see the whole process as infused with memory and the Jesus traditions being retrofitted with communal concerns and interests of relevance, Bauckham is correct in highlighting the "historical moment" within what Ricoeur called the "prophetic moment."²⁹³ He also reconfigures the Gospels as witnesses to a *kind* of history; a history which asks

-

²⁸⁷ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 318.

²⁸⁸ For Bauckham's interaction with Papias and the issue of order, see Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 15–21; and, Bauckham, "Papias and Polycrates on the Origin of the Fourth Gospel."

²⁸⁹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 183; though see, pp. 230–35.

²⁹⁰ See, e.g., Gerd Theissen, *The Gospels in Context* (trans. L. M. Maloney; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991) 166–202.

²⁹¹ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 346–47.

²⁹² Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 347.

²⁹³ Paul Ricoeur, "The Hermeneutics of Testimony," in *Essays on Biblical Interpretation* (ed. Lewis S. Mudge; Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1980) 87. For Bauckham's reflections on this interaction, see, esp., Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, pp. 505–08.

to be received through a dialectic of "trust and critical assessment." Though perhaps his project remains too firmly within the first phase of trust as well as placing too high a valuation on what he calls "eyewitnesses" throughout the process, he does point out the value of the Gospels as *historically relevant* texts which were preserved on account of their formative influence upon the Jesus movement. What is more, he also raises the issue which has been advocated for quite fiercely in some historical Jesus scholarship especially within more conservative approaches to the material: viz., the assumption that the Jesus attested to in the Gospels is the Jesus we should be satisfied with investigating. Our next scholar, Jens Schröter, puts his finger on this overlapping of language games even more astutely and it is to his project we now turn.

4.2.3. The Jesus of Reception: Jens Schröter

The relationality between Gospel formation and the historical Jesus is a point of connection between Bauckham's *Jesus of the Eyewitnesses* and Jens Schröter's wider work.²⁹⁵ Schröter considers Bauckham's book to be "an outstanding study of the

²⁹⁴ Bauckham, *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*, p. 490.

²⁹⁵ Schröter contends that "[d]ie hermeneutische Frage nach der Aneignung der Vergangenheit ist in der neueren Diskussion dagegen weitgehend in den Hintergrund getreten" Jens Schröter, Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie: Methodologische und exegetischen Studien zu den Ursprüngen des christlichen Glaubens (BTS 47; Neukirchen-Vluyn: Neukirchener, 2001) 13; cf. 14-36; Jens Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," in The Sayings Source and the Historical Jesus (ed. Andreas Lindemann; BETL 158; Leuven Leuven University Press, 2001) 207-54; Jens Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," in Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung (ed. Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker; BZNW 114; Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002) 163-212; Jens Schröter, "Überlegungen zum Verhältnis von Historiographie und Hermeneutik in der neutestamentlichen Wissenschaft," in Philosophical Hermeneutics and Biblical Exegesis (ed. Petr Pokorný and Jan Roskovec; WUNT 153; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2002) 191-203; Jens Schröter, "Neutestamentliche Wissenschaft jenseits des Historismus: Neuere Entwicklungen in der Geschichtstheorie und ihre Bedeutung für die Exegese urchristlicher Schriften," ThLZ 128 (2003) 855-66; Jens Schröter, "Konstruktion von Geschichte und die Anfänge des Christentums: Reflexionen zur christlichen Geschichtsdeutung aus neutestamentlicher Perspektive," in Konstruktion von Wirklichkeit: Beiträge aus geschichtstheoretischer, philosophischer und theologischer Perspektive (ed. Jens Schröter and Antje Eddelbüttel; TBT 127; Berlin: de Gruyter, 2004) 201-19. His project might well be considered as an examination of the philosophies and hermeneutical movements within the varying dynamics of event and interpretation (representation). See, e.g., Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 207-54; Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 104; and, Schröter, "Die Kirche besitzt vier Evengelien, die Häresie viele," pp. 68-74.

early Jesus tradition and the origin of the Gospels,"²⁹⁶ but separates himself from it along three broadly overlapping axes.

The first is along the lines of the semantic and literary. In earshot of Wrede and Schmidt, Schröter states that "the Gospels are linguistically and compositionally coherent narratives that develop the meaning of Jesus' activity and fate in the form of 'narrative Christologies'."²⁹⁷ The category of "eyewitness" can therefore contribute to the early processes of transmission but not to the actual Gospel formation itself. The Gospels were "theological interpretations of the early Jesus traditions in the light of early Christian confession."²⁹⁸ These "theological interpretations" occur within the genre-specific movements of the Gospel authors.²⁹⁹ Though, for example, within Mark's Gospel these framing elements encapsulate an interpretive move, this move does not mean that Mark's narrative construction is useless in the recovery of information about Jesus.³⁰⁰

Fundamental to Schröter's project is his distinction between *history* and the *past* as such. The act of writing a history entails the looking to the past from the present's perspective of meaningful interpretation. The past's representation as history is

²⁹⁶ Jens Schröter, "The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony? A Critical Examination of Richard Bauckham's *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*," *JSNT* 31.2 (2008) 195–209, p. 207. There are some spheres of overlap with Bauckham and Schröter but we will not draw them out here. One interesting challenge which Schröter poses to historical Jesus scholars is why their constructions should be trusted (as more historical) than those in the Gospels (e.g., Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," *passim*).

²⁹⁷ Schröter, "The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony? A Critical Examination of Richard Bauckham's *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*," p. 207. In terms of narrative Christologies, see, e.g., C. Kavin Rowe, *Early Narrative Christology: The Lord in the Gospel of Luke* (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2006). On the problematics of "historical representation" of events embedded in narratives, see Michael Moxter, "Erzählung und Erignis: Über den Spielraum historischer Repräsentation," in *Der Historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung* (ed. Jens Schröter and R. Brucher; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2002) 67–88.

 $^{^{298}}$ Schröter, "The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony? A Critical Examination of Richard Bauckham's Jesus and the Eyewitnesses," p. 207.

²⁹⁹ Here, see Willitts, "Presuppositions and Procedures in the Study of the 'Historical Jesus': Or, Why I Decided Not to be a 'Historical Jesus' Scholar," pp. 61–108. Willitts is cautious in seeing too fine a wedge between history and theology as the former does not by some alleged necessity exclude the latter.

³⁰⁰ Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," pp. 180–81, 85.

therefore always already colored by the present in terms of its assigning meaning and notions of the meaningful.301 Schröter argues that a reception-based historiography, therefore, must first consider the written sources as earlier received contexts such as an oral tradition are irrecoverable.³⁰² This construction of the enmeshment of event and interpretation therefore presents both a significant challenge to and extension of Bauckham's project. Schröter shares some of Bauckham's concern regarding the easy movement of the form critics between text and communities but along entirely different lines. Schröter contends that all persons, events, sayings, emotions, and so on, are socially, culturally and ideologically embedded and emplotted. 303 The Gospels are narratives which represent a past reality.³⁰⁴ An interest in the historical Jesus must work within the Wirkungsgeschichte which his event had upon those who constructed memories about him. The remembrances of Jesus set within story form therefore cannot be deconstructed as a means of approaching the "real" Jesus. If historical construction re-presents the dynamics of event and story (remembrance), then contemporary portraits of Jesus cannot easily discount the narrative representations present within the Gospels. Historical reconstructions, rather, must relate to the Gospel narrative representations while being reconfigured within the rubric of relevant epistemologies. This movement does not lead to a "real" Jesus encrypted within the Gospel material but an historical construction which claims plausibility within the confines of current epistemologies.³⁰⁵

³⁰¹ Though Schröter engages with several theorists, important along these lines is the work of the cultural and historical theorist Jörn Rüsen. See, generally, Jörn Rüsen, Geschichte im Kulturprozess (Köln: Böhlau, 2002); Jörn Rüsen, Historische Orientierung: über die Arbeit des Geschichtsbewußtseins, sich in der Zeit zurechtzufinden (Köln: Böhlau, 1994); Jörn Rüsen, Zerbrechende Zeit: Über den Sinn der Geschichte (Köln: Böhlau, 2001); Jörn Rüsen, Kultur macht Sinn: Orientierung zwischen Gestern und Morgen (Weimar: Böhlau, 2006); Jörn Rüsen, ed., Western Historical Thinking: An Intercultural Debate (New York: Berghahn Books, 2002)

³⁰² Schröter, *Erinnerung*, pp. 483–85.

³⁰³ See, e.g., Schröter, *Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie*.

³⁰⁴ Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," largely follows Paul Ricoeur along these lines.

³⁰⁵ Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," pp. 205–06.

Schröter offers an informed hermeneutical sensitivity to the discussion,³⁰⁶ and challenges historical Jesus research to consider the dynamics of social memory within early Christianity.³⁰⁷ The so-called Quest, then, is less an historical commitment to the recovery of Jesus as he was, as it is a "vergegenwärtigende Erinnerung an Jesus im Sinne der Orientierung und Identitätsbildung in der Gegenwart."³⁰⁸

The event of Jesus—that is, the whole which encompasses his actions, words, emotions, self-understanding(s), relationality, and so on—"could be recounted in early Christianity in quite different ways."³⁰⁹ These different modes of recollection raise serious challenges regarding the demarcation of these remembrances as historical and reliable on the one hand, and secondary and later legendary traditions on the other. Without this distinction being made, "legendary stories in the New Testament Gospels and the apocryphal Gospels would gain the same status as those accounts that are fundamental for a historical description of Jesus' activity."³¹⁰ The varities of traditions within the canonical Gospel material itself—e.g., the birth stories in Matt 1–2 and Lk 1–2, and so on—may well be owing in the first instance "to interpretations of Jesus' activity in different historical situations and from various theological perspectives."³¹¹ Even within the context of the Gospels, then, interpretation must occur before easy pronouncements of original recollection or authentic eyewitness accounts can be issued. The role of theology, he contends, is to highlight the various Jesus images (Jesusdarstellungen), ³¹² while balancing the

³⁰⁶ Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 207–54; Jens Schröter, *Von Jesus zum Neuen Testament: Studien zur urchristlichen Theologiegeschichte und zur Entstehung des neutestamentlichen Kanons* (WUNT 204; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007) 105–46.

³⁰⁷ See, e.g., Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 233–34.

³⁰⁸ Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," p. 252.

³⁰⁹ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 200.

³¹⁰ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 200.

³¹¹ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 200.

³¹² Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," p. 253.

spurious from the possible and also guarding the dexterity of these images within early Christian remembrance in the context of existential orientation.³¹³

An example of this move is carried out in the story of Bartimaeus (Mark 10:46–52). Schröter allows for the possibility of named persons within the Gospel record of, for example, individuals who experienced healing or exorcism and as a result became part of the Jesus movement as bearers of the "concerned traditions." ³¹⁴ As such, Bartimaeus may have reported his encounter to others who in turn passed on his story to other Christian communities or emplotted it within other stories of Jesus' power within the wider early Christian mission. In this way the story became an example of Jesus' wider healing ministry and was incorporated into a general meaning which extended beyond the single event. Mark's citation of the story, then, is colored by this transmission history of at least some forty years,³¹⁵ and "reworked according to his own literary style and incorporated [into] his composition of the story of Jesus.³¹⁶ The varying stages of the move from initial participant of the original event to "the translation into Greek and as a type of Jesus' healing ministry" as well as Mark's incorporation of it into his Gospel through literary and compositional strategies forever make it "impossible to detect an original form or early version of the story."317 In other words, named or anonymous allusions to "witnesses" within the Gospel material cannot be separated from the transmission process "and their linguistic and compositional integration into the Gospels' narratives."318 What is more, these cluttered episodes were formed according to genre-specific conventions and interpreted through a theological framework, and

_

³¹³ Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 253–54. He has, however, been criticized for not showing what this would look like or how it would operate. See, e.g., Moisés Mayordomo and Peter-Ben Smit, "The Quest for the Historical Jesus in Postmodern Perspective: A Hypothetical Argument," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 2.1401 n. 99.

³¹⁴ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 202, here alluding to the study of D. Zeller, "Wunder und Bekenntnis. Zum Sitz im Leben urchristlicher Wundergeschichten," *BZ* NF 25 (1981) 204–22.

³¹⁵ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 202.

³¹⁶ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 203.

³¹⁷ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 203.

³¹⁸ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 203.

integrated into the particular perspective of Mark.³¹⁹ In this way, the realities of historical events and early traditions of these events as well as their shaping and theological interpretation at later stages cannot be "played off against each other."³²⁰

As such, Bartimaeus' initial response is grafted into Mark's wider narrative construction of Jesus. There thus appears to be a narratival emphasis which offers an historical "keying" or centering to the early Jesus movement.³²¹ The Gospel tradition is thus "the unfolding of its reception of the various images of Jesus within differing contexts." Each act of reception constitutes a discrete episode within that history, affected by the configuration of social and cultural variables inhering in the respective situations.³²² A quest for the historical Jesus, then, must take as its starting point the reception of his preaching within the early Christian texts.³²³ Here we may press Schröter with Schweitzer's criticism of Weiss—why stop short of Jesus' activity? In any case, "Schröter's approach is predicated upon both the autonomous semantic vigor of the constitutive past and the effect of the present social realities that give particular refraction to that past, as well as upon the recognition that the past is accessible only inferentially through those refractions."324 Working through Mark, Q, and G. Thom., Schröter exegetes the reception of common tradition within these three texts which gestures toward traces of the social contexts of each reception. Traits both common in the tradition after reception is accounted for as well as the acts of reception themselves "become the basis for drawing inferences about the contours of the past that exerts a charged influence upon all three reception contexts."325 Every act within the dynamics of

³¹⁹ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 204.

³²⁰ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 204.

 $^{^{321}}$ See, e.g, Jens Schröter, "Anfänge der Jesusüberlieferung: Überlieferungsgeschichtliche Beobachtungen zu einem Bereich urchristlicher Theologiegeschichte," NTS 50.1 (2004) 53–76.

³²² Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 33; cf. Schröter, *Erinnerung an Jesu Worte* pp. 141–42.

³²³ Schröter, *Erinnerung*, pp. 483–85; Jens Schröter, "The Historical Jesus and the Sayings Tradition: Comments on Current Research," *Neot* 30 (1996) 151–68, p. 165.

³²⁴ Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 39.

³²⁵ Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 39.

tradition is an act of memory and enmeshed with semantic interaction. The benefit of Schröter's approach is its employment of these interactions in order to draw inferences about Jesus as opposed to being pitted against each other.

The second significant feature of Schröter's work has to do with the dynamics of oral transmission and testimony. As suggested in the previous paragraph, Schröter sees the dynamics of oral tradition as a far more complex process. He problematizes former criteria of a literary orientation through the rubric of cultural memory. As a point of distinction, Bauckham's nuanced comparison between Holocaust survivors and "eyewitness" reports within the Gospel material presupposes a kind of priority in terms of neglect with respect to outsider perspectives. With respect to the survivors of the brutalities of the death camps, there can be no denying that their recounts of the past "deserve the highest respect," and, by extension, if there are indeed "eyewitness" testimonies informing Gospel composition these deserve likewise. But it is self-evidently the case that, as with Holocaust survivors, "they cannot serve as the only relevant or authoritative sources for a history of German National Socialism." So with "eyewitnesses" to the events of Jesus, *mutatis mutandis*. So with "eyewitnesses" to the events of Jesus, *mutatis mutandis*.

Eyewitness testimony is rather a very specific historical source whose characteristic is that it derives directly from people who were personally involved in the events. When it is included into the description of a certain period of history, this characteristic has to be considered critically and brought into relation with other sources. It would be by no means plausible, however, to argue that eyewitness testimony has by itself a privileged position among historical sources.³²⁸

Testimony is therefore no clear path to the historical reality of Jesus for the Gospels themselves offer their own linguistic and compositional strategies and peculiarities which suggest that even these "testimonies" were thoroughly reworked. Relying on or making recourse to testimony within the process of historical investigation is

³²⁸ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 205.

198

³²⁶ Schröter, Erinnerung, pp. 459–86; Schröter, Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie: Methodologische und exegetischen Studien zu den Ursprüngen des christlichen Glaubens pp. 6–61.

³²⁷ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 205.

surely a valid move, but "trusting" Bauckham's eyewitness testimony because it is eyewitness testimony is an historical fallacy which masks a host of political and ideological presuppositions.³²⁹ As we saw with Bauckham above, the gestures of desire explicated by scholars of a certain theological persuasion tend toward power plays in this regard. James Dunn, for example, states emphatically that it is "Jesus himself the believer wants to encounter, not someone dressed up in robes borrowed from philosophy."³³⁰ And, again, that *any* "secondary elaboration will simply detract from Jesus' own testimony."³³¹ It is therefore the "disciple-making, faith-creating impact of Jesus [that] should be a fundamental given and an indispensable starting point for any quest for the Jesus from whom Christianity originated."³³² Dunn suggests that searching for a "nonfaith Jesus" other than the Jesus of the Gospels is a fallacy.³³³

But the option is not between a "faith Jesus" and a "nonfaith Jesus." Any construction of Jesus is "faithed." It is the *interpretation* of extant elements and their assimilation into the contextual sketches of the historian which brings the remnants of the past to life.³³⁴ Jesus is always a social construction,³³⁵ and statements of the "real" Jesus need to be held with suspicion.³³⁶ It is therefore foundational to ask ourselves in which sphere we are seeking Jesus: the sphere of Christian confession or within the

_

³²⁹ Along these lines, see Clive Marsh, "Quests for the Historical Jesus in New Historicist Perspective," *BibInt* 5 (1997) 403–37; Clive Marsh, "Diverse Agendas at Work in the Jesus Quest," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2001) 985–1022; Dieter Georgi, "Leben-Jesu-Theologie/Leben-Jesu-Forschung," *Theologische Realenzyklopädie* 20 (1990) 566–75; Dieter Georgi, "The Interest in Life of Jesus Theology as a Paradigm for the Social History of Biblical Criticism," *Harvard Theological Review* 85.1 (1992) 51–83.

³³⁰ Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, p. 11.

³³¹ Dunn, *A New Perspective on Jesus*, pp. 11–12. This, I imagine, is an attempted rendering of the more literate phrasing of George Steiner: "...all commentary is itself an act of exile." George Steiner, *Real Presences* (London: Faber and Faber, 1989) 40.

³³² Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, p. 16.

³³³ Dunn, A New Perspective on Jesus, p. 22.

³³⁴ Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," pp. 166–67.

³³⁵ On Jesus as historical construction and historical construction in general, see Schröter, *Von Jesus zum Neuen Testament*, pp. 105–46, esp. pp. 108–09.

³³⁶ See, e.g., Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, "Critical Feminist Historical-Jesus Research," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 509–48.

sphere of a kind of ecumenism between the artificial boundary of the former with historical science.

The event and the interpretation(s) of that event must be distinguished.³³⁷ But the boundaries between the two are specious. All representations of the events of Jesus' life are distanciated from the events which they represent.³³⁸ The Gospel tradition represents the continual negotiation and semantic engagement with the community's current social pressures and its memorialized past in the person and event of Jesus. The two remain inseparable without swallowing up the other or making the other epiphenomenal.³³⁹ This approach "is predicated upon the semantic vigor of the constitutive past and the effect of present social realities that give particular refractions to that past, as well as upon recognition that the past is accessible only through those refractions."³⁴⁰ As such, though we should be cautious about extrapolating traces of the event from the effects of its interpretation,³⁴¹ to talk about the historical Jesus is to talk about the acts of his reception.³⁴²

Along these lines one should not confuse issues of composition history of a text with tradition history.³⁴³

Daß die Frage nach den Anfängen der Jesusüberlieferung von der Lösung des synoptischen Problems zu unterscheiden ist, ist weithin anerkannt und wird durch das hier Dargelegte noch einmal unterstrichen. Frühe Stufen der

³⁴⁰ Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 2.821.

³³⁷ Schröter, *Von Jesus zum Neuen Testament*, pp. 105–46.

³³⁸ Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 6–36.

³³⁹ Cf. Schröter, *Erinnerung*, p. 463.

³⁴¹ Cf. Jens Schröter, "Der erinnerte Jesus als Begründer des Christentums? Bemerkungen zu James D. G. Dunn Ansatz in der Jesusforschung," *ZNT* 10.20 (2007) 47–73.

³⁴² Schröter, "The Historical Jesus and the Sayings Tradition: Comments on Current Research," p. 165; cf. Schröter, "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus," pp. 184–206.

³⁴³ One should note here his comments on the differences between Q and *G.Thom.*, see Schröter, *Erinnerung*, pp. 459–86. He suggests that Q has a traditional-historical compositional relationship to Mark and that this relationship can be read as evidence that both works build on a common basis for the interpretation of the events of Jesus. Jens Schröter, "The Son of Man as the Representative of God's Kingdom: On the Interpretation of Jesus in Mark and Q," in *Jesus, Mark and Q: The Teaching of Jesus and its Earliest Records* (ed. Michael Labahn and Andreas Schmidt; Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2001) 152; see, too, Jens Schröter, "Die Bedeutung der Q-Überlieferungen für die Interpretation der frühen Jesusüberlieferung," *ZNW* 94 (2003) 38–67. Moreover, he argues that Q should be treated as singular whole as opposed to easy divisions into strata.

Jesusüberlieferung können sich in verschiedenen, kanonisch ebenso wie apokryph gewordenen Schriften finden.³⁴⁴

The appropriation of the Jesus tradition is therefore a negotiation by which the current realities were interpreted with reference to the person of Jesus. The commemorated past—the memory of Jesus as cultivated by the various communities—was deployed and redeployed in typical situations and new settings. The cultural pressures of the present reciprocally react within the commemoration of the past. *Tradition* is thus the "abbreviation for the countless transactions between sacralized past and actual present vital to the life of the a community. Schröter understands Gospel traditions to be the entangled product of the remembering of Jesus in changing contexts of reception. One cannot speak about an historical Jesus apart from acts of reception; that is, how Jesus was *remembered* in the various social and historical contexts of the early communities. The more plausible way forward therefore would be attempting to understand both memory and the present factors of reception as reciprocally determining elements which should be portrayed in their reciprocal inter-connection.

A third significant element is in contrast to the model of testimony as advocated by Bauckham's which potentially promotes "an uncritical view" of the Gospel writings as fiduciary scripts instead of texts which need to be critically scrutinized.³⁴⁹ Here there is the fruitful possibility of incorporating outside sources within the historical Jesus project such as *G.Thom.*³⁵⁰ or other non-Synoptic sources.³⁵¹ Schröter contends

⁻

³⁴⁴ Schröter, "Anfänge der Jesusüberlieferung: Überlieferungsgeschichtliche Beobachtungen zu einem Bereich urchristlicher Theologiegeschichte," p. 75; see, too, John S. Kloppenborg, Excavating Q: The History and Setting of the Sayings Gospel (Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 2000) 351–52.

³⁴⁵ Schröter, *Erinnerung*, p. 463.346 Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 33.

³⁴⁷ Kirk and Thatcher, "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory," p. 39. See Schröter, *Erinnerung*, pp. 465–66, 482–83.

³⁴⁸ Schröter, Erinnerung, p. 485.

³⁴⁹ Schröter, "Critical Examination," p. 208.

³⁵⁰ On matters of dating *G.Thom.* see Schröter, *Erinnerung*, pp. 122–24; and, Joshua W. Jipp and Michael J. Thate, "Dating *Thomas*: Logion 53 as a Test Case for Dating the *Gospel of Thomas* within an Early Christian Trajectory," *Bulletin for Biblical Research* 20.2 (2010) 221–40.

that the logic flowing from the Council of Laodicea (363) and Athanasius' Easter Letter of 367 suggests that the distinction made between "canonized writings handed down and attested as divine" (τὰ κανονιζόμενα καὶ παραδοθέντα πιστευθέντα τε θεῖα εἰναῖ βιβλία) from the "so-called apocrypha" (οί λεγόμενοι ἀπόκρυφοι), 352 is set "within the context of the developments through which early Christianity secured its own identity." The "question of accepting or rejecting a writing always arose when it was already in use in some community or other," and was inseparable from identity formation. As such, he leaves open the possibility that "writings condemned as heretical may contain historically valuable information." What is more intriguing is his suggestion that writings in the second century—such as *Papyrus Egerton 2, Gospel of Peter, Gospel of Thomas*, and *Gospel of Mary*—"presuppose already-existing stories about Jesus but are not bound to them, either in their language or in the interpretation of their content." 356

Schröter is suspicious of the assumption that *logia* are historically more stable or reliable than narratives about Jesus.³⁵⁷ The strong plausibility of the Synoptics' reconstruction of Jesus, however, is not owing to their status of canonical testimony as such,³⁵⁸ but that they "die frühsten narrativen Verarbeitungen des Wirkens und Geschicks Jesu darstellen und zugleich einen historisch bewahrenden Charakter

³⁵¹ See the useful survey in Michael Labahn, "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 3.1933–97.

³⁵² Schröter is citing from Theodor Zahn, *Geschichte des neutestamentlichen Kanons* (2vols.; vol. 2: Urkunden und Belege zum ersten und dritten Band, Part 1; Erlangen: A. Deichert, 1890) 2.202, 210–12.

³⁵³ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," pp. 105–06. Elsewhere he speaks of Gospels *becoming* canonical or apocryphal in Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," pp. 104–07. He is here following the lead of Dieter Lührmann, *Fragmente apokryph gewordener Evangelien in griechischer und lateinischer Sprache* (Marburgh: N. G. Elwert, 2000); Dieter Lührmann, *Die apokryph gewordenen Evangelien: Studien zu neuen Texten und zu neuen Fragen* (Leiden: Brill, 2004).

³⁵⁴ Schröter, "Jesus and Canon," p. 117.

³⁵⁵ Schröter, "Jesus and Canon," p. 107; cf. Hans-Joseph Klauck, *Apocryphal Gospels: An Introduction* (trans. Brian McNeil; London: T & T Clark, 2003).

³⁵⁶ Schröter, "Jesus and Canon," p. 115.

³⁵⁷ Schröter, "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus," pp. 245–46.

 $^{^{358}}$ On challenges which canon present the historical Jesus, see Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," pp. 104–22.

besitzen."³⁵⁹ Indeed, though suitable for gesturing toward traces of older traditions, *G.Thom.*, for example, as a collection of *logia* instead of a Gospel narrative might well suggest it is less suitable for source information on the historical Jesus.³⁶⁰ Nevertheless, if *G.Thom.* or other non-Synoptic sources are to be presented within the project of the historical Jesus, individual sayings should be read on their own account as potential memory traces.³⁶¹

This does not mean that Schröter equates *Gos.Thom.* with other Synoptic portraits. Far from it. The former should be relativized somewhat by the latter because of its detaching Jesus from earlier earthly activity.

Für eine historische Jesusdarstellung ist eine Schrift wie das *Gos. Thom.* somit deshalb als sekundär zu betrachten, weil es zum einen zeitlich nach den synoptischen Evangelien und dem JohEv anzusetzen ist, zum anderen nicht an einer Einzeichnung Jesu in seinen historischen, kulturellen und geographischen Kontext interessiert ist. ³⁶²

In other words, there is a relative disinterest on the part of *G.Thom.* to locate Jesus within his historical nest as it exhibits more interpretive appropriation than signs of preservation. Significant for the Jesus tradition is its attempt to preserve remembrances—whether originating from the memory cluster or related to it in some other developed way—of Jesus within his contextual environs.³⁶³

Nevertheless, the very "threefold character" of the Synoptic picture of Jesus suggests an "acknowledgment of plurality as the theologically appropriate form of the memory of Jesus" while at the same time establishing "the boundary conditions for the elaboration of historically plausible and substantially appropriate affirmations

³⁵⁹ Schröter, Von Jesus zum Neuen Testament, p. 106 n.4.

³⁶⁰ Schröter, *Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie*, pp. 39–42, 51–54.

³⁶¹ See, e.g, Jean-Daniel Kaestli, "L'utilisation de l'Évangile de Thomas dans la recherche actuelle sur les paroles de Jésus," in *Jésus de Nazareth: Nouvelles approches d'une énigme* (ed. Enrico Norelli and Jean-Michel Poffet Daniel Marguerat; Le Monde de la Bible 38; Geneva Labor et Fides, 2003) 373–95; and David E. Aune, "Assessing the Historical Value of the Apocryphal Jesus Traditions: A Critique of Conflicting Methodologies," in *Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspecktiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung* (ed. Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker; BZNW 114; Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002) 243–72.

³⁶² Schröter, Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie, pp. 39–40.

 $^{^{363}}$ See, esp., Schröter, "Jesus of Galilee: The Role of Location in Understanding Jesus," pp. 36–55.

about the historical Jesus."³⁶⁴ The value in extracanonical pictures of Jesus is thus not in "its ability to alter an image of Jesus derived from the first-century writings. Rather, it illustrates constellations and controversies of the second and third centuries in which different ways of relating to Jesus were being separated from one another."³⁶⁵

Though we may take issue with his notions of the *sekundär* and how it assumes perhaps too much in terms of dating, sources, and the production of texts, the work of Schröter represents a sufficiently rigorous approach which takes into consideration the methodological and hermeneutical challenges in thinking about the historical Jesus.³⁶⁶ He has articulated a way forward in which both the narrative function of the Gospel material is itself a testimony to early memory configurations of the historical Jesus *and* a way in which non-Synoptic material may be incorporated into the process of reconstruction efforts. Moreover, he has properly problematized false dichotomies between faithfully receiving the testimony of the Gospels and critically engaging with the material.

4.3. Concluding Reflections on the Potential Benefits of this Approach

The studies referred to throughout §4.2. together with the approach outlined in §4.1.3. presents a significant methodological alternative in approaching the study of the historical Jesus. Though I must again refer back to the cautions and skepticisms articulated above (§4.1.2.), it is worth noting several lines of research within which questions of the nature of Gospels and historical Jesus genres could receive benefits from adopting the approach outlined above.

204

³⁶⁴ Labahn, "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest," p. 3.1996.

³⁶⁵ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 107; cf. Christoph Markschies and Jens Schröter, ed., *Antike christliche Apokryphen* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2010); Jens Schröter, "Jesus im frühen Christentum: Zur neueren Diskussion über kanonisch und apokryph gewordene Jesusüberlieferungen," *VT* 51 (2006) 25–41; Jörg Frey and Jens Schröter, ed., *Jesus in apokryphen Evangelienüberlieferungen: Beiträge zu außerkanonischen Jesusüberlieferungen aus verschiedenen Sprach- und Kulturtraditionen* (WUNT 254; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2010).

³⁶⁶ Note Dunn, *Jesus Remembered*, p. 736 nn. 128, 131.

4.3.1. A Proper Problematization of the Quest

First and foremost, memory problematizes any conception of a pure Christian origins and historical lesus by adding methodological complication to the core datum of research. The historical figure Jesus as a singular subject expressed himself in a complicated deployment of words, actions, emotions, and relational dynamics. These all received variation in accordance with his own internal development and the variegated deployment of phrasings over time owing to varying rhetorical contingencies. Moreover, some of his communication was intended for "insiders" and some for "outsiders." And there was a sense in which these boundaries were somewhat porous and often crossed. Memories would therefore be blurred on account of these crossings. After his death there was a crisis in memory as described above. His followers returned to the memory cluster and to the scriptures which were in turn compounded by social processes of remembering, transmission, and transmutation into cultural memory (e.g., Lk 24:6; Jn 15:20; 16:4). Moreover, memory raises the problematics of time as it "blurs distinctions among memories of similar events, compounding them into generic memories with representational, emblematic functions."367 Every single act of communication within the memory process is therefore complicated and entangled. Historical events cannot be separated from their Wirkungsgeschichte: that is, their effect and impact upon the trajectories of story which they set in motion.³⁶⁸ History is not the rediscovery of the past but its re-presentation.³⁶⁹ Any attempt to arrive at a real past is interrupted by Lessing's insurmountable ditch. Memory does not present a bridge over these troubled waters but charts another course entirely.

³⁶⁷ Kirk, "Memory," p. 166. Kirk notes the study of Bartlett, *Remembering: A Study in Experimental and Social Psychology* pp. 44–45; 200–25; George Bonanno, "Remembering and Psychotherapy," *Psychotherapy* 27 (1990) 175–86, pp. 175–77; and Jeffrey Prager, *Presenting the Past: Psychoanalysis and the Sociology of Misremembering* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1998) 207.

³⁶⁸ See Moxter, "Erzählung und Erignis: Über den Spielraum historischer Repräsentation," pp. 67–88; esp. pp. 78–87.

³⁶⁹ Assmann, Religion and Cultural Memory, p. 94.

Memory was self-evidently already at work within Jesus' own lifetime and with those who were in contact with him. Rather intriguingly, memory allows space for the intersecting of the early Jesus community and the historical figure Jesus mutually to inform one another at their formative levels (e.g., Matt 15:22–28). Moreover, his admirers and adversaries³⁷⁰ must have been talking about him during his lifetime. "Why imagine that the widespread curiosity on display in so many of the apocryphal Gospels was utterly alien to Jesus' own contemporaries? Notoriety after death usually follows notoriety before death."³⁷¹ These swirling memories within the memory cluster makes good sense of the great confusion and misunderstanding that surrounded Jesus' activity and teaching which were later developed into theological motifs. The conflicting reports of who Jesus was (e.g., Matt 16:13–17) are evidence to more of the same. Memory fills the spaces between Jesus' public appearances with a narrative sense of expectation, hope, frustration, confusion, and, eventually, murderous anger.

As such, memory problematizes Schweitzer's legacy of a tidy systematic approach in which much of historical Jesus scholarship continues to operate in its aim to present a unified, coherent picture of a singular historical figure against which all else is recoordinated and retrofitted.³⁷² Every rational system must reckon with the barrier of the *irrational*.³⁷³ And historical Jesus scholarship has often operated as a rational

³⁷⁰ Along these lines, see the interesting argument of Bruce Chilton, *Rabbi Jesus: An Intimate Biography* (New York: Doubleday, 2002) 3–22; and Scot McKnight, "Calling Jesus *Mamzer*," *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003) 73-103.

³⁷¹ Allison, *Constructing Jesus*, p. 25.

³⁷² Here see the noteworthy wisdom of James Dunn who warns against the "grand metanarratives" of various reconstruction efforts; James D. G. Dunn, "'All that Glisters is not Gold': In Quest of the Right Key to Unlock the Way to the Historical Jesus," in *Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung* (ed. Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker; BZNW 114; Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002) 131–62. Though sympathetic to this statement, Lyotard himself defended the telling of "little stories" (*petit récit*). See Jean-Françios Lyotard, *The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge* (Theory and History of Literature; trans. Geoff Bennington and Brian Massumi; Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984 [1979]) 22. See the useful comments of O'Brien on how taking metanarratives seriously might "deepen our understanding of diversities and scale up our consciousness of a human condition that has for millennia included global influences." Patrick O'Brien, "Historiographical Traditions and Modern Imperatives for the Restoration of Global History," *Journal of Global History* 1.01 (2006) 3–39, p. 38.

³⁷³ Georg von Lukács, *Geschichte und Klassenbewusstsein: Studien über marxistische Dialektik* (Berlin: 1923) 126.

system against which the *irrational* is named spurious or inauthentic. The problem with this approach is that it has produced any number of Jesuses.³⁷⁴ There is the eschatological prophet, the Galilean guru, the wandering magician, the messiah of the end of days, the progressive rabbi, Jewish sage, political revolutionary, coconspirator with the Essene countermovement, itinerant preacher, exorcist, the collective conscious of the community historicized, theologian of the marginalized, peasant artisan, Torah-observant Pharisee, Cynic philosopher, socioeconomic reformer, eschatological agent, and even God incarnate.³⁷⁵ Burton Mack is representative of the field when he states that "none of the profiles proposed for the historical Jesus can account for all of the movements, ideologies, and mythic figures of Jesus that dot the early Christian social-scape."376 The case can be made, however, that all of these threads are in fact aspects of the way in which Jesus is portrayed across the Gospel genre and are testimony to the varying strategies Jesus employed as needed. Trouble occurs when any one of them is raised to the level of coordinating principle or paradigmatic scene.³⁷⁷ Cultural memory, on the contrary, "encompasses the age-old, out-of-the-way, and discarded" as well as the "heretical, subversive, and disowned."378 Memory theory rejects the strong influence of

³⁷⁴ See, Cees den Heyer, "Historic Jesuses," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 2.1079–1104.

³⁷⁵ On the list of Jesuses, cf. Paul Rhodes Eddy and James K. Beilby, "The Quest for the Historical Jesus: An Introduction," in *The Historical Jesus: Five Views* (ed. James K. Beilby and Paul R. Eddy; Downers Grove: InterVarsity Press, 2009) 53. See, too, Keener, *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels* pp. 1–70.

³⁷⁶ Mack, *The Christian Myth*, p. 35. Mack goes on to list the varying levels and the Jesus to which they bear testimony: Q1 (cynic-like sage), Q2 (a prophet of apocalyptic judgment), Thomas (Gnostic spirit), the parables (spinner of tales), pre-Markan pronouncement stories (lawyer for the defense), pre-Markan miracle stories (exorcist and healer), Paul (messiah and cosmic lord), Mark (son of God appearing as messiah, crucified and will return as son of man), John (reflection of God in creation and history), Matthew (legislator of divine law), Hebrews (a cosmic high priest), Luke (the perfect righteous man). "Not only are these ways of imagining Jesus incompatible with one another, they cannot be accounted for as the embellishments of the memories of as single historical person no matter how influential" (p. 36).

^{377 &}quot;Paradigmatic scenes" as a concept of analysis has an intellectual history ranging from early Classical scholars, their mediation by Robert Alter of "type-scenes" in the biblical material, and within the work of Rodney Needham. Most recently, Douglas Davies has developed the concept "to describe events whose motifs enshrine prime ideas or the core commitments of a group." See Douglas J. Davies, *Joseph Smith, Jesus, and Satanic Opposition: Atonement, Evil and the Mormon Vision* (Surrey: Ashgate, 2010) 15–16; see, too, Douglas J. Davies, *Emotion, Identity, and Religion: Hope, Reciprocity, and Otherness* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011) *passim*.

³⁷⁸ Assmann, Religion and Cultural Memory, p. 27.

Schweitzer and the quest for a tidy Jesus, thus allowing for the *singular subject to be* viewed in pluralistic perspective.

4.3.2. Widening the Sphere of Investigation

Somewhat related, at the level of cultural theory's encompassing of the "heretical and subversive,"379 or at Derrida's concept of the archive, 380 the non-canonical Gospels should be allowed to speak to the dexterity of memory within early Christianity's memory cluster. This is not to say that all texts are equal in standing in terms of their historical reliability as witnesses to empirical events. "Cultural memory is complex, pluralistic, and labyrinthine; it encompasses a quantity of bonding memories and group identities that differ in time and place and draws its dynamism from these tensions and contradictions."381 But it does suggest that the previous excluded extra-canonical sayings within the Jesus material can be reviewed along the lines of memory patterns and types which may amplify and challenge canonical portraits.³⁸² Tradition varieties arise out of social and cultural pressures and variables wherein the tradition itself is enacted and performed.³⁸³ There may be adequate explanations for the unity across the Jesus tradition as there may be for its remarkable diversity but both together presents a significant challenge. Memory is capable of at least coping with these challenges as events carry significant diversity within communities and indeed across communities. 384

³⁷⁹ Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory*, p. 27.

³⁸⁰ See, e.g., Jacques Derrida, *Archive Fever: A Freudian Impression* (trans. Eric Prenowitz; Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1998).

³⁸¹ Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory*, p. 29.

³⁸² See, e.g., William Stroker, *Extracanonical Sayings of Jesus* (SBLRBS 18; Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989); Tobias Nicklas, "Traditions about Jesus in Apocryphal Gospels (with the Exception of the Gospel of Thomas)," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 3.2081–2118; Edwin K. Broadhead, "The Thomas-Jesus Connection," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 3.2059–80.

³⁸³ Cf. Kirk, "Memory Theory and Jesus Research," p. 1.813

³⁸⁴ See the excellent development of this idea in Janet S. K. Watson, *Fighting Different Wars: Experience, Memory, and the First World War in Britain* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004).

It would also allow for Paul to be included as an early instance of appropriating memories of Jesus from within the memory cluster which best serves theological, ecclesiological, missiological, and political strategies. To say that Paul is not interested in the historical figure of Jesus is to miss the point entirely. He assumes the figure and recasts the Jesus tradition as appropriated within the rhetorical contingency of his ecclesial strategies.³⁸⁵ The authority of Jesus' teaching from the beginning "was understood as a tradition that was to be interpreted in terms of different situations, consequently expandable, and variable in its wording. The earliest indications of this are in Paul, who from time to time refers explicitly to the authority of the Lord."³⁸⁶ It is the remembered Jesus for Paul that becomes the ritual Christ (1 Cor 11:2, 23; 15:1–3; Gal 1:9; cf. Col 2:6; 1 Thess 2:13; 4:1; 2 Thess 3:6). The same, *mutatis mutandis*, for John, ³⁸⁷ and other non-Synoptic portraits.³⁸⁸

This would also have an effect on other adjacent fields. There have been intriguing findings and advances within the world of text criticism which could be corroborated with this approach as well. A former tenet of textual criticism was that the older a textual variant was the more authentic it would be. The goal of textual criticism was construed as reconstructing the earliest manuscript. Kurt Aland, for example, stated that the edition prepared by the Institut für neutestamentliche Textforschung in Münster and the United Bible Society "could be regarded as having

_

³⁸⁵ David E. Aune, "Jesus Tradition and the Pauline Letters," in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives* (ed. Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog; Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009) 63–68; Peter Pokorný, "Words of Jesus in Paul: On the Theology and Praxis of the Jesus Tradition," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 4.3437–68; and Labahn, "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest," pp. 3.1936–52.

³⁸⁶ Schröter, "Jesus and Canon," p. 108; cf. Schröter, "Anfänge der Jesusüberlieferung: Überlieferungsgeschichtliche Beobachtungen zu einem Bereich urchristlicher Theologiegeschichte," pp. 58–70.

³⁸⁷ Labahn, "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest," pp. 3.1952–65; D. Moody Smith, "Jesus Tradition in the Gospel of John," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 3.1997–2040.

³⁸⁸ Labahn, "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest," pp. 3.1965–96.

achieved the goal of establishing the original Greek of the New Testament."³⁸⁹ This approach, however, has come under severe scrutiny by David C. Parker,³⁹⁰ Eldon J. Epp,³⁹¹ and others. If memory is allowed to problematize the concept of a singular original form, then text-critical variants could be reworked as variants of the memory tradition—or, better, testimonies to memory patterns within the fledgling communities.³⁹² "In refocusing the discipline away from the so-called original text toward the papyrological evidence, Parker and Epp have succeeded in facilitating new access to the early Jesus tradition." The key insight of the papyrological Jesus tradition is in its "considerable fluidity."³⁹³

4.3.3. Theological Resonances

A move from the textual approaches of Jesus' understanding of the heritages of Israel and the Judaism(s) of his day are also reopened through the rubric of memory. Within the world of literary criticism, there have arisen fields of discourse surrounding the intertextuality of memory. That is, "a textual repository of memories from other texts that models itself on the ways in which we ourselves are constructed by traditions, unconsciously shaped by the voices and echoes of mythic paradigms we may not even be aware of."394 As Leopold Bloom says in Joyce's *Ulysses*, "Never know whose thoughts you're chewing."395 The same, *mutatis mutandis*, must be affirmed for Jesus and the Gospel writers. There are to be sure clear strategies evident within the written Gospels at the linguistic level which evoke the textual traditions of Israel. Even more of these evocations are opened

³⁸⁹ Schröter, "Jesus and the Canon," p. 119. For Aland's statements, see Kurt Aland, "Der neue 'Standard-Text' in seinem Verhältnis zu den frühen Papyri und Majuskeln," in *New Testament Textual Criticism: Its Significance for Exegesis. Essays in Honor of Bruce M. Metzger* (ed. Eldon J. Epp and Gordon D. Fee; Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981) 274–75.

³⁹⁰ Parker, *Living Text of the Gospels*.

 $^{^{391}}$ Eldon J. Epp, "The Multivalence of the Term 'Original Text' in Textual Criticism," *Harvard Theological Review* 92 (1992) 245–81.

³⁹² On the historical Jesus and text criticism, see, generally, Michael F. Bird, "Textual Criticism and the Historical Jesus," *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 6 (2008) 1–24.

³⁹³ Though at points a bit overstated (e.g., p. 183), see Kelber, "Conclusions: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective," p. 204.

³⁹⁴ John S. Rickard, "Tradition and Intertextual Memory in James Joyce's *Ulysses*," in *Philosophical Imagination and Cultural Memory: Appropriating Historical Traditions* (ed. Patricia Cook; Durham: Duke University Press, 1993) 196.

³⁹⁵ James Joyce, *Ulysses* (New York: Simon & Brown, 2011 [1922]) 217.

when the intertextuality of memory is allowed both at the level of explicit intentionality and unintentional "chewing." The Gospel texts are therefore to be mined for words, enactments, and mannerisms which tap into the heritages of Israel. What is more, practices and presences of those outside the formulations of Judaism which may otherwise be absent owing to a lack of textual support may well be operative if the move toward a more memory-based approach is adopted.

Theological resonances could also be worked out with respect to the early Jesus communities—which were primarily made up of Jews—along with their memory clusters of Jesus, and the heritages of Israel. The deep tones of memory at work within the Hebrew Bible are self-evident,³⁹⁶ as are the repeated refrains not to forget.³⁹⁷ These memories were often called upon at times of resistance to opposing hegemonies as an attempt to locate their own identities according to the narrative dynamics of belief in the one God. The inheritance of these traditions within the early followers of Jesus began to get reworked around a Christological key in its correlation of the remembering of Jesus with and as the divine identity (e.g., in the latter formulations of 2 Tim 2:8).

Memory opens up a vast subversive potential within the configuration of the early Jesus communities with respect to the role of memory within the construction of communal identity. Cultural memory is the inclusion and exclusion of memories from the memory cluster which best suit the purposes of *this* community. And it is in the configuration of precisely *these* memories which subvert other ordering remembrances—be they those of other early Jesus communities, antagonists of the Jesus communities within their social settings, or larger, indifferent imperial bodies too big to notice. Related to this is the fusion of remembrances of the historical figure of Jesus and the self-definition of the community. In other words, memory

__

³⁹⁶ See the interesting reflections in Taubes, *Occidental Eschatology* pp. 14–15. See, too, Brevard S. Childs, *Memory and Tradition in Israel* (London: SCM Press, 1962). See, too, Rolf Rendtorff, *The Canonical Hebrew Bible: A Theology of the Old Testament* (Tools for Biblical Studies 7; trans. David E. Orton; Leiden: Deo 2005) 2–6.

³⁹⁷ See Deut 4:9, 23, 31; 6:12; 8:11, 14, 19; 9:7; 25:19; 1 Sam 1:11; 2 Kgs 17:38; Prov 3:1; 4:5; Sir 37:6.

allows for the fusion of Christology and ecclesiology to occur within the early understanding of identity in varying communities. These threads will be traced and tested in our next chapter on the Gospel of Mark as our test case. Our central preoccupation, however, will be applying the way memory problematizes the underlying assumption of Schweitzer's conceptions of the pure originary and subsequent notions of tidy reconstructions of the historical Jesus.

CHAPTER FIVE THE UNTIDY JESUS OF MARKAN MEMORY

"A good wit will make use of anything."	
	William Shakespeare ¹

5.0. Putting Theory to Work

In this chapter we attempt to employ the experimental method sketched in the previous chapter while also taking seriously both the narrative dynamics of Mark as well as the occasional nature of the Gospel's communal dynamics as witnesses to something like the past—or, perhaps better, its resource(s) from the past; viz., Jesus memories. In the last chapter we saw how memory problematizes Schweitzer's legacy of a tidy systematic approach in which much of historical Jesus scholarship still operates as it aims at presenting a unified, coherent picture of a singular historical figure against which all else is re-coordinated and retrofitted. This desire for a "tidy" Jesus is problematic, however, in that it tends to coordinate the many to the one in ways which end in marginalizing subtler concerns of the evangelists. It also overly simplifies the complexities of identity by reducing all actions to a consistency that may not be present as well as the ways in which memory contaminates the historical process.²

In the previous chapter we considered the dynamics of the movement from history as lived, history as remembered, and history as written. In the present chapter we

¹ William Shakespeare, "The Second Part of Henry the Fourth," in *William Shakespeare: The Complete Works* (ed. Stanley Wells and Gary Taylor; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005 [1597-98]) I.ii.240, p. 543.

² Think, for example, of the difficulty in answering the question, "Who was Abraham Lincoln?" Was he a champion of civil rights ahead of his time? A political expedient who used the slavery issue for his political advantage? A racial bigot less interested in issues of emancipation than in big government? Even with a relatively recent example it is clear that "identity" is a complicated process which rejects reductionistic representations. The point here is that consistency or unifying vision is the construct of biographers not historical personages. On the complexities of Lincoln, see Ronald C. White, *A. Lincoln: A Biography* (New York: Random House, 2010); and, Eric Foner, *The Fiery Trial: Abraham Lincoln and American Slavery* (New York: W. W. Norton & Company, 2011).

will move backwards from this progression. We will start with our single test case of the Markan text and, conscious of the spaces of memory which infect every part of the tradition process, attempt to offer some reflections on the varieties of manner in which Jesus might have lived as Mark reconstructs his Jesus based upon its relevance for the community. In so doing we reject notions of pure origins and the "uncontaminated" originary, and problematize the construction of "tidy" Jesuses based upon decoded aims and objectives. As we saw with Schweitzer, discerning these "aims" can no doubt be part of the historical process and produce interesting findings, but to collapse all of the material onto the reconstruction of these efforts marginalizes subtler aspects of Jesus' identity and his representation.³ The varying "roles" in which Jesus appears to have acted—e.g., as discussed in this chapter: teacher, healer, and martyr—demonstrate how this irreducible plurality of and in lesus is incompatible with Schweitzer's persistent influence of a desire for singularity. It is in the reconstruction of a "tidy" Jesus where we feel the force of Schweitzer as "strong poet" most.⁴ In this chapter, then, we seek to break the anxiety of Schweitzer's influence by considering the *untidy* Jesus of Markan memory.

5.0.1. Communal Formation and Refraction

The Gospel of Mark is not a witness to the historical Jesus in the first instance but of early Christianity *in statu nascendi.*⁵ In that sense it cannot be reduced to mere *bios.*⁶ That is not to say that the early communities wrote themselves into the script and constructed Jesus as a personification of their communal crises. It is, however, to

³ For an attempt at a more rigorous application of and defense for the discernment of aims as part of the historical process, see the intriguing attempt of N. T. Wright, *The New Testament and the People of God* (Christian Origins and the Question of God 1; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1992) 29–144; and, Wright, *Jesus and the Victory of God* 3–144 and his application in pp. 477–653. Cf., too, Ben F. Meyer, *The Aims of Jesus* (London: SCM Press, 1979).

⁴ Bloom, *The Anxiety of Influence: A Theory of Poetry* 1.

⁵ Even if Mark is the "earliest" Gospel this does not give us direct or even "better" access to the historical Jesus. Our selection of Mark as a test case is as much *ad hoc* as it is about parody. To consider the Synoptics together is to be guided by the similar presuppositions of harmonization. The aim here is simply to focus on the provincial concerns of authors and their hermeneutics of relevance with respect to the memory cluster of the remembered Jesus.

⁶ Though see the reasoned arguments of Dirk Frickenschmidt, *Evangelium als Biographie: Die vier Evangelien im Rahmer antiker Erzählkunst* (Tübingen: Francke, 1997). See, too, Burridge, *What Are the Gospels?*

suggest that Jesus was written *into* their communal crises.⁷ In other words, it was the remembered Jesus refracted through a hermeneutic of relevance which we encounter in the Markan script for the purposes of identity construction and communal ordering and direction.⁸ "Mark uses his narrative to construct a worldview for his audience." Once we get this the right way around, we can read the Gospels as a kind of witness to what Jesus' ministry might have been like. Even here, however, the communal configuration of the Gospel stories is part of the ministry of Jesus. *Representations* are never to be confused with *reference*.¹⁰ As with the contemporary interpretive process so with the Markan "interpretation" of the life of Jesus: cultural position and local interest are not some "variable which can be isolated and then treated." Schweitzer's desire to get behind the "fateful shifting of perspective" enmeshed within the text is symptomatic of the drive for singularity and not shared in this approach. Work on the "historical Jesus" must be attuned to the communal dynamics located within the act of Reading.

As suggested earlier by Marc Bloch and Lucien Febvre and others within the *Annales* movement, history-writing grows out of present questions and concerns. 12 "History

⁷ Paraphrasing James Kloppenberg, Clark states that "all human inquiry arises out of communities of inquiry that control the terms of the discourse." Clark, *History, Theory, Text* p. 40.

⁸ See, similarly, Cilliers Breytenbach, "Identity and Rules of Conduct in Mark," in *Identity, Ethics, and Theos in the New Testament* (ed. Jan G. van der Watt; BZNTW 141; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006) 49–76.

⁹ Breytenbach, "Identity and Rules of Conduct in Mark," p. 50. See, too, Jens Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," in *The Blackwell Companion to New Testament* (ed. David E. Aune; Oxford: Blackwell, 2010) 273.

¹⁰ Following the linguistic turn in philosophies of history, previous conceptions of reference and representation have become unsettled by revising our understandings of language and its relation to the world around us. See Clark, *History, Theory, Text.* See, too, the dispelling with the "magical theory of reference" in Hilary Putnam, *Reason, Truth, and History* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981) 15.

¹¹ Brian K. Blount, *Cultural Interpretation: Reorienting New Testament Criticism* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1995) viii. See, too, the intriguing reflection on the "referential illusion" in Robert E. Berkhofer, *Beyond the Great Story: History as Text and Discourse* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995).

¹² For a useful introduction to the *Annales* school, see André Burguière, *The Annales School* (trans. Jane Marie Todd; Ithaca Cornell University Press, 2009 [2006]). See, too, Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, pp. 63–85.

is never for itself; it is always for someone."13 Reading the text as *interested history* or ideological construction, however, is not averse to saying something about previous happenings which may be embedded in narratives. ¹⁴ Mark must be read for what it is: an embedded narrative of communal interests. 15 This narration is not innocent but "deeply implicated in ideological construction." The memory cluster, as we have been calling it in §4, has been affected by the interests of the Markan redactor of remembrances at the level of its representation. The Markan narrative cannot give us access or pure reference to the memory cluster but is itself a witness to how early Christian writers made recourse to the memory cluster for the purposes of identity construction and communal direction.¹⁷ Taking this embedded ideology and the role of the "author" seriously, therefore, can serve the historical task by considering the ways in which narratives embed a fusion of horizons (Horizontverschmelzung) between the narration of past events and the communities for whom they are being narrated. 18 An act of historical playfulness concerns itself with prowling along the margins of this fusion and within their zones of silence.¹⁹ In this sense, there are winks and playful gestures beyond the closed textual system.²⁰ The Quest, then, building upon our discussion in §4, can be reconceived as considering "what is no longer" (viz., the historical Jesus) by examining the textual

¹³ Keith Jenkins, *Re-thinking History* (Routledge Classics; London: Routledge, 1991) 17. See, too, Lévi-Strauss and his comments on the phenomenon of *history-for*. Claude Lévi-Strauss, *Structural Anthropology* (trans. Claire Jacobson and Brooke Grundfest Schoepf; New York: Basic Books, 1963 [1958]) 258.

¹⁴ On narratives as ideology, see White, *Metahistory*. "White claimed that every work of history has embedded within itself a metahistory insofar as the author has already chosen, well before the so-called writing stage, the tropological mode in which the book is to be composed. And this prefiguration is not some incidental embellishment, but shapes the entire narrative from start to finish" (Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 99).

¹⁵ See Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 275.

¹⁶ Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 95. See the similar comments on how no historiography is "politically innocent." Hayden White, *The Content of the Form: Narrative Discourse and Historical Representation* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1990) 24.

¹⁷ Clark notes the intriguing work of Roger Chartier who looks at the way social identity is constructed through a series of struggles over representation (*History, Theory, Text*, p. 124; though cf., pp. 124–26). On Chartier, see Roger Chartier, *On the Edge of the Cliff: History, Language, and Practices* (trans. Lydia G. Cochrane; Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1997).

¹⁸ Gadamer, *Truth and Method* 304–06, 336, 366, 389, 397, 577.

¹⁹ Cf. Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 121, referring to Michel de Certeau.

²⁰ Intriguingly, Saussure himself suggested that language is only *one* system of signs among many which construct social life. See Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 46 and p. 225 n. 40.

artifacts for traces of what made their very presence possible.²¹ This would fund a significant departure from the quest for pure origins and singularity and allow for multiplicity, the *untidy* and the "polluted."²² With Derrida, we see no pure originary but texts (in the general sense) as enmeshed within overlapping environments and "touched" or contaminated by other texts.²³

A significant force with which must be reckoned is the role of "context" or milieu. As we have suggested, one of the fundamental impacts of Schweitzer upon the Quest has been in its drive for singularity. An example of this is manifested in the search "for a *distinctive* Jesus, distinctive in the sense of a Jesus *different* from his environment";²⁴ in other words, a singular, distinct Jesus different from a singular originary. The motivating factors behind this approach can sometimes be owing to the anti-semitic and racially-charged cases of finding a "white Jesus against a black background."²⁵ In any case, the motivations for this move are informed by a profound misunderstanding of the way culture opens up possibilities for new expressions. What James S. Shapiro said of Shakespeare is equally true of the historical figure of Jesus, "Shakespeare's appeal is universal precisely because he saw so deeply into the great questions of his day."²⁶

_

²¹ Michel de Certeau, *L'Absent de l'histoire* (Repères sciences humaines et idéologies 4; Tours: Mame, 1972) 153–67. See, generally, Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, pp. 119–24.

²² Michel de Certeau has suggested that the historical impulse should reconfigure itself away from matters of "origins" and into successive stages of loss. See Michel de Certeau, *The Writing of History* (trans. Tom Conley; New York: Columbia University Press, 1988 [1975]) 19–55, esp. p. 22.

²³ Jacques Derrida, *Dissemination* (trans. Barbara Johnson; London: Continuum, 2004 [1972]) 356–62.

²⁴ Dunn, *A New Perspective on Jesus* 58. Even here, however, we hear echoes of the search for misleading singularities.

 $^{^{25}\,}$ Fiorenza, Jesus and the Politics of Interpretation 124; note, too, the various studies cited on anti-Semitism. Cf. Grant, White Women's Christ and Black Women's Jesus: Feminist Christology and Womanist Response .

²⁶ James S. Shapiro, *A Year in the Life of William Shakespeare: 1599* (San Francisco: HarperCollins, 2005) xii-xiii. Karl Barth said as much about the historical figure of Jesus. "It is as a man of his time, and not otherwise, that he is the Lord of time. We should lose Jesus as the Lord of all time if we ignored him as a man in his own time. It is in this history—the history which is inseparable from his temporality—that the man Jesus lies and is the eternal salvation of all men in their different times." Karl Barth, *Church Dogmatics* (trans. G. W. Bromiley and T. F. Torrance; Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1936-1970) III/2, 440-41.

One's identity is not necessarily confined by culture. As Wittgenstein suggested, "What a believer 'believes is not a single proposition, but a system of propositions." This is his concept of "nest." What then is Jesus' nest? Of what story or stories did he find himself a part? What did his "nest" allow him to become? Kähler was right to see the undeniability of how Old Testament and Hebrew thought-forms have conditioned Jesus' outlook. But even here we are presented with many different ways of expressing Jewish identity. Moreover, deeply connected with the memory process must be the role of Israel's scripture. Yet here again we are confronted with diverse ways in which Jews were reading the scriptures in antiquity. Instead of looking for a marginal Jew or a singular, distinctive Jesus, then, it might be worth therefore pondering what Pannenberg termed "a radical Jew" and the pluriform ways in which this could be expressed.

The search for the milieu or context of Jesus, therefore, is well worth continuing.³¹ What from the "past made possible the traces that now remain, what were the conditions of their production?"³² Though the "inscape" of the historical figure is forever lost to us,³³ his "landscape," is yielding interesting patternings of possible ways of being Jewish in the first-century world.³⁴ As Nils Dahl stated, "whatever

²⁷ Wittgenstein, *On Certainty* §141.

²⁸ MacIntyre, *After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory* 216.

²⁹ Martin Kähler, *Jesus und das Alte Testament* (Leipzig: A. Deichert, 1896).

 $^{^{\}rm 30}$ Wolfhart Pannenberg, An Introduction to Systematic Theology (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1991) 62.

³¹ On the "search for Jesus' context," see, for example, Jacob Neusner, *From Politics to Piety: The Emergence of Pharisaic Judaism* (New York: Ktav, 1979); P. S. Alexander, "Rabbinic Judaism and the New Testament," *Zeitschrift für die Neutestamentliche Wissenschaft* 74 (1983) 237-46; Craig A. Evans, "Early Rabbinic Sources and Jesus Research," in *Jesus in Context: Temple, Purity and Restoration* (ed. Bruce Chilton and Craig A. Evans; Leiden: Brill, 1997).

³² Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 157.

³³ The term "inscape" is from Gerard Manley Hopkins and is an appropriation of John Duns Scotus's doctrine of *haecceitas* which refers to the essential quality of a thing. See Gerard Manley Hopkins, *The Major Works: Including All the Poems and Selected Prose* (Oxford World's Classics; ed. Catherine Phillips; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009) 2.

³⁴ At the head of this discussion is the many works on the Galilee of Jesus by Sean Freyne. See, Sean Freyne, "Archaeology and the Historical Jesus," in *Jesus and Archaeology* (ed. James H. Charlesworth; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2006); Sean Freyne, *Jesus, A Jewish Galilean: A New Reading of the Jesus-Story* (London: T & T Clark, 2004); Sean Freyne, "The Ethos of First-Century Galilee," *Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association* 17 (1994) 69-79; Sean Freyne, "The Galileans in the Light of Josephus' *Vita*," *New Testament Studies* 26.3 (1980) 397-413; Sean Freyne, *Galilee, Jesus and the*

expands our knowledge of the environment of Jesus (Palestinian Judaism) indirectly extends our knowledge of the historical Jesus himself."³⁵ This milieu, however, is a complex web of interactions both in terms of a variety of expressions of Judaism mixing with variegated "Hellenisms."³⁶ The various expressions of Judaism during the days of Jesus reveal a movement that was self-critical and intra-polemical from the first. It is worth considering Jesus within this sprawling set of possibilities as opposed to looking for vague instances of dissimilarity.³⁷ There were a variety of Judaisms,³⁸ and these varieties produced a series of fresh tellings and expressions of what it meant to be "Jewish,"³⁹ particularly through the reading of the Hebrew scriptures.

-

Gospels: Literary Approaches and Historical Investigations (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1988); Sean Freyne, Galilee and Gospel: Collected Essays (WUNT 125; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000); Sean Freyne, "Jesus a Jewish Galilean: A New Reading of the Jesus Story," Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association 28 (2005) 106-23; Sean Freyne, "Galilean Religion of the First Century C.E. against Its Social Background," Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association 5 (1981) 98-114.

³⁵ Nils A. Dahl, "The Problem of the Historical Jesus," in *Jesus the Christ: The Historical Origins of Christological Doctrine* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991 [1962]) 81-111. Though Dahl's focus here is on the Palestinian setting, we hasten to add that life within the Roman empire is significant as well.

³⁶ On the artificial separation of these two worlds, see Martin Hengel, *Judaism and Hellenism: Studies in their Encounter in Palestine During the Early Hellenistic Period* (2vols.; trans. John Bowden; Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1974); Martin Hengel and Christoph Markschies, *The 'Hellenization' of Judaea in the First Century after Christ* (London: SCM Press, 1991).

³⁷ Since the rise of Vatican II's call in 1965 for more Catholic and Jewish collaboration in biblical-theological study and dialogue, there have been numerous studies returning to the "nest" of Judaism and its various expressions. See Austin Flannery, ed., *Vatican II: The Conciliar and Post-Conciliar Documents* (Northport: Costello Publishing 1975) 740-42; S. J. Daniel J. Harrington, "Retrieving the Jewishness of Jesus: Recent Developments," in *The Historical Jesus: Through Catholic and Jewish Eyes* (ed. Leonard Greenspoon Bryan F. LeBeau, and Dennis Hamm, S. J.; Harrisburg: Trinity Press International, 2000) 67–84; S. J. Daniel J. Harrington, "The Jewishness of Jesus: Facing Some Problems," *Catholic Biblical Quarterly* 49, no. 1 (January 1987) 1-13.

³⁸ Wayne A. Meeks, *Christ Is the Question* (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2006) 71. Cf. E. P. Sanders, *Judaism: Practice and Belief 63BCE - 66CE* (Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1992); Sanders, *Jesus and Judaism*; Fabian E. Udoh, ed., *Redefining First-Century Jewish and Christian Identities: Essays in Honor of Ed Parish Sanders* (Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 2008).

³⁹ See, e.g., Shaye J. D. Cohen, *The Beginnings of Jewishness: Boundaries, Varieties, Uncertainties* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2001); John M. G. Barclay, *Jews in the Mediterranean Diaspora: From Alexander to Trajan (323 BCE–117 CE)* (Berkely: University of California Press, 1999).

Yet "context" is never a politically neutral term nor can it be absolutely determined. What is more, the usual "returns" to the thoughtworlds of second temple Judaism or the culture of Palestine are problematic in its naïve (arrogant?) colonial assertion that such moves are fluid. The "originary" is always already "open to translation so that it can never be said to have a totalized prior moment of being or meaning—an essence." Cultures are constituted "in relation to that otherness internal to their own symbol-forming activity which makes them decentered structures." Culture in all its forms is in the continual "process of hybridity." But when chastened, context, or the "social environment of the text," allows space both for considering "linguistic representation" and can gesture toward "the social forces at work in these constructions." The previous configurations of the Quest asked interesting questions but these questions were themselves not asked by the texts examined and are therefore in some senses at least unanswerable. When taking the aforementioned into consideration, however, we can detect hints of life outside the text (see fig. 1 below).

_

⁴⁰ See the essay "Signature, Event, Context," in Peggy Kamuf, ed., *A Derrida Reader: Reading Between the Blinds* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1991) 80–111; Jacques Derrida, *Limited Inc.* (trans. Samuel Weber; Evanston: Northwestern University Press, 1988) 131–32, 136.

⁴¹ Homi K. Bhabha, "The Third Space: Interview with Homi Bhabha," in *Identity, Community, Culture, Difference* (ed. Jonathan Rutherford; London: Lawrence and Wishart, 1990) 210. See, too, Homi K. Bhabha, *The Right to Narrate* (New York: Columbia University Press, Forthcoming).

⁴² Bhabha, "The Third Space," p. 211.

⁴³ See, e.g., the work of Gabrielle M. Spiegel, *The Past as Text: The Theory and Practice of Medieval Historiography* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1999); Gabrielle M. Spiegel, *Practicing History: New Directions in Historical Writing after the Linguistic Turn* (London: Routledge, 2005); and Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, pp. 156–186.

⁴⁴ Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 181.

Figure 1



The context of Mark, then, is "polluted" by representations of the environments in which Jesus lived and refracted through the community's interest and *Sitz im Leben*. Date, provenance, and other matters are therefore of importance but cannot be reduced to litmus tests for the contextual makeup of Mark as a sure guide to the historical Jesus. The past *and* the present are embedded at every level. Useful still is considering Roman or Syrian locale, yet Jewish influence and presence in Rome and Roman presence in Judea and Syria are realities which must be kept in focus. If the date is post-70, the fate of the Jews and the Jewish War would have been known throughout the empire owing to the processional of Titus (*B.J.* 7.37–40, 139–46) and the issuing of the *Judaea capta* coins. If it were pre-70CE there were significant populations of Jews living in the Diaspora which would cause some familiarity. Rome itself had a prolific propaganda machinery that could communicate far and

⁴⁵ On such issues I simply defer to the commentaries, particularly Camille Focant, *L'évangile selon Marc* (Commentaire biblique: Nouveau Testament 2; Paris: Cerf, 2004) 29–49; Joel Marcus, *Mark 1-8: A New Translation with Introduction and Commentary* (The Anchor Bible; vol. 27; New York: Doubleday, 2000) 17–40; and, Collins, *Mark*, pp. 1–44.

⁴⁶ Moloney argues that Syria and Palestine might have felt the might and presence of Rome more poignantly. See Francis J. Moloney, *The Gospel of Mark* (Peabody: Hendrickson, 2002) 15; and Werner Eck considers Judea was "a normal province." Werner Eck, *Rom und Judaea: Fünf Vorträge zur Römischen Herrschaft in Palaestina* (WUNT; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007) 51, 236.

 $^{^{47}}$ Brian J. Incigneri, *The Gospel to the Romans* (Biblical Interpretation Series 65; Leiden: Brill, 2003) 138.

⁴⁸ Owing to the distinctive practices of those gathered in the synagogue, the Jews would have had at least a passing familiarity to those in the Diaspora. Cf. Martin Goodman, *Rome and Jerusalem: The Clash of Ancient Civilizations* (London: Penguin, 2007) 282–83.

wide so its influence was felt far beyond the capital.⁴⁹ What is more, the Jews had been administered by an ambitious king eager to curry the favor of Rome through his aggressive architectural programs.⁵⁰ The same is true for the Galilee under the reign of Herod Antipas during the time of Jesus—not least in Jesus' close proximity to Sepphoris and Caesarea Philippi.⁵¹ The shadows of empire enveloped and affected Jewish particularity. In what follows, then, we offer cautious observations which could be applied to multiple settings.⁵²

5.0.2. The Political Shape of Memory

As we have argued above, both in §4 and §5.0.1., the process of memory contains within itself a political dynamic.⁵³ It is precisely *these* memories which have been preserved through their ascendancy at the expense of other dissident voices through ritualized remembering and systematized forgetting.⁵⁴ The act of remembering contains within itself a reflex of "counter-present remembering" (*kontrapräsentische Erinnerung*).⁵⁵ With respect to the Markan text, a world is

⁴⁹ Ando, *Imperial Ideology and Provincial Loyalty in the Roman Empire* 215–28; and, Carlos F. Noreña, "The Communication of the Emperor's Virtues," *JRS* 91 (2001) 146–68.

⁵⁰ Herod the Great constructed the Temple of Augustus in Sebaste on 27 BCE (*B.J.*. 1.403; *A.J.* 15:292–98); the temple of Roma and Augustus with imperial games at Caesarea Maritima in 23BCE (*B.J.* 1.408–15; *A.J.* 15:331–41; Philo, *Legat.* 299–305); and the temple of Augustus near Banias in 20BCE (*B.J.* 1.404–06; *A.J.* 15:363–64). Cf. Michael Peppard, *The Son of God in the Roman World: Divine Sonship in Its Social and Political Context* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011) 92. Herod also enlarged the court of women and the court for the gentiles in a shrewd financial move (*B.J.* 1.408–414; *A.J.* 15:331–37; 16:136–41). See Peter Richardson, *Herod the King of the Jews and Friend of the Romans* (Studies on Personalities of the New Testament; Columbia University of South Carolina Press, 1996). See, too, Ehud Netzer, *Architecture of Herod the Great Builder* (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2008); and, Nikos Kokkinos, *The Herodian Dynasty: Origins, Role in Society, and Eclipse* (JSPSupp 30; Sheffield: Sheffield Press, 1998).

⁵¹ On Antipas, see Morten Hørning Jensen, *Herod Antipas in Galilee: The Literary and Archaeological Sources on the Reign of Herod Antipas and Its Socio-Economic Impact on Galilee* (WUNT/II 215; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2006).

⁵² I tend toward a pre- though near-70CE dating and a Syrian or Galilean provenance.

⁵³ See, generally, Joseph T. Skerrett Jr. Amritjit Singh, and Robert E. Hogan, ed., *Memory & Cultural Politics: New Approaches to American Ethnic Literatures* (Boston: Northeastern University Press, 1996); and, Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning, ed., *A Companion to Cultural Memory Studies* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2010) 141–214.

⁵⁴ This language and thought reflects that of Duncan Bell in a different yet related context of the national myth. See Bell, "Mythscapes: Memory, Mythology, and National Identity,", p. 73.

⁵⁵ The language of *kontrapräsentische Erinnerung* is that of Jan Assmann. See Assmann, *Das kulturelle Gedächtnis* 72–80, 294–97; cf., generally, Michel Foucault, *Language, Counter-Memory, Practice: Selected Essays and Interviews* (trans. Donald F. Bouchard and Sherry Simon; Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1977) 113–98.

narrated in a way which differs from its surrounding mappings. At one level this is testimony to an uneasy habitation within imperial cosmology and cartography.⁵⁶ At another, it is witness to the polemical maneuvering of inheriting the mantel of the people of God and rival readings of the scriptures of Israel.⁵⁷ Here we take an additional step beyond seeing the Gospel of Mark as not only a representation of the past but also an intervention of the present.⁵⁸ The $\alpha \rho \chi \dot{\eta}$ of Mark's Gospel is less of a "fresh start" than a "disruption." This "disruption" matches the "uneasy habitation" within the larger cultural systems mentioned above: viz., Jewish expressions and expectations and life on the Roman colony. 60 The community's articulation of itself destabilizes the dominant narrative or competing narratives.⁶¹ The act of "narration exemplifies one of the basic ways in which we represent the world and the language of beginnings and endings, of turning points and crises and climaxes, is coimplicated with this mode of representation to so great a degree that our image of our own lives must be deeply narrational."62 Memory politics instill acts of remembrance with an intentionality which is "purposefully used to form and stabilize social groups and their identities."63

⁵⁶ Here I note the impressive work of Anathea E. Portier-Young, *Apocalypse against Empire: Theologies of Resistance in Early Judaism* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2011). Portier-Young does not deal with Mark but demonstrates a way of reading classical texts with social theoretical sensibilities with respect to "colonies" living within the cosmologies of imperial ordering.

⁵⁷ On the dynamics of identity with respect to rivals, see Philip A. Harland, *Dynamics of Identity in the World of the Early Christians: Associations, Judeans, and Cultural Minorities* (London: T & T Clark, 2009) 143–81.

⁵⁸ In a similar move within Latin literature, see Habinek, *The Politics of Latin Literature* 3.

⁵⁹ Said, *Beginnings: Intention and Method* 34. Worth noting is the interesting article of Craig A. Evans who considers Mark 1:1 and the Priene Calendar Inscription. See Craig A. Evans, "Mark's Incipit and the Priene Calendar Inscription: From Jewish Gospel to Greco-Roman Gospel," *Journal for the Study of Greco-Roman Christianity and Judaism* 1 (2000) 67–81.

⁶⁰ Some of this thinking is informed by Anderson, *Imagined Communities* 19. See, too, Homi K. Bhabha, ed., *Nation and Narration* (London: Routledge, 1990) 2–3.

⁶¹ See, e.g., David Palumbo-Liu, "The Politics of Memory: Remembering History in Alice Walker and Joy Kogawa," in *Memory and Cultural Politics: New Approaches to American Ethnic Literatures* (ed. Joseph T. Skerrett Jr. Amritjit Singh, and Robert E. Hogan; Boston: Northeastern University Press, 1996) 211–26. See, too, Fortier, *Cultural Memory: Resistance, Faith and Identity* 55–83; and, Arthur C. Danto, *Narration and Knowledge* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1985).

⁶² Danto, *Narration and Knowledge* p. xiii; cf., pp. 342–63. Worth noting, too, is the potential disruption of the "Roman obsession with time" with the Markan telling of its own time. On the "Roman obsession with time," see Denis Feeney, *Caesar's Calendar: Ancient Time and the Beginnings of History* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2010).

⁶³ Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces: 1989 and the Question of German Cultural Identity* 17. With respect to the repression of memory and the role of memory as a tool for resistance within a

Within the model of cultural memory articulated in §4, that which is remembered contains within itself a pushing of "other things into the background,"⁶⁴ with the community's collective memories open to politicized forms of remembering.⁶⁵ In this sense, Mark's representation and redaction of the memory cluster is a "polemical act of self-definition."⁶⁶ The "past" becomes a contested site where its various appropriations are made in order to legitimize particular sociopolitical agendas and ideologies.⁶⁷ Interpretations—in this case, of the scriptures of Israel, the memory cluster, and life on the colony—are therefore political acts.⁶⁸ The Markan construction of Jesus as well as his representation of the memory cluster can therefore be seen "as a counter-hegemonic site of resistance, a space of political opposition."⁶⁹ In this sense, we actually see Schweitzer's promising yet underdeveloped political theology alluded to in §3.1.1. enhanced through memory theory. The political shape of Markan memories is significant for what follows both in terms of its relation to the heritage(s) of Judaism and its direction for life on the colony.⁷⁰

_

postcolonial perspective, see the intriguing work of Jeffre L. Gould and Aldo A. Lauria-Santiago, *To Rise in Darkness: Revolution, Repression, and Memory in El Salvador, 1920–1932* (Durham: Duke University Press, 2008).

⁶⁴ Assmann, Religion and Cultural Memory 3.

⁶⁵ See, e.g., Aleida Assman and Ute Frevert, *Geschichtsvergessenheit, Geschichtsversessenheit:* Vom Umgang mit deutschen Vergangenheiten nach 1945 (Stuttgart: Deutsche Verlags-Anstalt, 1999) 19–147. Cf., Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory*, p. 3.

⁶⁶ Assmann, *Religion and Cultural Memory*, p. 77, referring to the process of canonization.

⁶⁷ Ideology, in this sense, is seen as "an action-orientated thought-structure that, in its endeavour to stifle debate over possible political alternatives—to close down reasoned discussion over how best to live—tries instead to decontest the essentially contested concepts which structure political discourse." Bell, "Mythscapes: Memory, Mythology, and National Identity," p. 74. See, too, Michael Freeden, *Ideologies and Political Theory: A Conceptual Approach* (Oxford Oxford University Press. 1996).

⁶⁸ Worth noting, is the interesting study of John M. G. Barclay, "Memory Politics: Josephus on Jews in the Memory of the Greeks," in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity* (ed. Loren T. Stuckenbruck Stephen C. Barton, and Benjamin G. Wold; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007) 129–42.

⁶⁹ Bell, "Mythscapes: Memory, Mythology, and National Identity," p. 65; Duncan S. A. Bell, "Anarchy, Power, and Death: Contemporary Political Realism as Ideology," *Journal of Political Ideologies* 7.2 (2002) 21–39. These words, of course, have no reference to Mark's Gospel, but the concept is entirely relevant to my reading of what "Mark" is doing at the level of identity construction and communal ordering.

⁷⁰ With the phrase "life on the colony," I am intending to invoke the work of Achille Mbembe, *On the Postcolony* (Berkely: University of California Press, 2001). On Mark in postcolonial perspective, see Donald Senior, "With Swords and Clubs: The Setting of Mark's Community and His

5.0.3. Singular Subject in Pluralistic Perspective

Throughout the history of interpretation, several profiles of Jesus have been put forward. John Reumann has organized a dozen or so profiles: The apocalyptic messiah; the great teacher; the existentialist rabbi; the church's resurrected Lord; the prophetic suffering-servant messiah of Isaiah 53; the Essene-like Teacher of Righteousness; the sacred mushroom(!); the Nazorean scheming messiah; the political revolutionist; the pacifist; the proto Marxist-atheists; the romantically involved proto-feminist; the magician; the Hasidic *tsaddiq* Jew. It is likely that aspects of some of these profiles reflect the memory cluster to some capacity. The influence of the Markan redactor of remembrances can be felt at points in which various "portraits" emerge as a result of hermeneutical relevance with respect to the process of contextualization. Playing off these various "portraits" against each other in the service of an overarching coherency begs "many questions of definition" and represents "false dichotomies." There is, of course, a balance that must be struck between investigating individual texts and locating them within properly

_

Critique of Abusive Power," *BTB* 17 (1987) 10–20; Joahn Donahue, "Windows and Mirrors: The Setting of Mark's Gospel " *CBQ* 57 (1995) 1–26; Tat-Siong Benny Liew, *Politics of Parousia: Reading Mark Inter(con)textually* (Biblical Interpretation 42; Leiden: Brill, 1999); Tat-Siong Benny Liew, "Tyranny, Boundary and Might: Colonial Mimicry in Mark's Gospel," *JSNT 73* (1999) 7–31; Simon Samuel, *A Postcolonial Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus* (LNTS 340; London: T & T Clark, 2007); Simon Samuel, "The Beginning of Mark: A Colonial / Postcolonial Conundrum," *Biblical Interpretation* 10 (2002) 405–19; and, C. I. D. Joy, "The Social and Religious Origins of the Gospel of Mark and its Hermeneutical Implications: A Post-Colonial Critique," *Bangalore Theological Forum* 33 (2001) 1–24. Cf., too, A. K. M. Adam, "Mathew's Readers, Power, and Ideology," in *Society of Biblical Literature 1994 Seminar Papers* (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1994) 435–49.

⁷¹ See, for example, the very thorough outlining of "Profile of a Prophet" in Wright, *Jesus and the Victory of God* 145–474. For the epistemological and hermeneutical grounding of this "profile," see Wright, *The New Testament and the People of God* 1–144. Cf. the list of competing profiles in Beilby, "The Quest for the Historical Jesus: An Introduction," 53.

⁷² Luke Timothy Johnson states that "the framework chosen often reveals as much about the investigator as it does about Jesus." See Luke Timothy Johnson, *The Writings of the New Testament: An Interpretation* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2010) 555.

⁷³ John Reumann, "Jesus and Christology," in *The New Testament and Its Modern Interpreters* (ed. Eldon J. Epp and George W. McRae; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1989) 501–64.

⁷⁴ Cf. Jürgen Becker, "The Search for Jesus' Special Profile," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill 2011) 1.68.

⁷⁵ John S. Kloppenborg, "Sources, Methods and Discursive Locations in the Quest of the Historical Jesus," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.276.

limited paradigms,⁷⁶ but the drive for singularity and pure origins needs to be questioned. Here we follow Keith Jenkins and his dirge for the "death of centres."⁷⁷

Schweitzer's influence is acutely felt in the Quest's preoccupation with singularities and pure origins—e.g., background, profile, unifying vision and aim, and so on—and is that which Part Two seeks to problematize. As alluded to in §5.0.1., Derrida's dispelling of the pure originary is central to our appropriations from memory theory in §4. At one level, the Jesus represented within the constructed world of the Gospel writers is a character who can be scrutinized as a literary phenomenon. In this sense, levels of singularity may come into play in terms of characterization or "atheology-of" approach, yet even here there is considerable breadth and variation within the tradition. This emplotted Jesus, however, cannot be confused with the historical Jesus. Narrative is the unity which masks the many distinct ways in which Jesus was remembered. Yet even within the narrative of the Gospel of Mark Jesus is presented in diverse ways (see §5.2 below). "The principal difficulty in attempting to classify or categorize Jesus is that he exhibited characteristics of several categories and the categories themselves overlap." The challenge is to

⁷⁶ See, e.g., Antoine Prost, *Douze leçons sur l'histoire* (Paris: Seuil, 1966) 234. Cf. A. E. Harvey, *Jesus and the Constraints of History* (Philadelphia: The Westminster Press, 1982).

⁷⁷ Jenkins, *Re-Thinking History*, p. 71.

⁷⁸ For a survey of the criteria by which this singularity is determined, see John P. Meier, "Basic Methodology in the Quest for the Historical Jesus," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.291–332. He labels them in order of importance as follows: embarrassment, discontinuity, multiple attestation in sources of forms, coherence, and Jesus' rejection and execution" (p. 1.330).

⁷⁹ It should be noted that these "profiles" are not discovered in the text but constructed from the text. In a similar vein, see the comments on historical "facts" in Jacques Le Goff, *Histoire et mémoire* (Paris: Seuil. 1988).

⁸⁰ Even here, however, within fictive worlds complex characters contain their own multiplicity if only at the level of strategic deployment for the purposes of attaining their singular agenda.

⁸¹ Cf. the words of John Kloppenborg, commenting on the manner in which "scholars move from the isolation of authentic Jesus materials to the synthetic effort to produce a coherent portrait. This involves many decisions that are functions of theoretical, conceptual, or ideological commitments." Kloppenborg, "Sources, Methods and Discursive Locations in the Quest of the Historical Jesus," p. 1.275.

⁸² Craig A. Evans, "Prophet, Sage, Healer, Messiah, and Martyr: Types and Identities of Jesus," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 2.1243.

examine these presentations for traces of ways in which Jesus might have lived while allowing for the *untidy* nature of memory and the complexities of identity.

5.1. Christic Community and Ritual Christ

In Figure 1 above, the attempt is made to illustrate what has been suggested in the argument of this chapter thus far. Within the Markan text, we can see hints and gestures away from the text both in the direction of the community and traces of the untidy remembrances of the "historical" Jesus within the memory cluster. These gestures are represented by the shaded portions which overlap with the Markan text.⁸³ Dibelius and other form critics were correct to note the seeming artificiality of the frameworks presented within the Gospel material.⁸⁴ But these "frameworks" suggest ways in which early communities conceived of themselves and the ways in which they appropriated remembrances of Jesus from the memory cluster. These "frameworks" provide traces and gestures which hint at *Sitze im Leben* outside of the framework with respect to something like the historical Jesus and the community's life on the colony.

Examples of these are ways in which Mark's text looks beyond itself (e.g., 2:20; 8:38; 91; 13:1–37; 14:62),⁸⁵ and the ways in which Mark retains an interest in the distinctions between narrated time and the time of narrator.⁸⁶ The Markan Gospel is an interpretation of the *Sitz im Leben* of the narrator's audience through an interpretation and creative deployment of the untidy Jesus of Markan memory. Mark as narrative thus attunes the reader to the various strategies, characters and aspects of Jesus' activity (traces of the past) as well as their impact on and relevance

-

⁸³ It must be noted that it is only from the shaded portions of the overlap in Figure 1 that we *conjecture* the form of outlying circles. For all we know, they could be something else entirely.

⁸⁴ See Dibelius, *Die Formgeschichte des Evangeliums*; and, generally, David E. Aune, "Form Criticism," in *The Blackwell Companion to the New Testament* (ed. David E. Aune; Oxford: Blackwell, 2010) 140–56.

⁸⁵ Cf. Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 273. We will consider these in some detail in §5.1.3.

⁸⁶ See, e.g., in 1:5 where the eyes of the whole region are drawn to the particularity of the narrative: πασα ή Ἰουδαία χώρα καὶ οἱ Ἱεροσολυμῖται πάντες. Elsewhere on Mark's retaining the particularities of narrative time, see, e.g., 1:9, 14, 16, 21, 28, 39; 2:1, 13; 3:7–8; 4:1; 5:1, 20, 22; 6:14–29, 53; 7:24, 31; 8:15, 22, 27; 9:30, 33; 10:1, 32; 11:1, 12, 15, 27; 13:3.

for the present (gestures of communal interests and concerns).⁸⁷ Mark responds to communal challenges with "a narrative about the reign of God,"⁸⁸ enacted by and now ritually relocated in the remembered Jesus. In at least two places the narrator invades the narrative to address the readers directly (7:2–3; 13:14). At other times the narrator does so indirectly to explain (note the Latinisms of 12:42; 15:16)⁸⁹ and editorialize (5:41, 42[?]; 6:17; 7:2–4, 19, 34; 15:34, 42).⁹⁰ We can also sense aspects of the text which are aimed at communal direction in terms of coping with absence and persevering amidst persecution (see §5.1.2.). Doubtless there are further ways in which the text playfully hints outside of itself (e.g., 5:19–20; 10:46–52; 14:9, 51–52; 15:21?) but such resonances are lost to us. But we can figure traces of the past both in the ways in which Jesus is characterized (see §5.2.) as well as in some of the narrative techniques within the Markan text—e.g., the so-called summary statements (*Sammelberichte*).⁹¹

5.1.1. Ritual and lieu(x) de mémoire

In §4.1.3. we suggested that it may be worth considering the remembered Jesus as a *lieu de mémoire*. Within the system of Pierre Nora's *lieux de mémoire*, ⁹² the "past that is not gone but is perceived as eternal presence" creates what Nora called *milieux de mémoire*, "the real environments of memory." When ritual and the *milieux de mémoire* have vanished we are left with only sites which remind us of the past: *lieux*

⁸⁷ Cf., similarly, Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 277.

⁸⁸ Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 283.

⁸⁹ See, esp., Robert H. Gundry, *Mark: A Commentary on His Apology for the Cross* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans) 1044.

⁹⁰ It is intriguing to note the instances where precisely where we would guess such explanations would be present they are in fact absent (e.g., 1:44–45; 5:25; 10:1–12; 14:1, 36; 15:6).

⁹¹ Schmidt, *Der Rahmen der Geschichte Jesu: Literarkritische Untersuchungen zur ältesten Jesusüberlieferung* and p. 320 for his index listing the summary passages. C. H. Dodd altered this list. See C. H. Dodd, "The Framework of the Gospel Narrative," in *New Testament Studies* (Manchester: University Press, 1967 [1932]). See, too, Wilhelm Egger, *Frohbotschaft und Lehre: Die Sammelberichte des Wirkens Jesu im Markusevangelium* (Frankfurt: Knecht, 1976). See, esp., Charles W. Hendrick, "The Role of "Summary Statements" in the Composition of the Gospel of Mark: A Dialog with Karl Schmidt and Norman Perrin," *Novum Testamentum* 26.4 (1984) 289–311. By my own count, I see the following texts operating in summary fashion: 1:9, 12–13, 14, 21–22, 28, 32–34, 39; 2:13, 15; 3:1, 10, 14; 4:2, 33–34; 5:27; 6:2, 5, 6, 12–13, 14, 17, 30, 31b, 55–56; 8:31; 9:31a; 10:1, 32.

⁹² Nora, Realms of Memory.

⁹³ See Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces*, p. 8.

de mémoire. As such these *lieux* are not retrievals or repetitions of the past but representations, "a meaningful entity of a real or imagined kind, which has become a symbolic element of a given community as a result of human will or the effect of time." In considering the remembered Jesus as the lieu(x) de mémoire of early Christian reflection, however, we need to articulate what we intend as well as make some necessary adjustments to Nora's usage.

First, Nora argued that memory and history are separate and distinct phenomena and he demonstrates a noticeable antagonism toward the latter. History for Nora is purely construction and *lieux de mémoire* are artificial and deliberate fabrications which replace "real" and "true" living memory. They exist in order to "stop time" and "block the work of forgetting" and preserve the "will to remember. Second, Nora sees these *lieux de mémoire* as non-universals and an entirely modern phenomena. In this sense, a charge of anachronism could be leveled against our usage here. Central to our appropriation of Nora's concept, however, is the way in which he figures *lieux de mémoire* as the points where cultural memory "crystallizes and secretes itself." In this sense, Jesus as a *lieu de mémoire* is the point at which the community both centers and performs its ritual identity. Within the sphere of this social function identities are formed, expressed, and reinforced. In the Markan text, the figure of Jesus has become a place where the community's identity is both crystallized and communicated.

-

⁹⁴ Aronold-de Simine, ed., *Memory Traces: 1989 and the Question of German Cultural Identity* p. 8, citing Nora, ed., *Les Lieux de Memoire* 1004.

⁹⁵ See, esp., Pierre Nora, "Between Memory and History: Les Lieux de Mémoire," *Representations* 26 (1989) 7-25.

⁹⁶ Nora, "Between Memory and History," p. 19.

⁹⁷ Nora, "Between Memory and History," p. 7.

⁹⁸ On ritual theory and the social functions of ritual practice, see, e.g., Roy A. Rappaport, *Ritual and Religion in the Making of Humanity* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008 [1999]); Michael Lambek, ed., *A Reader in the Anthropology of Religion* (2d ed.; Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 2008 [2002]) 299–428; Catherine Bell, *Ritual: Perspectives and Dimensions* (Oxford Oxford University Press, 2009 [1997]); Catherine Bell, *Ritual Theory, Ritual Practice* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009 [1992]); Ronald L. Grimes, *Beginnings in Ritual Studies* (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1994 [1982]); and, Robert A. Segal, ed., *The Myth and Ritual Theory: An Anthology* (*Blackwell Readings in Modern Theology*; Oxford: Blackwell, 1998).

⁹⁹ See, e.g., 1:3; 2:5–12, 20, 27–28; 3:33–35; 4:35–41; 6:45–52; 9:8, 37; 11:9; 14:22–25.

5.1.2. The Sociolinguistic Location of Christ and Community

The fusion of horizons (*Horizontverschmelzung*) embedded within the Markan narrative is further descriptive of the communal ritualization of Christ and the ritual performance of the community. In this sense, the text becomes effectual upon the community both in terms of ethical direction and in its centering of identity. With Schröter, we see the historical process as being "conceived as a creative act of remembering the past for the purpose of establishing identity in the present." Establishing these sociolinguistic affects upon the community is, in part, a strategic maneuver to play around the edges of the traces of the past and gestures for communal direction. We will consider the aspects of communal direction in the next section (§5.1.3.) while focusing further on the centering of identity and recourse to the ritual Jesus in what follows.

Mark makes recourse to the memory cluster and (re)orders existing memories of Jesus to shape communal consciousness. Following Mark's narrative strategy, therefore, reveals wider communal directives and the ways in which the narrator centers communal identity. Many have noted the apparent *inclusio* in Mark's Gospel with the dual appearance of $\sigma \chi (\zeta \omega)$ at the beginning of Jesus' earthly ministry (1:10) and at its conclusion (15:38), as well as the centering effect of the transfiguration sequence (9:2–13). Beyond the mere lexical connections there are several suggestive thematic parallels: the heavens splitting, the presence of the spirit, allusions to Elijah, and a voice declaring Jesus' sonship (we will return to these below).

These "apocalyptic moments" 102 suggest a narrative strategy peculiar to the Markan material, with stress placed on the baptism of Jesus, as both Matthew (3:16) and Luke (3:21) use $\alpha voi\gamma \omega$ which was more often used "to express the idea of the heaven(s) opening for theophanic, epiphanic, or revelatory purposes" (Isa 63:19 LXX; Ezek 1:1 LXX; *Hermas, Vis.* 1.1:4; *T. Levi* 2:6; 18:6; Cf. *2 Bar.* 22:1; *Apoc. Abr.*

¹⁰⁰ Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 275.

¹⁰¹ E.g., C. Clifton Black, "The Face Is Familiar—I Just Can't Place It," in *The Ending of Mark and the Ends of God: Essays in Memory of Donald Harrisville Juel* (ed. Beverly Roberts Gaventa and Patrick D. Miller; Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2005) 35.

¹⁰² Ched Myers, *Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus* (New York: Orbis Books, 1988) 390–91.

19:4). 103 There appear to be several themes working together at once but we will concentrate on the Markan conception of divine presence. As Samuel Terrien has argued, this concept of divine presence "stands at the center of biblical faith." 104 The cultic symbol system of Israel was constructed to manage and tend to God's *elusive presence*. "The erection of the tent and the ark in the wilderness, the sanctuaries in Canaan, and the temple in Jerusalem testified to the elusiveness of theophany and vision and stressed the paradox of a hiddenness which was not an absence." 105

There are, however, several strands of both canonical (e.g. Ps 74:9), non-canonical (*T. Benj.* 2:2; *2 Apoc Bar* 85:3; 1 Mac 4:4; 9:27; 14:41), and rabbinical material (*b. Sanh.* 11a; cf. *Tanhuma* on Num 8:2) which suggest the time leading up to the turn of the century was covered by silent skies. The divine threats of covenantal discipline and departure were being carried out against the adulterous people who had chased after other gods and sought the voice of other portents (Lev 26:14–46; Deut 28–30). God's covenantal communication had thus ceased, with the heavens vaulted behind as glory exits stage left (Ezek 8–11; cf. Jos. *Ag. Ap.* 1.41). Yet even within an exilic book like Jeremiah, God declares, "Do I not fill heaven and earth?" (Jer 23:24). Presence and absence in this sense, therefore, must always be modified with the adjective *covenantal*. 107

Even before the purported silence, however, the "fall from full presence to representation" as Derrida might have called it, had already occurred with the phenomenon of language itself. With our mythic parents' lust for unmediated knowledge, we were exiled from God's full presence, with the light from the garden of God now refracted into a dark *forêt de symboles*. ¹⁰⁸ For Derrida, the symbol, or

¹⁰³ Collins, *Mark*, p. 148.

¹⁰⁴ Samuel L. Terrien, *The Elusive Presence: Toward a New Biblical Theology* (Religious Perspectives; vol. 26; ed. Ruth Nanda Anshen; New York: Harper & Row, Publishers, 1978) xxvii. ¹⁰⁵ Terrien, *The Ellusive Presence*, pp. 470-71.

¹⁰⁶ Cf. Frederick E. Greenspahn, "Why Prophecy Ceased," *IBL* 108.1 (1989) 37–49.

¹⁰⁷ I am grateful to Prof. Paul Fiddes who forced me to this distinction with his critical comments at the Critical Theory Conference held at Oxford University in 2010.

 $^{^{108}}$ Charles Baudelaire, *Les Fleurs du mal* (trans. Richard Howard; Boston: David R. Godine, 1985) 15.

"the sign is always a sign of the Fall." 109 And Augustine spoke of humanity's exile in a regio dissimilitudinis (a land of unlikeness). 110 A theology of Mark or of any sort, therefore, "is always a study of signs," as "it is only after the Fall that a theology is needed." Presence "is for us an absent presence, and so any theology, whatever else it is, must also be a semiology."111

With the tearing of the heavens—what Joel Marcus has called "this gracious gash in the universe"112—Mark signals the Isaianic longing for God's covenantal return to his people is in the process of becoming.

Indeed, there seems to be strong resonance between the Isaianic new exodus and Mark in general, 113 and Isa 63:11–64:1 and Mark 1:10 in particular.

A coming up from /	Isa 63:11	Mk 1:10
through the water		
Endowment of the Holy	Isa 63:11, 14	Mk 1:10
Spirit		
Ripping of the Heavens	Isa 64:1	Mk 1:10
Divine Descent	Isa 64:1	Mk 1:10

¹⁰⁹ Jacques Derrida, Of Grammatology (trans. Gayatri Chakravorty Spivak; Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1976) 283.

¹¹⁰ Augustine, *Confessions* (trans. R. S. Pine-Coffin; New York: Penguin, 1961) Book VII, Chapter 10, pp. 146-47; cited by Kevin Hart, Trespass of the Sign: Deconstruction, Theology, and Philosophy (New York: Fordham University Press, 2000) 6.

¹¹¹ Hart, *Trespass of the Sign*, pp. 6–7.

¹¹² Marcus, *Mark 1–8*, p. 165.

¹¹³ Cf. Rikki Watts, Isaiah's New Exodus and Mark (WUNT 88; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1997).

The tearing of the heavens is a common motif of revelation at which God gives at turning points in the history of the covenantal people (Ezek 1:1; 3 Macc 6:18; Acts 7:56; 10:11; Rev 4:11; 19:11; Herm. V.1,1,4; Jos. As. 142). As Karl Barth says, revelation "means the giving of signs," and with the revelation of Jesus as Ἰησοῦ Χριστοῦ υἱοῦ θεοῦ (1:2) and ὁ ἄγιος τοῦ θεοῦ (1:24), the former trespass of the sign—the original transgressing of the פֿלָר (Gen 1:26–27)—is healed, signifying for Mark a return of covenantal presence. Moreover, as the Markan Jesus was coming up out of the water (ἀναβαίνων ἐκ τοῦ ὕδατος, 1:10), the vaulted skies are opened, and divine speech returns (φωνὴ ἐγένετο ἐκ τῶν οὐρανῶν, 1:11a):

You are my beloved son, in you I am well pleased (Mark 1:11b) σὺ εἶ ὁ υἱός μου ὁ ἀγαπητός, ἐν σοὶ εὐδόκησα (Mark 1:11b).

He is presented as both the new Adam and the renewed Israel (cf. Exod 4.22; Jer 31.9; Hos 11.1). The one who triumphs in the wilderness and over the Tempter precisely where his forerunners had failed (cf. Mark 1:12). He is thus the new human, "the faithful [image and] sign of God," as the Pauline School would later call it (cf. Col 1:15). He is thus the new human, "the faithful [image and] sign of God," as the Pauline School would later call it (cf. Col 1:15). And with his last breath (ἐξέπνευσεν, 15:37) the veil of the sanctuary is torn from top to bottom (τὸ καταπέτασμα τοῦ ναοῦ ἐσχίσθη εἰς δύο ἀπ' ἄνωθεν ἕως κάτω, 15.3)—which I take to be the inner veil (Exod 26:31–35; Lev 16:2; m. Yoma 5.1)—letting loose God's radiant presence upon the earth. Josephus mentions that the innermost part of the tabernacle "was an imitation of heaven" (Ant. 3.6.4 §§122-23), 117 so there appears to be a movement of God's presence breaking in at the baptism and out at the crucifixion.

¹¹⁴ Barth, *Church Dogmatics*, II/2, 52.

¹¹⁵ Kevin Hart, *The Trespass of the Sign*, p. 4.

¹¹⁶ This, of course, is a disputed point. For those who see the curtain (τὸ καταπέτασμα τοῦ ναοῦ) as referring to the outer veil (Exod 26:37; 38:18; Num 3:26; *Letter of Aristeas* 86), see, Theodor Zahn, *Das Evangelium des Matthäus* (KNT1; Leipzig: Deichert, 1910) 713–14; and the others listed in Collins, *Mark*, p. 760 n. 279.

¹¹⁷ Collins, *Mark*, p. 759. Josephus also mentions how the outer veil symbolized the heavens as well (*B.J.* 5.5.4 §§212-14). In favor of the outer veil referent, see the clever argument of David Ulansey, "The Heavenly Veil Torn: Mark's Cosmic 'Inclusio'," *SBL* 110.1 (1991) 123–25.

In any case, the return of the covenantal dwelling of God with his people, for which had long been anticipated (e.g., Ps 18; 144; Hab 3; cf. *T. Lev.* 5.2; *T. Jud.* 22.2; *T. Zeb.* 9.8; *T. Naph.* 8.3), has broken into the silent planet, with the radiance of the ancient glory spilling out from behind the drawn curtain. And the strands of tradition which spoke of this revelation to all nations and their worship of the creator God are realized with the confession of the centurion: $\mathring{\alpha}\lambda\eta\theta\hat{\omega}\zeta$ $\mathring{o}\mathring{v}\tau o\zeta$ \mathring{o} $\mathring{\alpha}v\theta\rho\omega\pi o\zeta$ $\mathring{v}\mathring{i}\mathring{o}\zeta$ $\vartheta e o\mathring{v}$ $\mathring{\eta}v$ (15:39). To quote Rumi, "Praise is simply drawing back the curtains / to let his qualities in." 119

So, whereas for Judaism "Sinai stands at the mythic core of religious memory" 120 — this is the fugue which Isaiah plays—Mark fashions his Gospel so as to position Jesus as the ritual core upon which the divine descends at Jesus' baptism and breaks forth from the holy of holies at his crucifixion. 121 The covenantal absence of divine presence is reversed with the manifestation of "return" in the enactment of Jesus, making way for a presence for all: Jew, Gentile, even the Roman centurion, whose confession—which could just as easily have been an imperial salute to Caesar—now centers on the Galilean's mangled body. 122 This particularity is in fact Mark's ironic universalism where the ritual relocation of $\epsilon i \zeta \delta \theta \epsilon \delta \zeta$ is recast around Jesus himself (2:7).

Moses, the inner light of revelation,

lit up the top of Sinai, but the mountain

¹¹⁸ For the themes of gentile and universal mission in Isaiah, see, e.g., Isa 2:2–5; 11:10, 12; 19:19–25; 25:6; 37:20; 42:6; 45:3, 6; 48:20; 49:6, 26; 51:4-5; 52:10; 55:5. On Mark and mission, particularly in the "longer ending," see, e.g., James A. Kelhoffer, *Miracle and Mission: The Authentication of Missionaries and their Message int he Longer Ending of Mark* (WUNT II 112; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000).

¹¹⁹ Rumi, *Selected Poems* (trans. Coleman Banks; New York: Penguin, 2004) and his poem, "The Center of the Fire," p. 64.

¹²⁰ Michael Fishbane, *Sacred Attunement: A Jewish Theology* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2008) 49; Levenson, "The Temple and the World,"; Levenson, *Sianai & Zion*.

¹²¹ One thinks again of Rumi's line:

could not hold that light. Rumi, Selected Poems, taken from the poem

[&]quot;Sexual Urgency, What a Woman's Laughter Can Do, and the Nature of True Virility," 58.

¹²² For an interesting analysis—though somewhat conjectural at points—of the Markan Gospel as heard by Roman audiences with respect to the Son of God, see Peppard, *The Son of God in the Roman World*. For Peppard's analysis of Mark, see pp. 86–131. On the Roman centurion's confession, see p. 130.

5.1.3. Communal Direction

The force of this ironic universalism is in its comforting the community through suffering (e.g., 4:17; 8:34–37; 10:39; 13:12–13) through an absence which is not absence. There have been numerous studies, of course, which focus on the impact of the historical figure of Jesus on both peoples and institutions, but it is worth considering the figure of Jesus in terms of the wider Jesus movement, "focusing on the early movement inspired by the historical figure of Jesus and focusing on the people itself as the locus of G*d's power and presence." Fiorenza, following the work of Rita Nakashima Brock and Catherine Keller, has spoken of "wider christologies," which denote "a steering away from the romantic hero conception" of the messiah which was central to Schweitzer's project and instead pictures Jesus as one who "learns and is empowered" and situates "christic reality in the relationships themselves." With these approaches in mind, something startling happens for the Reader: they become the star of the Markan Script, and themselves become the missing ending / new beginning of Mark's Gospel.

¹²³ Fiorenza, *In Memory of Her*, p. 120.

¹²⁶ Schröter, "The Gospel of Mark," p. 289.

¹²⁴ Fiorenza, *Jesus and the Politics of Interpretation* 62; see, too, Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza, *Priester für Gott: Zum Herrschafts- und Priestermotiv in der Apokalypse* (Münster Ashendorff Verlag, 1972). See, too, Jim Perkinson, "A Canaanitic Word in the Logos of Christ; or The Difference the Syro-Phoenician Woman Makes to Jesus," *Semeia* 75 (1996) 61–85.

¹²⁵ Cf. Rowan Williams, *Christ on Trial: How the Gospel Unsettles Our Judgment* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2003) 17, who suggests the reader is the "missing ending" of the Markan Gospel.

Ναζαρηνὸν τὸν ἐσταυρωμένον· ἠγέρθη, οὐκ ἔστιν ὧδε· ἴδε ὁ τόπος ὅπου ἔθηκαν αὐτόν (16:6). At first reading this seems to be a tragic reversal of fortunes. The descent which brought presence (1:10) seems cancelled out by the ascent which appears to leave a howling and frightening absence (16:6, 8). The charge to return to Galilee (16:7), however, escorts the Reader back to where it all began: from the region of Galilee, on the shores of the Jordan (1:9). And with the second read, 127 the Reader is now descended upon by divine presence, is led into the wilderness to be tested, and is challenged to be the ideal disciple / community in lieu of the inscribed misunderstandings. The Markan Pentecost is therefore *in the Reading itself*; where the Reader becomes the anointed one (messiah) at the River Jordan.

The thematic parallels mentioned earlier between the Baptism, Transfiguration, and Crucifixion scenes now grow astounding in their deviations: The divine voice from heaven at the Baptism (1:11) and at the Transfiguration (9:7) is now placed on the lips of Jesus at the Crucifixion (15:34), and the divine declaration of Jesus' sonship at the Baptism (1:11) and Transfiguration (9:7) is placed on the lips of the centurion (15:39).

Baptism	Transfiguration	Crucifixion
Heavens torn and spirit	Cloud descends (9:7)	Veil torn and darkness
descends (1:10)		spreads (15:38, 33)
Presence of Elijah figure	Presence of Elijah figure	Elijah's name mentioned
(1:4-8, 9)	(9:4, 11–13)	(15:35)
Voice from heaven (1:11)	Voice from the cloud (9:7)	Jesus' loud voice from the
		cross (15:34)
Declaration of Jesus'	Reaffirmation of Jesus'	Confession of Jesus' divine
divine sonship (1:11)	divine sonship (9:7)	sonship (15:39)

¹²⁷ That is, in the ritual performance.

236

¹²⁸ Again, in the ritual performance.

This is the shocking discovery for the daring Reader: Jesus has become "divine"—or, the ritual core—and the Community has become christic. ¹²⁹ And so the community participates within the christic sphere and (re)enacts God's-presence-to-the-world. It is in and through the return to Galilee that the community sees and meets their "failed messiah" (16:7). It is there the people of God participate with the Spirit in the re-membering of Jesus, the enacted presence of God, and perform this presence within the public square and to the watching world, this time stopping short of the fear and silence of 16:8. ¹³⁰

Within the shifting imaginaries and sacred places which constitute the blurred moments between the narrated time of Jesus and the time of the community—what Schweitzer saw as the "fateful shifting of perspectives"—divine presence remains inchoate, and there is need for "age-specific personifications of God." In this space of co-presence, the enactment of Jesus is recapitulated by the community where divine presence becomes a "givenness-by adumbration." The sense of felt absence is therefore no absence at all and their sufferings are in fact testimony that they are faithfully performing the christic ritual. To quote Rumi again, "We do act, and yet everything we do / is God's creative action."

5.2. Jesus in Pluralistic Perspective

So far in this chapter we have looked at the ways in which narrative can be configured as a kind of witness to *something like* the past. Central to our investigation has been acknowledging the ideological nature of narratives as part of the historical-Jesus process without attempting to separate materials by processes which are guided by the illusory and illegitimate assumptions of the pure originary.

¹²⁹ The fusion of Christ and community may also be reflected theologically in the call of the disciples (3:14–19) styled after the Elijah's calling of Elisha (1 Kgs 19:19–21). In this sense, the stability of the prophetic office is not only maintained but its fruit increases with the shifting from Elijah to Elisha. In this sense, the absence of Jesus turns out for the benefit of the community.

¹³⁰ Incidentally, this appears to be internal evidence for favoring a Galilean provenance.

¹³¹ Cf. Fishbane, *Sacred Attunement*, p. 3.

¹³² Cf. Quentin Meillassoux, *After Finitude: An Essay on the Necessity of Contingency* (trans. Ray Brassier; London: Continuum, 2008) 19.

¹³³ Rumi, Selected Poems, and his poem, "Emptiness," p. 26.

What interested the foregoing discussion was locating what in the past made possible the traces which now remain as well as the social pressures and conditions which guided their production and how these processes were embedded within narratives.134

When it comes to Mark, some look to the so-called Hoheitstitel as an entrée into the material. 135 Though such studies are useful and certainly interesting, the *Hoheitstitel* are not fixed concepts in lewish literature but receive their meaning through their function in a given text—in our case through Mark's literary strategies. As such, Jesus is not the messiah—or any of the other elevated titles—but the messiah is *Jesus.* That is, the *Hoheitstitel* are reworked so as to accord with Jesus through Mark's scriptural exegesis. These points of ritual confession within the Markan community are revealing but may not be the best places from which to begin. The remaining summary takes its cue from the Sammelberichte which inform a general pattern of what Jesus' activities consisted: viz., teaching and healing. We will also look at the way in which Mark presents Jesus' conceiving of his end as martyr. We will now turn to the Markan narrative by exploiting its ideology for traces of the past and

¹³⁴ Here, I am indebted largely to Clark, *History, Theory, Text*, p. 157.

¹³⁵ On "Christ," see Marco Adinolfi, "Άρχή, εὐαγγέλλιον, Χριστός. Note filologische a Mc 1,1," Rivista Biblica 43 (1995) 211-24; Joel Marcus, "Mark 14:61: 'Are You the Messiah-Son-of-God?'," NovT (1989) 125-41; H. Wilkens, "Der markinische Christusmythos und die Predigt der Kirche," Wort und Dienst 26 (2001) 191-206. On "Son of David," see Robert D. Rowe, God's Kingdom and God's Son: The Background to Mark's Christology from Concepts of Kingship in the Psalms (Arbeiten zur Geschichte des Antiken Judentums und des Urchristentums 50; Leiden: Brill, 2002); Stephen H. Smith, "The Function of the Son of David Tradition in Mark's Gospel," NTS 42 (1996) 523-39. On the numerous studies on the "Son of Man," see Harry L. Chronis, "To Reveal and to Conceal: A Literary-Critical Perspective on 'the Son of Man' in Mark," NTS 51 (2005) 459-81; Adela Yarbro Collins, "The Origin of the Designation of Jesus as 'Son of Man'," HTR 80 (1987) 391-407; Simon J. Gathercole, "The Son of Man in Mark's Gospel," ExpT 115 (2004) 366-72; U. Kmiecik, Der Menschensohn im Markusevangelium (Forschung zur Bibel 81; Würzburg: Echter, 1997); George W. E. Nickelsburg, "Son of Man," in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism* (ed. John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010). On the "Son of God," see, e.g., Adela Yarbro Collins, "Mark and His Readers: The Son of God among Jews," HTR 92 (1999) 393-408; Adela Yarbro Collins, "Mark and His Readers: The Son of God among Greeks and Romans," HTR 93 (2000) 85-100; J. Dechow, Gottessohn und Herrschaft Gottes: Der Theozentrismus des Markusevangeliurns (WMANT 86; Neukirchen-Vluyn: Neukirchener, 2000); Géza G. Xeravits, "Son of God," in The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism (ed. John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010); and now, Peppard, The Son of God in the Roman World. See, too, Adela Yarbro Collins and John J. Collins, King and Messiah as Son of God: Divine, Human, and Angelic Messianic Figures in Biblical and Related Literature (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008).

ways in which the untidy Jesus of Markan memory has been refracted through communal concerns of surrounding aggression and coping with absence.

5.2.1. Jesus as Teacher

In our preceding discussion we have suggested that complicit with the memory process of the Markan "author" is the role scripture played within the community's constructed identity. There is an eagerness to maintain a continuity with the scriptures of Israel. Mark's reading of scripture, however, was not the only reading—indeed, it was a minority reading deviating from those remaining within Jewish traditions and perhaps surrounding communities. This rival reading of scripture within the Markan community located its validation within its construction of Jesus as a reader and teacher of Israel's scriptures. Jesus as a reader of Israel's scriptures is an interesting study in its own right, the what concerns us here are the forces which gave rise to its encoding within the Markan narrative. In other words, what was it in the past that made possible the traces which now remain in the Markan material and what were the social pressures and conditions which guided their production? Here I suggest we can comfortably see traces of Jesus-as-teacher, and, with a bit less certainty, the community's distancing itself from the synagogue.

¹³⁶ See, generally, Peter Ochs, *The Return to Scripture in Judaism and Christianity: Essays in Postcritical Scriptural Interpretation* (Mahwah: Paulist Press, 1993); Armin Lange and Kristin de Troyer, ed., *Reading the Present in the Qumran Library: The Perception of the Contemporary by Means of Scriptural Interpretations* (Symposium Series Society of Biblical Literature 30; Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005); Deborah A. Green and Laura S. Lieber, ed., *Scriptural Exegesis: The Shape of Culture and the Religious Imagination: Essays in Honour of Michael Fishbane* (Oxford Oxford University Press, 2009) esp. pp. 89–164.

¹³⁷ See, Bruce D. Chilton and Craig A. Evans, "Jesus and Israel's Scriptures," in *Studying the Historical Jesus: Evaluations of the State of Current Research* (ed. Bruce D. Chilton and Craig A. Evans; NTTS 19; Leiden: Brill, 1994).

¹³⁸ Many have made this observation before in seeing Jesus as a Sage or "rabbi." E.g., Vernon K. Robbins, Jesus the Teacher: A Socio-Rhetorical Interpretation of Mark (Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1984); Rainer Riesner, Jesus als Lehrer (WUNT II 7; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1981); and, especially, Bruce D. Chilton, A Galilean Rabbi and His Bible: Jesus' Use of the Interpreted Scripture of His Time (GNS 8; Wilmington: Glazier, 1984); Bruce D. Chilton, Profiles of a Rabbi: Synoptic Opportunities in Reading about Jesus (BJS 177; Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989); Bruce Chilton, Rabbi Jesus: An Intimate Biography: The Jewish Life and Teaching that Inspired Christianity (New York: Doubleday, 2000); Ben Witherington, Jesus the Sage: The Pilgrimage of Wisdom (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1994).

Though there does appear to be evidence that Jesus understood himself in some prophetic sense (6:4; though cf. 1:38; 14:14), and it appears that "some" ($\tau\iota\nu\epsilon\varsigma$) of the leaders of Israel (14:53) understood Jesus to have at least the reputation of being a prophet (cf., 14:65), ¹³⁹ the predominant role in which Jesus is presented in Mark is that of teacher (cf. 10:1). ¹⁴⁰ Though it is also uncertain if "teaching" and "preaching" should be kept distinct, ¹⁴¹ Jesus' designation as $\delta\iota\delta\alpha\sigma\kappa\alpha\lambda\sigma$ should not be reduced to or established by the appearance of its lexeme. A casual read of Mark reveals the prevalence of Jesus' reputation as a teacher (e.g., 1:22) voiced both by insiders (4:38; 9:38; 10:35; 13:1), outsiders (10:17–22; 12:13, 19) and those somewhere in between (5:35; 9:17).

On four occasions Jesus is referred to as "rabbi" ($\phi\alpha\beta\beta$ í / Γ or $\phi\alpha\beta\beta$ ouví / Γ): once by Bartimaeus (10:51), twice by Peter (9:5; 11:21), and another by Judas (14:45). Interestingly, none of these ascriptions of Jesus as "rabbi" are salutary. One is by a man who cannot see, two are from the lips of the disciple who most personifies their confusion and who will eventually deny him three times (14:66–72), and the final address is from the betraying lips of Judas (14:45). It may well be that Mark is attempting to distance the concept of rabbi from his construction of Jesus from that which remains in other traditions (e.g., Matt 23:8; John 1:38; 3:2; 20:16). What is more, the appearance of his $\mu\alpha\theta\eta\tau\alpha$ (e.g., 2:15, 16, 18, 23; 3:7, 9; 4:34; 5:31, etc.) suggests he had a kind of school of learners (cf. *m. 'Abot* 1:1, 11; 2:8; 5:12; 6:6). Mark often presents Jesus as teaching in the synagogue (1:21, 39; 6:2), and he is often in pointed disputes about readings of scripture (e.g., 7:1–13; 10:2–9,

-

¹³⁹ See Collins, *Mark*, pp. 44–52. Though not discussed here, I think it is worth considering the potential parallel of the so-called "sign prophets" discussed in Josephus with the ministry of Jesus (*B. J.* 2.258–64; *Ant.* 20.97–98, 168–72). See Rebecca Gray, *Prophetic Figures in Late Second Temple Jewish Palestine: The Evidence from Josephus* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1993); and, Morna D. Hooker, *The Signs of a Prophet: The Prophetic Actions of Jesus* (Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1997).

¹⁴⁰ See Collins, *Mark*, pp. 80–84.

¹⁴¹ For Jesus "preaching," see 1:14, 39; 2:2; and, 6:12 (where the disciples are preaching).

¹⁴² Cf., generally, Evans, "Early Rabbinic Sources and Jesus Research," and, Evans, "Prophet, Sage, Healer, Messiah, and Martyr: Types and Identities of Jesus," pp. 2.1223–28.

17–22; 11:17; 12:28–32, 35). In this respect, the incident in Capernaum regarding Jesus' setting up a child ($\pi\alpha\iota\delta(o\nu)$) before his disciples to demonstrate kingdom priority (9:33–37), the blessing of the children ($\pi\alpha\iota\delta(\alpha)$) in the Judean house (10:13–16), and in the addressing of his disciples as "children" ($\tau\epsilon\kappa\nu\alpha$) Harden following the interaction with the rich man (10:24) may be further allusions to the role which Jesus plays within Markan ideology concerning the synagogue. Has

The history of the synagogue is complex, but it appears to have "crystallized" in the second temple period and readily "became the communal center of each Jewish settlement." ¹⁴⁶ The entire range of communal needs and societal functions were met and performed within its structure. ¹⁴⁷ Jesus' teaching and activity in the synagogue

¹⁴³ Though likely constructed as a polemic in Mark these sorts of interactions were well at home within rabbinical debates and discussions about scripture (*b. Sabb.* 97a; *b. Ketub.* 81b; 111a–b; *b. Qid.* 22a, 40a, 81b).

¹⁴⁴ Cf., too, Mark 2:5.

Moses 1.215–16; Embassy to Gaius 115; 210; On Planting 114; On the Preliminary Studies, passim), Josephus further details the instruction of children, and according to a later addition to Pirqē 'Abot, boys began memorizing Leviticus at age five, the Mishnah at ten, and the Talmud at fifteen (5:21). It is impossible to know what precisely was being taught during the time of Jesus. Nevertheless, worth comparing is James L. Crenshaw, Education in Ancient Israel: Across the Deadening Silence (Anchor Yale Bible Reference Library; New Haven Yale University Press, 1998); Moshe Aberbach, Jewish Education and History: Continuity, Crisis and Change (Routledge Jewish Studies Series; trans. David Aberbach; London: Routledge, 2009 [1982]); Nathan Drazin, History of Jewish Education from 515 BCE to 200 CE (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1940); Eliezer Ebner, Elementary Education in Ancient Israel during the Tannaitic Period (10–220 CE) (New York: Bloch, 1956); Beate Ego and Helmut Merkel, ed., Religioses Lernen in der biblischen, frühjudischen und frühchristlichen Überlieferung (WUNT 180; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2005); and Shemuel Safrai, "Education and the Study of Torah," in The Jewish People in the First Century (ed. Shemuel Safrai and M. Stern; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1976).

¹⁴⁶ Lee I. Levine, "Synagogues," in *The Eardmans Dictionary of Early Judaism* (ed. John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010) 1270; and, Lee I. Levine, "Synagogues," in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls* (ed. Lawrence H. Schiffman and James C. VanderKam; Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000) 2.905–08. For a helpful map which suggests locations of synagogues in antiquity both from architectural evidence as well as literary evidence, see the useful maps of Steven Fine, ed., *Jews, Christians, and Polytheists in the Ancient Synagogue* (London: Routledge, 1999) xii–xiii. See, too, Donald D. Binder Anders Runesson, and Birger Olsson, ed., *The Ancient Synagogue from its Origins to 200CE: A Source Book* (Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity 72; Leiden Brill, 2008) 20–79.

¹⁴⁷ See, generally, Lee I. Levine, *The Ancient Synagogue: The First Thousand Years* (Yale: Yale University Press, 2005 [1999]); Paul V. M. Flesher, "Palestinian Synagogues before 70 CE: A Review of the Evidence," in *Ancient Synagogues: Historical Analysis and Archaeological Discovery* (ed. Dan Urman and Paul V. M. Flesher; Leiden: Brill, 1995) 1.27–37; Lee I. Levine, "The Sages and the Synagogue in Late Antiquity: The Evidence of Galilee," in *Galilee in Late Antiquity* (ed. Lee I. Levine; New York: Jewish Theological Seminary, 1992). Cf. Christopher Rowland, *Christian Origins: The*

therefore makes good historical sense. The way in which Mark refracts this activity through communal concerns, however, is striking. There may well be an instance of ritual relocation at work in the various places where Jesus calls together the crowds or disciples (7:14–16; 8:34; 10:42; 12:43). That is, the range of communal focus and operation is now occurring in or around Jesus' authority as opposed to the synagogue. This faint possibility is most evident in Jesus' argument with the Pharisees and scribes about classifications of purity within elder traditions (7:1-13). 148 In 7:1, the Pharisees "gathered together toward him" (συνάγονται πρὸς $\alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \dot{\rho} \nu$) and after the dispute, Jesus calls the people around him (προσκαλεσάμενος, 7:14) in order to instruct them in contradistinction to the views of the Pharisees and scribes (7:14–16). ¹⁴⁹ Following this revision session, Jesus "enters a house" ($\epsilon i \sigma \tilde{\eta} \lambda \theta \epsilon v \epsilon i \varsigma o \tilde{\iota} \kappa o v$) to instruct the disciples privately (7:17–23). Could this be a cryptic allusion to the ritual relocation from the synagogue to the later gatherings around the authority of Jesus in house churches?¹⁵⁰ This would make good sense of the social pressures and conditions which may have guided their textual production. There are, of course, plenty of uncertainties which could swallow up this reading so it must remain tentative and issues of teaching in the temple must also be taken into consideration (11:17; 12:35, 38, 43; 13:1; 14:49).¹⁵¹

-

Setting and Character of the Most Important Messianic Sect of Judaism (London: SPCK, 2002 [1985]) 43–46.

¹⁴⁸ Cf. the impressive study on issues of tradition and law by Meier, *Law and Love*.

¹⁴⁹ Jesus uses such forceful language as $\frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ αντες μου πάντες καὶ σύνετε. οὐδέν ἐστιν ἔξωθεν τοῦ ἀνθρώπου εἰσπορευόμενον εἰς αὐτὸν δ δύναται κοινῶσαι αὐτόν, ἀλλὰ τὰ ἐκ τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἐκπορευόμενά ἐστιν τὰ κοινοῦντα τὸν ἄνθρωπον.

¹⁵⁰ On house churches, see, generally, Carolyn Osiek and David L. Balch, *Families in the New Testament World: Households and House Churches* (Louisville: Westminster John Knox, 1997); and, Carolyn Osiek and Margaret Y. MacDonald, *A Woman's Place: House Churches in Earliest Christianity* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006). See, too, F. Manns, "Le thème de la maison dans l'évangile de Marc," *Revue des sciences religieuses* 66 (1992) 1–17; M. F. Trainor, *The Quest for Home: The Household in Mark's Community* (Collegeville: Liturgical Press, 2001).

¹⁵¹ On Jesus and the temple in Mark, see the extensive literature listed in William R. Telford, *Writing on the Gospel of Mark* (Guides to Advanced Biblical Research 1; Blandford Forum: Deo Publishing, 2009) 374–76.

What is more, the precise nature of what Jesus taught seems surprisingly uncertain. Mark frames the teaching of Jesus with the programmatic statement of his entry into Galilee where he κηφύσσων τὸ εὐαγγέλιον τοῦ θεοῦ (1:14). The contents of this preaching are explicated as $\pi \epsilon \pi \lambda \dot{\eta} \rho \omega \tau \alpha i \dot{\sigma} \kappa \alpha i \dot{\eta} \gamma \gamma i \kappa \epsilon v \dot{\eta} \beta \alpha \sigma i \lambda \epsilon i \alpha \tau ο \tilde{v}$ θεοῦ· μετανοεῖτε καὶ πιστεύετε ἐν τῷ εὐαγγελίῳ (1:15). Elsewhere, however, the contents are left absent (1:39; 2:13; 4:1; 6:2, 6; 10:1; 14:49) or general (1:21; 2:2; 4:1–2). It is apparent that he often taught in parables to outsiders (3:23; 4:2, 33–34), and there is a decided focus on his disciples after 8:31, especially with respect to his impending death (8:31–34; 9:30–31; 10:32–34; cf. 2:20; 13:5).

5.2.2. *Jesus as Healer*

Interestingly, the healing and exorcist activities of Jesus is a point at which Schweitzer himself feels a tension within his tidy reconstruction (see §3.2.2.).¹⁵⁴ The healing activity of Jesus as represented in Mark consists of exorcisms,¹⁵⁵ physical restorations,¹⁵⁶ miracles of nature,¹⁵⁷ and miracles of provision.¹⁵⁸ In what follows we consider all these activities as healing in the general sense as the lines between them were fluid in antiquity.¹⁵⁹ As such, the practice of these arts "was omnipresent

¹⁵² Though the kingdom of God is clearly a key theme within Mark and other traditions concerning Jesus, it is often raised to unhelpful meta-levels. On the massive literature on kingdom of God in Mark, see the meticulous listing of Telford, *Writing on the Gospel of Mark* pp. 349–56.

¹⁵³ On the parables, see Klyne Snodgrass, Stories with Intent: A Comprehensive Guide to the Parables of Jesus (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008); Arland J. Hultgren, The Parables of Jesus: A Commentary (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002). With respect to the subversive quality of the parables, see, especially, John Dominic Crossan, The Power of Parable: How Fiction by Jesus Became Fiction about Jesus (San Francisco: HarperOne, 2012); John Dominic Crossan, In Parables: The Challenge of the Historical Jesus (Sonoma: Polebridge Press, 1992 [1973]); John Dominic Crossan, The Dark Interval: Towards a Theology of Story (Sonoma: Polebridge Press, 1994); and, John Dominic Crossan, Cliffs of Fall: Paradox and Polyvalence in the Parables of Jesus (Toronto: Seabury Press, 1980).

¹⁵⁴ E.g., *Quest*¹ p. 239.

¹⁵⁵ Mark 1:21–28, 32–34, 39; 3:11; 5:1–20; 6:7, 13; 7:25; 9:14–29; cf. also the authority to exorcise demons given to the disciples (3:15); the dispute with the scribes from Jerusalem about his exorcisms being empowered by Satan (3:22–27); and, "someone" casting out demons in Jesus' name who was not part of the disciples' inner-unit (9:38).

¹⁵⁶ Mark 1:29–31, 32–34, 40–42; 2:3–13; 3:1–5, 10; 5:21–24, 35–43, 25–34; 6:2, 5, 53–56; 7:31–37; 8:22–26; 10:46–52.

¹⁵⁷ Mark 4:35–41; 6:45–52; 11:12–14, 20–26. On the cursing of the fig tree, cf. John G. Gager, *Curse Tablets and Binding Spells from the Ancient World* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999).

¹⁵⁸ Mark 6:30–44; 8:1–10.

¹⁵⁹ See, e.g., David E. Aune, "Magic, Magician," in *International Standard Bible Encyclopedia* (ed. G. W. Bromiley; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1984); David E. Aune, "Magic in Early Christianity," in

in classical antiquity."¹⁶⁰ It appears that any charismatic personality could be considered a magician: e.g., Apollonius of Tyana, Plotinus, Libanius,¹⁶¹ and even Moses (e.g., *Acts of the Apostles* 7:22; Pliny the Elder, *Natural History* XXX.11).¹⁶² It is difficult to deny that Jesus was at least thought of as being a wonder worker¹⁶³ as is evidenced by his reputation as such reaching Herod Antipas (3:23) and the charges leveled against him by the scribes from Jerusalem (6:14–16) who appear to be accusing him of false prophecy and leading the people astray (Deut 13:1–11).¹⁶⁴ With respect to Jesus' miracles, "no uniform assessment" existed,¹⁶⁵ as did no

Aufstieg und Niedergand der romischen Welt (ed. H. Temporini and W. Haase; Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 1980); David E. Aune, "Magical Papyri," in Mercer Dictionary of the Bible (ed. Watson E. Mills; Macon: Mercer University Press, 1990); Eric Eve, Jewish Context of Jesus' Miracles (JSNTSupp 231; Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2002); Julius Preuss, Biblical and Talmudic Medicine (Northvale: Jason Aronson, Inc., 2004); Bernard Palmer, ed., Medicine and the Bible (Exeter: Paternoster Press, 1986); John M. Hull, Hellenistic Magic and the Synoptic Tradition (SBT 2.28; London: SCM Press, 1974); Howard C. Kee, Miracle in the Early Christian World (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1983); Howard C. Kee, Medicine, Miracle and Magic in the Roman World (Boston: Boston University Press, 1985); Howard C. Kee, Medicine, Miracle and Magic in New Testament Times (SNTSMS 55; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986); Michael Labahn and Bert Jan Peerbolte, ed., A Kind of Magic: Understanding Magic in the New Testament and Its Religious Environment (LNTS 306: London: T&T Clark International, 2007); John J. Pilch, Healing in the New Testament: Insights from Medical and Mediterranean Anthropology (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2000); Morton Smith, Jesus the Magician (San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1978); Gerd Theissen, Miracle Stories of the Early Christian Tradition (trans. Francis McDonagh: Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007 [1974]): Graham H. Twelftree, "The Miracles of Jesus: Marginal or Mainstream?," Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus 1.1 (2003) 104-24; Graham H. Twelftree, Jesus the Exorcist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jesus (Eugene: Wipf and Stock, 2011); Graham H. Twelftree, In the Name of Jesus: Exorcism among Early Christians (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2007); Paul J. Achtemeier, Jesus and the Miracle Tradition (Eugene: Cascade Books, 2008); and, recently, Craig S. Keener, Miracles: The Credibility of the New Testament Accounts (2vols.; Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2011).

¹⁶⁰ Fritz Graf, *Magic in the Ancient World* (Revealing Antiquity 10; ed. G. W. Bowersock; trans. Franklin Philip; Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997) 1. See, too, Gideon Bohak, "Divination and Magic," in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism* (ed. Esther Eshel and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids Eerdmans, 2010) 543–47.

¹⁶¹ Graf, *Magic in the Ancient World*, p. 2.

¹⁶² See, e.g., John G. Gager, *Moses in Graeco-Roman Paganism* (Nashville: Abingdon, 1972). On magic within Judaism, see Peter Schäfer, "Jewish Magic Literature in Late Antiquity and Early Middle Ages," *Journal of Jewish Studies* 41 (1990) 75–91; Peter and Saul Shaked Schäfer, ed., *Magische Texte aus der Kairoer Geniza* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1994).

¹⁶³ On other miracle workers, cf. David E. Aune, "Miracles and Miracle Workers," in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism* (ed. Esther Eshel and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010) 956–58.

¹⁶⁴ These charges also appear to be leveled against Jesus in the second century from Jewish critics (e.g., Justin Martyr, *Dial. Tryph.* 69.7; *b. Sanh.* 43a, 107b). See Evans, "Types and Identities of Jesus," p. 2.1231. Interestingly, non-Christian texts allude to exorcisms in Jesus' name (*PGM* IV.3019–20) as do non-Christian Jewish texts (*t. Hullin* 2:22; cf. *b. Sanh.* 43a; *b. Gittin* 57a, ms M). These references I owe to Evans, "Types and Identities of Jesus," p. 2.1235.

¹⁶⁵ Evans, "Types and Identities of Jesus," p. 2.1229.

discernable method. With respect to physical healings, sometimes he made physical contact (1:29–31, 40–42; 3:10; 5:25–34; 6:2, 5, 53–56; 7:31–37; 8:22–26) and sometimes he does not appear to do so (2:2–12; 3:1–5; 5:21–24, 35–43; 10:46–52). The method of his exorcisms appears to be consistently that of rebuking and commanding (1:21–28; 5:1–20; 7:25; 9:14–29). This is quite different than the more elaborate adjurations and rituals attested to in apotropaic texts in such places as Josephus, The Preisendanz's *Papyri Graecae Magicae*, and elsewhere.

That Jesus was a kind of healer is hard to dispute but the reaches of and meanings assigned to it are difficult to determine. His physical contact with the "unclean," for example (1:40–42; 5:1–20; 25–32), seems rife with communal refraction¹⁷¹ with respect to early Christian negotiations with Jewish *halakhah*.¹⁷² In some instances, we see ritual relocation taking place where Jesus is performing the activities once performed by God.¹⁷³ At other points it seems that Mark is presenting Jesus in line

¹⁶⁶ Some are also undetermined (1:32–34).

¹⁶⁷ Though see 6:13.

 $^{^{168}}$ See, e.g., Ant.~8:46-49 and the incantations of Eleazar which are attributed to king Solomon (cf. T.~Sol.~1:6). The traditions of Solomon as an exorcist are widespread in antiquity (esp. T.~Sol.) though it is difficult to know where the precedent begins. See Lindija Novakovic, Messiah, the Healer~of~the~Sick (WUNT II 170; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2003) 96–108. I suggest 1 Kgs 2:27 may be a likely candidate—where Solomon "expelled" (MT: תרך; LXX: ἐξέβ $\alpha\lambda$ εν) Abiathar from the priesthood—along with his purported wisdom (1 Kgs 4:29–34).

¹⁶⁹ Karl Preisendanz, ed., *Papyri graecae Magicae: Die Griechischen Zauberpapyri* (2d ed.; 2 vols.; Stuttgart: Teubner, 1974 [1928–31]); though now see Hans Dieter Betz, ed., *The Greek Magical Papyri in Translation: Including the Demonic Spells* (2d ed.; Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1997 [1986]).

¹⁷⁰ E.g., the prayers in such apotropaic texts as *Jub*. 6:1–7; 12:19–20; *Aramaic Levi Document* 3:4–9; 11QPs^a col. 19, 24). Worth noting, too, are the incantation texts of 4Q560; 11Q11; 8Q5. Cf., too, the narrative depictions of exorcisms in 1QapGen 20:28–29. See, Esther Eshel and Daniel C. Harlow, "Demons and Exorcism," in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism* (ed. John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010) 531–33.

¹⁷¹ This is *not* to say that traces of the past are not present within these activities. See, e.g., Susan Haber, "A Woman's Touch: Feminist Encounters with the Hemorrhaging Woman in Mark 5:24–34," *JSNT* 26.3 (2003) 171–92; Sanders, *Judaism*, pp. 380–412; Paula Fredriksen, "Did Jesus Oppose the Purity Laws," *BR* 11.3 (1990) 20–25, 42–47; Thomas Kazen, *Jesus and Purity Halakhah: Was Jesus Indifferent to Impurity?* (Coniectanea Biblica New Testament 38; Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell, 2002).

¹⁷² See, e.g., Markus Bockmuehl, *Jewish Law in Gentile Churches: Halakhah and the Beginning of Christian Public Ethics* (Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2003); though cf. the careful assessments of the halakic Jesus in John P. Meier, *Law and Love*, pp. 1–25.

 $^{^{173}}$ This is especially the case with 4:35–41 and 6:45–52 (cf. Pss. 89:9–10; 104:7; 107:25–29; Job 26:11–12).

with the prophetic activities of Israel's past heroes.¹⁷⁴ And in other places it appears that there is a social interest for human flourishing and well-being.¹⁷⁵

The first exorcism is perhaps most relevant for our purposes (1:21–28). In 1:21 we see that Jesus went into Capernaum and taught in the synagogue on the Sabbath (τοῖς σάββασιν εἰσελθὼν εἰς τὴν συναγωγὴν ἐδίδασκεν). 176 In v. 22 we are introduced for the first time to the issue of "authority" (ἐξουσία).¹⁷⁷ The ἐξουσία present in the teaching of Jesus *in the synagogue* is set against the comparable absence of it in the scribes (οὐχ ὡς οἱ γραμματεῖς, v. 23). Immediately following this statement a man with an impure spirit ($\pi \nu \epsilon \psi \mu \alpha \tau \iota \dot{\alpha} \kappa \alpha \theta \dot{\alpha} \rho \tau \omega$) confronts Jesus in the synagogue. This presents at least two significant challenges to the synagogue and its caretakers. First, impurity is present; and, second, it is the authority of Iesus which is able to heal the man which highlights the felt impotence of the synagogue.¹⁷⁸ The man with an *impure* spirit (πνεύματι ἀκαθάοτω) who was present *in the synagogue* names Jesus as the true locus of purity and holiness: ó ἄγιος τοῦ θεοῦ. All present were amazed (ἐθαμβήθησαν ἄπαντες v. 27) and a dispute ensues (συζητεῖν) regarding this "new teaching" (διδαχὴ καινή). The unit rounds itself off nicely with a return to the issue of $\dot{\epsilon}\xi o \nu \sigma (\alpha (v. 27))$ and in v. 29 we are met with the jarring: $K\alpha$ $\dot{\epsilon}$ $\dot{\epsilon}$ $\dot{\theta}$ $\dot{\theta}$ $\dot{\epsilon}$ $\dot{\epsilon}$

¹⁷⁴ See 6:30–44 and 8:1–10 with the Elijah / Elisha cycles in Kings.

bankrupt and destitute at the vicious hands of abusive doctors but all of the healings represent a welcome back into the "insider" group from their liminal state of impurity. As tempting as it is to see Jesus as a kind of radical egalitarian reformer against systematic prejudices, such approaches are severely anachronistic and overlook rather unimpressive impulses apparent within Jesus himself. See Bruce J. Malina, "Social-Scientific Approaches and Jesus Research," in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus* (ed. Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter; Leiden: Brill, 2011) 1.774 and the literature cited in n. 64. See, too, Bruce J. Malina, *The Social Gospel of Jesus: The Kingdom of God in Mediterranean Perspective* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2001). Particularly pointed are the criticisms of Borg, Horsley, and Schüssler Fiorenza in Helmut Koester, "Jesus the Victim," *JBL* 111 (1992) 3–15, esp. p. 7. Here we should note the issue of *divine* justice in the prophets: Amos 2:6–8; 5:7; 8:4–7; Hos 4:1–3; 5:10; 12:7–9; Isa 3:14–15; 5:7–9; 33:14–15; Mic 2:1–2; 3:1–3; 6:10–12; 7:2; Jer 4:4; 5:26–28; 22:3, 13–17; Ezek 18:5–9; 34:4, 16–17; 45:9–12; Zech 7:9–10.

¹⁷⁶ On the programmatic function of this text, see John Chijioke Iwe, *Jesus in the Synagogue of Capernaum: The Pericope and Its Programmatic Character for the Gospel of Mark. An Exegetico-Theological Study of Mk 1:21–28* (Rome: Gregorian University Press, 1999).

¹⁷⁷ See Mark 1:27; 2:10; 3:15; 6:7; 11:28, 29, 33; 13:34; cf., 6:2; 7:37.

¹⁷⁸ See, too, 1:39; 3:1–5.

τὴν οἰκίαν Σ ίμωνος καὶ Ἀνδοέου. Though we must exercise caution, it appears that ἐξουσία has departed from the synagogue and entered the house gatherings.

What is more, after the rejection by his own in 6:4 Jesus never again enters a synagogue—indeed, the remaining two occurrences of συναγωγή deal with judgment and the threat of the people of God being beaten in their walls (12:39; 13:9 respectively). "Wherever Jesus goes now, the house replaces the synagogue as the architectural setting for teaching; the questioning disciples replacing the accusing scribes as listeners (7:17; 9:28, 33; 10:10); the new community has a new 'gathering place'." The former architectural mode of the synagogue is overshadowed by the architectural marker of the *house* throughout Mark's Gospel¹⁸⁰ as the latter takes over the former in its societal function.¹⁸¹ This makes sociorhetorical sense in that after the destruction of the temple in 70CE the synagogue would gradually replace the temple in terms of the locus for *Torah* study. And if it was written before 70ACE, the synagoge was central to communal dynamics in any case. Could this be another cryptic allusion to and defense of the ritual relocation of authority from the synagogue to the gathering in Jesus' name in the house churches? We see this elsewhere in, for example, 5:21–43, where Jesus heals the daughter of of the synagogue. 182 Though strictly conjecture such a reading makes good sense of the social pressures and conditions which may have guided Mark's textual (ideological) production.

5.2.3. Jesus as Martyr

¹⁷⁹ Elizabeth Struthers Malbon, *Narrative Space and Mythic Meaning in Mark* (Biblical Seminar 13; Sheffield Sheffield Academic Press, 1991) 118.

247

¹⁸⁰ Malbon, Narrative Space and Mythic Meaning in Mark, p. 131.

¹⁸¹ See, generally, Malbon, *Space and Mythic Meaning in Mark*, pp. 117–20; 131–36. Though much of this chapter was written before reading Malbon, I am happy to find her elegant corroborative voice at least on the margins of the reading advocated for here.

¹⁸² Note 5:35 with v. 38.

If Jesus lived it is most likely he also died. Here, however, strong likelihoods cease. Did Jesus go to Jerusalem with the intent of dying a "meaningful" death? 183 Was he taken off guard? What significance did he attach to his death—or, better, what significance did Mark attach to it? Mark is careful to make clear that Jesus' death is not fundamentally the result of alien aggression but is in fact part of a wider plan which is in continuity with the scriptures of Israel. Lest it appear Jesus is caught off guard by the betrayal of Judas—though strict warnings are made to the betrayer the act is enveloped into a deeper story: ὅτι ὁ μὲν υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ὑπάγει καθώς γέγοαπται πεοὶ αὐτοῦ (14:21). When Jesus questioned his arresters why he was not taken into custody earlier in the temple when he was teaching "day after day" (καθ' ἡμέραν ἤμην, 14:49), we are told that this was the case ἵνα πληρωθῶσιν αἱ γραφαί. Mark drops hints of the coming suffering before the break in 8:31 (e.g., 2:20; 4:17), but after 8:31 there is a decided shift of emphasis on impending persecution in general and on the death of Jesus in particular. 184 What is more, while giving the climactic third pronouncement that the son of man will suffer (8:31; 9:30–32; 10:32–34), Jesus sets a new tone in the geopolitical maneuverings of his wandering band: ἰδοὺ ἀναβαίνομεν εἰς Ἱεροσόλυμα (v. 33). This shift as we saw in §3.2.3. and §3.3.2 even stretches Schweitzer's tightly formulated reconstruction as there appears to be a real sense of development in Jesus' "messianic consciousness." In any case, the three pronouncements differ slightly but are structurally similar.

Text	The necessity of the son	Betrayal and rejection by	Coming vindication
	of man Suffering	temple leadership	on the third day
8:31	δεῖ τὸν υἱὸν τοῦ		καὶ μετὰ τοεῖς
	ἀνθοώπου πολλὰ	ύπὸ τῶν πρεσβυτέρων	ήμέρας

¹⁸³ Owing to space, I leave here the discussions of the Passion narratives and salvific understandings of Jesus' death for another study. For the substantial bibliography on the topic, see Telford, *Writing on the Gospel of Mark*, pp. 516–28. See, too, the recent monograph of Scot McKnight, *Jesus and His Death: Historiography, the Historical Jesus, and Atonement Theory* (Waco: Baylor University Press, 2005). See, too, Peter G. Bolt, *Jesus' Defeat of Death: Persuading Mark's Early Readers* (SNTS 125; Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 2004). It is worth noting, however, that though some texts reveal Jesus' death as atoning (10:45; 14:22–24, 36) there also appear to be some texts which hint at an atonement *without* the cross (1:21–28, 32; 2:1–12; 5:1–20).

¹⁸⁴ Mark 8:31, 34–38; 9:9, 30–32; 10:32–34; 12:1–11; 13:9–13, 18; 14:8, 25, 28.

	παθεῖν	καὶ τῶν ἀρχιερέων καὶ τῶν γραμματέων καὶ ἀποκτανθῆναι	ἀναστῆναι
9:31	ό υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου παραδίδοται εἰς χεῖρας ἀνθρώπων	καὶ ἀποκτενοῦσιν αὐτόν	καὶ ἀποκτανθεὶς μετὰ τοεῖς ἡμέοας ἀναστήσεται
10:33- 34	ό υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθοώπου παραδοθήσεται τοῖς ἀρχιερεῦσιν καὶ τοῖς γραμματεῦσιν	καὶ κατακοινοῦσιν αὐτὸν θανάτω καὶ παραδώσουσιν αὐτὸν τοῖς ἔθνεσιν καὶ ἐμπαίξουσιν αὐτῷ καὶ ἐμπτύσουσιν αὐτῷ καὶ μαστιγώσουσιν αὐτὸν καὶ ἀποκτενοῦσιν	καὶ μετὰ τοεῖς ἡμέρας ἀναστήσεται

Mark presents a tension alongside scriptural necessity and Jesus' own intention with the way in which various parties are accused of acts of betrayal. It appears that everyone is implicated (see chart below), but Mark is particularly pointed against the Jewish leadership. On three different occasions we read that Pharisees (8:11; 10:2) and the Pharisees with the Herodians (12:15) come "to test" ($\pi \epsilon \iota \phi \dot{\alpha} \zeta \epsilon \iota \nu$) Jesus and find ways to implicate him in Sabbath breaking (3:1–6) and treason against or collusion with Caesar (12:13–17). The intratextual echo of $\pi \epsilon \iota \phi \dot{\alpha} \zeta \epsilon \iota \nu$ with 1:13 is hard to miss: $\kappa \alpha \dot{\iota} \dot{\eta} \nu \dot{\epsilon} \nu \tau \dot{\eta} \dot{\epsilon} \phi \dot{\eta} \mu \phi \tau \epsilon \sigma \sigma \epsilon \phi \dot{\alpha} \kappa \nu \tau \alpha \dot{\eta} \mu \dot{\epsilon} \phi \alpha \zeta$ is, of course, complex. Nevertheless, the figure is often characterized as one who

_

¹⁸⁵ On the Jewish leaders in Mark, see, e.g., Michael J. Cook, *Mark's Treatment of the Jewish Leaders* (Leiden: Brill, 1978). Note, too, Martin Goodman, *The Ruling Class of Judaea: The Origins of the Jewish Revolt against Rome AD 66–70* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1987) esp. 27–133. It should be noted that though responsible reading should attend to the ethical dimensions of its hearing the strong intra-polemical tones in Mark may well be owing to genuine disputes *within* Judaisms. The difficulty is when the use of such disputes are co-opted to further ideological agendas which marginalize communities in contemporary geopolitical discourse.

¹⁸⁶ The irony present here is that with the religious leaders associating, or in league, with the Herodians (3:6; 12:13), Pilate (15:1–15), and apparently Satan (1:13), they prove to be keeping far more questionable company than they accuse Jesus of consorting with early in his ministry (cf. 2:16). The words of Christopher Hitchens in this respect are quite apt: "Those who try to condemn or embarrass you by the company you keep will usually be found to be in very poor company themselves; in any case, they are, as I was once taught to say, tackling the man and not the ball." Christopher Hitchens, *Letters to a Young Contrarian* (New York: Basic Books, 2005) 135.

¹⁸⁷ The first unquestioned references to $σαταν\tilde{α}ς$ as the celestial nemesis of God occur in the second century BCE (*Jub.* 23:29; *As. Mos.* 10:1). On the complicated history of Satan, see Michael J. Thate, "Paul at the Ball: *Ecclesia Victor* and the Cosmic Defeat of Personified Evil in Romans 16:20," in *Paul's World* (ed. Stanley E. Porter; Pauline Studies 4; Leiden: Brill Academic, 2008) 151–70; Archie

leads astray.¹⁸⁸ This association of the religious leaders and "satan"—the archdeceiver of the people of God—is likely owing to this charge initially falling on Jesus (cf. 6:14–16). Whereas historically it may have been that Jesus was charged with leading the people astray and the religious leaders performed their duty in warning the public against him, it is now *their* teaching and influence of which the people of God must be weary (cf. 8:15; 12:38).

Text	Betrayed	Betrayer	To Whom
1:14a	•	παραδοθῆναι	
1:14a	John	unclear	Herod Antipas and Herodias
0.04	C C		(6:14–29)
9:31	Son of man	παραδίδοται	Into the hands of men
10.00		unclear	
10:33a	Son of man	παραδοθήσεται	To the chief priests and the
		unclear	scribes
10:33 ^b	Son of man	παραδώσουσιν	To the Gentiles
		the chief priests and scribes	
14:10	Jesus	παραδοῖ	To the chief priests
		Judas	
14:18	Jesus	παραδώσει	Object is unclear
		Judas (3:19)	
14:21	Son of man	παραδίδοται	Object is unclear
		Judas (3:19)	
14:41	Son of man	παραδίδοται	Into the hands of sinners
		Judas	
14:42	Jesus	ό παραδιδούς	Object is unclear
		Judas	
14:44	Jesus	ό παραδιδούς	To the crowd (v. 43)
		Judas	
15:1	Jesus	παρέδωκαν	To Pilate
		chief priests, the elders,	
		scribes, and the whole council	
		(ὅλον τὸ συνέδριον)	
15:10	Jesus	παραδεδώκεισαν	To Pilate out of envy
	,	chief priests	

T. Wright, *Origin of Evil Spirits: The Reception of Genesis 6:1–4 in Early Jewish Literature* (WUNT; vol. 198; Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2005); Jeffrey B. Russell, *The Devil: Perceptions of Evil from Antiquity to Primitive Christianity* (Ithaca Cornell University Press, 1987); Sydney H. T. Page, *Powers of Evil: A Biblical Study of Satan and Demons* (Grand Rapids: Baker Books, 1995).

 $^{^{188}}$ E.g., 1QH 4:6; 45:3; 1QSb 1:8; *T. Job*3:6; 6:1–8:3. Elsewhere, Belial is the one who corrupts the children of light (1QM 17:5–6) and leads them astray (CD 5:18; 1QS 3:21; *T. Reu.* 4:7; *Liv. Pro.* 4:6). Mastema is also referred to as leading hosts which lead people astray (*Jub.* 10:8). It is likely that most of these occurrences collapsed into other forms such as $\sigma\alpha\tau\alpha\nu\tilde{\alpha}\varsigma$ or $\delta\iota\dot{\alpha}\beta\circ\lambda\varsigma$ (though see 2 Cor 6:14–7:1).

15:15	Jesus	παρέδωκεν	To be crucified
		Pilate	(To the crowd?)

What is more, this tension of necessity and culpability is refracted through communal concerns, and, as we would expect given our comments above in §5.2.1 and §5.2.2., early Christian identity vis-à-vis the synagogue. We see this most clearly in 13:9–13. As was the case with Jesus (see chart above) there is betrayal which the community suffers, presumably at the hands of those nearest them (v. 12), where they are betrayed to councils ($\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\delta\omega\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\nu$ $\dot{\nu}\mu\alpha\varsigma$ $\dot{\kappa}$ $\dot{\kappa}$

The community is thus presented as the gathered witnesses to the authority of Jesus in the face of coming persecutions and abuses. The lengths and limits of the "human capacity to withstand suffering and abuse" are as remarkable as they are lamentable. In this sense, it is interesting to consider, as Barrington Moore Jr. has done, "under what conditions and why do human beings cease to put up with it;" or, in this case, how suffering can be transformed into a discourse of resistance. "Bare life" thus becomes "the one place for both the organization" of the aggressor's "power" and the persecuted's "emancipation from it." That is, "bare life" becomes the locus of resistance for those who would deny the sovereign power of those in rule. 191 The acceptance of martyrdom can therefore become the embodiment of counter-discourses and practices which "testify to the radical relocation of power from earth to heaven" and from empire and Caesar—or in this case, the

_

¹⁸⁹ Barrington Moore Jr., *Injustice: The Social Bases of Obedience and Revolt* (White Plains: M. E. Sharpe, 1978) 13.

¹⁹⁰ Giorgio Agamben, *Homo Sacer: Sovereign Power and Bare Life* (trans. Daniel Heller-Roazen; Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1998) 9.

¹⁹¹ On this paragraph I have been greatly helped by Portier-Young, *Apocalypse against Empire*, pp. 23–24.

synagogue—to God, Christ, and community.¹⁹² In enduring the creation of "absolute pain," the vulnerable body names the ruling authority's creation of absolute power as fictive.¹⁹³ Martyrdom enacts God's sphere of sovereignty in the scope of the everyday.¹⁹⁴ The weapons of the strong are thus turned on themselves in this ironic reversal of weakness turned strength and strength turned weakness.

Considering Jesus as "martyr" begs the question to which cause he had aligned himself. We have seen that Mark is careful to correct opinion on Jesus' association with the zealots. Of course using the term "martyr" is somewhat anachronistic as it was first used as a *terminus technicus* in early Christian writings (e.g. *Martyrdom of Polycarp* 1:1; 2:1; 14:2). Yet faithful witnesses to Jewish identity in the face of foreign aggression are well attested in Jewish tradition (e.g., Dan 3; 6; 2 Macc 6:18–

¹⁹² Cf. Portier-Young, *Apocalypse against Empire*, p. 13.

 $^{^{193}}$ Elaine Scarry, The Body in Pain: The Making and Unmaking of the World (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1987) 27.

¹⁹⁴ See, generally, the intriguing work of Candida R. Moss, *The Other Christs: Imitating Jesus in Ancient Christian Ideologies of Martyrdom* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010). She concludes her fine work by warning against seeing a singular ideology of martyrdom (p. 176). I realize I am close to reading a singularity of ideology into martyrdom but I am simply gesturing toward a specific instance of a general reading while acknowledging full well the heterogeneity of martyrdom.

¹⁹⁵ The classical text still remains that of Martin Hengel, *The Zealots: Investigations into the Jewish Freedom Movement in the Period from Herod I until 70AD* (trans. David Smith; Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1989).

7:42; and 4 Macc). ¹⁹⁶ Using the term "martyr" as a term of analysis, therefore, is warranted. ¹⁹⁷ Elsewhere the Maccabean "martyrs" suffered for the purity of God's laws which were violated by overlords and compromising religious leaders (2 Macc 4:7–10:9; 4 Macc 4–18). The prayers of the martyrs hint at a kind of atonement for the people (2 Macc 7:33, 37–38; 4 Macc 6:28–29; 9:24; 12:17; 17:20–22). ¹⁹⁸ What is more, their pronouncements of vindication produce an interesting precedent for discourse on the resurrection (2 Mac 7; cf. 4 Macc 18:17). ¹⁹⁹

It is difficult to know for sure the "cause(s)" which led Jesus to be crucified, but it is clear the Markan community remembered Jesus' death as meaningful. His guiding motivations might well have been a radical fidelity for $\tau \delta$ εὐαγγέλιον $\tau \delta \delta$ θεοῦ (cf. 1:14), and as an enacted pronouncement of $\tau \delta$ εὐαγγέλιον as described by the herald of Isaiah: ἰδοὺ δ θεὸς ὑμῶν (40:9; cf. 52:7). Building upon our findings in §5.1.2. and §5.1.3, we can see hints of Jesus' concern for the realization of the presence of God. It also appears that Mark refracted Jesus' "martyrdom" through traditions of the so-called suffering servant (Isa 52:13–53:12). In this case, we see another instance of a ritual relocation from Jesus' radical observance of the purity of the gospel of God for the people of God, and calls to persevere and watch for the vindication of the son of man (e.g., 13:24–37).

¹⁹⁶ See too, e.g., 1 Macc 6:43–46; 2 Macc 14:37–46; Philo, *Every Good Person Is Free* 88–91; *As. Mos.* 9:1–10:10; *Ascen. Isa.* 1:1–3:1–12; 5:1–16; Wis. 1:16–2:20; 4:16–5:13; and *J.W.* 7.389–406. Cf. the martyrdom stories of Rabbi Aqiva (*b. Berakot* 61b) and Rabbi Hanina ben Teradyon (*b. 'Abodah Zarah* 17b–18a).

¹⁹⁷ See generally the judicious employment of the term in the interesting work of Daniel Boyarin, *Dying for God: Martyrdom and the Making of Christianity and Judaism* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1999).

¹⁹⁸ See, esp., Jan Willem van Henten, *The Maccabean Martyrs as Saviors of the Jewish People* (Leiden Brill, 1997).

¹⁹⁹ See, esp., N. T. Wright, *The Resurrection of the Son of God* (Christian Origins and the Question of God; vol. 3; Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2003) 129–206, esp. 150–53. On Mark, see pp. 616–31.

²⁰⁰ See, too, Dan 12; Wis. 2:12, 18, 20; 5:2, 4–5, 6; 4Q491 frg. 11; 1 QHa cols. 10–16; *1 Enoch* 37–71. On these texts and for the reception of the suffering servant motif, see Martin Hengel and Daniel P. Bailey, "The Effective History of Isaiah 53 in the Pre-Christian Period," in *The Suffering Servant: Isaiah 53 in Jewish and Christian Sources* (ed. Bernd Janowski and Peter Stuhlmacher; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004) 75–146. Note, too, Bruce D. Chilton, ed., *The Isaiah Targum: Introduction, Translation, Apparatus and Notes* (The Aramaic Bible 11; Collegevill: Liturgical Press, 1999); and Brevard S. Childs, *The Struggle to Understand Isaiah as Christian Scripture* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004). See, too, N. T. Wright, *Jesus and the Victory of God*, pp. 540–611, esp. pp. 584–91.

5.3. Conclusion

It would be tempting to raise any one of these three topoi to the level of coordinating principle. This was Schweitzer's key move as "strong poet": viz., establish a singular hermeneutical key and then coordinate all else into a singular. tidy profile. Our aim, however, has been to demonstrate the diverse ways Jesus is presented within Mark's Gospel for the purposes of communal concerns. Singular profiles and labels negate the complex and interesting potential of the *untidy* Jesus. This hermeneutics of relevance allows us to see how an early Christian author made recourse to the memory cluster for the purposes of communal identity construction. "A good wit will make use of anything," 201 and the Markan redactor did just that in terms of making recourse to the memory cluster for the purposes of identity construction and direction. In asking what in the past made possible the traces which now remain in the Markan text as well as the social pressures and conditions which guided its production, fresh possibilities open themselves. From the former "zones of silence" we can now detect faint whispers from the margins on ways in which Jesus might have lived as teacher and healer and died as a martyr for the gospel of God. They also tentatively gesture a Sitz im Leben of life on the colony and in the aggressive shadows of the synagogue. The particulars of each of these points, of course, need chapter-length attention in their own right but our concerns have been more methodological and hermeneutical. In configuring the Markan narrative as a kind of witness to the past, then, we can detect the refracted images of the untidy Jesus of Markan memory.

²⁰¹ Shakespeare, "The Second Part of Henry the Fourth," I.ii.240, p. 543.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbott, H. Porter. *The Cambridge Introduction to Narrative*. 2d Ed. ed. Cambridge Introductions to Literature. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- Aberbach, Moshe. *Jewish Education and History: Continuity, Crisis and Change.*Translated by David Aberbach. Routledge Jewish Studies Series. London: Routledge, 2009 [1982].
- Achtemeier, Paul J. *Jesus and the Miracle Tradition*. Eugene: Cascade Books, 2008. Achtemeier, Paul J. "*Omne verbum sonat*: The New Testament and the Oral Environment of Late Western Antiquity." *Journal of Biblical Literature* 109 (1990): 3-27.
- Adam, A. K. M. "Mathew's Readers, Power, and Ideology." Pages 435–49 in *Society of Biblical Literature 1994 Seminar Papers*. Edited by. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1994.
- Adams, J. N. "The Latin of the Vindolanda Writing Tablets." *Journal of Roman Studies* 85 (1995): 86–134.
- Adinolfi, Marco. "Ἀρχή, εὐαγγέλλιον, Χριστός. Note filologische a Mc 1,1." *Rivista Biblica* 43 (1995): 211–24.
- Agamben, Giorgio. *Homo Sacer: Sovereign Power and Bare Life*. Translated by Daniel Heller-Roazen. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1998.
- Ahlstrom, Sydney E. "Continental Influence on American Christian Thought Since World War I." *American Society of Church History* 27.3 (1958): 256–72.
- Aland, Kurt. "Der neue 'Standard-Text' in seinem Verhältnis zu den frühen Papyri und Majuskeln." in *New Testament Textual Criticism: Its Significance for Exegesis. Essays in Honor of Bruce M. Metzger*. Edited by Eldon J. Epp and Gordon D. Fee. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981.
- Albrecht, Michael. "Kants Kritik der historischen Erkenntnis ein Bekenntnis zu Wolff?" *Studia Leibnitiana* 14.1 (1982): 1–24.
- Alcock, Susan E. *Archaeologies of the Greek Past: Landscape, Monuments, and Memories*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- Alexander, Gerhard. "Neue Erkenntnisse zur Apologie von Hermann Samuel Reimarus." *Z Ver Hamburg Gesch* 65 (1979): 145–59.
- Alexander, Gerhard. "Wie kam Lessing zur Handschrift der Wolfenbüttler Fragmente?" *Philobiblon* 16 (1972): 160–72.
- Alexander, P. S. "Rabbinic Judaism and the New Testament." *Zeitschrift für die Neutestamentliche Wissenschaft* 74 (1983): 237-46.
- Allison, Dale C. *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History*. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2010.
- Allison, Dale C. "The Continuity between John and Jesus." *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003): 6-27.
- Allison, Dale C. *The End of the Ages Has Come: An Early Interpretation of the Passion and Resurrection of Jesus*. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1985.
- Allison, Dale C. *The Historical Christ and the Theological Jesus*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009.

- Allison, Dale C. *Jesus of Nazareth: Millenarian Prophet*. Fortress Press. Minneapolis, 1998.
- Allison, Dale C. "A Plea for Thoroughgoing Eschatology." *JBL* 113.4 (1994): 651–68.
- Allison, Dale C. Resurrecting Jesus: The Earliest Christian Tradition and Its Interpreters. London: T & T Clark, 2005.
- Allison, Dale C. "Healing in the Wings of His Garment: The Synoptics and Malachi 4:2." Pages 132-46 in *The Word Leaps the Gap: Essays on Scripture and Theology in Honor of Richard B. Hays*. Edited by C. Kavin Rowe J. Ross Wagner, and A. Katherine Grieb. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008.
- Allison, Dale C. "Jesus & the Victory of Apocalyptic." Pages 126–46 in *Jesus and the Restoration of Israel: A Critical Assessment of N. T. Wright's Jesus and the Victory of God*. Edited by Carey C. Newman. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 1999.
- Allison, Dale C. "How to Marginalize the Traditional Criteria of Authenticity." Pages 3–30 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Allison, Henry E. . Lessing and the Enlightenment: His Philosophy of Religion and Its Relation to Eighteenth-Century Thought. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 1966.
- Altmann, Alexander. *Moses Mendelssohn: A Biographical Study*. New York: Littman Library of Jewish Civilization, 1998.
- Amritjit Singh, Joseph T. Skerrett Jr., and Robert E. Hogan, ed. *Memory & Cultural Politics: New Approaches to American Ethnic Literatures*. Boston: Northeastern University Press, 1996.
- Anders Runesson, Donald D. Binder, and Birger Olsson, ed. *The Ancient Synagogue from its Origins to 200CE: A Source Book*. Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity 72. Leiden Brill, 2008.
- Anderson, Benedict. *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism*. rev. ed. ed. London: Verso, 1991.
- Ando, Clifford. *Imperial Ideology and Provincial Loyalty in the Roman Empire*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2000.
- Andreas Blödorn, Daniela Langer, Michael Scheffel, ed. *Stimme(n) im Text*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006.
- Aner, Karl. Die Theologie der Lessingzeit. Halle: Max Niemeyer, 1929.
- Aronold-de Simine, Silke, ed. *Memory Traces: 1989 and the Question of German Cultural Identity.* Berlin: Peter Lang, 2005.
- Aschheim, Steven E. *The Nietzsche Legacy in Germany, 1890–1990*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1992.
- Assmann, Aleida. *Erinnerungsräume: Formen und Wandlungen des kulturellen Gedächtnisses.* Munich: C. H. Beck, 1999.
- Assmann, Aleida. *Zeit und Tradition: Kulturelle Straegien der Dauer*. Cologne: Böhlau, 1999.
- Assmann, Jan. Das kulturelle Gedächtnis: Schrift, Erinnerung und politische Identität in frühen Hochkulturen. Munich: C. H. Beck, 1992.
- Assmann, Jan. Moses the Egyptian: The Memory of Egypt in Western Monotheism. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997.

- Assmann, Jan. *Religion and Cultural Memory*. Translated by Rodney Livingstone. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2006.
- Assmann, Jan. "Form as a Mnemonic Device: Cultural Texts and Cultural Memory."
 Pages 67-82 in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber*. Edited by Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Assmann, Jan. "Ancient Egyptian Antijudaism: A Case of Distorted Memory." Pages 365–76 in *Memory Distortion: How Minds, Brains, and Societies Reconstruct the Past*. Edited by Daniel L. Schacter. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1995.
- Augustine. Confessions. Translated by R. S. Pine-Coffin. New York: Penguin, 1961.
- Aune, David. *The New Testament in Its Literary Environment*. Cambridge: James Clarke, 1988.
- Aune, David. "Prolegomena to the Study of Oral Traditions in the Hellenistic World." Pages 59-106 in *Jesus and the Oral Gospel Tradition*. Edited by H. Wansbrough. JSNTSupp. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 1991.
- Aune, David E. "Assessing the Historical Value of the Apocryphal Jesus Traditions: A Critique of Conflicting Methodologies." Pages 243–72 in *Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspecktiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung*. Edited by Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker. BZNW 114. Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002.
- Aune, David E. "Jesus Tradition and the Pauline Letters." Pages 63–86 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Aune, David E. . "Form Criticism." Pages 140–56 in *The Blackwell Companion to the New Testament*. Edited by David E. Aune. Oxford: Blackwell, 2010.
- Aune, David E. . "Magic, Magician." Pages 3.213–19 in *International Standard Bible Encyclopedia*. Edited by G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1984.
- Aune, David E. . "Magic in Early Christianity." Pages 1507–57 in *Aufstieg und Niedergand der romischen Welt*. Edited by H. Temporini and W. Haase. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 1980.
- Aune, David E. . "Miracles and Miracle Workers." Pages 956–58 in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by Esther Eshel and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.
- Aune, David E. . "Magical Papyri." Pages 540–41 in *Mercer Dictionary of the Bible*. Edited by Watson E. Mills. Macon: Mercer University Press, 1990.
- Ausmus, Harry J. "Nietzsche and Eschatology." *The Journal of Religion* 58.4 (1978): 347–64.
- Baasland, Ernst. "Fourth Quest? What did Jesus Really Want?" Pages 31–56 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Bähr, D. W., ed. *Albert Schweitzer: Sein Denken und sein Weg*. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1962.
- Bailey, Kenneth E. *Jesus Through Middle Eastern Eyes: Cultural Studies in the Gospels.*Downers Grove: IVP Academic, 2008.
- Bailey, Kenneth E. . "Informal Controlled Oral Tradition and the Synoptic Gospels " *Themelios* 20 (1995): 4–11.

- Bailey, Martin Hengel and Daniel P. "The Effective History of Isaiah 53 in the Pre-Christian Period." Pages 75–146 in *The Suffering Servant: Isaiah 53 in Jewish* and Christian Sources. Edited by Bernd Janowski and Peter Stuhlmacher. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004.
- Bakhtin, Mikhail. *The Dialogic Imagination: Four Essays*. Austin: University of Texas Press, 1982.
- Bakhtin, Mikhail. *The Problems of Dostoevsky's Poetics*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984.
- Bal, Mieke. *Narratology: Introduction to the Theory of Narrative*. 3d Ed. ed. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2009.
- Balch, Carolyn Osiek and David L. *Families in the New Testament World: Households and House Churches*. Louisville: Westminster John Knox, 1997.
- Bammel, Ernst. "The Revolution Theory from Reimars to Brandon." Pages 11–68 in *Jesus and the Politics of His Day*. Edited by Ernst Bammel and C. F. D. Moule. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984.
- Bann, Stephen. *The Inventions of History: Essays on the Representation of the Past.* Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1990.
- Barclay, John M. G. *Jews in the Mediterranean Diaspora: From Alexander to Trajan* (323 BCE–117 CE). Berkely: University of California Press, 1999.
- Barclay, John M. G. "Memory Politics: Josephus on Jews in the Memory of the Greeks." Pages 129–42 in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity*. Edited by Loren T. Stuckenbruck Stephen C. Barton, and Benjamin G. Wold. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007.
- Baroni, Raphaēl. *La Tension narrative. Suspense, curiosité et surprise*. Paris: Seuil, 2007
- Barth, Karl. *Church Dogmatics*. Translated by G. W. Bromiley and T. F. Torrance. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1936-1970.
- Bartlett, Frederic C. *Remembering: A Study in Experimental and Social Psychology*. 2d ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- Barzun, Jacques. From Dawn to Decadence: 500 Years of Western Cultural Life 1500 to the Present. New York: Harper Perennial, 2001.
- Bauckham, Richard. "The Eyewitnesses and the Gospels." *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003): 28-60.
- Bauckham, Richard. *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses: The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2006.
- Bauckham, Richard. "Papias and Polycrates on the Origin of the Fourth Gospel." *JTS* 44.1 (1993): 24–69.
- Bauckham, Richard. "John for Readers of Mark." Pages 147–71 in *The Gospels for All Christians: Rethinking the Gospel Audiences*. Edited by Richard Bauckham. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1997.
- Baudelaire, Charles. *Les Fleurs du mal* Translated by Richard Howard. French and English ed. Boston: David R. Godine, 1985.
- Baum, A. D. . "Der mündliche Faktor: Teilanalogien zu Minor Agreements aus der Oral Poetry-Forschung und der experimentellen Gedächtnis-Psychologie." *Biblica* 85 (2004): 264–72.

- Beck, Lewis White. *Early German Philosophy: Kant and His Predecessors*. Cambridge: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1969.
- Becker, Jürgen. "The Search for Jesus' Special Profile." Pages 57–90 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill 2011.
- Beilby, Paul Rhodes Eddy and James K. "The Quest for the Historical Jesus: An Introduction." Pages 9–54 in *The Historical Jesus: Five Views*. Edited by James K. Beilby and Paul R. Eddy. Downers Grove: InterVarsity Press, 2009.
- Beiser, Frederick C. *The Fate of Reason: German Philosophy from Kant to Fichte* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1987.
- Bell, Catherine. *Ritual Theory, Ritual Practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009 [1992].
- Bell, Catherine. *Ritual: Perspectives and Dimensions*. Rev. ed. Oxford Oxford University Press, 2009 [1997].
- Bell, Duncan S. A. "Anarchy, Power, and Death: Contemporary Political Realism as Ideology." *Journal of Political Ideologies* 7.2 (2002): 21–39.
- Bell, Duncan S. A. "Mythscapes: Memory, Mythology, and National Identity." *British Journal of Sociology* 54.1 (2003): 63–81.
- Benjamin, Walter. "N [Re the Theory of Knowledge. Theory of Progress]." Pages 43–83 in *Benjamin: Philosophy, Aesthetics, History*. Edited by Gary Smith. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1989 [1982].
- Berkhofer, Robert E. . *Beyond the Great Story: History as Text and Discourse.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- Berlin, George L. *Defending the Faith: Nineteenth-Century American Jewish Writings on Christianity and Jesus.* Albany: State University of New York Press, 1989.
- Betz, Hans Dieter. "The Birth of Christianity as a Hellenistic Religion: Three Theories of Origin." *The Journal of Religion* 74.1 (1994): 1–25.
- Betz, Hans Dieter, ed. *The Greek Magical Papyri in Translation: Including the Demonic Spells.* 2d ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1997 [1986].
- Betz, John R. *After Enlightenment: The Post-Secular Vision of J. G. Hamann.* Oxford: Blackwell, 2008.
- Bhabha, Homi K. *The Right to Narrate*. New York: Columbia University Press, Forthcoming.
- Bhabha, Homi K. "The Third Space: Interview with Homi Bhabha." Pages 207–21 in *Identity, Community, Culture, Difference*. Edited by Jonathan Rutherford. London: Lawrence and Wishart, 1990.
- Bhabha, Homi K., ed. Nation and Narration. London: Routledge, 1990.
- Bird, Michael F. "The Formation of the Gospels in the Setting of Early Christianity: The Jesus Tradition as Corporate Memory." *WTJ* 67 (2005): 113–34.
- Bird, Michael F. "Textual Criticism and the Historical Jesus." *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 6 (2008): 1–24.
- Black, C. Clifton. "The Face Is Familiar—I Just Can't Place It." Pages 33–49 in *The Ending of Mark and the Ends of God: Essays in Memory of Donald Harrisville Juel*. Edited by Beverly Roberts Gaventa and Patrick D. Miller. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2005.

- Blackbourn, David. *History of Germany, 1780–1918: The Long Nineteenth Century.* 2 ed. Oxford: Blackwell, 2002.
- Blank, Reiner. Analyse und Kritik der formgeschichtlichen Arbeiten von Martin Dibelius und Rudolf Bultmann. Basel: Reinhardt, 1981.
- Blom, Hans W., ed. *Monarchisms in the Age of Enlightenment: Liberty, Patriotism and the Common Good* Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2007.
- Bloom, Harold. *The Anxiety of Influence: A Theory of Poetry*. 2d ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997 [1973].
- Bloom, Harold. *A Map of Misreading: With a New Preface*. 2d ed. Oxford Oxford University Press, 2003 [1975].
- Blount, Brian K. *Cultural Interpretation: Reorienting New Testament Criticism*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1995.
- Bockmuehl, Markus. *Jewish Law in Gentile Churches: Halakhah and the Beginning of Christian Public Ethics*. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2003.
- Bockstahler, O. L. "Revaluing Values with Nietzsche and Sudermann." *The Modern Language Journal* 18.2 (1933): 100–08.
- Bodnar, John. *Remaking America: Public Memory, Commemoration, and Patriotism in the Twentieth Century.* Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1992.
- Bohak, Gideon. "Divination and Magic." Pages 543–47 in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by Esther Eshel and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids Eerdmans, 2010.
- Bolt, Peter G. *Jesus' Defeat of Death: Persuading Mark's Early Readers*. SNTS 125. Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Bonanno, George. "Remembering and Psychotherapy." *Psychotherapy* 27 (1990): 175–86.
- Borg, Marcus. *Jesus: An Uncovered Life, Teachings, and Relevance of a Religious Revolutionary.* San Francisco HarperSanFrancisco, 2006.
- Borg, Marcus. "Con: Jesus Was Not an Apocalyptic Prophet." Pages 31–48 in *The Apocalyptic Jesus: A Debate*. Edited by Robert J. Miller. Santa Rosa: Polebridge, 2001.
- Borg, Marcus J. *Jesus in Contemporary Scholarship*. Harrisburg: Trinity Press International, 1994.
- Borinski, Ludwig. "Antijudaistische Phänomene in der Aufklärung." Pages 103–17 in *Auftrag der Lessing-Akademie*. Edited by Günter Schulz. Wolfenbütteler Studien zur Aufklärung 4. Wolfenbüttel: Jacobi, 1977.
- Bourke, J. "Introduction: 'Remembering' War." *Journal of Contemporary History* 39.4 (2004): 473-85.
- Bower, Gordon H. "A Brief History of Memory Research." Pages 3-32 in *The Oxford Handbook of Memory*. Edited by Endel Tulving and Fergus I. M. Craik. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- Bowman, Alan K. Life and Letters on the Roman Frontier. London: Routledge, 1998.
- Bowman, John W. "The Quest of the Historical Jesus." *Interpretation* 3 (1949).
- Boyarin, Daniel. *Dying for God: Martyrdom and the Making of Christianity and Judaism*. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1999.
- Brabazon, James. Albert Schweitzer: A Biography. London: Victor Gollancz, 1976.

- Breuer, Edward. "Of Miracles and Events Past: Mendelssohn on History." *Jewish History* 9.2 (1995): 27–52.
- Breytenbach, Cilliers. "Identity and Rules of Conduct in Mark." Pages 49–76 in *Identity, Ethics, and Theos in the New Testament*. Edited by Jan G. van der Watt. BZNTW 141. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006.
- Broadhead, Edwin K. "The Thomas-Jesus Connection." Pages 2059–80 in *Handbook* for the Study of the Historical Jesus. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Brown, Colin. *Jesus in European Protestant Thought 1778 1860*. Grand Rapids: Baker Book House, 1985.
- Bultmann, Rudolf. *Die Geschichte der Synoptischen Tradition*. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck, 1921.
- Bultmann, Rudolf. *Faith and Understanding*. Translated by Louise Pettibone Smith. London: SCM Press, 1969 [1966].
- Bultmann, Rudolf. *The History of the Synoptic Tradition*. Translated by John Marsh. 2nd ed. Oxford: Blackwell, 1968 [1921].
- Bultmann, Rudolf. *Jesus and Word*. Translated by Louise Pettibone. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1958 [1926].
- Bultmann, Rudolf. *Theology of the New Testament*. Translated by Kendrick Grobel. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2007.
- Bultmann, Rudolf. "The New Approach to the Synoptic Problem." Pages 35–56 in *Existence and Faith*. Edited by Rudolf Bultmann. London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1961 [1926].
- Bundy, Walter E. The Religion of Jesus. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1928.
- Burguière, André. *The Annales School*. Translated by Jane Marie Todd. Ithaca Cornell University Press, 2009 [2006].
- Burridge, Richard A. What Are the Gospels? A Comparison with Graeco-Roman Bibliography. Second Edition ed. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004.
- Byrskog, Samuel. Story as History History as Story: The Gospel Tradition in the Context of Ancient Oral History. WUNT 123. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000.
- Byrskog, Samuel. "Introduction." Pages 1–20 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Casey, Edward S. *Remembering: A Phenomenological Study*. 2d ed. Studies in Continental Thought. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2000.
- Cassirer, Ernst. *Philosophy of Symbolic Forms*. Translated by Ralph Manheim 4 vols. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1953-96.
- Cassirer, Ernst. *The Philosophy of the Enlightenment*. Princeton Classic Editions. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2009 [1951].
- Certeau, Michel de. *L'Absent de l'histoire*. Repères sciences humaines et idéologies 4. Tours: Mame, 1972.
- Certeau, Michel de. *The Writing of History*. Translated by Tom Conley. New York: Columbia University Press, 1988 [1975].
- Chapman, Mark D. *The Coming Crisis: The Impact of Eschatology on Theology in Edwardian England.* JSNTSupp. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2001.

- Charlesworth, James H. *The Historical Jesus*. An Essential Guide. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2008.
- Charlesworth, James H. *Jesus within Judaism: New Light from Exciting Archaeological Discoveries.* New York: Doubleday, 1988.
- Charlesworth, James H., ed. *Jesus' Jewishness: Exploring the Place of Jesus within Early Judaism*. New York: Crossroad / The American Interfaith Institute, 1991.
- Charlesworth, James H., ed. *Jesus and the Dead Sea Scrolls*. Edited by David Noel Freedman. The Anchor Bible Reference Library. New York: Doubleday, 1992.
- Chartier, Roger. *On the Edge of the Cliff: History, Language, and Practices.* Translated by Lydia G. Cochrane. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1997.
- Cheung, Tobias. "Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Theorie der 'Lebensarten' und 'Triebe'." *Sudhoffs Archiv* 90.2 (2006): 143–60.
- Childs, Brevard S. Memory and Tradition in Israel. London: SCM Press, 1962.
- Childs, Brevard S. *The Struggle to Understand Isaiah as Christian Scripture*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2004.
- Chilton, Bruce. Pure Kingdom: Jesus' Vision of God. London: SPCK Publishing, 1997.
- Chilton, Bruce. Rabbi Jesus: An Intimate Biography. New York: Doubleday, 2002.
- Chilton, Bruce. *Rabbi Jesus: An Intimate Biography: The Jewish Life and Teaching that Inspired Christianity*. New York: Doubleday, 2000.
- Chilton, Bruce D. A Galilean Rabbi and His Bible: Jesus' Use of the Interpreted Scripture of His Time. GNS 8. Wilmington: Glazier, 1984.
- Chilton, Bruce D., ed. *The Isaiah Targum: Introduction, Translation, Apparatus and Notes.* The Aramaic Bible 11. Collegevill: Liturgical Press, 1999.
- Chilton, Bruce D. . *Profiles of a Rabbi: Synoptic Opportunities in Reading about Jesus*. BJS 177. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989.
- Chronis, Harry L. "To Reveal and to Conceal: A Literary-Critical Perspective on 'the Son of Man' in Mark." *NTS* 51 (2005): 459–81.
- Cicovacki, Predrag, ed. *Albert Schweitzer's Ethical Vision: A Sourcebook*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Clark, Elizabeth A. *History, Theory, Text: Historians and the Linguistic Turn.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2004.
- Coakley, Sarah. *Christ without Absolutes: A Study of the Christology of Ernst Troeltsch*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1988.
- Cohen, Gillian. "Overview: Conclusions and Speculations." Pages 381–90 in *Memory in the Real World*. Edited by Gillian Cohen and Martin A. Conway. New York: Psychology Press, 2008.
- Cohen, Shaye J. D. *The Beginnings of Jewishness: Boundaries, Varieties, Uncertainties.*Berkeley: University of California Press, 2001.
- Colani, Timothée. *Jésus-Christ et les croyances messianiques de son temps*. Strassburg, 1864.
- Coleridge, Samual Taylor. *Biographia Literaria: Or, Biographical Sketches of My Literary Life and Opinions and Two Lay Sermons.* Elibron Classics Series. Boston: Adamant Media Corporation, 2004 [1817].
- Collins, Adela Yarbro. "Mark and His Readers: The Son of God among Greeks and Romans." *HTR* 93 (2000): 85–100.

- Collins, Adela Yarbro. "Mark and His Readers: The Son of God among Jews." *HTR* 92 (1999): 393–408.
- Collins, Adela Yarbro. "The Origin of the Designation of Jesus as 'Son of Man'." *HTR* 80 (1987): 391–407.
- Collins, Adela Yarbro. *Mark: A Commentary*. Edited by Harold W. Attridge. Hermeneia: A Critical and Historical Commentary on the Bible. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007.
- Collins, Adela Yarbro Collins and John J. King and Messiah as Son of God: Divine, Human, and Angelic Messianic Figures in Biblical and Related Literature. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008.
- Cook, Michael J. Mark's Treatment of the Jewish Leaders. Leiden: Brill, 1978.
- Crenshaw, James L. *Education in Ancient Israel: Across the Deadening Silence*. Anchor Yale Bible Reference Library. New Haven Yale University Press, 1998.
- Creutz, Thiemo Breyer and Daniel, ed. *Erfahrung und Geschichte*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2010.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *The Birth of Christianity: Discovering what Happened in the Years Immediately after the Execution of Jesus*. San Francisco: HarperOne, 1999.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *Cliffs of Fall: Paradox and Polyvalence in the Parables of Jesus.*Toronto: Seabury Press, 1980.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *The Dark Interval: Towards a Theology of Story*. Sonoma: Polebridge Press, 1994.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *The Historical Jesus: The Life of a Mediterranean Jewish Peasant* San Francisco: HarperOne, 1993.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *In Parables: The Challenge of the Historical Jesus*. 2d ed. Sonoma: Polebridge Press, 1992 [1973].
- Crossan, John Dominic. *Jesus: A Revolutionary Biography*. San Francisco: HarperOne, 2009.
- Crossan, John Dominic. *The Power of Parable: How Fiction by Jesus Became Fiction about Jesus.* San Francisco: HarperOne, 2012.
- Crossan, John Dominic. "Assessing the Arguments." Pages 119–23 in *The Apocalyptic Jesus: A Debate*. Edited by Robert J. Miller. Santa Rosa: Polebridge, 2001.
- Dahl, Nils A. "The Problem of the Historical Jesus." Pages 81-111 in *Jesus the Christ: The Historical Origins of Christological Doctrine* Edited by. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991 [1962].
- Daniel J. Harrington, S. J. "The Jewishness of Jesus: Facing Some Problems." *Catholic Biblical Quarterly* 49, no. 1 (January 1987): 1-13.
- Daniel J. Harrington, S. J. . "Retrieving the Jewishness of Jesus: Recent Developments." Pages 67-84 in *The Historical Jesus: Through Catholic and Jewish Eyes*. Edited by Leonard Greenspoon Bryan F. LeBeau, and Dennis Hamm, S. J. Harrisburg: Trinity Press International, 2000.
- Daniel, Stephen. *John Toland: His Mind, Manners and Thought*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1984.
- Danto, Arthur C. *Narration and Knowledge*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1985.

- Davenport, Manuel M. "The Moral Paternalism of Albert Schweitzer." *Ethics* 84 (1973-74): 116-27.
- Davies, Douglas J. *Emotion, Identity, and Religion: Hope, Reciprocity, and Otherness*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011.
- Davies, Douglas J. *Joseph Smith, Jesus, and Satanic Opposition: Atonement, Evil and the Mormon Vision*. Surrey: Ashgate, 2010.
- Davies, E. P. Sanders and Margaret. *Studying the Synoptic Gospels*. Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1989.
- Dawes, Gregory W., ed. *The Historical Jesus Quest: Landmarks in the Search for the Jesus of History*. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1999.
- Dechow, J. . *Gottessohn und Herrschaft Gottes: Der Theozentrismus des Markusevangeliurns.* WMANT 86. Neukirchen-Vluyn: Neukirchener, 2000.
- DeConick, April. "Reading the *Gospel of Thomas* as a Repository of Early Christian Communal Memory." Pages 207–20 in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity*. Edited by Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005.
- Deleuze, Gilles. *Desert Islands and Other Texts* 1953–1974. Translated by Mike Taormina. New York: Semiotext(e), 2002.
- Derrida, Jacques. *Archive Fever: A Freudian Impression*. Translated by Eric Prenowitz. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1998.
- Derrida, Jacques. *Dissemination*. Translated by Barbara Johnson. London: Continuum, 2004 [1972].
- Derrida, Jacques. *Limited Inc.* Translated by Samuel Weber. Evanston: Northwestern University Press, 1988.
- Derrida, Jacques. *Of Grammatology*. Translated by Gayatri Chakravorty Spivak. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1976.
- Derrida, Jacques. "Living On: Borderlines." in *Deconstruction and Criticism*. Edited by Harold Bloom. London: Continuum, 2004.
- Dibelius, Martin. *Die Formgeschichte des Evangeliums*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1919.
- Dibelius, Martin. *From Tradition to Gospel*. London: Ivor Nicholson and Watson, 1934 [1919].
- Dickinson, Emily. *The Complete Poems of Emily Dickinson*. Edited by Thomas H. Johnson. Boston: Little and Brown and Company, 1961.
- Dodd, C. H. "The Framework of the Gospel Narrative." Pages 1–11 in *New Testament Studies*. Edited by. Manchester: University Press, 1967 [1932].
- Döderlein, Johann Christian. Fragmente und Antifragmente. Nuremberg, 1778.
- Doering, Lutz. "*Urzeit-Endzeit* Correlation in the Dead Sea Scrolls and Pseudepigrapha." Pages 19–58 in *Eschatologie Eschatology: The Sixth Durham Tübingen Research Symposium: Eschatology in Old Testament, Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity*. Edited by Christof Landmesser and Hermann Lichtenberger Hans-Joseph Eckstein. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011.
- Donahue, Joahn. "Windows and Mirrors: The Setting of Mark's Gospel " *CBQ* 57 (1995): 1–26.

- Donne, Anthony Le. *The Historiographical Jesus: Memory, Typology, and the Son of David.* Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Donne, Anthony Le. "Theological Memory Distortion in the Jesus Tradition: A Study in Social Memory Theory." Pages 163-78 in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity*. Edited by Stephen C. Barton Loren T. Stuckenbruck, Benjamin G. Wold. Wissenschaftliche Untersuchungen zum Neuen Testament 212. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007.
- Draaisma, D. . *Die Metaphernmaschine: Eine Geschichte des Gedächtnisses* Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1999.
- Drazin, Nathan. *History of Jewish Education from 515 BCE to 200 CE*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1940.
- Dreger, Alice Domurat. *Hermaphrodites and the Medical Invention of Sex.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1998.
- Dungan, David. "Reconsidering Albert Schweitzer." *The Christian Century* 92 (1975): 874-80.
- Dunkley, C., ed. *The Official Report of the Church Congress Held at Cambridge*. London: George Allen, 1910.
- Dunn, James D. G. *Jesus Remembered*. Christianity in the Making. Vol. 1. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2003.
- Dunn, James D. G. "'All that Glisters is not Gold': In Quest of the Right Key to Unlock the Way to the Historical Jesus." Pages 131–62 in *Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung*. Edited by Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker. BZNW 114. Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002.
- Dunn, James D. G. A New Perspective on Jesus: What the Quest for the Historical Jesus Missed. Edited by Craig A. Evans and Lee Martin McDonald. Acadia Studies in Bible and Theology. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2005.
- Dupre, Judith. *Monuments: America's History in Art and Memory*. New York: Random House, 2007.
- Ebner, Eliezer. *Elementary Education in Ancient Israel during the Tannaitic Period* (10–220 CE). New York: Bloch, 1956.
- Eck, Werner. *Rom und Judaea: Fünf Vorträge zur Römischen Herrschaft in Palaestina*. WUNT. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007.
- Edkins, J. *Trauma and the Memory of Politics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- Egger, Wilhelm. Frohbotschaft und Lehre: Die Sammelberichte des Wirkens Jesu im Markusevangelium. Frankfurt: Knecht, 1976.
- Ehlich, K. "Text und sprachliches Handeln: Die Enststehung von Texten aus dem Bedürfnis nach überlieferung." Pages 24–43 in *Schrift und Gedächtnis*. Edited by J. Assmann A. Assmann, and C. Hardmeier. Munich: W. Fink, 1983.
- Elam, N. Gedi & Y. "Collective Memory What Is It?" *History and Memory* 8.1 (1996): 30-50.
- Eley, Geoff. *A Crooked Line: From Cultural History to the History of Society*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2005.
- Eliot, George. *Middlemarch*. New York: Simon & Brown, 2011 [1871].
- Epp, Eldon J. "The Multivalence of the Term 'Original Text' in Textual Criticism." *Harvard Theological Review* 92 (1992): 245–81.

- Erdmann, Johann Eduard. *History of Philosophy* 3 vols. London: Routledge, 2002 [1890].
- Evans, Bruce D. Chilton and Craig A. "Jesus and Israel's Scriptures." Pages 281–335 in *Studying the Historical Jesus: Evaluations of the State of Current Research*. Edited by Bruce D. Chilton and Craig A. Evans. NTTS 19. Leiden: Brill. 1994.
- Evans, Craig A. "Mark's Incipit and the Priene Calendar Inscription: From Jewish Gospel to Greco-Roman Gospel." *Journal for the Study of Greco-Roman Christianity and Judaism* 1 (2000): 67–81.
- Evans, Craig A. "Early Rabbinic Sources and Jesus Research." Pages 27-57 in *Jesus in Context: Temple, Purity and Restoration*. Edited by Bruce Chilton and Craig A. Evans. Leiden: Brill, 1997.
- Evans, Craig A. "Prophet, Sage, Healer, Messiah, and Martyr: Types and Identities of Jesus." Pages 1217–44 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Eve, Eric. *Jewish Context of Jesus' Miracles*. JSNTSupp 231. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2002.
- Fastenrath, Elmar. 'In Vitam Aeternam': Grundzüge christlicher Eschatologie in der ersten Hälfte des 20. Jahrhunderst. Sankt Ottilien: Eos Verlag, 1982.
- Faulkner, William. "Requiem for a Nun." Pages 471-664 in *William Faulkner: Novels* 1942-1954: Go Down, Moses; Intruder in the Dust; Requiem for a Nun; A Fable. Edited by Joseph Blotner. New York: The Library of America, 1994 [1950, 51].
- Feeney, Denis. *Caesar's Calendar: Ancient Time and the Beginnings of History*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2010.
- Feiner, Shmuel. *Moses Mendelssohn: Sage of Modernity*. Translated by Anthony Berris. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2010.
- Feldman, Jerome Bruner and Carol Fleisher. "Group Narrative as a Cultural Context of Autobiography." Pages 291–317 in *Remembering Our Past: Studies in Autobiographical Memory*. Edited by David C. Rubin. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- Fine, Steven, ed. *Jews, Christians, and Polytheists in the Ancient Synagogue*. London: Routledge, 1999.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. *But She Said: Feminist Practices of Biblical Interpretation*. Boston: Beacon Press, 1992.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. "The Ethics of Interpretation: Decentering Biblical Scholarship." *Journal of Biblical Literature* 107 (1988): 3-17.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. *In Memory of Her: A Feminist Theological Reconstruction of Christian Origins*. Second Edition ed. London: SCM Press 1994.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. *Jesus and the Politics of Interpretation*. New York: Continuum, 2000.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. *Priester für Gott: Zum Herrschafts- und Priestermotiv in der Apokalypse*. Münster Ashendorff Verlag, 1972.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. *Rhetoric and Ethic: The Politics of Biblical Studies*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1999.

- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. "Text and Reality Reality as Text: The Problem of a Feminist Social and Historical Reconstruction on the Basis of Texts." *Studia Theological* 43 (1989): 19-34.
- Fiorenza, Elisabeth Schüssler. "Critical Feminist Historical-Jesus Research." Pages 509–48 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Fiorenza, James C. Livingston and Francis Schüssler. *The Twentieth Century*. Modern Christian Thought. Vol. 2. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Fishbane, Michael. *Sacred Attunement: A Jewish Theology*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2008.
- Flannery, Austin, ed. *Vatican II: The Conciliar and Post-Conciliar Documents*. Northport: Costello Publishing 1975.
- Flesher, Paul V. M. "Palestinian Synagogues before 70 CE: A Review of the Evidence." Pages 1.27–39 in *Ancient Synagogues: Historical Analysis and Archaeological Discovery*. Edited by Dan Urman and Paul V. M. Flesher. Leiden: Brill, 1995.
- Floss, Johannes P. "Form, Source, and Redaction Criticism." Pages 591–614 in *The Oxford Handbook of Biblical Studies*. Edited by J. W. Rogerson and Judith M. Lieu. Oxford Oxford University Press, 2006.
- Fludernik, Monika. *An Introduction to Narratology*. London: Routledge, 2009.
- Flusser, David. Jesus. Jerusalem: Magnes Press, 2001.
- Focant, Camille. *L'évangile selon Marc*. Commentaire biblique: Nouveau Testament 2. Paris: Cerf, 2004.
- Foley, John M. *Immanent Art: From Structure to Meaning in Traditional Oral Epic.*Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.
- Foley, John Miles. "Memory in Oral Tradition." Pages 83-96 in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber*. Edited by Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Foner, Eric. *The Fiery Trial: Abraham Lincoln and American Slavery*. New York: W. W. Norton & Company, 2011.
- Fortier, Jeanette Rodríguez and Ted. *Cultural Memory: Resistance, Faith and Identity.* Austin: University of Texas Press, 2007.
- Foster, Samuel Chandler and James. *History of British Deism* 8 vols. London: Routledge, 1994.
- Foucault, Michel. *Language, Counter-Memory, Practice: Selected Essays and Interviews*. Translated by Donald F. Bouchard and Sherry Simon. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1977.
- Foucault, Michel. *The Order of Things*. Translated by Alan Sheridan. New York: Vintage, 1970.
- Fredriksen, Paula. "Did Jesus Oppose the Purity Laws." *BR* 11.3 (1990): 20–25, 42–47.
- Fredriksen, Paula. *Jesus of Nazareth, King of the Jews: A Jewish Life and the Emergence of Christianity*. New York: Vintage Books, 2000.
- Freeden, Michael. *Ideologies and Political Theory: A Conceptual Approach*. Oxford Oxford University Press, 1996.

- Freund, Gerhard. "Erkenntliche Wahrheit: Anregungen Lessings zum Dialog zwischen Christen und Juden." Pages 131–45 in *Lessing und die Toleranz*. Edited by Peter Freimark et al. Sonderband zum Lessing Yearbook. Detroit: Wayne State University Press, 1986.
- Frevert, Aleida Assman and Ute. *Geschichtsvergessenheit, Geschichtsversessenheit: Vom Umgang mit deutschen Vergangenheiten nach 1945.* Stuttgart: Deutsche Verlags-Anstalt, 1999.
- Freyne, Sean. "The Ethos of First-Century Galilee." *Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association* 17 (1994): 69-79.
- Freyne, Sean. "Galilean Religion of the First Century C.E. against Its Social Background." *Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association* 5 (1981): 98-114.
- Freyne, Sean. "The Galileans in the Light of Josephus' *Vita*." *New Testament Studies* 26.3 (1980): 397-413.
- Freyne, Sean. *Galilee and Gospel: Collected Essays*. WUNT 125. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000.
- Freyne, Sean. *Galilee, Jesus and the Gospels: Literary Approaches and Historical Investigations*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1988.
- Freyne, Sean. "Jesus a Jewish Galilean: A New Reading of the Jesus Story." *Proceedings of the Irish Biblical Association* 28 (2005): 106-23.
- Freyne, Sean. *Jesus, A Jewish Galilean: A New Reading of the Jesus-Story*. London: T & T Clark, 2004.
- Freyne, Sean. "Archaeology and the Historical Jesus." Pages 64-83 in *Jesus and Archaeology*. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2006.
- Frickenschmidt, Dirk. *Evangelium als Biographie: Die vier Evangelien im Rahmer antiker Erzählkunst.* Tübingen: Francke, 1997.
- Fried, Johannes *Der Schleier der Erinnerung: Grundzüge einer historischen Memorik* Munich: C. H. Beck, 2004.
- Friedlander, Saul, ed. *Probing the Limits of Representation: Nazism and the 'Final Solution'*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1992.
- Gadamer, Hans-Georg. *Truth and Method*. Translated by Joel Weinsheimer and Donald G. Marshall. Second, Revised Edition ed. London: Continuum, 1989.
- Gager, John G. *Curse Tablets and Binding Spells from the Ancient World*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Gager, John G. . Moses in Graeco-Roman Paganism. Nashville: Abingdon, 1972.
- Gathercole, Simon J. "The Critical and Dogmatic Agenda of Albert Schweitzer's *The Quest of the Historical Jesus.*" *Tyndale Bulletin* 51.2 (2000): 261-83.
- Gathercole, Simon J. "The Son of Man in Mark's Gospel." ExpT 115 (2004): 366–72.
- Genette, Gérard. *Narrative Discourse: An Essay in Method*. Translated by Jonathan Culler. Ithica: Cornell University Press, 1979.
- Genette, Gérard. *Paratexts: Thresholds of Interpretation* Translated by Jane E. Lewin. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- Georgi, Dieter. "The Interest in Life of Jesus Theology as a Paradigm for the Social History of Biblical Criticism." *Harvard Theological Review* 85.1 (1992): 51–83.

- Georgi, Dieter. "Leben-Jesu-Theologie/Leben-Jesu-Forschung." *Theologische Realenzyklopädie* 20 (1990): 566–75.
- Gerrish, B. A. "The Secret Religion of Germany: Christian Piety and hte Pantheism Controversy." *The Journal of Religion* 67.4 (1987): 437–55.
- Gilbert, Felix. *Hisotry: Politics or Culture? Reflections on Ranke and Burckhardt.*Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990.
- Glasson, T. Francis. "Schweitzer's Influence: Blessing or Bane? ." *Journal of Theological Studies* 28.2 (1977): 289–302.
- Glénisson, Jean. *Dictionnaire des Sciences Historiques*. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 1986.
- Glick, Wayne. *The Reality of Christianity: A Study of Adolf von Harnack as Historian and Theologian*. New York: Harper and Row, 1967.
- Goff, Jacques Le. Histoire et mémoire. Paris: Seuil, 1988.
- Goff, Matthew J. *The Worldly and Heavenly Wisdom of 4QInstruction*. Leidin: Brill, 2003.
- Goldenbaum, Ursula. "The Public Discourse of Hermann Samuel Reimarus and Johann Lorenz Schmidt in the *Hamburgische Berichte von Gelehrten Sachen* in 1736." Pages 75–101 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment:*Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768). Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Goldman, Armond S., et. al. "What Was the Cause of Franklin Delano Roosevelt's Paralytic Illness?" *Journal of Medical Biography* 11 (2003): 232-40.
- Goldstein, James L. Machor and Philip, ed. *Reception Study: From Literary Theory to Cultural Studies*. London: Routledge, 2000.
- Goodman, Martin. *Rome and Jerusalem: The Clash of Ancient Civilizations*. London: Penguin, 2007.
- Goodman, Martin. *The Ruling Class of Judaea: The Origins of the Jewish Revolt against Rome AD 66–70*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1987.
- Gorman, David. "Bibliography of Russian Formalism in English." *Style* 26.4 (1992): 554–76.
- Gorman, David. "Supplement to a Bibliography of Russian Formalism in English." *Style* 29.4 (1995): 562–64.
- Götten, Wilhelm. *Das Jetztlebende Gelehrte Europa*. Vol. 1. New York: Olms, 1975 [1735].
- Gotthard, Axel. Der Augsburger Religionsfrieden. Münster: Aschendorff, 2004.
- Graf, Fritz. *Magic in the Ancient World*. Edited by G. W. Bowersock. Translated by Franklin Philip. Revealing Antiquity 10. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997.
- Grant, Jaquelyn. White Women's Christ and Black Women's Jesus: Feminist Christology and Womanist Response. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989.
- Gräßer, Erich. Studien zu Albert Schweitzer: Gesammelte Aufsätze. Edited by Andreas Mühling. Beiträge zur Albert-Schweitzer-Forschung vol. 6. Bodenheim: Philo Verlagsgesellschaft, 1997.
- Gräßer, Erich *Albert Schweitzer als Theologe*. BHT vol. 60. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1979.

- Gray, Philip Howard. "The Early Animal Behaviorists: Prolegomenon to Ethology." *Isis* 59.4 (1968): 372–83.
- Gray, Rebecca. *Prophetic Figures in Late Second Temple Jewish Palestine: The Evidence from Josephus*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1993.
- Green, A. "Individual Remembering and 'Collective Memory': Theoretical Presuppositions and Contemporary Debates." *Oral History* 35 (2004): 35-44.
- Greenspahn, Frederick E. "Why Prophecy Ceased." JBL 108.1 (1989): 37-49.
- Grimes, Ronald L. *Beginnings in Ritual Studies*. Rev. ed. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1994 [1982].
- Groos, H. *Albert Schweitzer: Große und Grenzen*. München / Basel: E. Reinhardt, 1974.
- Grossmann, Walter. "Johann Christian Edelmann's Idea of Jesus." *HTR* 60 (1967): 375–89.
- Grunwald, K. Spinoza in Deutschland. Berlin: Calvary, 1897.
- Gundry, Robert H. *Mark: A Commentary on His Apology for the Cross*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.
- Güttgemanns, Erhard. Candid Questions Concerning Gospel Form Criticism: A Methodological Sketch of the Fundamental Problematics of Form and Redaction Criticism. The Pittsburgh Theological Monograph Series. Vol. 26. Pittsburgh: Pickwick Press, 1979.
- Haber, Susan. "A Woman's Touch: Feminist Encounters with the Hemorrhaging Woman in Mark 5:24–34." *JSNT* 26.3 (2003): 171–92.
- Habinek, Thomas H. *The Politics of Latin Literature: Writing, Identity, and Empire in Ancient Rome.* Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1998.
- Halbwachs, Maurice. *La Mémoire Collective*. Revised and Expanded by Gerard Namer and Marie Jaisson ed. Paris: A. Michel, 1997.
- Halbwachs, Maurice. *La Topographie légendaire des évangiles en Terre Sainte: Étude de mémoire collective*. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 1971.
- Halbwachs, Maurice. Les Cadres sociaux de la memoire. New York: Arno Press, 1975.
- Halbwachs, Maurice. Les cadres sociaux de la mémoire. Paris: F. Alcan, 1925.
- Halbwachs, Maurice. *On Collective Memory*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1992.
- Hamann, Johann Georg. *Hamann: Writings on Philosophy and Language*. Edited by Kenneth Haynes. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- Harland, Philip A. *Dynamics of Identity in the World of the Early Christians: Associations, Judeans, and Cultural Minorities.* London: T & T Clark, 2009.
- Harlow, Esther Eshel and Daniel C. "Demons and Exorcism." Pages 531–33 in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.
- Harnack, Adolf von. *Das Wesen des Christentums*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007 [1900].
- Harnack, Adolf von. *History of Dogma* 7 vols. Eugene: Wipf and Stock Publishers, 1997.
- Harnack, Adolf von. *What Is Christianity?* Translated by Thomas Bailey Saunders. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1986 [1900].
- Harrington, Daniel J. Wisdom Texts from Qumran. London: Routledge, 1996.

- Harrington, John Strugnell and Daniel J. *Qumran Cave 4.XXIV: Sapiential Texts, Part 2.* 4 *QInstruction* DJD 34. Oxford: Clarendon, 1999.
- Harris, William V. Ancient Literacy. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1986.
- Hart, Kevin. *Trespass of the Sign: Deconstruction, Theology, and Philosophy.* 2d ed. New York: Fordham University Press, 2000.
- Harvey, A. E. *Jesus and the Constraints of History*. Philadelphia: The Westminster Press, 1982.
- Havelock, Eric A. *The Muse Learns to Write: Reflections on Orality and Literacy from Antiquity to the Present.* New Haven: Yale University Press, 1986.
- Hayes, John H. *Son of God to Superstar: Twentieth-Century Interpretations of Jesus.* Nashville: Abingdon, 1976.
- Hearon, Holly E. "The Implications of Orality for Studies of the Biblical Text." Pages 3-20 in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber*. Edited by Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Hege, Brent A. R. "Jesus Christ as Poetic Symbol: Wilhelm Bousset's Contribution to the Faith/History Debate." *Zeitschrift für Neuere Theologiegeschichte* 16.2 (2009): 197–216.
- Hendrick, Charles W. "The Role of "Summary Statements" in the Composition of the Gospel of Mark: A Dialog with Karl Schmidt and Norman Perrin." *Novum Testamentum* 26.4 (1984): 289–311.
- Hengel, Martin. *Judaism and Hellenism: Studies in their Encounter in Palestine During the Early Hellenistic Period*. Translated by John Bowden 2 vols. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1974.
- Hengel, Martin. *Studies in the Gospel of Mark*. Translated by J. Bowden. London: SCM Press, 1985.
- Hengel, Martin. *The Zealots: Investigations into the Jewish Freedom Movement in the Period from Herod I until 70AD*. Translated by David Smith. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1989.
- Henten, Jan Willem van. *The Maccabean Martyrs as Saviors of the Jewish People*. Leiden Brill, 1997.
- Herrick, James A. *The Radical Rhetoric of the English Deists: The Discourse of Skepticism, 1680–1750.* Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1997.
- Hettner, Hermann. *Geschichte der deutschen Literatur im achtzehnten Jahrhundert* 2 vols. Berlin: Aufbau-Verlag, 1961.
- Heyer, Cees den. "Historic Jesuses." Pages 1079–104 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Hiers, Richard "Interim Ethics." *Theology and Life* 9 (1966): 220-33.
- Hitchens, Christopher. Letters to a Young Contrarian. New York: Basic Books, 2005.
- Holtzmann, Heinrich Julius. *Das messianische Bewusstsein Jesu: Ein Beitrag zur Leben-Jesu-Forschung*. Tübingen J.C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1907.
- Holtzmann, Heinrich Julius. "Die gegenwärtige Stand der Leben-Jesu-Forschung." Deutsche Literaturzeitung 27 (1906): 2419.
- Holub, Robert C. *Crossing Borders: Reception Theory, Poststructuralism, Deconstruction.* Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1992.

- Holub, Robert C. New Accents: Reception Theory. London: Routledge, 2002.
- Hooker, Morna D. . *The Signs of a Prophet: The Prophetic Actions of Jesus*. Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1997.
- Hopkins, Gerard Manley. *The Major Works: Including All the Poems and Selected Prose*. Edited by Catherine Phillips. Oxford World's Classics. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Hornig, Gottfried. *Die Anfänge der historisch-kritischen Theologie*. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1961.
- Hornig, Gottfried. *Die Anfänge der historisch-kritischen Theologie, Johann Salomo Semlers Schriftverständnis und seine Stellung zu Luther* Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1961.
- Horsley, Richard A. "Introduction." Pages vii-xvi in *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber*. Edited by Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Howland, Jacob. "Lessing and Socrates in Kierkegaard's *Postscript.*" in *Kierkegaard's Concluding Unscientific Postscript: A Critical Guide*. Edited by Rick Anthony Furtak. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- Hull, John M. *Hellenistic Magic and the Synoptic Tradition*. SBT 2.28. London: SCM Press, 1974.
- Hull, Robert. "Nietzsche's Jesus." Nebula 4.1 (2007): 107-15.
- Hultgren, Arland J. *The Parables of Jesus: A Commentary*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002.
- Hultgren, Arland J. . "Form Criticism and Jesus Research." Pages 649–72 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Huszar, George de. "Nietzsche's Theory of Decadence and the Transvaluation of all Values." *Journal of the History of Ideas* 6.3 (1945): 259–72.
- Ice, Jackson Lee. *Albert Schweitzer: Sketches for a Portrait* Lanham: University Press of America, 1994.
- Ice, Jackson Lee. *Schweitzer: Prophet of Radical Theology*. Philadelphia: Westminster Press, 1971.
- Incigneri, Brian J. *The Gospel to the Romans*. Biblical Interpretation Series 65. Leiden: Brill, 2003.
- Israel, Jonathan. *Enlightenment Contested: Philosophy, Modernity, and the Emancipation of Man 1617-1752*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Israel, Jonathan. A Revolution of the Mind: Radical Enlightenment and the Intellectual Origins of Modern Democracy Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2011.
- Israel, Jonathan. "The Philosophical Context of Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Radical Bible Criticism." Pages 183–200 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*. Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Iwe, John Chijioke. *Jesus in the Synagogue of Capernaum: The Pericope and Its Programmatic Character for the Gospel of Mark. An Exegetico-Theological Study of Mk 1:21–28.* Rome: Gregorian University Press, 1999.

- Jacob, Margaret C. *Living the Enlightenment: Freemasonry and Politics in Eighteen- Century Europe.* Oxford Oxford University Press, 1991.
- Jacob, Margaret C. *The Newtonians and the English Revolution 1689–1720*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1976.
- Jacob, Margaret C. *The Radical Enlightenment: Pantheists, Freemasons and Republicans*. Lafayette: Cornerstone Book Publishers, 2006 [1981].
- Jauss, Hans Robert. *Toward an Aesthetic of Reception*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1982.
- Jenkins, Keith. Re-thinking History. Routledge Classics. London: Routledge, 1991.
- Jensen, Morten Hørning. Herod Antipas in Galilee: The Literary and Archaeological Sources on the Reign of Herod Antipas and Its Socio-Economic Impact on Galilee. WUNT/II 215. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2006.
- John Pier, Landa García, José Ángel, ed. *Theorizing Narrativity*. Narratologie. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008.
- Johnson, Luke Timothy. *The Writings of the New Testament: An Interpretation*. 3d ed. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2010.
- Jones, Gareth Stedman. "From Historical Sociology to Theoretical History." *British Journal of Sociology* 27.3 (1976): 295–305.
- Jonker, Gerdien. *The Topography of Remembrance: The Dead, Tradition and Collective Memory in Mesopotamia*. Leiden: Brill Academic Publishers, 1995.
- Joy, C. I. D. "The Social and Religious Origins of the Gospel of Mark and its Hermeneutical Implications: A Post-Colonial Critique." *Bangalore Theological Forum* 33 (2001): 1–24.
- Joyce, James. Ulysses. New York: Simon & Brown, 2011 [1922].
- Jr., Barrington Moore. *Injustice: The Social Bases of Obedience and Revolt.* White Plains: M. E. Sharpe, 1978.
- Jülicher, Adolf. "Die Epoche 1901." Pages 1-13 in *Neue Linien in der Kritik der evangelischen Überlieferng*. Edited by. Vorträge des hessischen und nassauischen theologischen Ferienkurses 3. Giessen: Alfred Töpelmann, 1906.
- Kaestli, Jean-Daniel. "L'utilisation de l'Évangile de Thomas dans la recherche actuelle sur les paroles de Jésus." Pages 373–95 in *Jésus de Nazareth:*Nouvelles approches d'une énigme. Edited by Enrico Norelli and Jean-Michel Poffet Daniel Marguerat. Le Monde de la Bible 38. Geneva Labor et Fides, 2003.
- Kähler, Martin. Jesus und das Alte Testament. 2d ed. Leipzig: A. Deichert, 1896.
- Kähler, Martin. *The So-Called Historical Jesus and the Historic Biblical Christ*. Translated by Carl E. Braaten. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1964.
- Kahlert, Heinrich. Der Held und seine Gemeinde: Untersuchungen zum Verhältnis von Stifterpersönlichkeit und Verehrergemeinschaft in der Theologie des freienProtestantismus. Frankfurt: Peter Lang, 1984.
- Kamuf, Peggy, ed. *A Derrida Reader: Reading Between the Blinds*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1991.
- Kapczynski, Amy. "Historicism, Progress, and the Redemptive Constitution." *Cardozo Law Review* 26.3 (2005): 1041–117.

- Käsemann, Ernst. "The Problem of the Historical Jesus." Pages 15-47 in *Essays on New Testament Themes*. Edited by. Studies in Biblical Theology. London SCM, 1964.
- Kasser, Jeffrey L. *Philosophy of Science*. Chantilly, VA: The Teaching Company, 2006.
- Kazen, Thomas. *Jesus and Purity Halakhah: Was Jesus Indifferent to Impurity?* . Coniectanea Biblica New Testament 38. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell, 2002.
- Kee, Howard C. *Medicine, Miracle and Magic in New Testament Times*. SNTSMS 55. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986.
- Kee, Howard C. *Medicine, Miracle and Magic in the Roman World*. Boston: Boston University Press, 1985.
- Kee, Howard C. *Miracle in the Early Christian World*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1983.
- Keener, Craig S. *The Historical Jesus of the Gospels*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009.
- Keener, Craig S. . *Miracles: The Credibility of the New Testament Accounts* 2 vols. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2011.
- Kelber, Werner H. "The History of the Closure of Biblical Texts." *Oral Tradition* 25.1 (2010): 115–40.
- Kelber, Werner H. "Memory's Desire and the Limits of Historical Criticism: The Case of the Gospels." *Oral Tradition* 17.1 (2002): 55-86.
- Kelber, Werner H. "Conclusion: The Work of Birger Gerhardsson in Perspective." Pages 173–206 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Kelber, Werner H. "The Oral-Scribal-Memorial Arts of Communication in Early Christianity " Pages 235–62. in *Jesus, the Voice, and the Text*. Edited by Thomas Thatcher. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2008.
- Kelber, Werner H. "The Work of Walter Ong and Biblical Scholarship." in *Language, Culture, and Identity: The Legacy of Walter Ong, S. J.* .Edited by Sara van den Berg and Thomas M. Walsh. Creskill: Hampton Press, 2011.
- Kelhoffer, James A. Miracle and Mission: The Authentication of Missionaries and their Message int he Longer Ending of Mark. WUNT II 112. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2000.
- Kermode, Frank. *The Sense of an Ending: Studies in the Theory of Fiction with a New Epilogue*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2000 [1966].
- Kierkegaard, Søren. *Concluding Unscientific Postscript to the Philosophical Fragments*. Translated by Alastair Hannay. Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- Kirk, Alan. "Memory." Pages 155–72 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Kirk, Alan. "Memory Theory and Jesus Research." Pages 809–42. in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Kirk, Alan. "The Memory of Violence and the Death of Jesus in Q." Pages 191–206 in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity*. Edited by

- Alan Kirk and Tom Thatcher. Society of Biblical Literature Semeia Studies. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005.
- Klauck, Hans-Joseph. *Apocryphal Gospels: An Introduction*. Translated by Brian McNeil. London: T & T Clark, 2003.
- Klein, Dietrich. *Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694-1768): Das theologische Werk.*Beiträge zur historischen Theologie. Vol. 145. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2009.
- Klein, Dietrich. "Reimarus, the Hamburg Jews, and the Messiah. Appendix: Texts by Reimarus and Wolf on Judaism and Islam, and a Document on Rabbi Eybeschütz." Pages 159–82 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*. Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Klein, K. L. "On the Emergence of *Memory* in Historical Discourse." *Representations* 69 (2000): 127-49.
- Kloppenborg, John S. "Sources, Methods and Discursive Locations in the Quest of the Historical Jesus." Pages 241–90 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Kloppenborg, John S. . *Excavating Q: The History and Setting of the Sayings Gospel*. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 2000.
- Kmiecik, U. *Der Menschensohn im Markusevangelium*. Forschung zur Bibel 81. Würzburg: Echter, 1997.
- Koch, Traugott. "Albert Schweitzers Kritik des christologischen Denkens--und die sachgemäße Form einer gegenwärtigen Beziehung auf den geschichtlichen Jesus." *ZTK* 73 (1976): 208-40.
- Koester, Helmut. "Jesus the Victim." JBL 111 (1992): 3-15.
- Kokkinos, Nikos. *The Herodian Dynasty: Origins, Role in Society, and Eclipse*. JSPSupp 30. Sheffield: Sheffield Press, 1998.
- Kümmel, Werner G. Das Neue Testament. Freiburg: München, 1959.
- Kümmel, Werner G. "Ein Jahrhundert Erforschung der Eschatologie des Neuen Testaments." *TLZ* 107 (1982).
- Kümmel, Werner G. *The New Testament: The History of the Investigation of its Problems*. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1972.
- Kümmel, Werner G. "Die 'Konsequent Eschatologie' Albert Schweitzers im Urteil der Zeitgenossen." Pages 328-39 in *Heilsgeschehen und Geschichte: Gesammelte Aufsätze 1933-1964*. Edited by Erich Gräßer, et. al. Marburg: N.G. Elwert, 1965.
- Labahn, Michael. "The Non-Synoptic Jesus: An Introduction to John, Paul, Thomas, and Other Outsiders of the Jesus Quest." Pages 1933–96 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Lalor, Stephen. *Matthew Tindal, Freethinker: An Eighteenth-Century Assault on Religion*. London: Continuum, 2006.
- Lambek, Michael. "Memory in a Maussian Universe." Pages 202-16 in *Regimes of Memory*. Edited by Susannah Radstone and Katharine Hodgkin. New York: Routledge, 2003.
- Lambek, Michael, ed. *A Reader in the Anthropology of Religion*. 2d ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 2008 [2002].

- LaMothe, Kimerer L. "'A God Dances through Me': Isadora Duncan on Friedrich Nietzsche's Revaluation of Values." *The Journal of Religion* 85.2 (2005): 241–66
- Lannert, Berthold. *Die Wiederentdeckung der neutestamentlichen Eschatologie durch Johannes Weiss*. Tübingen: Francke Verlag, 1989.
- Lauria-Santiago, Jeffre L. Gould and Aldo A. *To Rise in Darkness: Revolution, Repression, and Memory in El Salvador, 1920–1932*. Durham: Duke University Press, 2008.
- Lehmann, Robert Hodel and Volkmar, ed. *Textkohärenz und Narration*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008.
- Lemcio, Eugene. *The Past of Jesus in the Gospels*. SNTSMS 68. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1991.
- Lessing, Gotthold E. Lessing's Theological Writings: Selections in Translation with an Introductory Essay. Translated by Henry Chadwick. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1957.
- Lessing, Gotthold Ephraim. *Lessing: Philosophical and Theological Writings*.

 Translated by H. B. Nisbet. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- Lessing, Gotthold Ephraim. Siebenter Band: Theologiekritische Schriften I und II. Edited by Helmut Göbel. Werke 8 vols. München: Carl Hanser Verlag, 1976.
- Levenson, Jon D. *Sinai and Zion: An Entry into the Hebrew Bible*. New York: HarperCollins, 1985.
- Levenson, Jon D. "The Temple and the World." *JR* 64 (1984): 275–98.
- Lévi-Strauss, Claude. *Structural Anthropology*. Translated by Claire Jacobson and Brooke Grundfest Schoepf. New York: Basic Books, 1963 [1958].
- Levine, Lee I. *The Ancient Synagogue: The First Thousand Years*. 2d ed. Yale: Yale University Press, 2005 [1999].
- Levine, Lee I. "Synagogues." Pages 1260–71 in *The Eardmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.
- Levine, Lee I. "The Sages and the Synagogue in Late Antiquity: The Evidence of Galilee." Pages 291–322 in *Galilee in Late Antiquity*. Edited by Lee I. Levine. New York: Jewish Theological Seminary, 1992.
- Levine, Lee I. "Synagogues." Pages 905–08 in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*. Edited by Lawrence H. Schiffman and James C. VanderKam. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- Lieber, Deborah A. Green and Laura S., ed. *Scriptural Exegesis: The Shape of Culture and the Religious Imagination: Essays in Honour of Michael Fishbane*. Oxford Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Liew, Tat-Siong Benny. *Politics of Parousia: Reading Mark Inter(con)textually*. Biblical Interpretation 42. Leiden: Brill, 1999.
- Liew, Tat-Siong Benny. "Tyranny, Boundary and Might: Colonial Mimicry in Mark's Gospel." *JSNT 73* (1999): 7–31.
- Lightfoot, R. H. *History and Interpretation in the Gospels*. London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1935.
- Lindberg, Carter, ed. *The Pietist Theologians: An Introduction to Theology in the Seventeenth Century*. Oxford: Blackwell, 2005.

- Livingston, James C. *The Enlightenment and the Nineteenth Century*. Modern Christian Thought. Vol. 1. Minneapolis: Fortress, 2006.
- Locke, John. *An Essay Concerning Human Understanding*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1979 [1690].
- Locke, John. *The Reasonableness of Christianity with A Discourse of Miracles and part of A Third Letter Concerning Toleration*. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1958 [1695].
- Loofs, Friedrich. "Lessings Stellung zum Christentum." *Theologische Studien und Kritiken* 83 (1913): 31–64.
- Lord, Albert B. *The Singer of Tales*. Edited by Stephen Mitchell and Gregory Nagy. Harvard Studies in Comparative Literature. Vol. 24. Cambridge Harvard University Press, 2000.
- Lorde, Audre. "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House." Pages 110–13 in *Sister Outsider: Essays and Speeches*. Edited by. Berkeley: The Crossing Press, 1984.
- Löwith, Karl. *From Hegel to Nietzsche: The Revolution in Nineteenth-Century Thought.*Translated by David E. Green. New York: Columbia University Press, 1991.
- Lührmann, Dieter. *Die apokryph gewordenen Evangelien: Studien zu neuen Texten und zu neuen Fragen*. Leiden: Brill, 2004.
- Lührmann, Dieter. *Fragmente apokryph gewordener Evangelien in griechischer und lateinischer Sprache*. Marburgh: N. G. Elwert, 2000.
- Lukács, Georg von. *Geschichte und Klassenbewusstsein: Studien über marxistische Dialektik.* Berlin, 1923.
- Lundsteen, August Christian. *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und die Anfänge der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*. Copenhagen: O. C. Olsen, 1939.
- Lundström, Gösta. The Kingdom of God in the Teaching of Jesus: A History of Interpretation from the last Decades of the Nineteenth Century to the Present Day. Translated by Joan Bulman. Edinburgh / London: Oliver & Boyd, 1963.
- Lyotard, Jean-Françios. *The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge*.

 Translated by Geoff Bennington and Brian Massumi. Theory and History of Literature. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984 [1979].
- MacDonald, Carolyn Osiek and Margaret Y. A Woman's Place: House Churches in Earliest Christianity. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- MacIntyre, Alisdair. *After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory*. 2d ed. London: Duckworth, 1985.
- Mack, Brurton L. *A Myth of Innocence: Mark and Christian Origins*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1998.
- Mack, Burton L. *The Christian Myth: Origins, Logic, and Legacy*. London: T & T Clark, 2001.
- Mageo, Jeannette Marie. *Cultural Memory: Reconfiguring History and Identity in the Postcolonial Pacific.* Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press, 2001.
- Malbon, Elizabeth Struthers. *Narrative Space and Mythic Meaning in Mark*. Biblical Seminar 13. Sheffield Sheffield Academic Press, 1991.
- Malina, Bruce J. *The Social Gospel of Jesus: The Kingdom of God in Mediterranean Perspective.* Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2001.

- Malina, Bruce J. "Social-Scientific Approaches and Jesus Research." Pages 1.743–75 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Manier, William Hirst and David. "Remembering as Communication: A Family Recounts Its Past." Pages 271–90 in *Remembering Our Past: Studies in Autobiographical Memory*. Edited by David C. Rubin. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- Manns, F. "Le thème de la maison dans l'évangile de Marc." *Revue des sciences religieuses* 66 (1992): 1–17.
- Marcus, Joel. *Mark 1-8: A New Translation with Introduction and Commentary*. The Anchor Bible. Vol. 27. New York: Doubleday, 2000.
- Marcus, Joel. "Mark 14:61: 'Are You the Messiah-Son-of-God?'." *NovT* (1989): 125–41.
- Markschies, Martin Hengel and Christoph. *The 'Hellenization' of Judaea in the First Century after Christ*. London: SCM Press, 1991.
- Marsh, Clive. *Albrecht Ritschl and the Problem of the Historical Jesus*. Lewiston: Mellen University Press, 1992.
- Marsh, Clive. "Quests for the Historical Jesus in New Historicist Perspective." *BibInt* 5 (1997): 403–37.
- Marsh, Clive. "Diverse Agendas at Work in the Jesus Quest." Pages 985–1020 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2001.
- Marshall, George and Poling, David. *Schweitzer: A Biography*. New York: Doubleday, 1971.
- Mbembe, Achille. *On the Postcolony*. Berkely: University of California Press, 2001.
- McFarland, John David. *Kant's Concept of Teleology*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1971.
- McIver, Robert K. *Memory, Jesus, and the Synoptic Gospels*. Resources for Biblical Study 59. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2011.
- McKnight, Scot. "Calling Jesus *Mamzer*." *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003): 73-103.
- McKnight, Scot. *Jesus and His Death: Historiography, the Historical Jesus, and Atonement Theory.* Waco: Baylor University Press, 2005.
- McLaughlin, Peter. *Kant's Critique of Teleology in Biological Explanation: Antimony and Teleology*. New York: Edwin Mellen Press, 1990.
- McLuhan, Marshall. *The Gutenberg Galaxy: The Making of Typographic Man*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1962.
- Meeks, Wayne A. *Christ Is the Question*. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2006.
- Megill, Allan. "The Reception of Foucault by Historians." *Journal of the History of Ideas* 58 (1987): 117-41.
- Meier, John P. *Companions and Competitors*. A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus. Vol. 3. New York: Doubleday, 2001.
- Meier, John P. *Law and Love*. A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus. Vol. 4. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2009.

- Meier, John P. *Mentor, Message, and Miracles*. A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus. Vol. 2. New York: Doubleday, 1994.
- Meier, John P. *The Roots of the Problem and the Person*. A Marginal Jew: Rethinking the Historical Jesus. Vol. 1. New York: Doubleday, 1991.
- Meier, John P. "Basic Methodology in the Quest for the Historical Jesus." Pages 291–332 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Meillassoux, Quentin. *After Finitude: An Essay on the Necessity of Contingency.*Translated by Ray Brassier. London: Continuum, 2008.
- Meir Bar-Ilan. "Illiteracy in the Land of Israel in the First Centuries CE." in *Essays in the Social Scientific Study of Judaism and Jewish Society*. Edited by S. Schoenfeld S. Fishbane, and A. Goldschläger. Hobeken, N.J.: KTAV, 1992.
- Mendels, Doron. "Societies of Memory in the Graeco-Roman World." Pages 143-62 in *Memory in the Bible and Antiquity*. Edited by Stephen C. Barton Loren T. Stuckenbruck, Benjamin G. Wold. WUNT 212. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007.
- Mendelson, Edward, ed. W. H. Auden: Selected Poems. New York: Vintage, 2007.
- Merkel, Beate Ego and Helmut, ed. *Religioses Lernen in der biblischen, frühjudischen und frühchristlichen Überlieferung*. WUNT 180. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2005.
- Merz, Gerd Theissen and Annette. *The Historical Jesus: A Comprehensive Guide*.

 Translated by John Bowden. English Edition ed. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1998.
- Metzler, Greg J. Neimeyer and April E. "Personal Identity and Autobiographical Recall." Pages 105–35 in *The Remembering Self: Construction and Accuracy in the Self-Narrative*. Edited by Ulric Neisser and Robyn Fivush. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- Meyer, Ben F. The Aims of Jesus. London: SCM Press, 1979.
- Misztal, Barbara A. . *Theories of Social Remembering*. Philadelphia: Open University, 2003.
- Mittleman, Alan. "Toleration, Liberty, and Truth: A Parable." *Harvard Theological Review* 95.4 (2002): 353–72.
- Moloney, Francis J. The Gospel of Mark. Peabody: Hendrickson, 2002.
- Mönckeberg, Carl. "Die Geschichte des hamburgischen Katechismus." *Z Ver Hamburg Gesch* 4 (1858): 595–96.
- Mönckeberg, Carl. *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und Johann Christian Edelmann*. Gallerie hamburgischer Theologen 5. Hamburg: Gustav Eduard Nolte, 1867.
- Moore, Gregory. *Nietzsche, Biology, and Metaphor*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Morgan, Robert. "From Reimarus to Sanders." in *The Kingdom of God and Human Society: Essays by Members of the Scripture, Theology, and Society Group*. Edited by R. S. Barbour. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1993.
- Morrow, John. *Thomas Carlyle*. London: Continuum, 2006.
- Moshenska, Gabriel. "Working with Memory in the Archaeology of Modern Conflict." *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 20.1 (2010): 33-48.
- Moss, Candida R. *The Other Christs: Imitating Jesus in Ancient Christian Ideologies of Martyrdom*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010.

- Moule, Ernst Bammel and C. F. D., ed. *Jesus and the Politics of His Day*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984.
- Mournett, Terrence C. "The Jesus Tradition as Oral Tradition." Pages 39–62 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Moxter, Michael. "Erzählung und Erignis: Über den Spielraum historischer Repräsentation." Pages 67–88 in *Der Historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung*. Edited by Jens Schröter and R. Brucher. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2002.
- Müller, Tom Kindt and Hans-Harald, ed. *What is Narratology*. Narratologia. Berlin Walter de Gruyter, 2003.
- Mulsow, Martin. "From Antiquarianism to Bible Criticism? Young Reimarus Visits the Netherlands. With an edition of the Travel Diary Fragment of 1720/21." Pages 1–39 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*. Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History Leiden Brill, 2011.
- Mulsow, Martin, ed. *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus* (1694–1768). Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Murphy, Tim. *Nietzsche, Metaphor, Religion*. Albany: State University of New York Press, 2001.
- Myers, Ched. *Binding the Strong Man: A Political Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus*. New York: Orbis Books, 1988.
- Namer, Gérard. Mémoire et société. Paris: Méridiens Lincksieck, 1987.
- Nasrallah, Laura Salah. *Christian Responses to Roman Art and Architecture: The Second-Century Church amid the Spaces of Empire*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- Netzer, Ehud. *Architecture of Herod the Great Builder*. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2008.
- Neusner, Jacob. *From Politics to Piety: The Emergence of Pharisaic Judaism.* 2d ed. New York: Ktav, 1979.
- Nickelsburg, George W. E. "Son of Man." Pages 1249–51 in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.
- Nicklas, Tobias. "Traditions about Jesus in Apocryphal Gospels (with the Exception of the Gospel of Thomas)." Pages 2081–118 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Nietzsche, Friedrich. *Beyond Good and Evil*. Translated by Walter Kaufmann. New York: Vintage, 1966 [1886].
- Nietzsche, Friedrich. *Daybreak: Thoughts on the Prejudices of Morality*. Translated by R. J. Hollingdale. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997 [1881].
- Nietzsche, Friedrich. *The Gay Science: With a Prelude in Rhymes and an Appendix in Songs.* Translated by Walter Kaufmann. New York: Vintage, 1974 [1882].
- Nietzsche, Friedrich. *On the Geneology of Morality and Ecce Homo*. Translated by Walter Kaufmann. New York: Vintage, 1967 [1887].

- Nietzsche, Friedrich. "David Strauss, the Confessor and the Writer." Pages 1–56 in *Untimely Meditations*. Edited by Daniel Breazeale. Cambridge Texts in the History of Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997 [1876].
- Nineham, Dennis. *Explorations in Theology 1*. London: SCM Press, 1977.
- Nisbet, Hugh Barr. Lessing: Eine Biography. München: C. H. Beck, 2008.
- Noiriel, Gérard. Sur la 'crise' de l'histoire. Paris: Editions Gallimard, 2005 [1996].
- Nora, Pierre. "Between Memory and History: Les Lieux de Mémoire." *Representations* 26 (1989): 7-25.
- Nora, Pierre. *Realms of Memory: The Construction of the French Past* 3 vols. New York: Columbia University Press, 1996-98.
- Nora, Pierre, ed. *Les Lieux de Memoire*. Del'archive à l'emblème Paris: III/3, Les France, 1992.
- Noreña, Carlos F. "The Communication of the Emperor's Virtues." *JRS* 91 (2001): 146–68.
- Novakovic, Lindija. *Messiah, the Healer of the Sick*. WUNT II 170. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2003.
- Nünning, Astrid Erll and Ansgar, ed. *A Companion to Cultural Memory Studies*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2010.
- Nünning, Astrid Erll and Ansgar, ed. *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008.
- O'Brien, Patrick. "Historiographical Traditions and Modern Imperatives for the Restoration of Global History." *Journal of Global History* 1.01 (2006): 3–39.
- O'Higgins, James. *Anthony Collins the Man and His Works*. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff, 1970.
- O'Neill, J. C. . *The Bible's Authority: A Portrait Gallery of Thinkers from Lessing to Bultmann*. Edinburgh: T & T Clark, 1991.
- Ochs, Peter. *The Return to Scripture in Judaism and Christianity: Essays in Postcritical Scriptural Interpretation*. Mahwah: Paulist Press, 1993.
- Olson, Greta, ed. *Current Trends in Narratology*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2011
- Ong, Walter J. *Orality and Literacy: The Technologizing of the World.* New York: Routledge, 1988 [1982].
- Origen. *Contra Celsum*. Translated by Henry Chadwick. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1980.
- Page, Sydney H. T. *Powers of Evil: A Biblical Study of Satan and Demons.* Grand Rapids: Baker Books, 1995.
- Paget, James Carleton. "Albert Schweitzer's Second Edition of *The Quest of the Historical Jesus.*" *BJRL* 9 (2010): 3–38.
- Paget, James Carleton. "Schweitzer and Paul." JSNT 33.3 (2011): 223–56.
- Paget, James Carleton. "The Religious Authority of Albert Schweitzer's Jesus." Pages 75–90 in *Scripture's Doctrine and Theology's Bible: How the New Testament Shapes Christian Dogmatics*. Edited by Marcus N. A. Bockmuehl and Alan Torrance. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2008.
- Palmer, Bernard, ed. *Medicine and the Bible*. Exeter: Paternoster Press, 1986.
- Palumbo-Liu, David. "The Politics of Memory: Remembering History in Alice Walker and Joy Kogawa." Pages 211–26 in *Memory and Cultural Politics: New*

- *Approaches to American Ethnic Literatures*. Edited by Joseph T. Skerrett Jr. Amritjit Singh, and Robert E. Hogan. Boston: Northeastern University Press, 1996.
- Pannenberg, Wolfhart. *An Introduction to Systematic Theology*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1991.
- Parker, David C. . *The Living Text of the Gospels*. Cambridge Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- Parris, David Paul. *Reception Theory and Biblical Hermeneutics*. Princeton Theological Monograph Series 107. Eugene: Pickwick Publications, 2008.
- Pauck, Wilhelm. *Harnack and Troeltsch: Two Historical Theologians*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1968.
- Pauls, D. L. . *The Victorian Lives of Jesus*. Trinity University Monograph Series in Religion Vol. VII. San Antonio: Trinity University, 1982.
- Peerbolte, Michael Labahn and Bert Jan, ed. *A Kind of Magic: Understanding Magic in the New Testament and Its Religious Environment.* LNTS 306. London: T&T Clark International, 2007.
- Peppard, Michael. *The Son of God in the Roman World: Divine Sonship in Its Social and Political Context*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011.
- Perkinson, Jim. "A Canaanitic Word in the Logos of Christ; or The Difference the Syro-Phoenician Woman Makes to Jesus." *Semeia* 75 (1996): 61–85.
- Perrin, Norman. *The Kingdom of God in the Teaching of Jesus*. London: SCM Press, 1963.
- Person, Nancy Shell Griffith and Laura. *Albert Schweitzer: An International Bibliography*. Boston: G. K. Hall, 1981.
- Peter Hühn, John Pier, Wolf Schmid, Jörg Schönert, ed. *Handbook of Narratology*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2009.
- Peter Hühn, Wolf Schmid, Jörg Schönert, ed. *Point of View, Perspective, and Focalization*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2009.
- Petersen, Erik. *Johann Albert Fabricius: en humanist i Europa*. Køpenhavn: Det Kongelige bibliotek, Museum Tusculanum, 1998.
- Pfleiderer, Otto. *Philosophy and Development of Religion* 2 vols. Edinburgh: William Blackwood and sons, 1894.
- Picht, Werner. *The Life and Thought of Albert Schweitzer*. Translated by Edward Fitzgerald. New York: Harper & Row, 1964.
- Pier, John, ed. *The Dynamics of Narrative Form*. Narratologia. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2005.
- Pilch, John J. *Healing in the New Testament: Insights from Medical and Mediterranean Anthropology*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2000.
- Pitre, Brant. *Jesus, the Tribulation, and the End of the Exile: Restoration Eschatology and the Origin of the Atonement.* Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2005.
- Pleitner, Henning. Das Ende der liberalen Hermeneutik am Beispiel Albert Schweitzers. TANZ vol. 5. Tübingen: Francke, 1992.
- Pokorný, Peter. "Jesus Research as Feedback on His *Wirkungsgeschichte*." Pages 333–60 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.

- Pokorný, Peter. "Words of Jesus in Paul: On the Theology and Praxis of the Jesus Tradition." Pages 3437–68 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Portier-Young, Anathea E. *Apocalypse against Empire: Theologies of Resistance in Early Judaism.* Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2011.
- Prager, Jeffrey. *Presenting the Past: Psychoanalysis and the Sociology of Misremembering.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1998.
- Preisendanz, Karl, ed. *Papyri graecae Magicae: Die Griechischen Zauberpapyri*. 2d ed. 2 vols. Stuttgart: Teubner, 1974 [1928–31].
- Preus, James Samuel. *Spinoza and the Irrelevance of Biblical Authority*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- Preuss, Julius. Biblical and Talmudic Medicine. Northvale: Jason Aronson, Inc., 2004.
- Price, Jill. *The Woman Who Can't Forget: The Extraordinary Story of Living with the Most Remarkable Memory Known to Science*. New York: Free Press, 2009.
- Propp, Vladimir. *Mythology of the Folktale*. Translated by Laurence Scott. Austin: University of Texas Press, 1968.
- Propp, Vladimir. *Theory and History of Folklore*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1984.
- Prost, Antoine. Douze leçons sur l'histoire. Paris: Seuil, 1966.
- Putnam, Hilary. *Reason, Truth, and History*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981.
- Rade, M. "Ist das liberale Jesusbild modern?" Die chrliche Welt 21 (1907): 336-41.
- Radstone, S. "Working with Memory: An Introduction." Pages 1-24 in *Memory and Methodology*. Edited by S. Radstone. Oxford: Berg, 2000.
- Ram, H. "The Immemorial Iranian Nation? School Textbooks and Historical Memory in Post-Revolutionary Iran." *Nations and Nationalisms* 6.1 (2000): 67–90.
- Ramsey, Keith Frankish and William, ed. *The Cambridge Handbook of Cognitive Science*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- Rappaport, Roy A. *Ritual and Religion in the Making of Humanity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008 [1999].
- Ratzinger), Pope Benedict XVI (Joseph. *Jesus of Nazareth*. Translated by Adrian J. Walker. New York: Doubleday Religion, 2007.
- Reimarus, Hermann S. *Die vornehmsten Wahrheiten der natürlichen Religion* 2 vols. Hamburg: Johann Carl Bohn, 1754.
- Reimarus, Hermann Samuel. *Fragments*. Translated by George Wesley Buchanan. London: SCM Press, 1970.
- Reimarus, Hermann Samuel. *Apologie: oder Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes*. Edited by Gerhard Alexander 2 vols. Frankfurt: Insel, 1972.
- Rendtorff, Rolf. *The Canonical Hebrew Bible: A Theology of the Old Testament*. Translated by David E. Orton. Tools for Biblical Studies 7. Leiden: Deo 2005.
- Reumann, John. "Jesus and Christology." Pages 501–64 in *The New Testament and Its Modern Interpreters*. Edited by Eldon J. Epp and George W. McRae. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1989.
- Reventlow, Henning Graf. From the Enlightenment to the Twentieth Century. History of Biblical Interpretation. Vol. 4. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2010.

- Reventlow, Henning Graf. "Conditions and Presuppositions of Biblical Criticism in Germany in the Period of the Second Empire and Before: The Case of Heinrich Julius Holtzmann." Pages 272–90 in *Biblical Studies and the Shifting of Paradims*. Edited by Henning Graf Reventlow and William R. Farmer. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press.
- Richard A. Horsley, Jonathan A. Draper, and John Miles Foley, ed. *Performing the Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber.*Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Richardson, Brian, ed. *Narrative Beginnings: Theories and Practices*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 2008.
- Richardson, Peter. *Herod the King of the Jews and Friend of the Romans*. Studies on Personalities of the New Testament. Columbia University of South Carolina Press, 1996.
- Richter, Michael. *Das narrative Urteil*. Narratologia. Vol. 13. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2008.
- Rickard, John S. "Tradition and Intertextual Memory in James Joyce's *Ulysses*." Pages 195–211 in *Philosophical Imagination and Cultural Memory: Appropriating Historical Traditions*. Edited by Patricia Cook. Durham: Duke University Press, 1993.
- Ricoeur, Paul. *Freud and Philosophy: An Essay on Interpretation*. Translated by Denis Savage. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1970.
- Ricoeur, Paul. Hermeneutics and the Human Sciences: Essays on Language, Action and Interpretation. Translated by John B. Thompson. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981.
- Ricoeur, Paul. *Memory, History, Forgetting*. Translated by K. Blamey and D. Pellauer. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2004.
- Ricoeur, Paul. *Time and Narrative*. Translated by Kathleen Blamey and David Pellauer 3 vols. Chicago University of Chicago Press, 1984, 1985, 1988.
- Ricoeur, Paul. "The Hermeneutics of Testimony." Pages 78–101 in *Essays on Biblical Interpretation*. Edited by Lewis S. Mudge. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1980.
- Ridley, Aaron. "Nietzsche and the Re-Evaluation of Values." *Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society* 105 (2005): 155–75.
- Riesner, Rainer. *Jesus als Lehrer*. 4th ed. WUNT II 7. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1981.
- Ritchie, Donald A., ed. *The Oxford Handbook of Oral History*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Robbins, J. K. Olick and J. "Social Memory Studies: From 'Collective Memory' to the Historical Sociology of Mnemonic Practices." *Annual Review of Sociology* 24 (1998): 105-40.
- Robbins, Jeffrey K. Olick and Joyce. "Social Memory Studies: From 'Collective Memory' to the Historical Sociology of Mnemonic Practices." *Annual Review of Sociology* 24 (1998): 105–40.
- Robbins, Vernon K. *Jesus the Teacher: A Socio-Rhetorical Interpretation of Mark.* Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1984.
- Robbins, Vernon K. "Form Criticism: New Testament." Pages 841–43 in *The Anchor Bible Dictionary*. Edited by David Noel Freedman. New York: Doubleday, 1992.

- Robinson, James M. "The Gospel of the Historical Jesus." Pages 447–74 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Rodriguez, Rafael. *Structuring Early Christian Memory: Jesus in Tradition, Performance, and Text.* European Studies on Christian Origins, LNTS 407.
 London: T & T Clark, 2010.
- Rogerson, John W. *A Theology of the Old Testament: Cultural Memory, Communication and Being Human*. Lond: SPCK, 2009.
- Rohrbaugh, Richard. "The Social Location of the Marcan Audience." BTB 23 (1993).
- Rose, Steven. *The Making of Memory: From Molecules to Mind.* New York: Doubleday, 1992.
- Rowe, C. Kavin. *Early Narrative Christology: The Lord in the Gospel of Luke*. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2006.
- Rowe, Robert D. *God's Kingdom and God's Son: The Background to Mark's Christology from Concepts of Kingship in the Psalms*. Arbeiten zur Geschichte des Antiken Judentums und des Urchristentums 50. Leiden: Brill, 2002.
- Rowland, Christopher. *Christian Origins: The Setting and Character of the Most Important Messianic Sect of Judaism.* 2d ed. London: SPCK, 2002 [1985].
- Rubin, David C. *Memory in Oral Traditions: The Cognitive Psychology of Epic, Ballads, and Counting-Out Rhymes.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- Rumi. Selected Poems. Translated by Coleman Banks. New York: Penguin, 2004.
- Rumscheidt, Martin, ed. *Adolf von Harnack: Liberal Theology at Its Height.*Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991.
- Rüsen, Jörn. Geschichte im Kulturprozess. Köln: Böhlau, 2002.
- Rüsen, Jörn. Historische Orientierung: über die Arbeit des Geschichtsbewußtseins, sich in der Zeit zurechtzufinden. Köln: Böhlau, 1994.
- Rüsen, Jörn. *Kultur macht Sinn: Orientierung zwischen Gestern und Morgen*. Weimar: Böhlau, 2006.
- Rüsen, Jörn. Zerbrechende Zeit: Über den Sinn der Geschichte Köln: Böhlau, 2001.
- Rüsen, Jörn, ed. *Western Historical Thinking: An Intercultural Debate.* New York: Berghahn Books, 2002.
- Russell, Jeffrey B. *The Devil: Perceptions of Evil from Antiquity to Primitive Christianity*. Ithaca Cornell University Press, 1987.
- Safrai, Shemuel. "Education and the Study of Torah." in *The Jewish People in the First Century*. Edited by Shemuel Safrai and M. Stern. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1976.
- Sagarra, Eda. *A Social History of Germany, 1648–1914*. London: Transaction Publishers, 1977.
- Said, Edward. *Beginnings: Intention and Method*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1985.
- Samuel, Simon. "The Beginning of Mark: A Colonial / Postcolonial Conundrum." *Biblical Interpretation* 10 (2002): 405–19.
- Samuel, Simon. *A Postcolonial Reading of Mark's Story of Jesus*. LNTS 340. London: T & T Clark, 2007.
- Sanday, William. *The Life of Christ in Recent Research*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1907.

- Sanders, E. P. The Historical Figure of Jesus. New York: The Penguin Press, 1993.
- Sanders, E. P. Jesus and Judaism. Philadelphia: Fortress Press 1985.
- Sanders, E. P. *Judaism: Practice and Belief 63BCE 66CE*. Philadelphia: Trinity Press International, 1992.
- Sanders, Jack T. "The Question of the Relevance of Jesus for Ethics Today." *JAAR* 38.2 (1970): 131–46.
- Sauter, Michael J. . Visions of the Enlightenment: The Edict of Religion of 1788 and the Politics of the Public Sphere in Eighteenth-Century Prussia. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History. Leiden: Brill Academic Publishers, 2009.
- Savage, Kirk. "The Politics of Memory: Black Emancipation and the Civil War Monument." Pages 127–49 in *Commemorations: The Politics of National Identity*. Edited by John R. Gillis. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1994.
- Savona, Elaine Aston and George. *Theatre as Sign-System: A Semiotics of Text and Performance*. London: Routledge, 1991.
- Scarry, Elaine. *The Body in Pain: The Making and Unmaking of the World*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1987.
- Schaefer, Rolf, ed. *Albrecht Ritschl: Vorlesung 'Theologische Ethik'*. Arbeiten zur Kirchengeschichte. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2006.
- Schäfer, Peter. "Jewish Magic Literature in Late Antiquity and Early Middle Ages." *Journal of Jewish Studies* 41 (1990): 75–91.
- Schäfer, Peter and Saul Shaked, ed. *Magische Texte aus der Kairoer Geniza*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1994.
- Schleiermacher, Friedrich. *Hermeneutics and Criticism and Other Writings*.

 Translated by Andrew Bowie. Cambridge Texts in the History of Philosophy.
 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- Schmidt, Karl Ludwig. *Der Rahmen der Geschichte Jesu: Literarkritische Untersuchungen zur ältesten Jesusüberlieferung.* Berlin: Trowitzsch, 1919.
- Schmidt-Biggemann, Wilhelm. *Hermann Samuel Reimarus: Handschriftenverzeichnis und Bibliographie*. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1979.
- Schmidt-Biggemann, Wilhelm. "Edifying versus Rational Hermeneutics: Hermann Samuel Reimarus' Revision of Johann Adolf Hoffmann's 'New Erklärung des Buchs Hiob'." Pages 41–74 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*. Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Leiden Brill, 2011.
- Schmiedel, Otto. *Die Hauptprobleme der Leben-Jesu-Forschung*. Tübingen, 1902. Schnabel, Eckhard J. *Early Christian Mission* 2 vols. Downers Grove: IVP Academic, 2004.
- Scholder, Klaus. *The Birth of Modern Critical Theology: Origins and Problems of Biblical Criticism in the Seventeenth Century* Translated by John Bowden. London: SCM, 1990 [1966].
- Schröter, Christoph Markschies and Jens, ed. *Antike christliche Apokryphen*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2010.
- Schröter, Jens. "Anfänge der Jesusüberlieferung: Überlieferungsgeschichtliche Beobachtungen zu einem Bereich urchristlicher Theologiegeschichte." NTS 50.1 (2004): 53–76.

- Schröter, Jens. "Der erinnerte Jesus als Begründer des Christentums? Bemerkungen zu James D. G. Dunn Ansatz in der Jesusforschung." *ZNT* 10.20 (2007): 47–73.
- Schröter, Jens. "Die Bedeutung der Q-Überlieferungen für die Interpretation der frühen Jesusüberlieferung." *ZNW* 94 (2003): 38–67.
- Schröter, Jens. "'Die Kirche besitzt vier Evangelien, die Häresie viele,' Die Entstehung des Neuen Testaments im Kontext der frühchristlichen Geschicte und Literature." *Bibel und Kirche* 60.2 (2005): 68-74.
- Schröter, Jens. Erinnerung an Jesu Worte: Studien zur Rezeption der Logienüberlieferung in Markus, Q, und Thomas. WMANT 76. Neukirchen-Vluyn: Nuekirchener, 1997.
- Schröter, Jens. "The Gospels as Eyewitness Testimony? A Critical Examination of Richard Bauckham's *Jesus and the Eyewitnesses*." *JSNT* 31.2 (2008): 195–209.
- Schröter, Jens. "The Historical Jesus and the Sayings Tradition: Comments on Current Research." *Neot* 30 (1996): 151–68.
- Schröter, Jens. "Jesus im frühen Christentum: Zur neueren Diskussion über kanonisch und apokryph gewordene Jesusüberlieferungen." *VT* 51 (2006): 25–41.
- Schröter, Jens. *Jesus und der Anfänge der Christologie: Methodologische und exegetischen Studien zu den Ursprüngen des christlichen Glaubens.* BTS 47. Neukirchen-Vluyn: Neukirchener, 2001.
- Schröter, Jens. "Neutestamentliche Wissenschaft jenseits des Historismus: Neuere Entwicklungen in der Geschichtstheorie und ihre Bedeutung für die Exegese urchristlicher Schriften." *ThLZ* 128 (2003): 855–66.
- Schröter, Jens. Von Jesus zum Neuen Testament: Studien zur urchristlichen Theologiegeschichte und zur Entstehung des neutestamentlichen Kanons. WUNT 204. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2007.
- Schröter, Jens. "The Gospel of Mark." Pages 272–95 in *The Blackwell Companion to New Testament*. Edited by David E. Aune. Oxford: Blackwell, 2010.
- Schröter, Jens. "Von der Historizität der Evangelien: Ein Beitrag zur gegenwärtigen Diskussion um den historischen Jesus." Pages 163–212 in *Der historische Jesus: Tendenzen und Perspektiven der gegenwärtigen Forschung*. Edited by Jens Schröter and Ralph Brucker. BZNW 114. Berlin: de Gruyter, 2002.
- Schröter, Jens. "Konstruktion von Geschichte und die Anfänge des Christentums: Reflexionen zur christlichen Geschichtsdeutung aus neutestamentlicher Perspektive." Pages 201–19 in *Konstruktion von Wirklichkeit: Beiträge aus geschichtstheoretischer, philosophischer und theologischer Perspektive*. Edited by Jens Schröter and Antje Eddelbüttel. TBT 127. Berlin: de Gruyter, 2004.
- Schröter, Jens. "Die Frage nach dem historischen Jesus." Pages 207–54 in *The Sayings Source and the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Andreas Lindemann. BETL 158. Leuven Leuven University Press, 2001.
- Schröter, Jens. "Jesus of Galilee: The Role of Location in Understanding Jesus." Pages 36–55 in *Jesus Research: An International Perspective*. Edited by James H. Charlesworth and Petr Pokorný. Princeton-Prague Symposia Series on the Historical Jesus. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009.
- Schröter, Jens. "Jesus and the Canon: The Early Jesus Traditions in the Context of the Origins of the New Testament Canon." Pages 104-22 in *Performing the*

- *Gospel: Orality, Memory, and Mark. Essays Dedicated to Werner Kelber*. Edited by Jonathan A. Draper Richard A. Horsley, and John Miles Foley. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2006.
- Schröter, Jens. "Überlegungen zum Verhältnis von Historiographie und Hermeneutik in der neutestamentlichen Wissenschaft." Pages 191–203 in *Philosophical Hermeneutics and Biblical Exegesis* Edited by Petr Pokorný and Jan Roskovec. WUNT 153. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2002.
- Schröter, Jens. "The Son of Man as the Representative of God's Kingdom: On the Interpretation of Jesus in Mark and Q." Pages 34–68 in *Jesus, Mark and Q: The Teaching of Jesus and its Earliest Records*. Edited by Michael Labahn and Andreas Schmidt. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 2001.
- Schröter, Jörg Frey and Jens, ed. *Jesus in apokryphen Evangelienüberlieferungen:*Beiträge zu außerkanonischen Jesusüberlieferungen aus verschiedenen Sprachund Kulturtraditionen WUNT 254. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2010.
- Schwartz, Robin Wagner-Pacifici and Barry. "The Vietnam Memorial: Commemorating a Difficult Past." *ASJ* 97 (1991): 376–420.
- Schweitzer, Albert. Aus meinem Leben und Denken. Leipzig: Felix Meiner, 1931.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Das Messianitäts- und Leidensgeheimnis: Eine Skizze des Lebens Jesu*. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1901.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Die psychiatrische Beurteilung Jesu. Darstellung und Kritik.* Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr, 1913.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung: Zweite, neu bearbeitete und vermehrte Auflage*. Second Edition ed. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1913.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *The Kingdom of God and Primitive Christianity*. Translated by L. A. Garrard. New York: Seabury Press, 1966.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *The Mystery of the Kingdom of God: The Secret of Jesus' Messiahship and Passion*. Translated by Walter Lowrie. New York: Dodd, Mead and Company, 1914.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *The Mysticism of Paul the Apostle*. Translated by William Montgomery. Baltimore: John's Hopkins University Press, 1998 [1931].
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Mystik des Apostels Paulus*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1931.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Out of My Life and Thought: An Autobiography*. Translated by Antje Bultmann Lemke. 60th Anniversary Edition ed. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2009.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *The Philosophy of Civilization*. Amherst: Prometheus Books, 1987. Schweitzer, Albert. *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*. Translated by W. Montgomery. First Edition ed. London: A. & C. Black, 1910.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *Von Reimarus zu Wrede: Eine Geschichte der Leben-Jesu-Forschung.* First Edition ed. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], 1906.
- Schweitzer, Albert. *The Quest of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by K. C. Hanson.

 Translated by J. R. Coates W. Montgomery, Susan Cupitt, and John Bowden.

 Second Edition ed. Fortress Classics in Biblical Studies. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2001.
- Scott, James C. . *Domination and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1992.

- Scott, James M., ed. *Restoration: Old Testament, Jewish, and Christian Perspectives*. Supplements to the Journal for the Study of Judaism. Leiden: Brill 2000.
- Segal, Robert A., ed. *The Myth and Ritual Theory: An Anthology* Blackwell Readings in Modern Theology. Oxford: Blackwell, 1998.
- Semler, Johann S. *Abhandlung von freier Untersuchung des Canon* Edited by Heinz Scheible. Texte zur Kirchen- und Theologiegeschichte Gütersloh: Gütersloher Verlagshaus Gerd Mohn, 1967 [1771-75].
- Semler, Johann Salomo. *Beantwortung der Fragmente eines Ungenannten ins besondere vom Zwecke Jesu und seiner Jünger*. Halle, 1779.
- Senior, Donald. "With Swords and Clubs: The Setting of Mark's Community and His Critique of Abusive Power." *BTB* 17 (1987): 10–20.
- Sewell, William H. *Logics of History: Social Theory and Social Transformation*. Chicago Studies in Practices of Meaning. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2005.
- Shakespeare, William. "The Most Excellent and Lamentable Tragedy of Romeo and Juliet." Pages 369-400 in *The Oxford Shakespeare: The Complete Works*. Edited by Stanley Wells and Gary Taylor. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005 [1592].
- Shakespeare, William. "The Second Part of Henry the Fourth." Pages 537–68 in *William Shakespeare: The Complete Works*. Edited by Stanley Wells and Gary Taylor. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005 [1597-98].
- Shapiro, James S. *A Year in the Life of William Shakespeare: 1599.* San Francisco: HarperCollins, 2005.
- Sheeham, Jonathan. *The Enlightenment Bible: Translation, Scholarship, culture*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2005.
- Sieveking, Heinrich. "Hermann Samuel Reimarus, 1694-1768." *Zeitschrift des Vereins für Hamburgische Geschichte* 38 (1939): 145-82.
- Signer, Michael A., ed. *Memory and History in Christianity and Judaism*. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 2001.
- Sivan, J. Winter and E. "Setting the Framework." Pages 6-39 in *War and Remembrance in the Twentieth Century*. Edited by J. Winter and E. Sivan. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- Small, Jocelyn Penny. Wax Tablets of the Mind: Cognitive Studies of Memory and Literacy in Classical Antiquity. London: Routledge, 1997.
- Smit, Moisés Mayordomo and Peter-Ben. "The Quest for the Historical Jesus in Postmodern Perspective: A Hypothetical Argument." Pages 1377–409 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Smith, D. Moody. "Jesus Tradition in the Gospel of John." Pages 1997–2040 in *Handbook for the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Edited by Tom Holmén and Stanley E. Porter. Leiden: Brill, 2011.
- Smith, Jean Edward. FDR. New York: Random House, 2007.
- Smith, Morton. *Jesus the Magician*. San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1978.
- Smith, Stephen H. "The Function of the Son of David Tradition in Mark's Gospel." *NTS* 42 (1996): 523–39.

- Smolinsky, Heinz Schilling and Heribert, ed. *Der Augsburger Religionsfrieden 1555*. Münster: Aschendorff, 2007.
- Snodgrass, Klyne. *Stories with Intent: A Comprehensive Guide to the Parables of Jesus.* Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2008.
- Spalding, Almut. *Elise Reimarus (1735-1805), The Muse of Hamburg: A Woman of the German Enlightenment* Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2005.
- Spalding, Almut Spalding and Paul. "Der rätselhafte Tutor bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus: Begegnung zweier radikaler Aufklärer in Hamburg." *Zeitschrift des Vereins für Hamburgische Geschichte* 87 (2001): 49–64.
- Spalding, Almut Spalding and Paul. "Living in the Enlightenment: The Reimarus Household Accounts of 1728–1780. Appendix: Extracts from the Household Accounts " Pages 201–29 in *Between Philology and Radical Enlightenment: Hermann Samuel Reimarus (1694–1768)*. Edited by Martin Mulsow. Brill's Studies in Intellectual History 203. Ledin: Brill, 2011.
- Spalding, Paul. Seize the Book, Jail the Author: Johann Lorenz Schmidt and Censorship in Eighteenth-Century Germany. West Lafayette: Purdue University Press, 1998.
- Spalding, Paul. "Toward a Modern Torah: Moses Mendelssohn's Use of a Banned Bible." *ISTOR* 19.1 (1999): 67–82.
- Sparling, Robert Alan. *Johann Georg Hamann and the Enlightenment Project.*Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2011.
- Spiegel, Gabrielle M. *The Past as Text: The Theory and Practice of Medieval Historiography*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1999.
- Spiegel, Gabrielle M. *Practicing History: New Directions in Historical Writing after the Linguistic Turn.* London: Routledge, 2005.
- Stanzel, Franz Karl. *Theorie des Erzählens*. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1995.
- Steiner, George. Real Presences. London: Faber and Faber, 1989.
- Steiner, Peter. *Russian Formalism: A Metapoetics*. Ithica: Cornell University Press, 1984.
- Steinmetz, David. "The Superiority of Pre-Critical Exegesis." *Theology Today* 37.1 (1980): 27-38.
- Stemmer, Peter. Weissagung und Kritik: Eine Studie zur Hermeneutik bei Hermann Samuel Reimarus. Veröffentlichungen der Jungius-Gesellschaft 48. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 1983.
- Stephan, H. Literarisches Zentralblatt für Deutschland 57 (1906): 1545-47.
- Sternberg, Meir. *Expositional Modes and Temporal Ordering in Fiction*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1993.
- Stevens, Jacqueline. "On the Morals of Genealogy." *Political Theory* 31.4 (2003): 558–88
- Stoeffler, F. Ernest. *German Pietism during the Eighteenth Century*. Leiden: Brill, 1973.
- Stone, Donald D. "Arnold, Nietzsche, and the 'Revaluation of Values'." *Nineteenth-Century Literature* 43.3 (1988): 289–318.
- Strauss, David F. *Hermann Samuel Reimarus und seine Schutzschrift für die vernünftigen Verehrer Gottes*. 2d ed. Bonn: Emil Strauss, 1877 [1862].

- Strauss, David F. *The Life of Jesus Critically Examined*. Translated by George Eliot. 4th German edition ed. Lives of Jesus Series. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1972 [1840].
- Streeter, B. H. . "The Historic Christ." Pages 73–146 in *Foundations: A Statement of Christian Belief in Terms of Modern Thought*. Edited by B. H. Streeter. London: Macmillan, 1912.
- Stroker, William. *Extracanonical Sayings of Jesus*. SBLRBS 18. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989.
- Sturrock, John. *Structuralism and Since: From Lévi-Strauss to Derrida*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1981.
- Subilia, Vittorio. *Il Regno Di Dio: Interpretazioni Nel Corso Dei Secoli* Nuovi Studi Teologici. Claudiana: Torino, 1993.
- Sullivan, Robert E. *John Toland and the Deist Controversy: A Study in Adaptations*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1982.
- Talbert, Charles H. "Introduction." Pages 1-43 in *Fragments*. Edited by. London: SCM Press, 1970.
- Taubes, Jacob. From Cult to Culture: Fragments toward a Critique of Historical Reason. Translated by Charlotte Elisheva Fonrobert and Amir Engel. Stanford Stanford University Press, 2010 [1996].
- Taubes, Jacob. *Occidental Eschatology*. Translated by David Ratmoko. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2009 [1947].
- Taylor, Charles. *Sources of the Self: The Making of the Modern Identity*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1989.
- Telford, William R. *Writing on the Gospel of Mark*. Guides to Advanced Biblical Research 1. Blandford Forum: Deo Publishing, 2009.
- Terrien, Samuel L. *The Elusive Presence: Toward a New Biblical Theology*. Edited by Ruth Nanda Anshen. Religious Perspectives. Vol. 26. New York: Harper & Row, Publishers, 1978.
- Thatcher, Alan Kirk and Tom. "Jesus Tradition as Social Memory." Pages 25–43 in *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity*. Edited by Alan Kirk. Semeia Studies 52. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005.
- Thatcher, Alan Kirk and Tom, ed. *Memory, Tradition, and Text: Uses of the Past in Early Christianity*. Semeia Studies 52. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005.
- Thate, Joshua W. Jipp and Michael J. "Dating *Thomas*: Logion 53 as a Test Case for Dating the *Gospel of Thomas* within an Early Christian Trajectory." *Bulletin for Biblical Research* 20.2 (2010): 221–40.
- Thate, Michael J. "Review of Dale C. Allison Jr., *Constructing Jesus: Memory, Imagination, and History.*" *Themelios* 36.3 (2011): 481–84.
- Thate, Michael J. "Paul at the Ball: *Ecclesia Victor* and the Cosmic Defeat of Personified Evil in Romans 16:20." Pages 151–70 in *Paul's World*. Edited by Stanley E. Porter. Pauline Studies 4. Leiden: Brill Academic, 2008.
- Theissen, Gerd. *The Gospels in Context*. Translated by L. M. Maloney. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2004 [1991].
- Theissen, Gerd. *The Gospels in Context*. Translated by L. M. Maloney. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1991.

- Theissen, Gerd. *Miracle Stories of the Early Christian Tradition*. Translated by Francis McDonagh. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007 [1974].
- Thiselton, Anthony C. "New Testament Interpretation in Historical Perspective." Pages 10–36 in *Hearing the New Testament: Strategies for Interpretation*. Edited by Joel B. Green. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010 [1995].
- Thomas, A. K. Bowman and J. D. *The Vindolanda Writing-Tablets*. Tabulae Vindolandenses II. London: British Museum Press, 1994.
- Thomson, Alistair. "Memory and Rembering in Oral History." Pages 77–95 in *The Oxford Handbook of Oral History*. Edited by Donald A. Ritchie. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Tilly, Michael. *Nabel der Welt: Überlieferung und Funktionen von Heiligtumstraditionen im antiken Judentum*. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer, 2002.
- Tolbert, Mary Ann. "Social, Sociological, and Anthropological Methods." in *Searching the Scriptures: A Feminist Introduction*. Edited by Elisabeth Schüssler Fiorenza. New York: Crossroad, 1993.
- Trainor, M. F. *The Quest for Home: The Household in Mark's Community*. Collegeville: Liturgical Press, 2001.
- Trapnell, William H. *Thomas Woolston: Madman and Deist?* London: Thoemmes Press, 1994.
- Travis, Roger. "From 'Shattered Mummies' to 'An Epic Life': Casaubon's Key to All Mythologies and Dorothea's Mythic Renewal in George Eliot's *Middlemarch*." *International Journal of the Classical Tradition* 5.3 (1999): 367-82.
- Troeltsch, Ernst. "Historical and Dogmatic Method in Theology." Pages 11-32 in *Religion in History*. Edited by. Fortress Texts in Modern Theology. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007 [1898].
- Troyer, Armin Lange and Kristin de, ed. *Reading the Present in the Qumran Library: The Perception of the Contemporary by Means of Scriptural Interpretations.*Symposium Series Society of Biblical Literature 30. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature, 2005.
- Tucker, Aviezer, ed. *A Companion to the Philosophy of History and historiography*. Oxford: Blackwell, 2009.
- Tuckett, Christopher. "Form Criticism." Pages 21–38 in *Jesus in Memory: Traditions in Oral and Scribal Perspectives*. Edited by Werner H. Kelber and Samuel Byrskog. Waco: Baylor University Press, 2009.
- Twelftree, Graham H. *In the Name of Jesus: Exorcism among Early Christians*. Grand Rapids: Baker Academic, 2007.
- Twelftree, Graham H. *Jesus the Exorcist: A Contribution to the Study of the Historical Jesus*. Eugene: Wipf and Stock, 2011.
- Twelftree, Graham H. "The Miracles of Jesus: Marginal or Mainstream?" *Journal for the Study of the Historical Jesus* 1.1 (2003): 104-24.
- Udoh, Fabian E., ed. *Redefining First-Century Jewish and Christian Identities: Essays in Honor of Ed Parish Sanders*. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 2008.
- Ulansey, David. "The Heavenly Veil Torn: Mark's Cosmic 'Inclusio'." *SBL* 110.1 (1991): 123–25.

- Vansina, Jan. *Oral Tradition as History*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1985.
- von Dobschuetz, Ernst. "The eschatology of the Gospels." *The Expositor* 9 (1910): 97-113, 93-209, 333-47, 98-417.
- Wang, Ben. *Illuminations from the Past: Trauma, Memory, and History in Modern China*. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2004.
- Watson, Francis. "Q as Hypothesis: A Study in Methodology." *NTS* 55.4 (2009): 397–415.
- Watson, Francis. "Eschatology and the Twentieth Century: On the Reception of Schweitzer in English." Pages 331–47 in *Eschatologie Eschatology: The Sixth Durham–Tübingen Research Symposium: Eschatology in Old Testament, Ancient Judaism and Early Christianity*. Edited by Christof Landmesser and Hermann Lichtenberger Hans-Joseph Eckstein. WUNT 272. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011.
- Watson, Janet S. K. Fighting Different Wars: Experience, Memory, and the First World War in Britain. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Watts, Rikki. *Isaiah's New Exodus and Mark*. WUNT 88. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1997.
- Weaver, Walter P. *The Historical Jesus in the Twentieth Century, 1900-1950.*Harrisburg: Trinity Press International 1999.
- Weber, Max. *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism*. Translated by Talcott Parsons. New York: Routledge Classics, 2001.
- Weiss, Johannes. *Jesus' Proclamation of the Kingdom of God*. Translated by Richard H. Hiers & D. Larrimore Holland. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1971 [1892].
- Wernle, Paul. "Review." TLZ 18 (1906): 501-06.
- White, Hayden. *The Content of the Form: Narrative Discourse and Historical Representation*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1990.
- White, Hayden. *Metahistory: The Historical Imagination in Nineteenth-Century Europe*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973.
- White, Ronald C. A. Lincoln: A Biography. New York: Random House, 2010.
- Wickham, James Fentress and Chris, Social Memory, Oxford; Blackwell, 1992.
- Wigelsworth, Jeffrey R. *Deism in Enlightenment England: Theology, Politics, and Newtonian Public Science*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2009.
- Wilder, Amos N. . "Albert Schweitzer and the New Testament." Pages 348-62 in *Albert Schweitzer's Realms* Edited by A. A. Roback. Cambridge: Sci-Art, 1962.
- Wilkens, H. . "Der markinische Christusmythos und die Predigt der Kirche." *Wort und Dienst* 26 (2001): 191–206.
- Williams, Rowan. *Christ on Trial: How the Gospel Unsettles Our Judgment*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2003.
- Willis, Wendell. "The Discovery of the Eschatological Kingdom: Johannes Weiss and Albert Schweitzer." Pages 1-14 in *The Kingdom of God in 20th-Century Interpretation*. Edited by Wendell Willis. Peabody: Hendrickson, 1987.
- Willitts, Joel. "Presuppositions and Procedures in the Study of the 'Historical Jesus': Or, Why I Decided Not to be a 'Historical Jesus' Scholar." *JSHJ* 3.1 (2005): 61–108.
- Windisch, Hans. "Leben und Lehre Jesu." TRu 12 (1909): 145-62.

- Winter, E. Sivan and J., ed. *War and Remembrance in the Twentieth Century*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- Winter, J. Rembering War: The Great War between Memory and History in the Twentieth Century. New York: Yale University Press, 2006.
- Witherington, Ben. *Jesus the Sage: The Pilgrimage of Wisdom*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1994.
- Wittgenstein, Ludwig. *Notebooks, 1914-1916*. Translated by G. E. M. Anscombe. Oxford: Blackwell, 1961.
- Wittgenstein, Ludwig. On Certainty. Oxford: Blackwell, 1969.
- Wolff, Hans M. "Brockes' Religion." PMLA 62.4 (1947): 1124-52.
- Wolfgang Wüst, George Kreuzer and Nicola Schümann. *Der Augsburger Religionsfriede 1555. Ein Epochenereignis und seine regionale Verankerung.*Zeitschrift des Historischen Vereins für Schwaben 98. Augsburg: Wißner, 2005.
- Wood, N. *Vectors of Memory: Legacies of Trauma in Post-War Europe*. Oxford: Berg, 1999.
- Woolhouse, Roger. *Locke: A Biography*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- Wordsworth, William. "The Tables Turned: An Evening Scene on the Same Subject." Pages 130-31 in *The Major Works*. Edited by Stephen Gill. New York: Oxford University Press, 2008 [1798].
- Wrede, Wiliam. *The Messianic Secret*. Translated by J. C. G. Greig. London: James Clarke & Co Ltd, 1971 [1901].
- Wright, Archie T. *Origin of Evil Spirits: The Reception of Genesis 6:1–4 in Early Jewish Literature* WUNT. Vol. 198. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2005.
- Wright, N. T. *Jesus and the Victory of God*. Christian Origins and the Question of God. Vol. 2. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1996.
- Wright, N. T. *The New Testament and the People of God*. Christian Origins and the Question of God 1. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1992.
- Wright, N. T. *The Resurrection of the Son of God*. Christian Origins and the Question of God. Vol. 3. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2003.
- Xeravits, Géza G. "Son of God." Pages 1248–49 in *The Eerdmans Dictionary of Early Judaism*. Edited by John J. Collins and Daniel C. Harlow. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.
- Yeats, William Butler. "The Second Coming." Page 187 in *The Collected Poems of W. B. Yeats*. Edited by Richard J. Finneran. New York: Scribner, 1996.
- Yerushalmi, Yosef H. Zakhor: Jewish History and Jewish Memory. Philadelphia: University of Washtington Press, 1982.
- Zahn, Theodor. Das Evangelium des Matthäus. 3d ed. KNT1. Leipzig: Deichert, 1910.
- Zahn, Theodor. *Geschichte des neutestamentlichen Kanons* 2 vols. Vol. 2: Urkunden und Belege zum ersten und dritten Band, Part 1. Erlangen: A. Deichert, 1890.
- Zanker, Paul. *The Power of Images in the Age of Augustus*. Ann Arbor. University of Michigan Press, 1988.
- Zeller, D. . "Wunder und Bekenntnis. Zum Sitz im Leben urchristlicher Wundergeschichten." *BZ* NF 25 (1981): 204–22.
- Žižek, Slavoj. Living in the End Times. New York: Verso, 2010.

Zürcher, Erich Grässer and Johann, ed. *Albert Schweitzer: Strassburger Vorlesungen.* Munich: C. H. Beck, 1998.